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Dear colleagues and friends,

Most financial institutions’ buildings are landmarks. Placed
in the heart of city centres, they occupy prominent spaces in
our urban environments. They are built to last.

‘Built on striking locations by famed architects using the lat-
est techniques, they were also seen as a highly distinctive
architectural expression that could show off the modernity
of the bank.”

As we will see in this edition, many institutions are built like
palaces with features that include elegant facades, grand
stairways, marble sculptures of allegorical figures and cathe-
dral-like groined arches. They follow the ideals of Italian
Renaissance or Historical Romanticism.

One example is Zurich Insurance’s building: ‘The building ful-
fils its purpose of housing the headquarters of a great and
successful company. The massive overall structure, together
with the palace-like features assembled in the middle broad-
cast seriousness, wealth and power. These qualities are of
special importance for an insurance company that basically
trades in trust: the promise to pay significant sums of money
sometime in the future.’ 2

Financial buildings - central bank buildings (which do hold
the gold reserve of their respective countries) in particular
- often reflect the idea of strength, stability and continui-
ty. More than that, they are supposed to endure and resist
financial and other crises.

‘Despite the tumultuous decades that followed crises,
upheavals and wars, social revolution, political and econom-
ic discontinuities, the National Bank’s building has remained
one of the rare edifices whose original appearance and pur-
pose has been well preserved.?

As a matter of course these ideals and perceptions differ
amongst regions and change over time - sometimes there is
a mixing of the old and the new. This is the case in the Neth-
erlands, where, in the 1960s, it was thought that: ‘a bank that
issues and circulates money on behalf of the government
should not be too grand or ostentatious’*

The Swiss National Bank’s view about their building is that it

1 Christiane de Fleurieu. The BNP Paribas Mile

2 Christofer Stadlin. The Making and Meaning of a Versicherungs
Palast’.

3 SonjaJerkovic, Sasa llic and Vladimir Bulajvic. Edifice of the National
Bank of Serbia.

4 Gert Eijkelboom. Unpopular icon oft he 1960s. The headquaters of the
Nederlandsche Bank.

is: ‘the compromise of tradition and modernity, functionali-
ty and monumentality, austerity and adornment, and even
manages to blend features of the Italian Renaissance with
the hipped roof commonly found in northern Europe ... this
style, typical of the era, offered cultural orientation in an age
of uncertainty’®

Itis interesting to see how the buildings presented in this col-
lection reflect the time they where built in, the corporate gov-
ernance structure and commonly shared values of societies
and citizens. Further, the nuanced differences of nationalide-
als are strikingly obvious almost everywhere. For example,
the German Bundesbank is built in a ‘brutal style: an honest
architecture.® It seems impossible to imagine how German
values could be better reflected. Of course these statements
only go so far before they become their own cliché. But as
we all know, clichés come from somewhere - there may be
a grain of truth. ‘Craftsmanship and precision (as expressed
in the building of the Swiss National Bank) embody the core
facets of Swiss national identity.” Isn’t that what we all would
consider ‘Swiss’?

Financial Buildings mirror an important aspect of urban envi-
ronments. Moreover, they are closely linked to the urban and
economic development of cities and countries. The post-war
mindset of innovation that dominated the optimistic 1950s
and 60s - when Europe was rebuilt after the war- is reflect-
ed in the buildings created at the time. Likewise, the urban
development of financial centres like Zurich, London and
Frankfurt is inseparably associated with the construction

5 Evelyn Ingold. The Swiss National Bank’s head office in Zurich: a new
feature on the city’s amiliar skyline.

6 Rolf Herget. Die Deutsche Bundesbank. It’s architecture and art.

7 Evelyn Ingold..




works financed by the same industry.

There was a clear trend during the 1980s to mix the ideals of
strength and stability one would expect from an institution
that trades in trust with the realization that dynamism and
flexibility are key factors for success in this business as well -
and hence these values need to be associated with the insti-
tutions’ domicile.

There are so many particularities to be discovered, like the
(intentional or coincidental) choice of location: for instance,
the European Central Bank is located exactly opposite of
where all other financial institutions are based along the riv-
er Main - or the fact that Rothschild’s headquarters always
have been (and probably always will be) in the same spot in
St. Swithin’s Lane.

And of course, the glory is not only meant for the clients and
those who see the complexes from the outside: ‘When all the
brilliant business results the company regularly achieves
are taken into account, one involuntarily develops the wish
to become an employee and maybe even spend a lifetime
under the protecting roof of the insurance palace.’® Palaces
are meant to impress citizens and customers. However, they
should also awaken pride in employees as well as a desire to
be there.

Corporate architecture is corporate identity. Corporate archi-
tecture reflects corporate governance as well as the needs
and changes in society. Aiming at prestige, grandeur, conti-
nuity and solidity would no longer be justifiable in the 21
century. The focus in architecture has now shifted towards
social awareness, environmental responsibility, sustainable
initiatives, staff well-being and positive interaction with local
communities.

Some institutions are developing this approach even more
progressively by creating modular structures and open pub-
lic spaces and gardens (e.g. Norges Bank) or ‘Campus’ build-
ings (e.g. Crédit Agricole). High tech companies seem to have
paved the way in this regard by developing innovative mod-
els of architecture in which the blurring of lines between
work and leisure, duty and ‘fun’, outside and inside, the nat-
ural and the artificial is the norm.

What do these developments tell us about the way the finan-
cial sector is functioning and being governed - do they indi-
cate anything in this respect at all? Do national buildings
reflect national identities and variations of modern capi-
talism? And, if so, which values are shared and which are
regional and how do they change over time?

Is the function of finance reflected in the form of its institu-
tions’ edifices? Can we determine whether a company runs

8 Christopher Stadlin. The Making and Meaning of a Versicherungs
Palast’.

its business in an open, transparent and integrated way from
the way in which its headquarters are presented to the wider
public and integrated into the urban landscape?

Which stories can buildings’ transformations tell about the
changes and renewals of countries and places over time?

This volume aims to be a starting point. We want to start a
collection of cases and stories of financial institutions - in
this case, European financial institutions - in order to get
a sense of the bigger picture: how does finance change the
way we work? How does finance change the way we live? Or
is it occasionally the other way around: can the way we live
transform finance?

eabh plans to do a second, and possibly third, edition with
the help of its new, old and potential member institutions.
Thereafter, it is planned that selected case studies and more
conceptual research on the topic will follow. We as an Asso-
ciation are most grateful to all the individuals, teams and
institutions that have contributed with their knowledge in
written word and imagery. All suggestions and recommenda-
tions are very welcome and | would like to encourage every-
one with a particular interesting case study in mind (whether
it concerns institutions, a particular country, an époque, or
more generally) to get in touch with eabh at: info@eabh.info.

Personally, first and foremost, | would like to thank my col-
league, Gabriella Massaglia, for being the person, who had
this great idea, encouraged everyone to contribute and fol-
lowed through with infinite dedication and enthusiasm. Fur-
ther, my gratitude goes to Hugo Banziger, who supported
the idea with interest and insight from the beginning and
last not least, to Jonathan Ercanbrack whose language and
content advice has been crucially important for the quality of
most of this volume’s content.

I hope you enjoy reading this issue about the architecture of
financial institutions.

Yours faithfully

Bman

Carmen Hofmann
Secretary General
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INTRODUCTION

From Florence to Foster.
The financial services and their buildings

John Booker

anks are difficult buildings to
B discuss. On the one hand, they

just a building type among so
many others; on the other hand, they
are a type which has evolved over cen-
turies to accommodate a particu-
lar profession, and that is something
very rare.

Building types are distinguished by the
function which they purport to represent,
which often means they were designed from
the inside outwards. For instance, a school
will have class-rooms, a hospital will have
wards, a library will have shelving, and so
on, and the arrangement of those defining
elements will have first claim to the archi-
tect’s attention. On the exterior, the task
will be to produce a design which labels the
building for what it is. There will, of course,
be constraints. The project must come with-
in budget, meet any stylistic aspirations of
the client, and satisfy the rules of the local
authority. A successful architect will harmo-
nise the appearance of the building with its
function, but it may be difficult to reflect the
external styling in the internal disposition.

Designing banks, however, has tradi-
tionally been different. Often a handsome
facade gives way to an opulent banking hall,
which is as far as most customers penetrate.
This gives the impression that the building
was designed from the outside inwards, in so
far as the exterior dictates what the interior
will look like. The conclusion for many peo-
ple, over the years, has been that banks are
only too easy to design: that there could be
a kind of cloned fagade which, give or take
the odd column or sculptured panel, would
do equally well in London, Paris or Ber-
lin. But such a view is simplistic, because it
takes no account of the subtlety of banking
and the complexity of its past. To design any
building successfully, an architect has had

John Gibson’s 1867 Southampton branch of National Provincial Bank in about 1910.
The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc © 2016.

to understand the nature of the business it
represented, and in banking that nature was
sometimes elusive.

Itis useful to compare banking with oth-
er ancient professions. Skating quickly over
the one which Rudyard Kipling called the
oldest in the world, perhaps doctors, law-
yers and the clergy have the greatest claim to
a long descent. But without being disparag-
ing about lawyers and doctors, their building
types have been relatively uncomplicated.
Lawyers have had law courts (at various lev-
els of seniority) and the medical profession
can boast a range of purpose-built buildings
over the last four centuries (e.g. lazzaretto,
sanatorium, eye infirmary, general hospi-
tal). But such buildings are not ubiquitous

like banks, and they cater for the tribulations
of life rather than service its normality. Ironi-
cally, churches are much closer to banks as a
building type. The lines of descent from God
and Mammon have a remarkable similarity.
In Europe, the two main religious tradi-
tions have been Roman Catholic and Prot-
estant and the style of a church is tailored
to the degree of embellishment consistent
with the doctrine. At one extreme lies the
Baroque tradition characterized, for exam-
ple, by the rich interiors in churches of the
Danube basin, and at the other end is the
unadorned simplicity of a Calvinist or Meth-
odist chapel. By the same token, there can
be churches which are Romanesque, and
others that are Gothic, a style which had

bulletin | 2016



a virtual grammar of ornamentation all to
itself. In the same way, banks in one line of
evolution have been grander than others.
There have been private banks, merchant
banks, savings banks, joint-stock banks, and
national banks, and the style suited to one
of those divisions might not fit the charac-
ter of another. There are even sub-divisions,
because the savings banks of Britain were
wholly charitable, whereas the Sparkassen
in German-speaking countries developed
with a commercial function.

Also there have been purpose-built little
banks and purpose-built big banks and what
appears to have been simply a difference in
size has usually reflected a diversity of pur-
pose. Generally speaking, little banks have
represented branches, retail banking, and
the customer interface; big banks have stood
for head office, in other words the co-ordina-
tion of branches, wholesale banking, and all
the administrative machinery needed for
running a public limited company, a société
anonyme, or an aktiengesellschaft. This dis-
tinction is usually obvious to the on-looker,
but that has not always been so.

Earlier purpose-built banks date from
an era when the contrast between head
office and the branch network did not apply
because the latter, if it existed at all, was too

small to influence design. Banks, for reasons
of travel, loyalty, confidence and the law (for
instance, restrictions on the issue of bank-
notes) traded within a small geographical
area, with one or a handful of branches (if
any) easily accessible from the place where
the business originated. Bankers instruct-
ed their architects to make each building an
individual statement of the solidity of the
firm, so no one building was conspicuous-
ly smaller or less grand than another. The
main expense, however, was reserved for
the office where the proprietors met to plan,
report and account.

The concept of an in-house branch
style is relatively modern - although per-
haps more historic in England than else-
where. The mid-19th century branches of
the National Provincial Bank shared a cer-
tain affinity of grandeur, thanks to the archi-
tect John Gibson, but many could hardly be
labelled as small. In the early 20th centu-
ry, however, some companies, most notice-
ably the Midland Bank, built their minor
branches in a consistent and harmonising
style, imparting a kind of corporate uniform,
almost to the extent that the name on the
frieze was irrelevant.

A meaningful difference between prem-
ises is not, of course, something confined

INTRODUCTION

Town hall at the Dam. The Amsterdamsche
Wisselbank was established in 1609 in the house
on the right side of the town hall - on the corner
of the Vogelsteeg. The entire block of buildings
burnt down on July 7th 1652. Big sacks of money
were thrown out on the street during the fire. ©
De Nederlandsche Bank.

to banking. Supermarkets, for instance, will
have a large head office and smaller out-
lets, and there is the same functional dichot-
omy between them. Likewise, a chain of
do-it-yourself or department stores will oper-
ate at two administrative levels, with build-
ings to match. But these represent shopping
for material goods, whereas a bank markets
an abstract commodity, where hard cash is
almost a side-line. The retail side of bank-
ing (although recognised as a term) does not
work in the High Street sense because banks,
and for that matter insurance companies, do
not market a product to put in the boot of
one’s car.

The point at which banking began in the
history of civilisation is blurred. The Chinese
produced bank notes, and other ancient cul-
tures from the Middle East to Rome had sys-
tems for payments and credit. But the con-
sensus is that modern principles derive
from the the Italian city states, and indeed
the word bank derives from the banco -
the counter where transactions were con-
ducted. Renaissance bankers, such as the
Medici, did not design purpose-built banks
because their palazzi were adequate and,
more importantly, because they were also
merchants and politicans. This multi-ac-
tivity characterized banking in Europe over

bulletin | 2016
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Former head office of the Union Bank of Scotland, 191 Ingram Street, Glasgow, as rebuilt in 1879. Courtesy of Lloyds Banking Group plc Archives.

two centuries, although individual bank-
ers, such as Samuel Oppenheimer of Vienna
(from whose tutelage sprang the Rothschild
dynasty) helped the profession gain its indi-
viduality. The Bank of Amsterdam, founded
in 1609, was the foreunner of the national
banks, beginning another line of desent. In
Britain there was a double complication: in
London the profession grew from the livery
company of Goldsmiths, while in the prov-
inces, it was wealthy tradesmen, typically
brewers, who earned enough money to give
credit and make loans.

The architectural point about this tan-
gled descent is that when banks began to
be purpose-built, historical precedents were
not necessarily suitable. The Renaissance
had to be re-invented for banking - but at
what level? The Banca Monte dei Paschi of
Siena, for instance, was in a building well-
known to later architects, but these monti
di pieta represented a kind of pawnbroking,
with the stress on beneficence rather than

Bl s e
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profit. Furthermore the original building was
Gotbhic, so if the motive of the Siena bank did
not appeal to the new age of bankers, nei-
ther did its architecture. Gothic appealed to
some British savings bankers, but they were
just as likely to opt for a Neoclassical style, or
even neo-Greek. Curiously, some very large
Gothic-style commercial banks were built in
the conurbations of Northern England, as a
legacy of the peculiarly English ‘Battle of the
Styles’ in 1857. The justification for that, in
the eyes of George Gilbert Scott, was that
banking was developing in Europe in the
Middle Ages when Gothic architcture, broad-
ly speaking, was the norm.

In the 18th century, tradition in Eng-
land had been at variance with the Conti-
nent, and indeed with Scotland. When the
goldsmiths of London developed into pri-
vate bankers, the palazzo style was deemed
the perfect representation of their values.
Known in England as ‘ltalaniate’, the style
recreated the Palazzo Farnese of Rome and

\
I

the Palazzo Pandolfini of Florence in London
and major cities. While those precedents had
no particular banking connection, they had
been used for gentlemen’s clubs in London’s
West End and that was the clientele which
the private bankers sought and support-
ed. This was banking for the gentry and the
needs of industry were not in the bankers’
minds. A private bank was a banking-house,
the home of the proprietor. The British bank-
er called his interview room ‘the parlour,
taken from the French parloir, as business
was little more than a gentlemanly discus-
sion. By comparison, the banker’s ‘shop’
where money was handled, was almost a
term of disdain.

On the Continent at this period, private
and merchant banks (the difference being
less precise than in Britain) proliferated, but
purpose-building was largely unnecessary. In
big cities, existing grand buildings and town
houses were adequate for business, a situa-
tion which never entirely ended. Thus in the
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Antwerp Branch of Banque Nationale by Henri Beyaert. The the Antwerp branch was closed on 1st January 2014.

The building has since been sold. © National Bank of Belgium.

19th century the Danish Handelsbank was
happy to take over premises erected a centu-
ry earlier in the Kongens-Nytorv in Copenha-
gen by C.F. Harsdorff, and the hotels partic-
uliers of Paris gifted the Hotel de la Vrilliére,
dating back to 1620, and later known as the
Hotel de Toulouse, to the Banque de France.
As for the private banker, a large part of his
business was as much social as commercial
so a domestic setting was appropriate. The
European banker was a travel agent for the
Grand Tourist, cashing his exchange notes,
advising on places of interest, and effecting
introductions. The banker most favoured
by the British was Moritz von Bethmann at
Frankfurt, entertaining visitors in his own
house if only to show them the statue of Ari-
adnesitting on a tiger commissioned at huge
expense from Dannecker of Stuttgart.

It was the 19th century before pur-
pose-building of banks became common.
The astylar palazzo design was too sub-
dued to meet the competitive ethos which

motivated the new joint-stock banks and
attention had already turned to Neoclassi-
cism, influenced by Palladio’s work in Vicen-
za. His Palazzo Thiene was the inspiration for
many banks to have a ground floor of rusti-
cated masonry imparting a sense of massive
strength, alleviated by upper stories with
superimposed orders, often lonic and Corin-
thian. This enthusiasm for Palladio last-
ed nearly two hundred years. David Hamil-
ton’s Union Bank in Glasgow borrowed from
the colonnaded Palazzo Chiericati in Vicen-
za - a faithful copy of which had been built
in the suburbs of Hamburg in the 1790s by
C.F. Hansen, another noted Danish architect,
and pupil of Harsdorff. This villa was bought
in 1897 by the Berenberg Gossler private
bank, and was renamed the Gossler House.
Thus Palladio was in favour, even in the era
of Art Nouveau.

Another appropriate inspiration for
architects was Venice, a by-word for mer-
cantile prosperity and home of the Banco

di Giro. The work of Jacopo Sansovino was
much favoured by later bankers and his
Library of St. Mark was, curiously, a better
precedent than his Zecca or mint next door,
because it was less severe. The rich decora-
tion in the frieze of the Library, which was
unusually deep, tempted bankers in cit-
ies like Bristol and Belfast to exaggerate
the embellishment of their buildings in an
ostentatious display of wealth. More gener-
ally, Venice provided a show-case of palaces
which encouraged architects towards eclec-
ticism and polychromy. Whereas Palladio
offered specific precedents, Venice provid-
ed something more abstract and exciting, a
veritable source book from which architects
could pick and choose their motifs.

The rise of the national banks gave even
more scope for rich buildings, but not Vene-
tian. The first Bank of England, designed by
George Sampson (although the attribution
is not conclusive) took a Palladian motif for
what was essentially the entrance block, the

bulletin | 2016
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INTRODUCTION

only part visible from the street. Sampson’s
Bank, completed in 1734, was the first bank
to be purpose-built in Britain, and was
remodelled several times over the centu-
ries. Most other National Banks in Europe
were 19th century or later creations, when
splendid buildings were the norm. In Brus-
sels, for instance, Karl Baedeker noted the
Banque Nationale, ‘one of the best modern
buildings in Brussels, designed by H. Bey-
aert and Janssens (1859-64), and exhibit-
ing a free treatment of the Louis XV1 style’.
Baedeker was equally impressed by the
bank’s Antwerp branch, also by Beyaert,
built in 1875-80 ‘in the Flemish Renais-
sance style’ In fact the branch borrows
heavily from the Chateau de Chambord in
the Loire Valley. Another memorable build-
ing was the Banco de Espafia in Madrid,
erected in 1884-91 to designs by Eduar-
do Adano and Severiano Sainz de la Las-
tra. In Sweden, the Riksbank gained new

'::':Jmh—“*_' Al

A sstudy of the entrance of the Bank by Bekaert, December 1876. (coloured pen and ink drawing). © National Bank of Belgium.

premises in 1906 as part of a new parlia-
ment building, designed by Aron Johans-
son, again in Neoclassical style.

The first published ideas about what a
bank should ideally look like came in 1849
from the British banker and theorist, J.W.
Gilbart. He wrote that it ‘should be a hand-
some building. The ... expenditure ... is no
sin against economy: it is an outlay of cap-
ital to be repaid by the profits of the busi-
ness that will then be acquired’. George
Rae, another contemporary British bank-
er, was more cautious: ‘your customers
will care little whether they approach your
counter through a glass street door, or
from beneath a Grecian portico. A certain
air of sobriety is what should pervade a
banking establishment’. It was a long time
before architects joined in the debate. In
1881, after controversy over Baring’s Bank
designed by Norman Shaw in the City of
London, the periodical Building News set

up a competition for the design of banks,
but the entries showed more enthusiasm
for the Arts and Crafts movement than for
the environment within. It had been left to
Gilbart thirty years earlier to argue for better
light and ventilation, and few banks before
the last century were even remotely comfort-
able for their employees.

Banks were now embroiled in a wid-
er, philosophical debate about the meaning
of architecture, which was to re-surface fif-
ty years later. In the 1880s, for the first time,
questions were being asked about the need
to follow historical precedent, and whether
the appearance of a bank should be radical-
ly different from that of any other building,
whether commercial or domestic. Aspir-
ing architects jostled to submit competitive
designs for branches, some indistinguisha-
ble at first sight from a suburban villa, oth-
ers offering a mish-mash of contemporary
and prettified features which had nothing in

11
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common beyond the rejection of traditional
values - especially any hint of classical con-
formity. Fortunately for bankers, who were
understandably bewildered, the fad for
change was short-lived and before the end
of the century it was business as usual for
their architects.

The evolution of the insurance indus-
try has many points in common with bank-
ing. The profession is very ancient; there
has been the same process of amalgama-
tions; branches or agencies have been
widespread; and the business has required
the same need to inspire confidence by
its buildings. A company which assured
your life, or placed a plaque on your house
to confirm fire cover, would not weaken
your confidence by trading from a medio-
cre office. The Amicable Assurance Socie-
ty, founded in London 1706 and reputedly
the earliest life assurer, opened new prem-
ises in 1793, designed by the wondeful-
ly-named Ezekiel Delight. This handsome
Palladian building inspired the Pelican Life
Assurance Company to acquire the equal-
ly impressive ex-bank of Sir Charles Asgill
in 1796, which had been purpose-designed
by Sir Robert Taylor in around 1757. Neo-
classical palaces then became as normal
for insurers as they had been for bankers,
and extended also to their branches. For
instance, the Copenhagen branch of the
Standard Life Assurance Company, as not-
ed by Baedeker, was ‘showily built of Nor-
wegian marble’, having been designed by
Christian Arntzen in 1895.

It is tempting to imagine that the his-
torical division in insurance (excluding ship-
ping) between the offices of life and fire
might be reflected in the design of their
buildings. More precisely, a mutual busi-
ness might have shown more restraint than
a joint-stock company but only the most
patient research would establish that. What
is clear, however, is that within the mutu-
al sector, Neoclassicism lost something of
its grip. In 1879 the Prudential Assurance
Company were responsible for the last
great Gothic Revival building in central Lon-
don. This romantic, red, terracotta-panelled
Head Office was designed by Alfred Water-
house, better-known for the National His-
tory Museum and Manchester Town Hall.
As if in contempt of this flippancy, the Pearl
Assurance Company, built a monumental
new office in 1914, only half-a-mile away,
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with all the trappings of the Belle Epoque.

In the early 20th century, banks
came under fire for too lavish expendi-
ture on their premises. Much of this was
half-hearted and made little impact, but
when building resumed after World War
One, and banks seemed locked into their
Neoclassical tradition, there were two
articulate critics from markedly different
backgrounds. One was C.H. Reilly, profes-
sor of Architecture at Liverpool University,
who was actually on the bankers’ side and
helped them develop modern and orig-
inal ideas. The other was Hilaire Belloc,
the Anglo-French writer, traveller and pol-
itician, best-known perhaps as the author
of cautionary rhymes for naughty chil-
dren and The Path to Rome, the narration
of a pilgrimage to consolidate his Roman
Catholic belief. A more unlikely commen-
tator on banks could scarcely be imagined.

In 1938, Belloc found himself at
Elsinore in Denmark, overwhelmed by the
beauty of the castle. This led him to pon-
der the contemporary architectural pre-
occupation with the ‘Theory of Function’,
which held that beauty arose natural-
ly if a building was true to its purpose -
a concept he found distasteful and ‘asi-
nine’. Somehow this led him to banking
and to the conclusion, following this theo-
ry, that ‘a bank above ground should be all
glass’ with ‘very private rooms’ for nego-
tiation. Belloc lamented that banks would
lose their decoration (therefore their overt
beauty) but, alas, his regret was tempered
by a political judgement ‘that banks were
only beautiful because bankers hid their
profits by giving a free range to their archi-
tects’. Only when this deceit was restrict-
ed, he reckoned, would ‘we find the stuff
called modern’ in banking - which leaves
the reader wondering whether he was
really for it or against it.

Office architecture now, and for many
years past, has reflected values which
were not envisaged in 1938. The need to
express the ‘essence’ of banking or insur-
ance in the place of business has long
gone. The challenge is rather to design a
building which competes for admiration
within the panorama of a district where
the business of one profession is indis-
tinguishable on the outside from that of
another. And this can be done with great
success. An early example was the design

by Joseph Wiedemanns for the head office
of the Allianz Insurance Company at Munich,
opened in 1954. More recently, the Nation-
al Westminster Bank Tower by R. Seifert &
Partners set a new benchmark for London.
And, more recently again, the Commerzbank
head office at Frankfurt, designed by Fos-
ter & Partners and opened in 1997, elevated
banking, literally, to the highest pinnacle of
the cityscape.

So Belloc was fretting in vain, as beau-
ty per se was an irrelevance. Modernism had
an irreversible momentum and the ‘Theory
of Function’ could go out the window.

Literature & Sources

Most banks have helpfully produced a com-
pany history, or put pictures of their build-
ings on line. Among general, published
sources, the following have been used
above, and give the best historical and visual
perspective:

The Builder (1843-1966).

Building News (1857-1926).

The Architect (1869-1980).

The Bankers’ Magazine (1844-1983).

The Banker (1926- ).

Gilbart, JW.A Practical Treatise on Banking, 2
vols. London: 1849.

Rae, G. The Country Banker. London: 1885);
in 1849 he wrote for The Bankers’ Magazine
Baedeker, K. Belgium and Holland. Leipzig:
1901 and for other European countries
Belloc, H. Return to the Baltic (first published:
1938) electronic reprint: London: Blooms-
bury Publishing: 2012.

Booker, J. Temples of Mammon. Edinburgh
University Press: 1990.

Goode, P. (ed.) The Oxford Companion to
Architecture, 2 vols. Oxford: 2009.

12



AUSTRIA

Bank Austria’s historic headguarters in Vienna

Ulrike Zimmerl

n August 16, 1912 the Wiener
Bank-Verein opened its Schotten-
ring headquarters for business.

Contemporaries praised the elegance and
modernity of the building. It was hailed by
experts and the general public as an archi-
tectural masterpiece, combining grandeur,
stylistic perfection and high-level func-
tionality. For many years the Wiener Bank-
Vereins’ new headquarters have provided a
conceptual and architectural benchmark for
other Viennese banks. Even nowadays, serv-
ing as headquarters of UniCredit Bank Aus-
tria, the building is still regarded as a prime
example of bank architecture.

Finding a suitable site for its new head-
quarters proved a lengthy affair for the Wie-
ner Bank-Verein. When a group of houses
on the Schottenring covering a total area
of 4,795 square metres came up for sale,
the management lost no time in clinching
the deal. Once the purchase of the plot of
land off Schottenring was completed in May
1908 the Wiener Bank-Verein entered the
planning phase. In mid-summer the man-
agement organised a call for tender; nine
architects were invited. Ernst von Gotthilf
and Alexander Neumann emerged victori-
ous and were jointly commissioned with the
execution and supervision of the project.

The construction of the building was
completed within a relatively short period of
time, which was made possible by the use of
reinforced concrete. Differently from today,
only the partition walls were made of rein-
forced concrete, while the supporting exte-
rior walls towards the street and courtyard
fronts were made of brickwork. Reinforced
concrete was also used for the roof truss and
the ceiling structures.

The house on the Schottenring also
made use of cutting-edge technology. Elec-
tricity was supplied by the City of Vienna’s
power plants. Six file lifts and a pneumat-
ic tube with more than 40 desk terminals
built the backbone of the in-house commu-
nication infrastructure for the transport of
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documents and files. The institution’s com-
munication facilities also included a high-
ly modern telephone system with a total
of 329 extensions. It is quite interesting to
notice that the Wiener Bank-Verein decid-
ed to put female operators in charge of its
switchboard while Gotthilf and Neumann
discovered during their study trip through
Germany that the telephone systems of
the visited banks were usually operated by
men. Besides the very modern communi-
cation infrastructure the building was also
equipped with an air-conditioning system
way ahead of its time.

As far as stylistics is concerned the
headquarters of the Wiener Bank-Vere-
in represent a detached, secessionist-ne-
oclassicist piece of architecture designed
to impress by its aura of wealth and solid-
ity. The facades immediately identify the
building as a member of Ringstrasse archi-
tecture. At the beginning of the 20th cen-
tury the bank still deliberately decided
to stay within the tradition of an eclectic
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Main staircase © Nick_Albert

decorative historicism. The opulence of the
architecture as well as the expensive dec-
orations were ideally suited to reveal the
bankers’ commitment to a code of honesty
and trustworthiness and their entitlement
to status and leadership. Art-nouveau and
Secessionist stylistic elements expressed
the dynamism of the bank’s business mod-
el and its innovative monetary policies.
The Main Customers’ Hall marks the
centre of the bank and serves as well as
its ‘point of sale’ and ‘visiting card’. Every
detail of the Main Hall was designed for
impressing customers. ‘This main hall is
among the biggest of its kind in Europe
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and it is certainly the most spacious and
beautiful of all institutions in Vienna’, the
Neue Freie Presse wrote a few days before
the official inauguration of the building.
The first floor, with offices and var-
ious conference rooms designed for the
bank’s management shows the same dis-
tinguished stylistic criteria as the Main
Hall. With a height of 4.50 metres the bele-
tage is significantly higher than the other
floors. Its outstanding status has been fur-
ther enhanced by excessive oak and mar-
ble panelling and elegant interior design.
In midsummer of 1912 the Wie-

ner Bank-Verein’s vision of its new
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Directors* floor, Octagon, former general assembly
hall © Nick_Albert.

External view, Schottengasse © Nick_Albert.

headquarters, meeting all the require-
ments of modern banking and at the same
time reflecting its position and importance,
had been fulfilled. In the end, the building’s
total cost amounted to 13,988,794 kronen,
which, at that time, equalled the bank’s
average annual net profit.

For more than a hundred years the
building has served as headquarters of
Bank Austria and its predecessor insti-
tutes. However, in 2018 the bank will move
its headquarters to a new campus, which is
currently being built near the former Nord-
bahnhof in Vienna’s 2nd District. ®
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Space adventure. Moving to new headquarters
s a test for Erste Group’s corporate culture

Michael Mauritz

he rejection or neglect of common

I sense entails serious moral conse-

quences. For generations common

sense in the design and development of the

headquarters of banks has been to demon-

strate the safety and reliability of the institu-

tion by a very generous use of brick and mor-

tar, concrete and steel, hectares of marble
and tons of exotic timber.

But today no coherent argument can be
derived from sheer exhibition of wealth or
pretence. Confidence building is no longer
achievable with the construction of high ris-
es, the towers of Frankfurt. The City and the
Street have become symbols of an industry
of past rather than future glory, reminding us
very much of the formerly proud towers of
San Gimignano.

Erste Group is a dedicated retail bank-
ing group. It has to convince its large portfo-
lio of small and medium sized clients of its
ability to continually provide innovative ser-
vices while at the same time operating on
a reasonable cost basis (thus consequent-
ly being able to offer their services at com-
petitive prices). So when Erste Group, which
has a strong foothold in eight CEE markets,
decided to obtain new headquarters in Vien-
na, the challenge for the project was to fol-
low a seemingly simple formula: More crea-
tivity, less cost.

Cost efficiency would by achieved by
uniting staff, which had been working in
more the 20 different locations scattered
all around Vienna, in just one location and
by applying state-of-the-art technology in a
highly efficient building.

But how do you propagate creativi-
ty within an institution that is defined by
rules of compliance rather than via the free-
wheeling spirit of high-tech start-ups? There
are two broadly competing narratives about
how the idea of new headquarters evolved
into the vision of Erste Campus, promoting
team building.
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Garden deck and courtyard. Erste Group © Christian Wind.

Was it the quest for a new, transparent
and creative corporate culture, which dictat-
ed the need for an architecture, which pro-
motes interdepartmental, informal com-
munication and cooperation through open
spaces and horizontal instead of vertical
expansion? Or was it the openness of the
architectural concept, which created the
demand for not just moving people and files
but for a transition in corporate culture at
the same time?

What was first? The decision for a new
physical centre or the push for a renewed
entrepreneurial identity? Today we can look
back on this question as a Good Problem to
Have. In December 2015, the first depart-
ments of Erste Group in Vienna moved into
the new Erste Campus, in March 2016, the
tangible act of relocation was completed.
Over more than two years the employees
have been directly involved in the design of
their new work spaces and - at the same time
- have had the chance to prepare mentally
for a world without corner offices (actually

no individual offices exist at all, not even for
the nomenclature) and personally attribut-
ed desks. The transition has been set into
movement and it definitely is no round-trip.
Erste Group staff will not just work in
Erste Campus - they will develop ideas, make
plans and translate visions into actions. For
Erste Group, the new building is, first and
foremost, the basis for a new working envi-
ronment. The shorter distances between
departments will encourage team build-
ing and help to increase productivity. Staff
will find the new headquarters an inspiring
and exhilarating workplace, promoting com-
munication between individuals and teams
and strengthening team cohesion. In order
to translate this vision into reality, staff have
been actively involved in workplace design.
It was particularly important to the
architects of Erste Campus, Henke and
Schreieck, that the staff of Erste Group
should feel happy about coming into the
office every day; that they should feel com-
fortable at their place of work; and that
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Entrance and welcome desk. Erste Group © Christian Wind.

they should feel proud about working on
Erste Campus.

The curving architecture hugs the
surrounding environment and welcomes
everybody who works at the Campus or
visits it. Henke and Schreieck, the winners
of a multi-step contest, intended to create
an urban cityscape through the integra-
tion of green spaces and thus to provide
a motivating atmosphere and a sense of
well-being.

The individual buildings have been
designed in such a way that changes to
work processes or business areas, even ret-
rospectively, can be accommodated at any
time without any great structural altera-
tions. What’s more, the buildings have been
designed to be barrier-free throughout.

The very highest of building stand-
ards will ensure economic viability and
will thus lead to lower operating and ener-
gy costs. Through the use of new technol-
ogies and by offering service, leisure and
shopping facilities in the publicly acces-
sible areas, the Erste Campus offers more
than just a pleasant working environment.
Rather it offers an atmosphere, which will
improve the quality of life and work. Work-
ingin a place where a high standard of work
is expected and delivered every day should
also be an enjoyable experience and linked
to a modern, urban environment.
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Through its location, Erste Campus
embodies a very clear strategy - a con-
scious orientation towards Central and
Eastern Europe.

The Erste Campus location at Vienna’s
new Hauptbahnhof (main railway station)
is unique - it is one of the districts of Vienna
which is most steeped in history. With cultur-
al jewels such as the Belvedere Palace close
by, this district stands for human achieve-
ment and economic progress. Even in the
19th century, the Stidbahnhof railway sta-
tion was not just the gateway to the south
but also a military and a historical hub which
held a particular attraction for many people

Erste Campus at a glance. Facts and figures.

Client

Project developer
Facility management
Architect

Construction costs

The curving architecture hugs the surrounding
environment. Erste Bank Group © Christian Wind .

from all parts of the empire, with all their
hopes and expectations.

It is easy to wax idealistically about a
company’s vision and mission. In the case of
Erste Group the assessment, whether prac-
tice reflects theory or not, will soon be deliv-
ered in hard currency. Adaptability to a new
working environment will doubtlessly mirror
the same quality employees display toward
the clients of the bank. If the employees on
Erste Campus embrace the opportunities
of their new workspace they should be pre-
pared for the challenges of the changing
environments on the market place.

Erste Group

Erste Group Immorent AG
Group Services/s OM

Henke Schreieck Architekten
max. EUR 300 million

Work stations for Erste employees 4,500
Additional area for offices and retail 2,000 m2 + 12,500 m2
Surface area of property 25,000 m2

Gross floor space
Parking spots
Height

Proximity to city center

117,000 m2 (above ground)

approx. 600

29-50 meters (7 to 13 upper floors, up to 3 lower floors)
2.5km
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Oesterreichische Nationalbank
200 years of architecture

Elisabeth Dutz

established a ‘national bank’ that was

to be financed and ultimately run by pri-
vate stockholders—quite an innovation at
the time. But the even bigger innovation
was that this bank, called the ‘privilegirte
Oesterreichische National-Bank’ (OeNB),
would enjoy exclusive rights like a note-issu-
ing monopoly. This was not only the start of
200 years of history of the institution ‘Oester-
reichische Nationalbank’, but also of many
special buildings, which were built by out-
standing architects. The most important
examples are:

I n June 1816, when Emperor Francis |

Herrengasse 17

When the Stadtbanco facilities, where the
Nationalbank initially was housed, became
too small, a decision was made in April 1817
to buy and reconstruct the city residence of
Count Liechtenstein on Schenkenstrasse
(later renamed Bankgasse). But the build-
ing was soon found to be unsuitable for vault
or safe custody services, leading to the pur-
chase of premises at Herrengasse 32-34 with
aview to erecting a new building on this site
(today to be found at the address of Herren-
gasse 17/Bankgasse 1), subject to the con-
straint to ‘handle cost effectively’ and to
‘avoid unnecessary luxury.

Three architects were invited to partici-
pate in the project. Ultimately, Parisian-born
Charles de Moreau (1758-1840) was entrust-
ed with blueprint design, Raphael von Rigel
with implementation planning, and Ernest
Koch was put in charge of supervising works.

The construction of the new building,
incidentally the first one in Vienna specif-
ically designed to house a bank, began on
Bankgasse in 1819, pending the purchase
of the corner property on Herrengasse. The
foundation stone was laid early in the sec-
ond construction phase, on July 25,1821, in
a ceremony attended by the emperor.

Herrengasse 17 © OeNB.

Construction was completed in 1823,
and the premises were opened on October
18 and 19. The construction cost about 1 mil-
lion florins, of which just over 5% were used
for artistic decoration. The Nationalbank’s
final report emphasizes that the style and
design was simple but dignified, and that
the building had been fitted with the newest
technology, such as underground vaults, a
freight elevator and a water pumping station.

Cubic style’in early 19th century Vienna
The facade of the building features the

hallmarks of classicist design: strict symme-
tries, clear and highly compact structures
underlining the unity of the facade, and a
strong hierarchy in the horizontal layers of
the building. The statuary adorning the ped-
iment was designed by sculptor Josef Klieb-
er (1773-1850), who also created the ensem-
ble of statues for the Hall of the Muses in the
Albertina Museum. When the building was
converted in 1874, the front pediment and
two pediments on the side facing Bankgasse
were removed to make room for windows
needed to improve lighting.
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The building is, in fact, considered to
have brought cubic style to early 19th-cen-
tury Vienna. The character of the facade is,
moreover, substantially defined by rows
of arcades, which were a highly popular
design element at the time and used on
many public buildings, such as the Estates
House (‘Landhaus’) of Lower Austria and
the Austrian Mint.

Another feature element is the Palladi-
an window above the portal on Bankgasse,
named for the eminent Renaissance archi-
tect Andrea Palladio, who had popularized
the style inspired by buildings in ancient
Rome. Charles de Moreau chose a num-
ber of motifs inspired by the Italian Renais-
sance, as a reverence to the rise of banking
in Renaissance Italy.

Palais Ferstel at Herrengasse 14
Ashortage of space and the lack of separate
premises for the Vienna Stock Exchange—
makeshift housing arrangements for the
stock exchange had been in place for
years—motivated the bank to purchase the
building across the street from Herrengasse
17 in 1855. The building, which was located
at Herrengasse 14, next to Palais Harrach,
belonged to the Counts Abensperg-Traun.
The construction site was somewhat incon-
venient, as care had to be taken to spare
the immediately adjacent Palais Hardegg
at the corner of Freyung and Strauchgasse.
(In 1897 this building was bought and incor-
porated, too.) The new property was pur-
chased not with the intention to give up the
headquarters of the central bank at Her-
rengasse 17; much rather, additional office
space was to be created and partly rented
out to the stock exchange.

The Nationalbank organized a com-
petition for architects won by 27-year-old
Heinrich Ferstel (1828-1883), incidental-
ly the son of a Nationalbank official. In the
same year, Heinrich Ferstel also won the
competition to build the Votive Church,
the first of the imposing Ringstrasse build-
ings, which was to keep him busy for some
25 years.

Ferstel was also entrusted with super-
vising the construction of the new build-
ing for the Austro-Hungarian Bank and for
the stock exchange. Much like his predeces-
sor 35 years earlier, the Austro-Hungarian
Bank’s governor, Joseph Ritter von Pipitz,
called for ‘strict adherence to economy and

avoidance of worthless luxury ... to achieve
solidity and artistic as well as technical per-
fection.” Construction work began in 1856
and was concluded in 1860. However, just
nine years later, the stock exchange was
practically bursting at the seams and was
finally relocated to a dedicated Ringstrasse
building in 1877.

From the outset, the new bank build-
ing had been conceived for various uses.
The construction was designed to be open
and accessible rather than closed and for-
bidding, as a tribute to the thriving econo-
my. The building was to be used by the bank
and the stock exchange, and it was to house
shops and a café whose first leaseholders
were the Pach brothers. In 1868 the café
became the famous Café Central, which
came to be the preeminent Vienna fin-de-
siecle café to which artists and literati alike
flocked. Today the building at Herrengasse
14 goes by the name of its architect and is
known as Palais Ferstel.

Romantic Historicism emulating Italian
palazzi

Heinrich Ferstel sought inspiration from
impressions gained during his travels to
Italy and possibly also from art critic John
Ruskin’s newly released book The Stones
of Venice. He designed the building with
a mixture of elements of Venetian and
Florentine Trecento architecture. Regarded
as one of the landmarks of Romantic
Historicism, it was the most modern
building in Vienna at the time.

The fagades and all fagade decorations
feature ashlar masonry, also referred to as
dressed stone—large, rectangular blocks of
stone, at the time long out of use in Vien-
nese architecture. The architect gave pri-
ority to ‘authentic’ materials and flawless
craftsmanship.

The most striking features include the
large former stock exchange trading floor
on the first floor, with an English-style open
truss roof, and the compelling grand stair-
case. On the ground floor, a covered shop-
ping arcade leads to a hexagonal courtyard
covered by a glass dome, with a fountain
adorning the courtyard. The floor plan with
its clever design solution where Herren-
gasse and Strauchgasse form an acute angle
resulted in the unconventional and refresh-
ing interior layout. Heinrich Ferstel devel-
oped not only the architectural construction
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Palais Ferstel at Herrengasse 14 © OeNB.

but also the interior design to make the
building a whole a piece of art in itself, a
Gesamtkunstwerk.

The windows, doors and ceilings of the
great halls were made of oak. The purpose of
the stucco, frescos and the ornate wrought
ironwork was to emphasize the noble char-
acter of the building; the same was true of
the furniture, textiles and leather wallpa-
per. The General Council meeting room was
fitted with a fireplace made of green, white
and black-patterned Nero Portoro mar-
ble from Porto Venere in Italy. Oil paintings
by Franz Josef Dobiaschofsky and a pear-
wood bas-relief with motifs celebrating the
creation of the Nationalbank, executed by
Joseph Gasser, adorned the walls. The stair-
well was decorated with frescos by Carl Gei-
ger, and the commodity exchange trading
floor was embellished with stucco bas-reliefs
by Franz Melnitzky.

Head Office at Otto Wagner-Platz 3

Since the 1823 inauguration of the first
Nationalbank building at Herrengasse 17,
the Bank had expanded greatly. Several
properties had been additionally purchased,
including the central bank and stock market
building at Herrengasse 14. Space was again
becoming scarce at the start of the 20th cen-
tury. When plans to obtain the Palais Har-
rach at Freyung Square did not work out, the
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decision was made to relinquish the prop-
erties on Herrengasse and the surrounding
area and to rebuild the bank from scratch,
including a separate facility for banknote
printing, on the grounds of the Alser Bar-
racks on Alserstrasse in Vienna’s ninth dis-
trict. The property, which comprised an area
of more than 16,900 m?, had been purchased
for 3.5 million crowns in 1909 from the City
of Vienna.

Architectural competition

In 1910, 14 architects from Vienna, Buda-
pest and Prague were invited to take partin
a competition. The objective was to select
the architect who would be most likely to
incorporate historic traditions in the design
of the bank. Those architects were Leop-
old Bauer, Ludwig Baumann, Max von Fer-
stel, Ernst von Gotthilf-Miskolczy, Jészef
Hubert, Kdrman & Ullmann, Fléris Nandor
Korb, Jan Kotera, Franz Krauss and Baron
Josef von Tolk, Alexander Neumann, Frie-
drich Ohmann, Samuel Pecz, Emil Tory and
Moéricz Pogany, and Alexander Wielemans.
Interestingly enough, the list did notinclude
Otto Wagner, Vienna’s most renowned and
innovative architect at that time. Submis-
sions from three architects made it to the
final selection round (Leopold Bauer, Fléris
Nandor Korb and Ludwig Baumann). The
commission ultimately went to Leopold
Bauer of Silesia (1872-1938).

In May 1911 work started on the dem-
olition of the Alser Barracks. By 1912, Leo-
pold Bauer had created nearly 20 different
designs for the bank, which was to front onto
Alserstrasse. A banknote printing facility was
to be constructed behind the building, i.e.,
separated by Schwarzspanierstrasse, with a
bridge connecting it to the main bank build-
ing. The architect referred to the frugality of
the design as a key element of ‘true’ art. Only
the main facade on Alserstrasse was to be
artistically elaborate. The three side fagcades
and all four facades of the printing facility
were to be kept as simple as possible, with
form following function.

To gain ideas and inspiration for his
design of the Austro-Hungarian Bank, Leop-
old Bauer inspected several prominent bank
buildings in other countries, either directly on
location or by reviewing the blueprints. In the
tender specification, he noted that not a sin-
gle building existed that could have served as
a model for a central bank, echoing the very
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Head Office at Otto Wagner-Platz 3 © OeNB.

words Ignac Alpar had used nearly 10 years
prior with respect to the Budapest building.

History of the construction project

After the building permit was issued in 1913,
construction of the new Austro-Hungarian
Bank became Leopold Bauer’s most impor-
tant project. When he took over for Otto
Wagner as professor of modern architec-
ture at the Vienna Academy of Fine Arts in
November 1913, Bauer noted in his inaugu-
ral speech that he intended to instruct his
students directly at the construction site.
He in fact succeeded in having the school of
architecture situated next to his private stu-
dio at Garelligasse 3, right next to the build-
ing site.

Construction started with the bank-
note printing facility (today the main OeNB
building). The grand banking palace on
Alserstrasse was never built.

The building project made good pro-
gress until the summer of 1914. After mobi-
lization of the army, construction was halt-
ed for the first time on 31 July 1914. Work
continued from 17 August 1914, onward,
but with only a fraction of the original man-
power. By 1915 two stories had been con-
structed. That year also saw the addition of
the main entry boasting a large-scale relief
by Othmar Schimkowitz—who had pre-
viously collaborated with Otto Wagner in
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building the Postsparkasse and the Church
of St. Leopold. Construction was only
sporadic as the year advanced, howev-
er. In 1917 the number of available work-
ers diminished even more, and the project
came to a near standstill. The only work still
being carried out was limited to preserving
the shell structure and preventing weather
damage.

Once the war was over, work on the
project gradually recommenced. The plans
were modified multiple times, but the build-
ing interior was never completed. Leopold
Bauer still hoped in 1919 that the banking
palace, with its imposing towers, as well as
the printing facility would still come to fru-
ition under his direction. However, the cen-
tral bank cancelled its contract with Leop-
old Bauer on 8 December 1922.

One of the practical priorities of the
Oesterreichische Nationalbank, once it had
become operational on January 1, 1923,
was to seek suitable premises where the
different departments, which were located
in various buildings on and around Herren-
gasse in the first district, could be housed
under one roof.

The original plan of constructing new
headquarters for the OeNB between the
printing works building—of which only the
shell had been completed during World War
I—and Alserstrasse could not be carried out.
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Instead, the printing facility would be con-
verted to house both plant and office are-
as. When the work began in 1923, the build-
ing had hardly changed from the unfinished
state it had been left in 1917. Rather than
commissioning Leopold Bauer, the origi-
nal architect of the building, with the pro-
ject, the bank chose two staff architects who
had already worked for the Austro-Hungari-
an bank before the war: Rudolf Eisler (1881-
1977) and Ferdinand Glaser (1880-1961).
Apparently the expectation was that archi-
tects who were familiar with the bank’s
needs would be able to facilitate a fast and
economical conversion.

Additionally, representative rooms were
built, including a teller lobby, the meeting
room of the General Council, a library and
offices and reception rooms for the bank’s
top managers. Famous cabinetmakers of
the day, including Portois & Fix, J. W. Miiller,
Bernhard Ludwig, Jaray, Bothe & Ehrmann
and Schonthaler, were involved in furnishing
the building.

Following completion of the conversion
works in a mere 21 months, the inaugura-
tion ceremony of the new bank building was
held on Sunday, 22 March 1925, with Feder-
al President Michael Hainisch in attendance.
Other high-ranking attendants included the
minister of finance, a number of current and
former ministers and city councilors, and
representatives of the banking world.

The square that had originally been
intended as the location of the OeNB’s head
office remained empty. Shortly before the
inauguration ceremony, it was named Otto-
Wagner-Platz, which is somewhat iron-
ic given that Leopold Bauer had come to
oppose the theories of his erstwhile teach-
er Otto Wagner.

Money Center at Garnisongasse 15
Over the years it had become increasing-
ly difficult to conduct printing operations
in the OeNB’s main building efficiently
and according to modern standards. This
prompted the OeNB in 1989 to acquire a
10,500 square-meter plot situated on the
grounds of the former General Hospital and
located close to the OeNB’s main building.
Since the old hospital structures in this spe-
cific area were not considered historic mon-
uments, their preservation was not man-
dated and they could thus be demolished.
The new building, known today as

Money Center at Garnisongasse 15 © OeNB.

the Money Center, was designed to house
the banknote printing works and all bank-
note production security and R&D units,
the IT department and the cashier’s divi-
sion. At one point, a green space out-
side the city center had been considered a
good location, but it was ultimately deter-
mined that the new premises should be sit-
uated near the OeNB’s main building, since
the close proximity would facilitate better
coordination.

In 1991, ten distinguished architects
were invited to take part in the architectur-
al competition for the building’s design. The
jury eventually selected the design submit-
ted by Wilhelm Holzbauer (born 1930).

Construction began in late 1993, and
a year later, on 28 October 1994, the cor-
nerstone ceremony was held. A time cap-
sule containing artifacts such as construc-
tion plans, a series of banknotes and several
contemporary documents was incorporat-
ed within the building’s foundation. The top-
ping-out took place in fall 1995. The OeNB’s
main building and the Money Center are con-
nected by a tunnel running roughly three
stories beneath a section of the former hos-
pital complex, which today is part of the Uni-
versity of Vienna campus.

The first OeNB business areas began
relocating to their new spaces in late
1997, and the Money Center was officially

AUSTRIA

inaugurated on 19 July 1998—just in time
to print the new euro banknotes using the
state-of-the-art technology available in the
new premises.

As part of the ‘Kunst am Bau’ percent-
for-art program, artist Florian Schaum-
berger (born 1962) won a competition for
the design and installation of a site-specif-
ic sculpture in the forecourt of the Money
Center. Based on his design entitled ‘Euro
2000’ and completed in 1997, this sculp-
ture is one of the most monumental pub-
lic-space artworks in Vienna. The materi-
al chosen for the design—chrome-nickel
steel—was provided by Waagner-Bird, an
Austrian steel engineering company.

In the artist’s words, ‘An embodiment
of constant purposeful change, conveyed
through the concave-convex ascent of the
beams with their dynamic, upward-striving
movement symbolizing optimism, strength
and shared success, it does not seek to fit
into the architectural frame but rather pro-
vide a counterpoint to its severe struc-
ture. The transparency created by the voids
in the sculpture allows the viewer to see
through and beyond it, evoking a sense of
almost playful lightness.” ®
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The architectural history of
the National Bank of Belgium

Marianne Danneel and Marisa De Picker

he history of the premises of the

National Bank of Belgium reflects

the Bank’s metamorphosis from the
issuing and discount institution created in
the mid 19th century to the modern cen-
tral bank which the Bank gradually became
in the course of the 20th century. In the past
155 years the National Bank of Belgium has
acquired an impressive set of buildings for its
Brussels head office: from the classical bank
edifice in the rue du Bois Sauvage to the
modernistic functional building in the boule-
vard de Berlaimont. Despite the great differ-
ence in style, he architecture of both these
buildings conveys the essential objectives of
a central bank: solidity, stability and securi-
ty as a means of obtaining the public’s confi-
dence in the institution and its activities.

A central bank for Belgium
The industrial revolution and the emergence
of the banking system in Belgium are two
inseparable phenomena. In 1830 Belgium
was the most industrialised country on the
European continent. In the period 1830-1848
a very small number of banks financed the
Belgian industrial revolution. Each of them
had the right to issue paper money.
On two occasions, in 1838 and in 1848, a
political and economic crisis led to a run on
the two major banks: the Société Générale
and the Banque de Belgique. Savers with-
drew their money en masse and demand-
ed silver and gold coins in exchange for their
banknotes. The government was forced to
intervene and the principle of compulsory
tender - i.e. the suspension of the right to
exchange banknotes for precious metals -
was imposed.

It was clear that the country needed
a central bank which would end the prolif-
eration of banknotes, restore confidence
and maintain stability. In 1850, following

The 19th century Hétel of the National Bank of Belgium is a fine example of neo-classical,
eclectic architecture. © NBB.

negotiations with the government, the pri-
vate banks waived their right of issue togeth-
er with certain discount activities in favour
of a new institution, the National Bank of
Belgium.

The National Bank of Belgium was soon
considered throughout 19th-century conti-
nental Europe as an almost perfect example
of an issuing bank, and various other coun-
tries modelled their own institutions upon
its statutes and organisation, and they also
copied its architecture.

The 19th century bank edifice

It all began fairly modestly in 1850. After rent-
ing premises for a brief period , the Board of
the National Bank bought a mansion with a
courtyard to accommodate the Bank’s offic-
es together with the Governor’s official res-
idence. Eventually that proved to be far too

cramped. There was barely enough space for
the customers, who had to queue outside,
sometimes in the rain.

From 1857 onwards the Bank was
actively looking for larger and more pres-
tigious accommodation in a suitable neigh-
bourhood. In 1859 the Board was able to
purchase some properties on the rue du Bois
Sauvage, next to Saint Michael’s Cathedral,
with the aim of constructing its new head-
quarters on the site. A design competition
was held, with a small number of architects
competing for the commission. The archi-
tects Henri Beyaert (1823-1894) and Wynand
Janssens (1827-18..) who had submitted a
joint bid, won the contract for the new bank
edifice, including the governor’s residence
known as the Hotel. Of the two architects, it
seems that Henri Beyaert was the dominant
figure.
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The Beyaert-Janssens plan was a sim-
ple, rational design. The architects made
great use of quadrilateral symmetry. Their
plan was for two parallel wings connected
by two transverse links. At the front, behind
the facade, were the governor’s residence
and private office, the boardroom and the
general assembly room. The Bank’s offic-
es, the central cash office and the collection
office were located in the parallel rear wing.
The two wings were connected by two trans-
verse elements, conceived as circulation
zones, the whole thus enclosing a central
court in the middle. Work had already start-
ed by late 1860, but due to disagreements on
artistic aspects between the architects and
the Bank, the building progressed agonising-
ly slowly. It was 1865 before the banking and
administrative services could move into the
new premises; it was to be another two years
before they were joined by the governor,
together with his family and staff, and it took
until 1874 to complete the decoration of the
Hotel . Beyaert was a perfectionist, and Bey-
aert and Janssens’ continual negotiations
with artists and craftsmen for the decoration
and the interior details were very time-con-
suming. The sculptors they commissioned,
for instance, could never start working on
the actual sculptures right away. They had
to create plaster models first and obtain the
approval of Beyaert and the Board. The long
wait for completion was also due to the var-
ious modifications demanded by the Bank .
Some parts of the original plans were con-
sidered too ‘exuberant’ and others not lux-
urious enough. The first Governor, Philippe
de Haussy (1850-1869), played a prominent
role in every aspect of the building process.
Detailed correspondence between him and
the architects is preserved in the National
Bank’s archives.

The Hotel of the National Bank of Bel-
gium is an exquisite example of neo-classi-
cal, eclectic architecture with a clear French
- and particularly Parisian - influence. Eclec-
tic architecture sought to adorn a build-
ing’s original, basic structure with elements
drawn from diverse historical periods. It
strove to erect monuments rather than mere
buildings, and was imperiously didactic in
intent.

The Hotel’s facade is a fine example of
this eclectic movement. It is strictly symmet-
rical in composition, extending between two
projecting elements - the public entrance on
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The red salon was part of the governor’s private quarters on the first floor of the Hétel. © NBB.

the one side and the carriage entrance to the
governor’s residence on the other side -, sur-
mounted by pediments and adhering totally
to the sacred canons of classical proportion.
Two caryatids frame each of the projections,
symbolising commerce, industry, agricul-
ture and the fine arts, ‘the principal sources
of public prosperity’ according to the archi-
tects in a letter to the governor in 1863. The
facade is monumental in every aspect and
richly adorned with symbols of industri-
al progress, wealth and economic activities
such as a beehive, the bow of a boat, a dyna-
mo and a locomotive. The facade conveyed a
sense of balance, solidity and confidence to
a public still shaken by the banking crises of
recent decades. Indeed, these were the very
virtues that would ensure the success of its
principal product, the banknote.

Today, the greater part of the 19th cen-
tury bank edifice has disappeared, with the
exception of the governor’s residence and
the public entrance hall. Fortunately, photo-
graphs and plans of the building have been
preserved, showing us what the 19th cen-
tury offices and public areas looked like; in
contrast to the ‘classical’ building materials
and style used by the architects in the gov-
ernor’s residence, the iron frames and gal-
leries together with the vaults and glass ceil-
ings and windows give the central cash office
building and the other offices a surprisingly
modern aspect. Fortunately, the governor’s
residence was saved from demolition and

the Bank’s governors continued to live there
until 1957. It provides an inside view of Bel-
gian high society and its ideology and aspi-
rations in one of its most dynamic periods.
Like the fagade, the interior decoration
of the Hotel is lavish and full of symbolic and
allegorical elements. The imposing doors
of the entrance lead into the first of three
rooms on the ground floor accommodating
the governor’s office, the boardroom and the
general assembly room. These three rooms
were conceived as a whole. Matching seats,
fine chandeliers and imposing dark oak pan-
els: the decoration of the three rooms dis-
plays a perfect continuity. Beyaert designed
most of the furniture for the Hotel himself,
including the desk in the governor’s office.
Outside the governor’s office the majes-
tic marble staircase leads to the state rooms
and the governor’s private quarters on the
upper floors: a succession of five salons -
the Aubusson room, the red salon, the green
salon, the small dining-room and the music
room -, a smoking room and a winter garden
on the first floor and bedrooms and living
quarters on the second floor. The domestic
staff had rooms in the attic. The salons are
decorated in warm and light pastel tones,
and tapestries and draperies are abound.
But without any doubt the centrepiece
of the governor’s residence is the ballroom
- the salle des fétes - next to the salons.
The room still overwhelms visitors with
its imposing bronze chandelier, exuberant
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The modernistic, mid-20th century bank building . © NBB

allegorical paintings on the ceiling and walls,
the exquisite parquet and magnificent table-
ware. The ballroom quickly became the pre-
ferred location for official ceremonies and
top-level meetings. It has witnessed all the
important milestones in Belgium’s monetary
and financial history in which the National
Bank was a partner and a player.

Since both the activities and the staff
of the Bank were constantly expanding,
the architect Beyaert was asked to extend
the headquarters for the first time in 1871.
Once again, the construction work did not
advance as quickly as expected. The Bank
was built on an area of flat land, against the
side of the hill that rises from the shores of
the Senne to the plateau of the upper town.
This unstable ground presented a real chal-
lenge. At the beginning of the 20th century, a
new wing designed by architect Louis Dery-
cker was added to Beyaert’s buildings, but
the Bank continued to suffer from a shortage
of space.

The modernistic, mid-20th century bank
building

Following his appointment in 1938, governor
Georges Janssen (1938-1941) initiated plans
for new, larger buildings for the Bank’s print-
ing works and offices; the construction of the
north-south rail link was the perfect catalyst.
The architect commissioned to design these
buildings was Marcel Van Goethem (1900-
1960). The original building plans were

already approved in January 1940. They
involved two separate main buildings which
would be connected by an underground cel-
lar system.

In 1948, work began on the construction
ofthe new building. During the war, the archi-
tect Van Goethem had further elaborated his
plans and at the same time he had thorough-
ly studied the design of other national banks
such as the Bank of England and the Banque
de France. In his original plan, Van Goethem
opted for demolishing the entire 19th centu-
ry bank edifice and using the vacant space
to extend the modern head office. Only the
governor’s residence and the offices built by
Derycker escaped demolition.

In strict conformity with his modern-
ist views, Van Goethem dismissed any ref-
erence to earlier styles and preferred a clear
building structure that expressed monu-
mental dignity and functionality rather than
elaborate ornamentation. The architect was
in favour of ‘une architecture monumen-
tale ordonnancée’, which passers-by could
admire in full perspective without feeling the
need to step back.

It took no less than ten years to build
the new head office, with construction work
carried out in phases so as to allow the
employees to continue working through-
out the project. The final result is a huge, mon-
umental building covering the entire length of
the boulevard de Berlaimont. While the monu-
mental character of the architecture expresses

A wrought iron gallery overlooks the banking
hall at the UCB. © NBB

the solidity and importance of the institution, a
number of distinctive security features such as
the blind walls - the building has only one main,
almost hidden entrance, protected by an iron
latticework - and the colonnade in front of the
facade accentuate the confidence inspired by
the guardian of the currency.

Inside, the banking hall comprises two
extremely large rooms about 200 metres
long and more than eight metres high, sepa-
rated by a central staircase. These rooms fea-
ture two rows of columns echoing the ones
on the main fagade of the building. They
are fitted with what was modern lighting for
those days, consisting of fluorescent tubes. A
lightly vaulted ceiling rests on the double col-
onnade. Located beneath two massive glass
and metal roofs, the ceiling is made of more
than 9000 squares of translucent white poly-
carbonate which act as light boxes improv-
ing the daylight. The banking hall is there-
fore constantly bathed in natural light which
varies in intensity according to the seasons
and the weather.

Originally, the Bank’s modern building
caused a lot of controversy and it divided
public opinion. People reproached the Bank
for a megalomaniac attitude. Today, we see
that the protest was only a fleeting phase
and that the Bank’s building now attracts the
attention of every passer-by.

In recent decades, aspects such as infor-
mation and computer technology, securi-
ty and efficiency have become increasingly
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The banking hall of the modernistic building bathes in natural light. © NBB.

importantin the Bank’s building and renova-
tion programme. At the same time the Bank
decided to renovate the 19th century gover-
nor’s residence and to restore the glass roof
of the Van Goethem building, taking account
of today’s energy standards. Finally, in 1979,
the Bank also acquired the former, 19th cen-
tury premises of the commercial bank Union
du Crédit de Bruxelles (UCB) just around the
corner from its own head office.

The UCB building

The interior of the UCB building with its decor
largely inspired by classical styles is an out-
standing example of late 19th century bank
architecture. It was designed by architect
Désiré De Keyser (1823-1897) and was built
between 1872 and 1874. One enters the build-
ing through a long arched corridor opening up
to a majestic staircase with bronze chande-
liers cast by the famous Belgian Compagnie
des Bronzes. At the end of the corridor is the
great hall. The interior windows reach a height
of almost 18 metres at their highest point. They
take the form of a barrel vaultin which the glass
panes are supported by a steel structure. Next
to the main hall is a smaller banking [?] hall.
which is lit by an oval window, and a wrought
iron railing runs along beneath it. The quality
of the subtle decoration is remarkable.

Today, the Scientific Library of the
National Bank is located in the building. In the
near future it will accommodate the Bank’s
new museum.

Conclusion

The architectural history of the National
Bank of Belgium reflects the Bank’s expan-
sion and its changing activities and duties.
But the Bank’s premises - from the mon-
umental 19th century bank edifice to the
modernistic 20th century building - also con-
vey a clear message of confidence, stability
and security. In the 19th century the Nation-
al Bank of Belgium was seen as a perfect
model for the architecture of several other
central banks in continental Europe. Today,
the institution still tries to set an example by
adapting its buildings to the new environ-
mental and energy standards and by careful-
ly restoring its architectural heritage. ®

Literature & Sources

ANTOINE, S. ‘Marcel Van Goethem: the Nation-
al Bank’s 20th century Beyaert’. Museum of the
National Bank of Belgium. The National Bank
of Belgium, 3 Feb. 2014. Web. 28 Dec. 2015.
Larchitecture éclectique d’Henri Beyaert,
exhibition catalog. Brussels: Museum of the
National Bank of Belgium, 1978.

‘Immeuble de la Banque Nationale a Brux-
elles” Rythme 15 June 1953: 6-13.

DEBLON, V. ‘The National Bank of Belgium
and its modern architecture’ Museum of the
National Bank of Belgium. The National Bank
of Belgium, 4 May 2012. Web. 28 Dec. 2015.
KAUCH, P. Les batiments de la Banque Nation-
ale de Belgique a Bruxelles. Brussels: The
National Bank of Belgium, 1964.

BELGIUM

The building of the former Union du Crédit de
Bruxelles (UCB) wil house the new museum of the
National Bank of Belgium. © NBB.

VAN GOETHEM, M. ‘Construction des nou-
veaux batiments de la Banque Nationale de
Belgique a Bruxelles’ Annales de llnstitut
technique du Batiment et des Travaux publics
March-April 1951: 2-18.

Marcel Van Goethem, architecte D.P.L.G.
Oeuvres et études, 1940 - 1959. Brussels: The
National Bank of Belgium, 1959.
NOVGORODSKY, L. ‘Les nouveaux batiments
de la Banque Nationale de Belgique a Brux-
elles.” La technique des travaux 29.7-8 (1953):
215-236.

PINCHON, J.-F. Les palais d’argent. L'architec-
ture bancaire en France de 1850 a 1930. Paris:
Spadem; Adgap, 1992.

PLUYM, W. (ed.), DANNEEL, M., LOGIE, C.,
RANDAXHE, Y. and J. VICTOIR. The Hotel of the
Governor of the National Bank of Belgium.
Antwerp: Petraco-Pandora, 1995.
VANDEWEGHE, E. ‘Municipal imagery and
regionalist architecture in the aftermath of
the First World War. Branches of the National
Bank of Belgium in Flanders. in: MEGANCK, L.,
VAN SANTVOORT L. and J. DE MAEYER (eds.).
Regionalism and Modernity. Architecture in
Western Europe 1914-1940. Leuven: Leuven
University Press, 2013. 110-133.

VICTOIR, J. and J. VANDERPERREN. Henri Bey-
aert. Du Classicisme a 'Art Nouveau. Sint-Mar-
tens-Latem: Publisher De Dijle, 1992.
WEHDORN, A. The architecture of money.
Vienna: Oesterreichische Nationalbank, 1999.
The Central Archives of the National Bank of
Belgium.

bulletin | 2016

24



CROATIA

The Croatian National Bank in the
/agreb Stock Exchange building

Ines Merkl

he seat of the Croatian National Bank
T is at Trg hrvatskih velikanain the cen-

tre of Zagreb.! The building in which
the central bank is situated is a protected
cultural property and the most renowned
work of architect Viktor Kovaci¢. The impres-
sive palace was erected to accommodate
the Zagreb Stock and Commodity Exchange,
while the central bank began using the build-
ing as its seat after the end of World War II.
The story of the Zagreb Stock and Commod-
ity Exchange Palace is closely connected to
the establishment and work of the Stock
Exchange itself. Although it is 1907, the year
of the establishment of the Stock and Com-
modity Exchange Department under the
auspices of the Chamber of Commerce that
is usually perceived as the year of establish-
ment of the Stock Exchange, in fact, it was
officially founded in 1918.2

The Stock Exchange was initially locat-

ed in the building of the Chamber of Com-
merce, where the Chamber of Commerce
leased a large hall to the Stock Exchange
for stock exchange meetings and a room for
the office. The Chamber of Commerce used
the same hall as its principal club-room and
coffee house. The members of the Chamber
of Commerce were known to enter the hall
before all stock exchange transactions had
been closed. ‘Regardless of everything else,
this combination of stock exchange and cof-
fee house is neither appropriate nor good,
giving the broader public that often have
very vague and incorrect ideas about stock
exchange and its importance complete-
ly wrong impressions and judgment of the
stock exchange institution’, the General Sec-
retary of the Zagreb Stock and Commodity
Exchange wrote at the time.?
Stock exchange transactions increased in
that period, as did the number of its mem-
bers, making the space used by the Stock
Exchange insufficient within a short period
of time.*
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Viktor Kovaci¢’s competition design, 1921, HR-DAZG 1, GPZ GO, 349. © State Archive Zagreb.

Viktor Kovaci¢’s competition Design, 1921, HR-DAZG 1, GPZ GO, 349. © State Archive Zagreb.

palace built. In November 1920, the Zagreb
Stock Exchange purchased land from the
city: a construction site of triangular shape
located at the very end of JuriSiceva Street,
at the intersection of Marti¢eva Street and
Rackoga Street.® Today the location is situat-
ed in the Zagreb city centre. However, in the
1920’s it was located in the eastern outskirts
of the city and was used for city fairs. The
1920’s were the time of the city’s expansion
and the construction of the Stock Exchange
marked the start of the development of the
new business centre of the city.

The Stock Exchange began with plans
immediately. It was decided that the best
design be selected on the basis of a competi-
tion inviting architects Viktor Kovacic¢, Aladar
Baranyai, Ignjat Fischer, Bruno Bauer, Laza
Dungjerski and Joze Plecnik to submit their
proposals.® Joze Plecnik, a Slovenian archi-
tect living in Prague at the time, declined
the invitation. The reasons for his decision
are not recorded, although an anonymous
author of an article published in 1921 in a
Croatian newspaper claimed that Plec¢nik
agreed with the opinion of the Association
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of Yugoslav Engineers and Architects, which
had demanded that the competition be
open to the general public competition. All
experts from the country should be able to
take part.” There were indeed protests from
the Association.® Yet the Stock Exchange
decided to continue with the competition
amongst the five selected architects.

The jury selected Viktor Kovaci¢’s solu-

tion as the best design. The building was to
have the facade built of stone on the first
floor and of brick in the rest of the build-
ing. The main entrance was defined by a
high stairway and tall columns. Kovacic also
planned that a sculpture be positioned on
top of the stairway. He envisioned the most
important room in the building, the stock
exchange hall, as a circular room with the
dome supported by caryatides.
Herman Muthesius, a German architect act-
ing as the head of the jury, explained that the
proposal was characterised by great clarity.
He also praised: the design’s good and quick
access to and from the stock exchange hall;
the architectural conception of the build-
ing’s external appearance as well as its inte-
rior; and, above all, the possibility of easy
construction.?

It is worth noting that Kovaci¢ took
the entire urban complex into consider-
ation, proposing the construction of anoth-
er building as a twin to his Stock Exchange
building. The two buildings were supposed
to form a symmetrical portal leading to the
new part of the city.’® Although the 1920
plans for the development of this new busi-
ness part of the city never came to fruition,
architect Aladar Baranyai constructed the
twin building, the House of Engineers and
Technicians in 1927, according to Viktor
Kovaci¢’s competition design.

The Stock Exchange Council and Sec-
retary’s Office sent architect Viktor Kovacic¢
and the General Secretary on a study vis-
it in 1922. Thus Kovaci¢ visited the stock
exchange buildings in Vienna and Berlin
during his journey.!* When he returned, after
consulting the Stock Exchange Management
Board and taking Herman Muthesius’s com-
ments into account, Kovaci¢ completed a
new design according to which the building
was ultimately constructed. One of the most
notable changes was the new facade design
that gave the building a more classical look.

After Viktor Kovacic¢’s death on 21 Octo-
ber 1924, Hugo Ehrlich, Kovaci¢’s former
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Today’s Croatian National Bank; photo by Bozidar Bengez.

business partner, took over the work on the
construction, accompanied by architects
Alfred Albini and Mladen Kauzlari¢. They
completed the interior of the building. Par-
ticular attention was paid to the building’s
furnishings: the furniture, light fixtures and
balustrades on the staircases and the gal-
lery of the main stock exchange hall were
designed especially for the building.

Today, the building is recognisable
for its facade made of the famous white
stone from the island of Bra¢. The main
facade is emphasized by four tall lonic col-
umns, which rest on a classical base and
carry a simple cornice, resembling a Greek
temple.

The monumental appearance that
characterizes the facade continues into
the entrance area as well. The area has the
shape of a tall vestibule with a coffered
ceiling decorated with rosettes. The main
focus of the space is a staircase leading to
the foyer of the main stock exchange hall.
Large cloakrooms used to be situated on
both sides of the vestibule.

The semicircular foyer in front of the
stock exchange hall is roofed by a large
glass vault. The north side of the foy-
er leads to the commodity exchange hall,
which serves as a conference room today.

The main stock exchange hall is circu-
lar in shape, covered by a 21 meter wide
coffered dome made of reinforced con-
crete and opened by a circular skylight.
It is interesting to note that the dome’s
external layer is taller than the building’s
main fagade. The floor of the main stock
exchange hall is paved in mosaic, where-
as glass prisms in the central part allow
light to reach a smaller hall located on
the ground floor. In addition to the main
entrance from the foyer, the hall has two
more entrances leading from both sides of
the building and enabling a good connec-
tion with all rooms in the mezzanine. The
hall’s niches used to contain 52 telephone
booths intended for traders. Today, the
booths accommodate the vast collection
of books from the library of the Croatian
National Bank. The stock exchange hall is
surrounded by a gallery, which is accessed
from the hallway on the first floor.

Most of the rooms on the first floor
retained the functions they had when the
Stock Exchange used the building. The
conference room in which the Council of
the Croatian National Bank now holds its
meetings was formerly the room of the
Stock Exchange Council. Next to the hall,
the Governor’s and the Deputy Governor’s
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offices are situated in the former rooms
of the Stock Exchange President and the
Stock Exchange General Secretary.

The central hall on the second floor is
the arbitration tribunal hall. The arbitration
tribunal had an important role in the eco-
nomic life of Zagreb in the 1920’s. The hall
is situated above the conference room on
the first floor and is square in shape, roofed
by a domed ceiling and a large skylight. The
space next to the conference room is occu-
pied by rooms, which were used by arbiters,
parties, members of the Council and attor-
neys. The sign ‘Law and Justice’ used to be
inscribed above the two fireplaces located in
the room.

The Zagreb Stock and Commodity
Exchange Building was inaugurated on 18
June 1927. To honour the occasion, Svi-
jet Illustrated Weekly dedicated an entire
issue to the event. Regrettably, the com-
pletion of construction works coincided
with the deceleration of Croatian econom-
ic growth and a decrease in stock exchange
transactions. Until World War Il, the Zagreb
Stock Exchange leased most of its premis-
es. The Stock Exchange discontinued its
work in 1945.

T h ian National Bank’ T ARERRE

. .oda.y, the Croatian National .an s _ gg" I‘E% ;
building is one of the most recognisable 7 = = =
Zagreb landmarks. ® . ijl I&%ﬂ

1 Thesquare changed the name five times in the course of his-
tory. It was called George Washington Square, Munich Victims
Square, Joza Vlahovi¢ Square and twice The Stock Exchange
Square. In 2001, it was renamed Trg hrvatskih velikana (Square
of Croatian Greats). The most popular name by which the cit-
izens of Zagreb usually refer to the square is the name dedi-
cated to the institution constructed there, the Stock Exchange
Square (Trg Burze), the name that was officially used from 1928
t0 1941, and again from 1990 to 2001.

2 MiraKolar-Dimitrijevi¢, O osnutku i radu Zagrebacke burze
do 1945. godine, Radovi Filozofskog fakulteta Sveucilista u
Zagrebu, No. 28, pp. 190-211, Zagreb.

3 HR-DAZG-248, Draft letter to Antun Goglia, royal and governor’s

counsellor, royal commissioner for the City of Zagreb, dated 18

February 1920. The letter is not recorded as sent in the Stock

Exchange Registry book.

HR-DAZG-248, Zagreb Stock Exchange Annual Report 1922.

HR-DAZG-248, 42264.

HR-DAZ(G-248,42585.

Strucnjak, Izlozba palace Zagrebacke burze, 18 June 1921,

Hrvat. Anonymous article in the Hrvat magazine signed by

Expert.

HR-DAZG-248, 42585.

9 Expert Opinion on the Competition Entries, Zagreb, 1921, p. 22.

10 HR-DAZG 1, GPZ GO, 349, Competition designs for the Zagreb

Stock Exchange.

HR-DAZG-248, 422643, Viktor Kovacic’s letter to the Stock

Exchange.

Today’s Stock Exchange Hall; photo by Tvrtko Ujevic.
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Entrance Hall in front of the Stock Exchange Hall; photo by BoZidar Bengez.
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The Bank of Cyprus building within

the medieval walls of Lefkosia

Christodoulos A. Hadjichristodoulou

t stands in the centre of the old city of

Lefkosia, between Onasagorou' - Pha-

neromeni streets to the east, Lykourgou
str. to the south and Socratous str. to the
north. In the west it is adjacent to residences
and shops facing the busy commercial Ledra
street, known in the past as Makrydromos,
namely the Long Street.

Initially the building had housed
the Bank’s banking outlet but also its
administration  offices2.  Today, the
south part of the building includes the
Customer service centre of the Bank (Fig. 1)
whilst its northern part houses the Bank of
Cyprus Cultural Foundation and the Bank of
Cyprus Historical Archives®.

In 1933, specifically on 13 April, at a joint
meeting between the Bank of Cyprus Board of
Directors and the Supervisory Board, a deci-
sion was made to purchase the residence of
Eleni Christodoulidou* for £2.200 in order to
house the Bank of Cyprus offices ‘with all the
buildings included within the court and four
sakorafia®, but we may accept two sakorafia if
need be, with the understanding that we will
pay £40 less*.

At a joint meeting between the Board of
Directors and the Supervisory Board on 12
May 1933, the committee of inquiry under
Panayiotis M. Tseriotis, assigned to address
various issues, proposed among other things
that ‘thoughts towards establishing a branch
in Ammochostos must be postponed”.

1 Letter by Georgios Garanis, Bank of Cyprus Director, to Themis-
tocles Dervis, Mayor of Lefkosia, 19 November 1951.

2 Formoreinformation see . Kypri, The history of banks and
financial Institutions in Cyprus, Lefkosia 2009, pp. 15-17 (Greek
edition). Today, the management of the Bank is housed at the
multi-storeyed building in the Ayia Paraskevi area of Nicosia.

3 The text makes use of original evidence and pictorial material
from the Bank of Cyprus Historical Archives.

4 ‘Owvn e Kurpou’, 21 October 1933 and 4 November 1933.
Reference is made to the fact that the residence had been pur-
chased from Ms Christodoulidou for the amount of £2,250.

5 Theword sakorafia denotes a water measuring device.

6 Minutes from the joint meetings of the Board of Directors and
the Supervisory Board, Special Committees, General Assem-
blies etc., 1913-1943, 27.

7 Ibid.230.

Fig. 1 The Customer service of the Bank . Photo:
Bank of Cyprus Archives.

On 26 May of the same year, during
the meeting of the Board of Directors, the
Chairman presented ‘drawings by architects
Messrs Tsangarides and Demetriades. Both
are of the opinion the Bank should be erected
without demolishing the existing residence’
Various opinions were set forth at the board
meeting; finally, a decision was reached that
certified architects in Cyprus be asked to sub-
mit plans on a fee of £10 each for the best two,
and that a request be forwarded to the Bank
of Athens that it communicate the plans for its
branches to the Board, for us ‘to rely on and
choose the most suitable one’.

However, at a subsequent joint meet-
ing held on 7 June between the Superviso-
ry Board and the Board of Directors, it was
decided that an architect be assigned to
inspect the building and to decide on the
expenditures required for it to meet the
needs of the Bank.

8 Minutes of the Board of Directors of the Bank of Cyprus Ltd,
15.11.1932-5.3.1943, 26.

Fig. 2 The fagade of the Bank’s new building
is shown on a photograph from 1940 . Photo: Bank
of Cyprus Archives.

The vote resulted in six votes for Tsan-
garides, four for Fotiades and three for
Demetriades. The fee was set at £10 and
as noted, ‘Alongside Mr Tsangarides, Mr Y.
Koursoumbas will also work, offering his
services pro bono’.

The issue of the building would con-
tinue to trouble the two Boards until the
end of 1933, as they found themselves
unable to agree on whether it should be
demolished and built anew or if the exist-
ing building should be repaired®. Finally,
on 14 December, it was decided that the
existing building be demolished and thata
new two-storey building be erected on the
site™.

°  Minutes from the Joint Meetings of the Supervisory Board and
the Board of Directors, 14 December 1933, ‘®Qwvr tg Kompou’,
4 November 1933. Itis initially mentioned that a decision was
taken by majority that the residence not be demolished, and
that any repairs made should not exceed the amount of eight
hundred pounds. Subsequently, however, it was decided that
the residence should be demolished.

N. Pafitou, The Bank of Cyprus. Chronicle 1899-2009, Lefkosia
2010, 36. (Greek edition).
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On 15 May 1934 a meeting took place
to award the building contract. The compe-
tent Committee decided to award the pro-
ject to Mr N. Hadjiconstantis, after securing
an agreement for the most advantageous
price. Construction works must have been
well ahead by then, as the relocation to the
Bank’s new building was scheduled for Octo-
ber 1934,

The fagade of the Bank’s new build-
ing is shown on a photograph from 1940*
(fig. 2). The building is designed in line with
the architecture of the time, featuring stairs
leading to the lobby and large windows pro-
viding ample light. On the ground floor, the
windows have protective iron bars and, at
the centre, the initials TK (Greek initials for
‘Bank of Cyprus’) as an emblem?®3, The upper
area has large entrances, verandas and win-
dows equipped with exterior shutters. The
name ‘Bank of Cyprus Ltd’, in both Greek and
English, is inscribed in capital letters on the
free surfaces of the walls.

In 1951 the purchase of the building
adjacent to the Central Building in Pha-
neromeniwas made, with an eye to expand-
ing the existing premises which had by
then become too small for the execution of
banking transactions and for the number of
employees, who had surged from 17, when
the building was first erected, to 85. The
new building was envisaged as an impos-
ing structure. It would include a banking
transactions area with double the size of
the existing hall and provide comfortable
space for customers and staff. It had been
decided that it would also house the Mort-
gage Bank of Cyprus* and the Insurance
Company® and it would have central heat-
ing for the cold winter months?. In 1954,
the Bank’s management drew up plans for
the creation of a Library and a large Read-
ing Room for personnel*.

Above the central entrance on Onasa-
gorou street, the name BANK OF CYPRUS
was inscribed in big capital letters on a white
marble plaque, together with the bank’s

11 Minutes of the Board of Directors of the Bank of Cyprus Ltd,
15.11.1932-5.3.1943, 83.

12 Pafitou, op. cit. p.41.

13 Ibid. p. 49. The Bank's emblem in iron bars was not used in the
iron bars of the Bank of Cyprus building in Limassol, which
opened in 1949.

14 Ibid. pp, 54,58, 62.

15 Ibid. p. 52. The General Insurance of Cyprus (G.I.C.) commenced
operations on 14 January 1952. There is, on the northern side
of the building, on Socratous street, a relief emblem of the G.I.C.
on marble, depicting Poseidon, god of the sea.

The central entrance of the Bank of Cyprus
on Onasagorou street. Photo: Bank of Cyprus
Archives.

relief emblem, namely an ancient coin from
Pafos with the inscription ‘KOINO KYTPIQN)»*
(Common to all Cypriots) (fig. 3).

In 1969, the Bank’s building underwent
expansion. The task is assigned to the M.
Michaelides Bros Technical Office, whilst Y.M.
Michaelides and A.F. Modinos worked on the
Lefkosia Insurances Building?.

The ground floor, on the side of the
Cultural Foundation, included the Period-
ical Exhibitions Hall (fig. 4), the Agora shop
and the security booth, as well as the Muse-
um of the History of Cypriot Coinage, on the
left. The workshop of the Historical Archives
was located to the west and the Historical
Archives offices were located on the mez-
zanine floor. The Archives’ facade is aptly
decorated.

On the mezzanine floor, to the south,
stands the Museum of the Collection of
George and Nefeli Giabra Pierides (donated
by Clio and Solon Triantafyllides), as well as
the Hall of Educational Programmes, with
areas for ancillary use and an office. The Hall
hosts educational programmes, presenta-
tions and workshops.

On the first floor, above the museum,
lie the management and personnel offices,
the commanding Board Room, the Research
Library, the ‘Andreas Patsalides’ Events
Hall, the Photographic Archive and the area
where the Collections of the Cultural Foun-
dation are kept.

The second floor hosts the Aerikon res-
taurant, offering a unique view of the city of
Lefkosia, since from there one can observe
the old city with its significant medieval,
post-Byzantine and modern monuments,

1 Reference to the emblem is made by the Chairman (1955-1963)
of the Bank, Miltiades Koureas, see Pafitou, Ibid. p. 63.

The periodical exhibitions hall of the Bank of
Cyprus Cultural Foundation. Photo: Bank of
Cyprus Archives.

whilst gazing at the villages on the northern
range of Pentadaktylos (Turkish-occupied
since 1974).

In the forecourt to the west of the Foun-
dation lies the Theatre which presents or
hosts various events. Sculptures by Cypriot
artists are on display there.

The western part of the building, on
the ground floor, houses a customer service
shop, with various services housed in the
upper storeys. The ground floor also hosts
a permanent exhibition of the Historical
Archives on the history of the Phaneromeni
Building and an Office Equipment exhibition.

The masonry consists of local yellow-
ish porous stone with selective use of mar-
ble revetment. The forms are plain and state-
ly, with high ceilings, a distinctive element of
the island’s earlier architecture. The floors in
the public areas are covered in multi-colour-
ed marble slabs whilst the walls are decorat-
ed with works of art by Cypriot artists.

The ground floors are used by the Cul-
tural Foundation, the Historical Archives
and the Shop for storage or safekeeping of
archives and other materials.

The historical building of the Bank of
Cyprus in Phaneromeni stands apart as a
point of reference for passers-by in the cen-
tre of the old city. On the streets around the
Bank’s building, the Choraites, namely the
inhabitants of the Chora (Lefkosia), mer-
chants and visitors, locals and foreigners,
go about their business in an area graced by
all sorts of shops, taverns and residences,
old mansions, and of course the landmark
church of Panagia Phaneromeni. ®

16 Ibid.p.51. 2 These references are noted on the architectural plans for the
17 Ibid. p. 54. expansion of the Phaneromeni building in 1969.
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From the late sixties to the 21st century. The two
central buildings of the Limassol Co-operative

Loucas Gregoriades

T he two central buildings which have
been constructed by the Limassol
Co-operative Savings Bank in its
seventy-year old history, constitute a sig-
nificant part of modern and post-modern
architectural history and development in
Cyprus and in Limassol, in particular.

Their dynamic and impressionable
presence in prominent parts of the city cen-
tre symbolize the rising and continuous
progress of the organization as well as its
increasing influence within the financial,
social and cultural life of Limassol.

In the first difficult years of its oper-
ation, as from 1946 when it was estab-
lished up to 1970 when it moved to the
new, impressive, privately owned premis-
es, the Limassol Co-operative Savings Bank
has followed a long road, with continuous
changes in the premises of its business.
From the beginning of its operation up to
and including 1957, it rented various build-
ings in the historical centre of Limassol.

After the mid-fifties, the increasing
needs for more space, led the Committee
and the Management of the organization
to the decision to buy a building in 1957 in
Ipirou Street near Heroes Square, in order
to cover its needs.

Soon, these first privately-owned offic-
es proved to be very small. The expansion
of the cycle of business of the organiza-
tion required the analogous space, which
would serve its increased spatial and oper-
ational needs. So, towards the end of the
sixties, it was decided to build a new, pri-
vately-owned central building in the town
centre, near the Municipality. The vision
of the management and the committee of
Limassol Co-operative Savings Bank was
the construction of an impressive building,
which would symbolize the increased pow-
er and financial influence of the organiza-
tion and its being sanctioned by the con-
science of the Limassol public.

The old central premises after their completion in 1970 © Limassol Co-operative Savings Bank.

After research, it was decided to buy an
old building in a central part of the histori-
cal centre of Limassol on the corner of Arch-
bishop Kyprianos and G. Potamitis Streets,
which was demolished. The choice of area
was not accidental. There were many state
and public services around the specific area,
which in addition was surrounded by build-
ings - landmarks of Limassol town, such as
the Municipality, the old central post office
and the law courts.

The construction of a new central build-
ing was a very ambitious goal and this was
achieved thanks to a loan being taken out
internally by its members, who with great
enthusiasm loaned the organization £ 70.000.

The design of the architectural plans was
assigned to the architects Polydorides and
Psyllides. Construction began in 1968 and fin-
ished two years later. In September 1970, the
Limassol Co-operative Savings Bank officially
moved to its new central building.

The impressive six-storey building is an
exceptional example of architecture of the
end of the sixties, representative of the aes-
thetics of its era. With its monumental char-
acter it dominates at the junction of Arch-
bishop Kyprianos and G. Potamitis Streets,
standing out with its solid cubic mass, resem-
bling a huge vault, and also with its charac-
teristic rectangular concrete cavities, now
and then placed vertically and horizontally,
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which function as sunscreens.

The intentions of the architects to
emphasize the vertical element are obvious.
The vertical lines, as they are outlined by the
sunscreens and the plain concrete surfaces,
surpass the horizontal ones.

The two main facades of the building,
where each come to an end, towards Arch-
bishop Kyprianos and G. Potamitis Streets,
are riddled with openings to channel light
whereas the sunscreens offer the necessary
protection from the sun.

The new building covered fully the spa-
tial needs of the Limassol Co-operative Sav-
ings Bank. Internally, the spaciousness
together with its modern layout and office
equipment offered a pleasant work envi-
ronment for the employees of the compa-
ny as well as an attractive area for carrying
out banking business for its members and
customers, whilst the general meetings of
the Company could also take place in the
new building.

Quite soon, however, the new central
offices proved to be too small for the contin-
uous increasing volume of business of the
Limassol Co-operative Savings Bank and the
consequent increase of the needs to have
larger working areas. In addition the prob-
lem of accessibility and parking of vehicles
in the town centre was continuously worsen-
ing, thereby obstructing the building being
visited by the public. Having ascertained
these problems, towards the end of the
eighties, the management and the commit-
tee decided to construct new central prem-
ises. In 1988 the contract was awarded for a
new building in Gladstone Street, on the out-
skirts of the historical centre of Limassol. The
new building with architectural plans of the
Architects A. Psyllides and G. Mavrommatis
was inaugurated in 1992.

So, after 22 years, the cycle of life of
the building in Archbishop Kyprianos Street
came to an end as the central building of the
Limassol Co-operative Savings Bank. After
the new building was constructed, it contin-
ued operating as a branch of the organization
in the historical centre of the town. After being
fully renovated in 2011 with plans of the archi-
tect’s office of G. Anastasiou, its operation
was confined to the first two floors, whilst the
other floors were rented out, inter alia, to the
Cyprus University of Technology.

Today the old central building of the
Limassol Co-operative Savings Bank has

31

The new central premises in Gladstone Street during the nineties before their renovation © Limassol
Co-operative Savings Bank.

become a landmark itself in the area and,
as a genuine banking structure of the six-
ties, constitutes a significant and integral
part of the architectural history and devel-
opment of not only Limassol but the whole
of Cyprus.

The new central building, with its
monumental character and prominent
position, dominates Gladstone Street.
With plans of the architect’s office of G.
Anastasiou, it was fully renovated in 2014
in order to meet the contemporary, spatial
and functional needs, as well as the new
aesthetical and environmental demands.
After the completion of the renovation
works it was classified on energy class B.

In comparison to the old central build-
ing, it is far lighter in character. The bulk
of the building is comprised of different
parts, shapes and sizes, making it easily
visible for visitors coming from many dif-
ferent directions and visual angles. Built
on araised ten-step platform, it dominates
its surrounding area in relation to other
adjacent buildings.

Two towers, on its eastern and west-
ern edge, add a monumental character
to the building. With their plain surfaces,
interrupted only by the Bank’s logo, they
act as a strong contrast to the central part
of the building which is distinguished by its
glass surfaces.

The horizontal metallic sunscreens
of the central section operate as a shield
against the intense solar radiation, at the
same time balancing the intense verti-
cal element which is characteristic of the
oblique towers. The visible staircase at the
eastern tower with its glass cavity operates
as a lantern at night emphasizing the char-
acter of the building as a landmark.

In the facades of the building, sections
of which protrude, such as the porch at the
entrance of the ground floor and the two
towers, they interchange with others which
retreat, like the central section and com-
bined with their difference in height, they
give movement to the image of the build-
ing. In addition, plain and open surfaces
interchange harmoniously in the facades,
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giving them an interesting contrast.

The materials and colours play their
own role as regards the new aesthetics of the
building. Glass, metal and wood and the col-
ouring of the nickel, white and blue, support-
ed by green, dominate the frontage, present-
ing vigorous but balanced contrasts.

As to the renovated building, special
emphasis was given to natural lighting and
ventilation in the internal areas, to soft light-
ing and the requirements of contemporary
efficiency, spaciousness and the saving of
energy.

With the construction of its two central
buildings, the Limassol Co-operative Savings
Bank has ornamented Limassol with two
architectural works of monumental charac-
ter, each one representing its own era, which
constitute landmarks in the town centre and
are remarkable examples of architectural
bank buildings with enormous symbolic, his-
torical and aesthetic value.

Old premises after renovation in 2011 © Limassol Co-operative Savings Bank.

The new central premises in Gladstone Street after their renovation in 2014 © Limassol Co-operative Savings Bank.
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The Zivnostenské Banka building

Jakub Kunert

he economic growth in the Czech

lands in the second half of the 19th

century influenced the urban devel-
opment of Prague as the region’s financial
centre. The boom in financial intermedia-
tion was reflected in architecture as financial
institutions decided to invest in the construc-
tion of new bank premises. Na Prikopé Street,
one of the busiest streets in Prague, became
the city’s banking centre. Major local banks
- Zemska banka kralovstvi ¢ceského, Bohmis-
che Escompte Bank, Uvérni banka v Koliné
(Prazska uvérni banka from 1900) and the
most important of the Czech joint-stock com-
mercial banks, Zivnostenska banka pro Cechy
a Moravu (Zivnostenska banka from 1910) -
established their headquarters there.

In the late 1890s, Zivnostenskd ban-
ka pro Cechy a Moravu, which opened in
1869 and had been using rented rooms in
Na Prikopé Street and nearby Panska Street,
was forced to seek more space for its rapid-
ly expanding banking operations. For this
purpose, in 1896 it bought two buildings in
Na Prikopé Street near the crossroads by
the Powder Tower? - ‘U tfi kapr(’ (The Three
Carps, No. 862) and ‘U Zelezného muze’
(The Iron Man, No. 863). A public tender was
declared for the design of the bank’s head-
quarters in November 1896. A total of 29
architects registered for the tender, but the
jury rejected all their proposals. After much
deliberation it selected a project by the
architect Osvald Polivka, who had designed
the headquarters of Zemska banka kralovst-
vi ¢eského in the same street. Construction

1 The crossroads by the Powder Tower (formerly called the Kutna
Hora Tower or Shabby Tower) had always been a busy trading
place. The location grew in importance when King of Bohemia
Wenceslas IV established his residence (the King’s Court) there
in the second half of the 14th century. The lavishly furnished
palace was later turned into an archbishopric seminary (1631)
and then a military academy (1777). The latter was replaced by
the Art Nouveau Municipal House at the start of the 20th centu-
ry. Workshops of craftsmen, especially blacksmiths, had been
located on the site of Zivnostenska banka since the Middle
Ages. The Iron Man and Three Carps burgher houses and the
Blue Star and Black Horse inns (later hotels) were later built on
this site. The Blue Star Hotel entered world history on 23 August
1866 when the peace treaty between Austria and Prussia was
signed there. For more details, see Eduard Bass, Kfizovatka u
Prasné brany [The Crossroads at the Powder Tower]. Prague
1947.

Building of the Czech National Bank (former Zivnostenskd banka building) © CNB.

work started in 1897 and the building was
completed three years later. The foremost
Czech sculptors contributed to the deco-
ration of the bank, built in the neo-Renais-
sance style with Art Nouveau elements.?
After Czechoslovakia was established
in 1918 and Prague became the capital and
financial centre of the new state, many banks
started to consider building new head offic-
es there. The new architecture was required
not only to reflect the new economic situa-
tion, especially the development of banking
business, but also to document the banks’
economic strength. Many of the new pro-
jects, only a small proportion of which were
completed, were located right in the finan-
cial heart of the country, Na Prikopé Street.
As in other large Czechoslovak banks (such as
Ceska priimyslova banka, Prazska Gvérni ban-
ka, Bohmische Escompte Bank und Creditan-
stalt and Bohmische Bank Union), a debate
about the construction of a new flagship

2 Thesculptures on the original Zivnostenska banka building
were dominated by the statue Genius with a Lion by sculptor
and medal-maker Antonin Popp. The sculpture later became
the symbol of Zivnostenska banka and, subsequently, the
Czech National Bank. It comprises a figure of a striding geni-
usin a fluttering robe holding aloft a flaming torch. At his side
is a lion - a traditional Czech heraldic symbol and a symbol of
Czech statehood - holding a ball underits front right paw. The
sculpture was regarded as embodying the idea of progress.

building had been going on in Zivnostenska
banka - a much more important bank than
the other banks mentioned - since the mid-
1920s.2 The new and considerably larger bank
building would reflect the expansion of the
bank’s business and demonstrate its leading
position in the Czechoslovak banking system.
The bank acquired the adjacent Blue Star and
Black Horse hotels for this purpose.

The bank’s statutory bodies announced
a narrower anonymous tender for the design
of the new building in 1928. Ten leading
Czechoslovak architects,* representing the
main Czechoslovak architects’ associations
and the architectural styles of the time (rang-
ing from traditional historicism to moder-
ate modernism),® took part in the tender. All
the projects were submitted by 31 January

3 SeeLadislav Machor, Nové bankovni budovy v Praze [New
bank buildings in Praguel, in Hospodarsky rozhled, 12 July
1928,p.3.

4 Thefollowing architects took part in the tender: Josef Kalous,
Otakar Novotny, Osvald Polivka, Antonin Engel, Pavel Janak,

Jan Zazvorka, Antonin Pfeiffer, Frantisek Roith, Josef Gocar and
Bedrich Bendlmayer. The Archive of the Czech National Bank
(hereinafter ACNB), archival holding Zivnostenska banka (hereinaf-
ter /B), ZB/515/1, Novostavba bankovni budovy, Zprava pro fedi-
telstvi Jana Dvoracka ‘Stavba bankovni budovy’ [The new bank
building, Report for the Board of Directors by Jan Dvoracek ‘Con-
struction of the Bank Building’], 1 February 1929, box no. 515.

5 Seeibid., Zprava pro feditelstvi Jana Dvoracka ‘Bankovni nov-
ostavba’ [Report for the Board of Directors by Jan Dvoracek,
‘The new bank building’], 27 September 1928, box no. 515.
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1929° and were then assessed by a special
jury consisting of prominent architects, art
experts and the bank’s managers.” The jury
started by deciding that it would be a mis-
take to preserve the bank’s original build-
ing. It then assessed the proposals and
divided them into three categories accord-
ing to their feasibility: A (‘highest-quality’),
B (‘less suitable for banking purposes’) and
C (‘unsuitable’). It eventually selected three
category A proposals that it deemed to be
the best in terms of architectural and space
planningvalue.® However, none of them was
considered “fully satisfactory’ or suitable for
implementation without reservations.?

The building was eventually built
according to the design by FrantiSek Roith.
His project was described by the jury as
the most valuable in terms of space plan-
ning. Roith’s dull facade, however, was to
be modified in collaboration with the archi-
tect Bedfich Bendlmayer, whose facade
design was ‘generally liked’.’® However,
the six-month collaboration between the
two architects ended in a controversy. The
project preparations fell behind schedule,
and the delay was increased further by dis-
putes with the municipality, which refused
to approve the demolition of the facade
of the former bank building designed

6 Theten architects submitted ten projects, one of them (The

Red Point) being later supplemented by a more detailed ver-

sion. Eleven proposals were therefore sometimes mentioned

later in connection with the tender.

For the tender conditions and jury composition see ACNB,

7B/4410/2, Potvrzeni piijmu vieobecnych podminek uzsi

soutéze novostavby, Vseobecné podminky uzsi soutéze na nov-
ostavbu budovy Zivnostenské banky v Praze [Confirmation of
accepting the general conditions of the narrower tender for the
construction of a new bank building, General conditions of the
narrower tender for the new Zivnostenska banka building in

Prague], 11 October 1928, box no. 4410.

8 The ranking of the three proposals was as follows: 1) Evropa
(Europe), 2) Oblouk (The Arch), 3) Cerveny bod (The Red Point)
according to the architectural criterion, and 1) Cerveny bod,

2) Oblouk, 3) Evropa according to the space planning criteri-
on. The designers were: Cerveny bod - Frantisek Roith, Oblouk
~ Josef Gocar, Fvropa - Jan Zazvorka. ACNB, 7B/4410/3, Pro-
tokoly o schizich jury, Protokol o schlizi poroty na novostavbu
Zivnostenské banky [Minutes of the meetings of the jury, Min-
utes of the meeting of the jury on the tender for the new Zivnos-
tenska banka building], 15 March 1929, box no. 4410.

9 Ibid., Zprava pro schizi predstavenstva [Report for the Board of

Directors meeting], 29 March 1929, Posudky projektti [Project

assessment reports], box no. 4410. Although the jury did not select

awinning project, the wider architectural community clearly pre-
ferred ‘the hawkish claw of a generous design’ of Josef Gocar to
the ‘flawless design lacking a leading idea’ of Frantiek Roith. See,
for example, ACNB, ZB/646/5, Novinafské zpravy, Souté? Zivno-

banky [Newspaper reports, The Zivnobanka tender], in LN, 27

March 1929, and J. R. Marek, SoutéZ na novostavbu Zivnostenské

banky [The tender for the new Zivnostenska banka building], in

LN, 27 March 1929, box no. 645.

ACNB, 7B/4410/3, Protokoly o schiizich jury, Zprava pro schizi

predstavenstva [Minutes of the meetings of the jury, Report for

the Board of Directors meeting], 29 March 1929, Posudky pro-

jekt(i [Project assessment reports], box no. 4410.

—~

—
o

by Osvald Polivka.'*

The start of the Great Depression
became a convenient excuse for the bank’s
management to discontinue the preparato-
ry work, even though the city council had
ceded to almost all of Zivnostenska ban-
ka’s demands in the interests of reducing
unemployment.’? It was not until the start of
1935 that the bank decided to launch con-
struction. However, the original project was
substantially altered, as the plan to sell the
Black Horse Hotel, which was to serve as
the bank’s temporary building during the
construction phase, was abandoned. A new
building containing offices to be rented to
companies from the bank’s group was to be
erected in its place. A passage connecting Na
Prikopé Street with Havlickovo (now Seno-
vazné) Square was also incorporated into
the architectural solution.*®

The first phase of the project started
with the demolition of the Blue Star Hotel
in mid-1935. Work on this part of the build-
ing ended in 1939. The old building and the
former Black Horse Hotel were torn down in
the second and third phases. The new build-
ing was completed on 14 May 1942, with con-
struction costs slightly exceeding 100 million
crowns. FrantiSek Roith’s winning design
strongly accentuated the general opinion
that a bank building should symbolise sta-
bility. The building was designed in the func-
tionalist style of Czech individualistic mod-
ernism as a practical bank building capable
of meeting all the needs of a modern finan-
cial institution. Thanks to the wealth of its
investor, it was one of the most comforta-
ble and luxurious bank buildings of its day.
Moreover, Zivnostenska banka was able to
award all the contracts for construction work
and modern interior design to companies
from its concern at favourable prices. The
only statue to be moved from the original
building to the new one was Antonin Popp’s

11 ACNB, ZB/515/1, Novostavba bankovni budova, Reditelské
zpravy, Zpréva pro feditelstvi Hugo Felfela ‘Novostavba nasi
bankovni budovy’ [The new bank building, Board of directors
reports, Report for the board of directors by Hugo Felfel ‘Our
new bank building’], 17 January 1930, box no. 515.

See, for example, ibid., Zprava pro feditelstvi Josefa Neprase
‘Novostavba’ [Report for the Board of Directors by Josef Nepras
‘The new building’], 16 May 1931, box no. 515.

Ibid., Schlize vykonného vyboru [Executive committee meet-
ing], 26 March 1935, box no. 515. It is worth noting that the pro-
posalto build the passage and extend the project to include the
Black Horse Hotel was initially rejected by Zivnostenska banka,
which felt it would compromise the bank’s security. This solution
had featured in a Zivnostenska banka project drawn up by Pavel
Janakin 1929. ACNB, 7B/4410/3, Protokoly o schiizich jury, Zpra-
va pro schiizi predstavenstva [Minutes of the meetings of the jury,
Report for the Board of Directors meeting], 29 March 1929, Posud-
ky projektli [Project assessment reports], box no. 4410.
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CZECH REPUBLIC

Staircase in the new Zivnostenskd banka building
©CNB.

0ld buildings of the Zivnostenskd banka,
Blue Star and Black Horse hotels © CNB.

Ground plan of the the new Zivnostenska
banka building © CNB.

Genius with a Lion. All the rest were moved
to the Lapidarium of the National Museum.
The building became the headquar-
ters of the State Bank of Czechoslovakia
in 1950 and of the Czech National Bank in
1993 following the split of the Czech and Slo-
vak Federative Republic. The Czech Nation-
al Bank also bought the adjacent Commod-
ity Exchange, built in the historicist style in
the 1890s, and its 1920s Art Deco extension.**
At the turn of the millennium these buildings
underwent extensive reconstruction into
state-of-the-art central bank premises. ®

14 Zivnostenska banka had bought the adjacent Commodi-
ty Exchange building in the late 1940s after its banking opera-
tions had expanded due to the concentration of Czechoslovak
banks. Following the Communist takeover in February 1948,
the authorities allocated the complex of buildings to the newly
established Czechoslovak Television in the late 1950s.
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FINLAND

Bank of Finland head office

Vappu lkonen

he Bank of Finland was established
T in 1811, which makes it the fourth

oldest central bank in the world. The
Bank of Finland started to operate in Turku
in the western part of Finland in April 1812.
A few years later the bank moved to Helsin-
ki, where it operated from several addresses
including the handsome Senate Building at
Senate Square, designed by C. L. Engel. The
bank moved to its south wing in 1824.

A decision to build a head office to the
Bank was taken after the bank had trans-
ferred from the authority of the Senate to
the Diet (lower house of Parliament) in 1868.
Afew years later a plot was purchased in the
central district of Kruununhaka.

Finland’s first international architectur-
al competition was organised in 1878 for the
design of the building. It was won by a Ger-
man, Ludwig Bohnstedt (1822-1885).

Architect Ludwig Bonhstedt

Ludwig Bohdnstedt was born in 1822 in St.
Petersburg. He moved to Berlin in 1839 and
first started to study philosophy and lat-
er architecture at the Berlin Bauschule. He
also studied landscape painting and moved
to Italy for a year to study the history of
architecture.

Bohnstedt began working as a pri-
vate architect in St. Petersburg with only 21
years of age. He was subsequently awarded
the title of professor of the St. Petersburg
Academy of Art in 1858, although he never
taught there.

Since the end of the 1850s Bohnstedt’s
typical projects consisted of small town-
houses of stone for the aristocracy or com-
mercial bourgeois. At that time, the most sig-
nificant work was represented by Yusupov’s
Beaux Arts townhouse, which was built
between 1852-1858 in Litenij.

In 1863, Bohnstedt moved to his home-
land in Germany and there designed a series
of bank buildings. According to professor
Helander, Bohnstedt moved freely between

Bank of Finland in 1890’s. Board of Antiquities.
©Axel Lindahl.

different historical genres such as antique,
Roman and sundry, gothic and renaissance.
Bohnstedt’s neo-renaissance projects were
characterized by strong, closed houses, iso-
lated from the surrounding buildings.

The head office of the Bank of Finland
The first architectural competition held in
Finland was an international competition
for designing the head office of the Bank
of Finland in 1876. The competition pro-
spectus laid down several requirements for
the building. The main facade should face
Nikolainkatu (nowadays Snellman Square).
The building material should be fire safe,
which meant that only stone and iron were
allowed as building materials, except for the
floors and doors. Heating had to be conveyed
to the bank building from a separate annex.
The room layout was also strictly specified.

The first prize was awarded to archi-
tect Ludwig Bohnstedt. His neo-renaissance
styled proposal for the Bank of Finland head
office included features similar to a bank
which he had recently completed in Germa-
ny. For example, the two-storey buildings
had a clear, almost cubic form, rustic wings
and Roman arches. All these solutions are
typical of the era.

The facades are representative. Indoors

Office in the Bank of Finland in 1930’s.
© Museum of Helsinki photo archive.

attention focuses on a series of handsome
spaces, which lead to the ground floor foy-
er. The spatial compositions - such as many
other public buildings built in the 1800s - are
characterized by the dominant monumen-
tal staircase and continue to the main floor
halls. The ceiling and the walls exhibit a rich,
classic design that was typical of the times
but fairly new in Finland.

The building also provides technical
novelty such as the steel used in its construc-
tion. The objective was essentially fire safety.

Construction of the headquarters began
in the late 1870s. The cornerstone of the
building was laid in May 1879, a year after the
Finnish markka had been fixed to the gold
standard. As Antti Kuustera and Juha Tarkka
have pointed out, the building can be seen
as a monument to Finland’s new, European
monetary system, reiterated by the cement-
ing of 10 and 20 markka gold coins in the
foundation of the building.

Ludwig Bohnstedt never visited Finland
and never saw the building he had designed.
A Finnish architect F.A. Sjostrom was hired
to supervise execution. He criticised Bohn-
stedt’s design, pointing out, for example, that
the height of a room could vary in different
drawings.

The structures and in-house technical
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The Snellman hall after restoration in 2006.
Bank of Finland archive © Peter Mickelsson.

amenities were carried out by domestic archi-
tectural/engineering firms. A senior engineer
named Ossian Bergbom oversaw construction
and the engineer Gustaf Emil Berggren dealt
with the technical facilities of the building.

The main building was completed in 1883.
The final cost of construction had increased
by approximately 1.1 million FIM.

The later renovations of the head office

In the 1890’s, Gustaf Nystrom became the
regular architect of the Bank of Finland.
He designed several branch offices for the
Bank of Finland. He had also a considera-
ble impact on the architecture of the head
office. The small courtyards of the building
were closed off and the underground floor
was provided with a new vault. Covering the
main area for serving members of the public,
a glass roof was constructed.

The head office was damaged by bomb-
ing in 1944. The distinguishing glass roof was
destroyed in the bombings and was replaced
with a solid roof.

In the early 1960’s, the building was com-
pletely renovated and a large extension was
constructed on the west side by architect Har-
ry W. Schreck. The interior of the head office
was turned into a large, functional public
office building.

During the latest restoration, completed
in 2006, part of Bohnstedt’s and Nystrom’s
designs were re-established in the main lay-
out of the old part of the building.

Even after all the changes to the head
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Bank of Finland head office in summer.
Bank of Finland archive © Peter Mickelsson.

office, one can still experience the architec-
tural designs of Ludwig Bohnstedt. In the
interior, the grand entrance hall and its wall
placement, typical of Bohnstedt, can still be
experienced.

Surroundings of the Bank of Finland
head office

Today, the Bank of Finland operates
from three sites, only a couple of blocks from
each other: Snellman Square (the old head-
quarters), Rauhankatu 16 (Harry Schreck’s
expansion) and Rauhankatu 19, which
served as an old printing works and was con-
verted into an office building.

At Snellman square, the Bank of Fin-
land’s head office environment is com-
posed of the House of the Estates (1891), the
National Archives (1896) and the Financial
Supervisory Authority’s headquarters. Both
the House of the Estates and the Nation-
al Archives are designed by architect Gustaf
Nystrom. The location of the House of the
Estates opposite to the Bank emphasized
the Bank of Finland’s status as the bank of
the estates.

The Financial Supervisory Authority’s
headquarters is located at Snellmaninkatu
4-6. The building was designed by architect
EB Lohrmann. It was built in 1857.

In the centre of the square stands
the statue of the stateman, JV. Snellman,
designed by sculptor Emil Wikstrém in
1923. Wikstrom also designed the House of
the Estates’ wall relief that emphasizes the

Snellman Square. On the left, the Financial
Supervision main building and the Cathedral; in
the middle, the Bank of Finland and its annexes;
on the right, the National archive and below right,
the House of Estates. © Bank of Finland archive.

relationship between the Emperor and the
people and the importance of compliance
with the law.

The erection of the JV. Snellman stat-
ue took place after a long national cultur-
al debate. Erected in 1923 the statue ensured
that Snellman Square became the young, new-
ly independent nation’s major public forum.

Sources

Vilhelm Helander (2007) Bank of Finland’s
architect Ludwig Bohnstedt.

Antti Kuusterd - Juha Tarkka (2011, 378)
‘Imperial Cashier to Central Bank’. The Bank of
Finland 200 years.

Mari Tossavainen (2006) ‘Suhteissa suurempaa
voimaa - J.V.Snellmanin muistomerkki.

Bank of Finland archive.

Bank of Finland photo archive.

Board of Antiquities photo archive .

Museum of Helsinki photo archive.
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FRANCE

The three lives of Hotel Gaillard

Régine Casassa and Philippe Bonzom

his historical landmark was origi-
I nally built in 1882 by private banker
Emile Gaillard to host his extraordi-
nary collection of medieval and Renaissance
artwork. In 1919, the building was bought
by the Banque de France to become one
of its branches in Paris. In 2006, the Ban-
que de France closed that branch and soon
launched the project of transforming it into
Citéco, the Cité de ’économie et de la mon-
naie (City of economics and money), the first
museum in France dedicated to economics.

The architectural complex, which is
in the neo-Gothic, art déco and “eclectic”
styles, is unique in Paris. It was classified as
“Historic Monument” in 1999. Architects Vic-
tor-Jules Février (1842-1937) and Alphonse
Defrasse (1860-1939) were responsible for its
construction, the first for Emile Gaillard, the
second for the Banque de France.

Emile Gaillard chose to build his pri-
vate mansion in the middle of the Plaine
Monceau, urbanised in the second half of
the nineteenth century. Quite appropriate-
ly, given his client’s artistic tastes, Victor-Ju-
les Février was inspired by the architecture
of the Loire Valley Chateaux, particularly by
the Louis Xllth wing of the Chateau of Blois
and the Chateau of Gien. Emblematic of this
style are the fixing of the staircases, the high
roofs, the Gothic gable windows and the
brick facing (photo 1). The building was for-
mally inaugurated in 1885, at a costume ball
attended by nearly two thousand guests,
with Emile Gaillard dressed as Henri Il (pho-
to 2). Old photographs and the catalogue
detailing the sale of Emile Gaillard’s artworks
(in 1904) illustrate the richness of the interi-
ors and the works displayed in the mansion
(photo 3). A great collector, Emile Gaillard
brought back from his travels in France and
Europe not only works of art and furniture
but also fireplaces and wood panels that he
incorporated into the decor and ornamen-
tation of the ceremonial rooms. Preserved
elements of Hotel Gaillard show the free-
dom with which genuine features and copies
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Photo 1: Hétel Gaillard : The main fagade in 1904 .© Collection Banque de France.

were combined at this time. The presence
in the building of several sculpture portraits
of Emile Gaillard and his architect testify to
their complicity and sense of humour.

After the financier's death in 1902,
most of his collection was sold. Hotel Gail-
lard was put on sale in 1904, but it was only
in 1919 that it was bought by the Banque de
France and converted into one of its branch-
es by architect Alphonse Defrasse and inte-
rior decorator Jean-Henri Jansen. The new
branch opened in 1923. The extensions car-
ried out by the Banque de France consist-
ed in constructing, in the inner courtyard of
Emile Gaillard’s mansion, a large hall for the
Banque de France’s customers and a high-
ly secure safe room.While introducing the
“Banque de France style” into the additions
he made to the building, Alphonse Defrasse
echoed the work of Février, notably in the
treatment of the inner wall of the custom-
ers‘ hall and in the decor of the woodwork
of the counter, known as “serviettes”. The
safe room is on two levels. It is protected by
a moat, which to this day is filled with water,

and is accessed by a rolling bridge, making
this secret place one of the most unusual in
Paris (photo 4).

The branch‘s activities ceased in 2006,
when France‘s central bank re-organized and
streamlined its branch network in the coun-
try. It was soon decided that Hotel Gaillard
will be the home of Citéco, the Cité de ’Econ-
omie et de la Monnaie, a new museum ded-
icated to economic literacy in France. It will
house educational, interactive and enter-
taining presentations on the economy, mon-
ey and the links between money, finance and
the economy. It will also display the Banque
de France's rich collection of banknotes and
coins as well as currency printing machines.

This third life of Hotel Gaillard will begin
in 2018, the date scheduled for the opening
of the new museum. At that time, in addi-
tion to educational tours about econom-
ics, Citéco will also propose visitors guided
tours focusing on the architecture and histo-
ry of this singular building, which will thus be
accessible to the general public for the first
time (photo 5).
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Photo 2 : The Gaillard family in Renaissance attire
in 1885 . © Collection Banque de France.

Photo 4 : Hotel Gaillard : Cross sectional view of the safe
room and moat. © Collection Banque de France.

However, the Cité de ’économie et de la
monnaie already offers a wide range of edu-
cational and cultural services that give the
public the opportunity of exploring econom-
ics in various manners - temporary exhibi-
tions, conferences and debates, events, digi-
tal productions on the internet, social media
—. It thus provides the general public, par-
ticularly youngsters, with insights and a ped-
agogical perspective on the questions raised
in the news. More details on Citéco's activi-
ties and educational tools may be found on
the Cité‘s website : www.citeco.fr.

It is noteworthy, especially from an
eabh point of view, that Citéco emphasizes
history as a way to better understand eco-
nomics. Among its already published educa-
tional tools, the interactive timeline ,,10,000
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years of economy“! presents 200 milestones
in economic history in a global, multidis-
ciplinary and highly illustrated fashion. In
2015, the most recent version of this timeline
was selected as Website of the Day by the
CSS Design Awards, a panel of international
judges who reward sites for creativity, func-
tionality and usability. The webdoc ,Imag-
es of crises“? allows viewers to ,relive® five
major economic and financial crises from
1923 onwards, using audiovisual archives.
Finally, Citéco recently published the inter-
active multimedia tool ,History of Econom-
ic Thought*“3 which focuses on the lives and
work of 55 authors who, since Aristotle,

1 http://www.citeco.fr/10000-years-of-economy-New-version.

2 http://www.citeco.fr/Images-of-crises.

3 http://www.citeco.fr/
The-history-of-economic-thought-in-an-interactive-multimedia.

Photo 3 : Hétel Gaillard - Dining room in 1904.
© Collection Banque de France.

Photo 5 : Main entrance of the future Cité de I’économie,
Virtual view . © Ateliers Lion & Banque de France.

have had a major influence on economics.

As far as architectural history is con-
cerned, Citéco’s website already features
several articles on Emile Gaillard, the 1885
costume ball, architects Victor-Jules Févri-
er and Alphonse Defrasse, the neo-goth-
ic style, and last but not least, the team in
charge of transforming the Hotel for its
third life : architect Yves Lion and museog-
rapher Frangois Confino. The website also
offers an online virtual tour® of the Hotel
before transformation.

4 http://mww.citeco.frivisite-virtuelle/Facade_sRVB.html.
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The BNP Paribas Mile
An overview of BNP Paribas landmarks
in Paris’s historic financial quarter

Christiane de Fleurieu

he French financial Group BNP Par-
I ibas was created in 2000 through a
merger of BNP and Paribas. BNP Par-
ibas and its predecessor banks trace their
roots back almost 200 years, with a rich his-
tory of both innovative client-centric devel-
opments and responsible community com-
mitments. As the 21th century started, the
successive mergers or acquisitions con-
solidated a unique portfolio of eight office
buildings located in the historic financial
quarter of Paris, straddling mainly the 2nd
arrondissement and the southern fringe of
the neighboring 9th arrondissement. They
line more or so the western stretch of the
famous Grands Boulevards, from Boule-
vard Poissonniére to Boulevard des Capu-
cines, with BNP’s 14 rue Bergere and Par-
ibas’s 37 place du Marché Saint-Honoré
delineating the utmost ends. Eastward of
the Place de ’Opéra junction are the BNP
buildings and westward are those of Pari-
bas. Sandwiched in between is the Palais
du Hanovre, an addition in 2006 made by
BNP Paribas. These eight outstanding edi-
fices represent the layers of both Paris’s
and BNP Paribas’s history, closely inter-
woven with the social and financial emer-
gence of the prominent area.

Crown financiers‘s quarter

The birth of the quarter dates back to the
beginning of the 18th century when the old
northern rampart was dismantled to pro-
vide the landscape of the Nouveau-Cours,
a fashionable tree-lined promenade. The
new urban area, a far cry from the left
bank medieval Paris with its narrow and
short winding streets, offered the wide
open space the new set of Crown finan-
ciers were looking for so that they could
erect mansions with huge gardens. This
took place in the aftermath of property
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speculations in which landowners ben-
efitted greatly. Moreover, in 1719, John
Law hosted the Royal Bank in the Hotel
de Nevers, at the corner of Rue de Riche-
lieu and Rue Colbert. When it was liqui-
dated shortly thereafter, the building was
used by stockbrokers for the next sixty
years, before becoming the Royal Library
and nowadays the National Library.

Financial institutions under the Empire
After the French Revolution, the early years
of the 19th century saw the Banque de
France, the Central Bank of France, and the
Bourse or Stock Exchange, being estab-
lished in the area under the patronage of
Emperor Napoleon I. Furthermore, some of
the hotels particuliers were sold to Europe-
an merchant bankers, like Perregaux, Laf-
fitte or Rothschild, so as to house their new-
ly-launched Parisian banking businesses. At
the same time, Paris was equipped with an
Opera House, which remained in the pre-
cinct despite three successive relocations,
thus initiating the entertainment and lei-
sure tradition of the Grands Boulevards.

General banking forging ahead

In the aftermath of the 1848 upheavals,
the French Second Republic decreed the
foundation of deposit and lending banks
in order to remedy the credit freeze. Sub-
sequently, ordinary people gained access
to general banking : as their dormant sav-
ings were recycled into the economy, secu-
rities were listed on the Stock Exchange.
As banks began working face-to-face with
their customers, they needed large prem-
ises with vast public hallways and secured
vaults, conveniently near to the Central Bank
and Stock Exchange buildings. Haussmann
‘s urban works were the final stage in the
development of the financial district.

Mesmerizing landmark portfolio

BNP Paribas national-calibre forerunners
had settled their headquarters in the his-
toric financial quarter. With the parent com-
pany changing its name seven times dur-
ing the 20th century, they added to, rather
than replaced, their earlier headquarters.
The urban structure abled sprawls over
their block and even extensions overadja-
cent streets. Moreover, they kept on enlarg-
ing the building for their central servic-
es, seizing opportunities when needed.
Because banks compete for clients, they
have always recognized the architectural
image value to both retain and attract cus-
tomers. Hence these headquarters were
widely publicized at some critical moments
such as WWI aftermath (14 Rue Bergére),
acquisition (16 Boulevards des Italiens), or
privatization (3 Rue d’Antin). Built on strik-
ing locations by famed architects using the
latest techniques, they were also seen as
a highly distinctive architectural expres-
sion that could show off the modernity of
the bank. Nowadays they have shifted to
focus on social awareness and environ-
mental responsibility to rekindle the flame
of the general public. The new age of the
old bank buildings is marked by sustain-
able initiatives and socializing with local
communities. This contributes towards staff
well-being and towards reducing the bank’s
ecological footprint. Moreover, it allows
for, open day events, history sharings and
communications.

To paraphrase the famed crooner Yves
Montand: let’s stroll round the Grands Boule-
vards, there are so many things to see...
Within a mile, BNP Paribas today still occu-
pies eight landmarks even though numerous
other banks’ buildings underwent office con-
version or creative adaptive re-use, ie a for-
mer bank turned into an Apple Store.
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14 rue BergéreThe CNEP headquarters. The main
entrance fagade establishes the image of the
bank as a temple of finance. It boasts impressive
statues by Aimé Millet and exquisite mosaics by
Giandomenico Facchina. BNP Paribas Historical
Archives © Vincent Fillon.

14 Rue Bergére
The CNEP rented the premises for eleven
years untilits purchase in 1862. As both oper-
ations and staff numbers increased swift-
ly, and to keep central services and general
management headquartered under one roof,
the CNEP hired French architect Edouard-Ju-
les Corroyer to remodel the space into a neo-
classical structure. Its fagade established the
image of the bank as a temple of finance.
From 1878 to 1882, some of the best-known
craftsmen and artists of the time worked on
the superb decorative stoneworks and nota-
ble ornamentations: mosaicist Giandomen-
ico Facchina, sculptor Aimé Millet, painter
Charles Lameire. The huge public hall boasts
Toscan columns and a polychrome glass
ceiling. The great flying staircase is overtly
Byzantine in inspiration and overlooks the
directors’ offices. But to attract customers,
the architectural decor evokes wealth and
integrity, endurance and confidence, quali-
ties which are deeply rooted in the bank. For
example, exquisite mosaics showcase the
five continents where the pioneering CNEP
had opened branches.

Furthermore cutting-edge innovation
was to be found in every corner such as the
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1 boulevard Haussmann / 16 boulevard des Italiens / 20 boulevard des Italiens BNP headquarters
frontage by night. This stunning picture was used for the Annual Report of Year 1989. © BNP Paribas

Heritage & Archives.

provision of electricity, the elevator, cen-
tral heating and the internal pneumatic
tube mail network. The expansive public
hall, designed according to mass appeal,
flaunted unusual amenities such as a
weather station and clocks showing cur-
rent local times in a selection of major cit-
ies around the world. Its ingenious glass
slab floor increased the natural lighting to
the vaults below.

Between 2007 and 2009, the 1991-list-
ed building underwent a thorough renova-
tion while necessary adaptations for today’s
banking activities were smoothly embed-
ded into the architecture while reducing
the ecological footprint. As a result, it is the
first ever listed building to be awarded the
HQE certification. Nowadays, it houses the
Investment Partners subsidiary.

1 Boulevard Haussmann

This neoclassical triangular shape was
designed by Parisian architects Julien
& Dubayon and built between 1925 and
1927. It filled the wedged-shaped block
located at the intersection of the fash-
ionable Boulevard des Italiens and the
newly-opened section of the Boulevard

Haussmann, bordering the Rue Le Pele-
tier. The construction coresponded with the
launch of the last stretch of the Boulevard
Haussmann after works for the first one
began eighty years ago. Where old houses
dating back to the 1840s and the lively Pas-
sage de 'Opéra used to be, monumental
hotels and financial head offices were erect-
ed. But against all expectations this prestig-
ious lot was owned by a real estate investor,
who ordered the construction of a rental
edifice with shops and office spaces. Not
long thereafter, its neighbour, the Banque
Nationale de Crédit (BNC), a forerunner of
the BNP, had outgrown its own new prem-
ises and started to rent offices. In the 1950s,
the building was considered an extension
of its headquarters when its successor, the
Banque Nationale pour le Commerce et
Industrie (BNCI), implemented a foreign
exchange office on the ground floor. Hence
renovation works were undertaken to make
the lower part of the fagade look alike the
16 Boulevard des Italiens by undertaking
the same wrought-iron workmanship as in
the 1930s. A covered footbridge links the
two buildings. Today, this building houses
retail and corporate banking units.

40



FRANCE

16 Boulevard Des Italiens

The Boulevard des lItaliens was one of the
most bustling thoroughfares in the days of
the Second Empire thanks toits cafés and the
old opera house nearby. One of these cafés,
the famous Café Riche, was established at 16
Boulevard des Italiens. But soon thereafter,
in 1875, bad fortune was to befall it with the
opening of a new opera house further away.
Furthermore, as a place in which to do busi-
ness Paris was finding increasing favor in
the eyes of large international corporations,
which wanted to establish showy head offic-
es and branches. Thus, The New York Life
Insurance Company bought the building but
under the condition to keep Café Riche in the
ground floor of the new monumental build-
ing. It was built in 1898.

In 1917, the newly-founded BNC moved
in after it had outgrown its original head-
quarters at 20 rue Le Peletier. Then the
bank started to buy the houses contained
in the block bordered by the Boulevard des
Italiens, Rue Laffitte, Rue Le Peletier and the
new stretch of the future Boulevard Hauss-
mann. The Parisian architects Marrast and
Letrosne were in charge of drafting the blue-
prints for the new and modern head office
encompassing the New York Life build-
ing. Monumental sculptures were removed
while the newly acquired old houses were
demolished. The works, lasting from 1926
to 1932, generated many arguments such as
the height of the neo-Egyptian and Art Deco
building. But there it is, in the manner of the
Théatre des Champs-Elysées and the Palais
du Trocadéro. The construction featured
vanguard office layouts and outstanding
vaults with safe rooms much appreciated by
neighbouring auctioneers and gallerists. The
front doors and ground level windows sport
magnificent wrought-iron railings designed
by Raymond Subes.

Today and according to its direct fore-
runner tradition, BNP Paribas is headquar-
tered at 16 Boulevard des Italiens. Following
in the footsteps of the 14 Rue Bergére, the
whole building will be completely rejuvenat-
ed in the next few years to come.

20 Boulevard Des Italiens

The Maison Dorée stands at 20 Boulevard
des Italiens. Its history began with the con-
stuction of a townhouse for Army treasurer,
Bouret. Later it became home to the Duke
of Choiseul-Stainville and there the famous

Madame Tallien lived and launched the fash-
ion of the Greek flimsy gowns worn by the
eccentric Merveilleuses at the end of the
18th century during the Directoire era.

The first years of the 19th century saw
the most expensive restaurant of Paris, Café
Hardy, move into the premises. But in 1836,
the Hamel brothers, the owners of the Grand
Véfour at the Palais Royal, bought the block
and asked the architect Léopold Kauffmann
to design a trendy restaurant. Hence the
nickname, Golden House, was bestowed on
the neo-renaissance building adorned with
exquisite sculptures and balconies. There,
the Parisian smart set mingled with politi-
cians, wealthy entrepreneurs, artists and
novelists such as Balzac, Proust and Zola.
The impressionists immortalized the scenic
neighbourhood; like Manet with his paint-
ing named Tortoni. The chef Casimir Mois-
son created the renowned dish Tournedos
Rossini for the composer Gioachino Rossini,
aregular.

The BNP bought the building in 1970 to
extend its nearby headquarters. The histo-
ry of this block added pressure to the task of
the bank’s architect, Pierre Dufau, who final-
ly integrated an entirely new interior into
the historic facade. It currently houses parts
of the Group’s Corporate and Institutional
Banking activities.

16 Rue De Hanovre

BNP Paribas acquired the building complex,
dubbed Palais du Hanovre, with its offices,
shops and cinemas in 2006 to reunite scat-
tered central services. Architects Charles
Lemaresquier and Victor Laloux erected the
Art deco building on the site of an impos-
ing mansion’s garden landscaped for Crown
financier Lacour-Deschiens. It overlooks
Boulevard des lItaliens as did the exquisite
Pavillon de Hanovre, built in 1758, by French
architect Jean-Michel Chevotet and com-
missioned by the Duke of Richelieu, a lat-
er owner. The splendid structure with its
rotunda was conducive to memorable func-
tions and festive gatherings. It was also the
seat of first ever events when American-born
Callender installed its Pansteorama, thus
establishing a cinema tradition in the neigh-
bourhood; Italian caterers Velloni & Tortoni
hosted tea-tastings which were new to Paris;
and French silversmith Christofle opened its
show-room to showcase innovative modern
design and electroplated manufacturing.
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2 place de I’Opéra. As it faces the Opera House
and stands at the corner of the bustling Avenue de
I’Opéra and Rue du Quatre-Septembre, rotunda
facade. © BNP Paribas Historical Archives.

Dismantled stone by stone in 1931 to make
space for the office block, the garden pavil-
ion was re-assembled in the park of the Cha-
teau de Sceaux where it stands presently.
Nowadays, the building houses the units of
the Group Communications division as well
as subsidiaries and parts of the Corporate
and Institutional Banking activities.

2 Place De L’Opéra

Facing the new Opéra House, the distinctive
building was designed by Paris architect Hen-
ri Blondel and built between 1868 and 1873.
It was intended to serve as headquarters for
the Société de Dépots et de Comptes Cou-
rants, a bank founded in 1863 to bring in new
retail banking methods from England. After
the bank was liquidated in 1892, the CNEP
took over the lease. The property became the
Parisian flagship the bank was longing for and
turned itinto its main branch.

This very location conduced the rotun-
da fagade to take part in national events the
financial institutions had to cope with. Dur-
ing the two world wars of the 20th century, the
building survived while its corner front played
a historic role, displaying a large canvas bear-
ing in 1918 the exquisite Leroux war loan post-
erAlsace Lorraine business being as usual, and
from 1940 to 1944 the inscription Komman-
dant der Stadt Paris the premises being reg-
uisitioned by the occupying forces. Then, on
27 November 2015, two weeks after the Par-
is attacks, while a national tribute took place
in Les Invalides, the French flag was digitally
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3 rue d’Antin. Since 1869, BNP Paribas and its predecessor banks have carefully preserved the historic
room where Napoléon Bonaparte wedded Joséphine on 9 March 1796. The magnificent boiseries by
Nicolas Pineau and paintings by Sébastien Il Le Clerc retain the unique atmosphere of the 18th century
Hétel de Mondragon. BNP Paribas Historical Archives © Vincent Fillon.

displayed on both widescreen sides of the
main entrance to pay homage to victims.

The circular public hall boasting a new
translucent concrete glass roof was used to
reflect the bank’s modernism in a famous
two-page advertisement in the Paris Match
magazine in the 1960s. In 2010, BNP Par-
ibas refurbished this branch into an out-
standing retail banking model called Con-
cept Store. This innovation laboratory offers
clients a new approach to banking relation-
ships and enhances the use of the newest
technologies.

3 Rue D’Antin

The hotel particulier was erected between
1720 and 1722 for Etienne Bourgeois de
Boynes, the treasurer of the Royal Bank
founded by John Law. Then the proper-
ty passed on to several owners, the lat-
ter being the Marquis de Mondragon, until
it was seized as national property by the
French Revolution. After being turned into
the town hall for the 2nd arrondissement,
Napoléon Bonaparte wedded Joséphine de
Beauharnais on 9 March 1796 in one of its
splendid rooms decorated with boiseries by
Nicolas Pineau and paintings by Sébastien
Il Le Clerc.

In 1869, the premises were acquired by
the Banque de Paris from the Mondragon
family and became the headquarters of the
Banque de Paris et des Pays-Bas in 1872,
and subsequently the operational head-
quarters of BNP Paribas in 2000.

Over the vyears, the banks, while
respectful of the historic decors listed in
1926, had to enlarge the office areas. As ear-
ly as 1880s, the courtyard was glass roofed
and equipped with heavy mahagony coun-
ters to be used by the securities depart-
ment, and the stables were turned into offic-
es. During the 20th century, the 3 rue d’Antin
encompassed the other houses of the block
and was enlarged across adjacent streets.
In the 1950s, a new central hall, called L’Or-
angerie, was designed on the first floor lev-
el by Jansen House. Lined with orange-trees
in wooden boxes to revive the original court-
yard, it leads to the general management’s
offices, the boardroom and the function
rooms.

Determined to adapt the buildings to
the bank’s needs, the different historical
town houses were joined together while dig-
ital facilities were carefully included as well as
facilities dedicated to staff well-being and cre-
ativeness. Since 2014, it houses the first ever
Feng Shui meeting room built in the Group.

37 Place Du Marché Saint-Honoré

The sleek 37 MSH building was designed by
Catalan architect Ricardo Bofill in the 1990s
after Paribas joined in the urban renew-
al project undertaken by the City of Paris. A
stone’s throw away from the 3 Rue d’Antin
headquarters, it gave Paribas the opportuni-
ty to simplify its offices, which were spread
out in different locations. The purpose-built
and eye-catching architecture challenges
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37 place du Marché Saint-Honoré. The 3 rue
d’Antin operational headquarters stand at the
far end of the Passage des Jacobins. BNP Paribas
Historical Archives © Vincent Fillon.

successfully the reconciling of modern tech-
nology and cultural heritage in a neigh-
bourhood with deep historical significance.
The temple-shaped building with its slen-
der columns and steel framework echoes
itsfarthest counterpart 14 Rue Bergéere but
its floor to ceiling double glass facade gives
the whole structure, seen from the outside,
a look of glittering transparency and fluidity:
No mere banking hall just to deposit money
but a covered passageway in the great tradi-
tion of the Parisian passages couverts that
flourished during the 19th century until they
were destroyed by the Haussmann era street
redevelopment. Dubbed Passage des Jacob-
ins, an implied reference to both the Domin-
ican Convent and the French Revolution
Club, it invites passersby in the manner of a
roofed social plaza, where people can shop,
gather, have lunch and a conversation. Pari-
bas was not long to celebrate the iconic set-
ting when, in January 1999, it launched the
Euro with a street show staging zany parades
and gaudy balloons. More recently in Octo-
ber 2014, the BNP Paribas Foundation held
its 30th anniversary at lunchtime, showcas-
ing patronized modern dance performers,
new circus exponents and jazz musicians.

It currently houses units of the Corporate
and Institutional Banking activities. ®
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Credit Agricole

Anne Brunterch

he bank architecture, beyond its

functional aspect, represents the

identity, ambition and values of a
bank. From this perspective, | chose to pres-
ent three representative buildings in the
history of CREDIT AGRICOLE GROUP, com-
prised of multiple roots, which gradually
converged.

Crédit Agricole SA - Campus Evergreen
12, place des Etats-Unis
92545 Montrouge - France

Reconciling history, modernity and
ecological ambition, right next to Paris
Since 2010, the Crédit Agricole Group creat-
ed its holding company and began to group
its subsidiaries in a campus located in Mon-
trouge, near Paris. This site, named Ever-
green, already houses 5,500 employees
of the banking group. There will be 9,000
employees in 2016. It covers eight hectares
(approximately 20 acres) of which half have
been preserved to make a huge garden.

A hundred-year-old industrial site

In 1916, the Compagnie pour la Fabrication
des Compteurs et Matériel d’Usines a Gaz,
with a capital of 9 million francs, decided to
set up new workshops on a non-built area,
partly made up of market gardens, of 60,000
m?in Montrouge.

Between 1919 and 1924, the compa-
ny constructed 55,000 m? of workshops on
the property and transferred, from 1921, the
tooling of its two Parisian factories. The fac-
tory in Montrouge manufactured gas meters,
water meters and electricity as well as elec-
trical and thermal measuring devices. The
administration building constructed by the
engineers Darras and Jouanin along the Place
des Etats-Unis, is typical of the industrial style
of the time. The Compagnie des compteurs
continued its development and in the 1960s,
6,000 people worked on the site.

In 1970, Schlumberger decided to diver-
sify into industrial measurement and took
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Compagnie des compteurs in Montrouge, circa 1930. © Archives Historiques de Crédit Agricole SA,
fonds Crédit Agricole.

control of the Compagnie des compteurs.
The new entity, called Compteurs Schlum-
berger, had 5000 employees in Montrouge. In
1977, it became Schlumberger Industrie and
brought together the industrial productions:
Enertec (electricity), Flonic (water metering)
and Sereg (control equipment). At that time,
the site of Montrouge also hosted Schlum-
berger Technology, which was dedicated to
research and high-tech services (smart card,
data transmission by optical fiber, etc.).

The transformation into a business park
The industrial productions were transferred
to the countryside in 1983 and the former
workshops were destroyed, releasing a vast
central space. In 1984, Jean Riboud, Chief
executive officer of Schlumberger, decided
to redesign the site completely and gave this
task to two international personalities: Ren-
zo Piano for the architectural part and Alex-
andre Chemetoff for the landscape.

The style of Renzo Piano was reflect-
ed in the interpretation of Terra and Aqua
buildings that have tubular structures. At the
heart of the new campus, he imagined the

Forum (staff restaurant) and its white can-
opies, like a nomadic structure in the mid-
dle of the city. Alexandre Chemetoff creat-
ed a park with cascading ponds, canals and
bridges that housed abundant flora and fau-
na. Nature was integrated harmoniously
with the professional space.

In 1989, the new ‘park Schlumberg-
er’ was listed by the Ministry of Culture in
the pre-inventory of remarkable gardens.
The list of remarkable parks and gardens of
France was drawn up from 1981 by the Minis-
try of Infrastructure and then by the Ministry
of Environment and Ecology in cooperation
with the Ministry of Culture.

In 2005, the investment fund Carlyle
acquired the site and launched a redesign
by hiring the architects Wilmotte & Asso-
ciés and Sahuc & Katchoura. The goal was to
create a business site, modern and environ-
mentally friendly, while maintaining its his-
toric character instead.

In 2008 Carlyle delivered the first
tranche of its Evergreen program, which was
acquired by Crédit Agricole SA on December
10th, 2009.
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Campus Evergreen, Forum by Renzo Piano.
© 2016 Crédit Agricole S.A. - Direction de la
Communication Groupe.

The eco-friendly campus by Crédit Agricole
Business sites of this size are rare in the city
center, or even near Paris. The Evergreen
campus, Crédit Agricole S.A’s head office in
Montrouge, is an innovative site with sever-
al ambitions:

+ A managerial ambition, based in par-
ticular on a participative and innova-
tive approach in a decompartmental-
ised space open to dialogue between
managers working alongside their teams.

An economic ambition, based on the princi-
ple of cost optimization, regarding energy,
water and raw materials, including paper.

» A human ambition, based on a range of
solutions that meet the main expectations
of employees and enhance their well-be-
ing in the workplace, including a concierge
service, a media library, a gym and banking
services.

Evergreen campus is particularly suited to
meet the environmental ambition of Crédit
Agricole. Aiming at creating a small ecological
footprint, the campus is part of a sustainable
development approach, following the reposi-
tory HQE (High Environmental Quality).

The acquisition of the site by Crédit Agri-
cole SA was followed by a restructuring pro-
gram, including in particular the develop-
ment of new landscaped areas in line with
the site and surrounding land.

The flora species are numerous and
are, in some cases, remarkable. The site also
serves as a breeding area for birds. The site
benefits, in addition to its size and proximi-
ty to Paris, from its high ecological value. As
such, the green spaces and basins are classi-
fied as a ‘protected area’.
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Campus Evergreen © 2016 Crédit Agricole S.A. -
Direction de la Communication Groupe.

LCL*- ‘19 LCL ‘/ Hotel des Italiens
19, boulevard des Italiens
75002 Paris - France

A historical monument open to public

In November 2015, the Hotel des
Italiens, a historical building of the Crédit
Lyonnais located at 19 Boulevard des Italiens
became the ‘19 LCL. It is open to casual visi-
tors, business activities and events.

The historical heart of the Crédit Lyonnais
in Paris

Founded in 1863 in Lyon by Henri Ger-
main, the Crédit Lyonnais had its first address
in Paris in 1864. In search of a prestigious loca-
tion to establish its Paris branch, it acquired
in September 1875, the former Hotel de Bouf-
flers, situated on the Boulevard des Italiens
between the Rue de Choiseul and the Impasse
de la Glaciere. The location was ideal. It was
in a district where the banking business was
concentrated around the Bourse and not far
from the Banque de France but also near the
newspaper headquarters such as ‘Le Temps’
and the Opera, opened in January 1875.

Henri Germain wanted Crédit Lyon-
nais to be seen by all in order to attract great
numbers of potentials customers in Paris. To
achieve this, it was necessary to create a pres-
tigious architectural achievement. William
Bouwens van der Boijen, an architect known
in financial circles and who had already
worked for the bank, was put in charge of the
construction work.

Bouwens moved quickly. Work began on
June 1st, 1876, and the official opening took
place twenty-two months later on March 21st,
1878, in the presence of Léon Gambetta. But
Crédit Lyonnais grew rapidly (the same year,

The Crédit Lyonnais joined the Crédit Agricole Group in 2003
and became LCL (Le Credit Lyonnais) in 2005.

Hatel des Italiens, Fagade on the Boulevard des
Italiens, 1993. © Paul Maurer, Archives Historiques
de Crédit Agricole SA, fonds LCL.

it became the largest French bank by total
assets), and had to already foresee the expan-
sion of its branches. The bank embarked on
a major acquisitions campaign to acquire an
additional 5,000 m? and on the November
5th, 1880, Crédit Lyonnais obtained a build-
ing permit from the Paris town council for the
expansion of its premises.

William Bouwens presented a mon-
umental project that impressed the man-
agement and aroused the enthusiasm of
the greatest architects of the time, such as
Charles Garnier (the architect of the Opera)
and Théodore Ballu (responsible for the
Eglise de la Trinité and the reconstruction
of the Hotel de Ville). Bouwens combined
the use of modern materials such as iron
and glass with an architectural project in a
Neo-Renaissance style. Once again, the work
was completed quickly because the builders
were able to work round the clock thanks to
the availability of electricity.

In 1882, when the building was near-
ing completion, it was decided that the Par-
is branch would be used as the Head Office.
At the end of May 1883, Parisians discovered
the new Crédit Lyonnais building.

An architecture combining elegance

and modernity

The facade now extended for 68 metres
along the Boulevard des Italiens. The build-
ing displayed all its decorative wealth, sym-
bolizing the growing power of Crédit Lyon-
nais in the opulence of the Third Republic.
The central pavilion, rising to a commanding
height of 36 metres, was directly inspired by
the Palais du Louvre or more accurately, by
the Pavillon de I'Horloge. The openings were
framed with columns and caryatids on two
floors supporting a curved pediment dec-
orated with allegorical figures. The town of
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Lyons (or the Bank) distributes funds in front
of the languid figures of the Rhéne and the
Seine to the left and the allegoric figures of
Commerce and Industry to the right. This
group was sculpted by Camille Lefevre,
Second Grand Prix de Rome in 1878. At the
corner of the Rue de Gramont, a rotunda
has complemented the facade to maintain
the symmetry of the whole.

From the Boulevard des Italiens, visi-
tors now entered through a wide corridor
lined with two large identical halls with a
height of 21 metres and an area of 250 m2
each, where they found open counters in
the English style, neither with grids nor
glass partitions. This innovative arrange-
ment of offices surrounding the public
hall allowed direct contact with custom-
ers. Large glazed roofs allowed in beauti-
ful light that lit the entrance hall leading
to a monumental double spiral staircase,
directly inspired by the staircase in the
Chateau de Chambord. A glass dome
overlooked the staircase with a height of
30 metres.

The first floor was reserved for
Board members and management. The
rooms here were appointed with a sim-
plicity (mahogany panelling and doors
and green rep curtains) that owed much
to the English mother of the architect.
Those departments which had no con-
tact with the public were grouped on the
upper floors with the correspondence
and accounts department on the second
floor, the portfolio and collecting depart-
ments on the third, and, on the fourth, the
financial studies department. It was here,
under the eaves, that Henri Germain had
his office.

Modern technology had been imple-
mented in the interests of comfort and
safety: since 1882 the premises had
been equipped with electricity; daylight
reached cellars through floors made of
frosted glass, manufactured by Saint-
Gobain; stoves and ventilation systems
were installed in the attics; there were
water points and alarm bells in case of
fire; as well as a flooding mechanism
for the securities storeroom...As for the
glass roof in the great hall, which generat-
ed great differences in temperature, this
was protected from the sun by a system
of canopies and even by irrigation of the
dome’s sloping surfaces.

The Head Office had several exten-
sions before its completion by the archi-
tects Victor Laloux and André Narjoux
in 1913. The building then occupied the
quadrilateral formed by the Boulevard
des ltaliens, the Rue de Gramont, Rue de
Choiseul and the Rue du Quatre-Septem-
bre, with a floor area of 9800 m2. It was the
largest civilian building in Paris.

The Hotel des Italiens was listed on the
supplementary Register of Historic Monu-
ments once in 1977 and again in 1989: the
facade, the roof, the main staircase, the
Board Room, halls and the entrance hall
are all protected architectural elements.

A renovated historical monument
Sinceits creation, the building has been open
to customers. In May 1996, a major fire dam-
aged a large part of the building overlooking
the rue du Quatre-Septembre. Following this
disaster, the Crédit Lyonnais sold this part of
its Head Office to AIG which renamed it ‘the
Centorial’. The building was divided into two
areas which are not linked and was closed to
the public. The Crédit Lyonnais retained the
historical heart of the building, named the
Hotel des Italiens.

In 2010, LCL transferred its execu-
tive management to its new Head Office
in Villejuif. It was an opportunity to under-
take the renovation of the Hotel des
Italiens. Working closely with the Archi-
tecte des batiments de France, the cen-
tral pavilion has been totally renovated,
the facade cleaned and highlighted, and
the interior redesigned. In 2015, the Hotel
des Italiens renamed ‘19 LCL has regained
its original vocation as a customer recep-
tion. In addition, it is also open to passing
visitors who wish to discover this historical
monument of banking architecture. It is now
part of Parisian architectural heritage.

Credit Agricole CIB - New York
1301 Avenue of the Americas
10019 New York City, New York , USA.

A witness of the construction of the Credit
Agricole’s Corporate and Investment Bank
Crédit Agricole CIB’s US headquarters
is named the Crédit Agricole CIB Building.
It was earlier known as the Calyon Building
and the Crédit Lyonnais Building as well as
the J.C. Penney Building. It is a 609 ft. tall
skyscraper developed by Uris Brothers. This
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Hétel des Italiens, details of the main staircase,
1993. © Paul Maurer, Archives Historiques de
Crédit Agricole SA, fonds LCL.

building was completed in 1964 and has 45
floors. Shreve, Lamb & Harmon Associates
designed the building, which is the 87th tall-
estin New York City.

The Crédit Lyonnais building

When the enormous retailing concern of J. C.
Penney moved its headquarters to Plano, Tex-
as, in 1988, it left behind an empty office tow-
er. Tishman Speyer Properties of Manhattan
and the Trammell Crow Company of Dallas
bought the tower at auction in May 1988 for
$353 million and began an ambitious reno-
vation. At the same time, the Crédit Lyonnais,
established in Wall Street since 1975, was
looking for new premises. In 1991 the bank
occupied 225,000 square feet of the J.C Pen-
ney Buiding and renamed it the Crédit Lyon-
nais building. The building was refitted by
the architectural firm of Skidmore, Owings
and Merril. Sculpture for a street-level plaza
was decided upon and Jerry I. Speyer, who
is both president of Tishman Speyer Proper-
ties and a member of the board of trustees of
the nearby Museum of Modern Art, commis-
sioned works by Jim Dine. What he produced
was three bronze figures that are 14, 18 and
23 feet high and that resemble the famous
Venus de Milo, minus her head. The statues
named by Jim Dine “Looking Toward the Ave-
nue,” were on show in the building’s main
entrance. The refitting of the management
offices and reception rooms was the work of
interior designer, Michel Boyer.
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Hétel des Italiens, Board Room. © LCL. - Direction de la Communication.

The building provided over 1.7 million
square feet of first-class office space that
included approximately 30,000 square feet
of ground floor and concourse level retail
space. Additionally, its tenants had a low-
er level access to Rockefeller Center, with its
many upscale retail shops, fine dining estab-
lishments and subway connections. The
building also offered abundant natural light
on all floors along with magnificent views of
Central Park and other Midtown landmarks.
The impressive double-height, glass-en-
closed lobby had a rolled silver leaf ceiling,
mahogany walls and granite floors.

The Calyon building
In May 2003, the friendly takeover bid pre-
sented by Crédit Agricole SA for Crédit Lyon-
nais was a success. So, in May 2004, the new
CreditAgricole Group’s Corporate and Invest-
ment Bank was created by the partial trans-
fer of assets from the corporate and invest-
ment banking division of the Crédit Lyonnais
to Crédit Agricole Indosuez.

In February 2010, Calyon was rebrand-
ed as Crédit Agricole Corporate & Investment
Bank (CA CIB).

Credit Agricole CIB’s American headquarters
Today, the building houses Credit Agricole
CIB which offers a full range of Corporate and
Investment Banking expertise to large corpo-
rate clients and financial institutions through
several dedicated product lines:

bulletin

Debt Optimization and Distribution orig-
ination; Structuring and distributing syndi-
cated loans, bilateral facilities and term loans
A and B; It acts as a primary underwriter and
is active on the secondary market to provide
liquidity to investors; Origination of
Structured Finance and complex financing
with a particular focus and expertise in the
energy, infrastructure, transportation, real
estate, and lodging sectors.

The Global Markets Division has a strong
expertise in foreign exchange, interest rates
including Repos, USD Government and Corpo-
rate bonds, Private Placements, securitization
solutions through ABCP conduits or term ABS.

The Global Investment Banking Division
includes M&A Advisory and Equity Capital Mar-
kets, which deal with the equity primary mar-
ket, strategic equity transactions, and struc-
tured financial solutions.

The Commercial Banking & Trade Division
provides commercial banking solutions as well
as export and trade financing.

The Crédit Agricole Group’s International
Development Department in the United States
is also located in this building. The department
assists Crédit Agricole’s mid-cap corporate cus-
tomers with their international operations, by
providing expertise on the local environment
as well as by securing access to a wide spec-
trum of banking services abroad.

To conclude, the story of these three
buildings is representative of the Crédit Agri-
cole Group’s long-standing values and identity:

New-York City, Crédit Lyonnais Building ,
Grand staircase. © Paul Maurer, Archives
Historiques de Crédit Agricole SA, fonds LCL.

New-York City, Crédit Lyonnais Building , view
of a sculpture by Jim Dine, 1993. © Paul Maurer,
Archives Historiques de Crédit Agricole SA, fonds.

its universal customer-focused retail bank-
ing model - based on cooperation between
its retail banks and their related business lines
- designed to support its customers’ projects
in France and around the world; its attention
to the welfare of its employees; its dynam-
ic, innovative corporate social responsibility
policy for the benefit of the economy.

Literatue & Sources

Archives Historiques de Credit Agricole SA,
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Credit Agricole S.A. - Direction de la Commu-
nication Groupe

LCL. - Direction de la Communication
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Commerzbank and Frankfurt am Main

Detlef Krause

C ommerzbank was originally found-
ed in Hamburgin 1870 by a number
of businessmen, merchant bankers
and private bankers, from Hamburg, Frank-
furt am Main and New York. The new venture
was a universal bank in the form of a joint-
stock company. In 1929, the two big banks
Commerzbank and Mitteldeutsche Credit-
bank in Frankfurt am Main joined forces. The
merger enabled Commerzbank to expand its
business into southern Germany.

The Mitteldeutsche Creditbank was
founded by the Frankfurt private bankers
Wilhelm Jéger, S. M. Schwarzschild, Sieg-
mund and Rudolph Sulzbach and Jakob
Isaac Weiller, together with Lieben Konig-
swarter from Hamburg, Becker & Comp. from
Leipzig and B. M. Strupp from Meiningen.
On 26 March 1856, a ministerial announce-
ment from the Duchy of Saxony-Meiningen
published a concession to establish the Mit-
teldeutsche Creditbank. Like the Bank fiir
Handel und Industrie in Darmstadt, the new
entity was forced to relocate, in this case to
the nearby Thuringian duchy, because the
Frankfurt senate was not issuing any con-
cessions to establish joint-stock banks. The
agency of banker Carl August Siebert repre-
sented the bank in Frankfurt, and the agency
was converted into a branch in 1873.

The Mitteldeutsche Creditbank was also
entitled to issue banknotes, but stopped
doing so after the banking law of 14 March
1875 restricted the business scope of issu-
ing banks. It then concentrated on building
up corporate financing and placing German
and international government and munici-
pal bonds. As the bank expanded, its head-
quarters were transferred from Meinin-
gen to Frankfurt am Main. It moved in 1886
into a building designed by the architect
Eugen Riickgauer and built by Philipp Holz-
mann AG at Neue Mainzer Strasse 32. This
was a broad-fronted building, grander than
its neighbours, with an elegant facade fea-
turing renaissance, baroque and early clas-
sical elements. The central block was given
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the appearance of projecting from the rest
of the building, which was reinforced by the
side wings being slightly lower. The main
entrance was on the right hand side of the
central block, providing access to the rectan-
gular counter hall on the ground floor. The
boardrooms and conference rooms on the
first floor had rounded gables above the win-
dows and on the second floor corbels sup-
ported balustrades. The second floor was
used for the accommodation of the board of
directors. Above this, richly decorated mez-
zanine windows and a projecting cornice
with a vertical balustrade rounded off the
building, which was reminiscent of the Pet-
it Trianon in Versailles.

With equity capital of 24.2 million
Reichsmark and some 40 business premis-
es, the Mitteldeutsche Creditbank was one
of the smaller leading German banks in the
1920s. It merged with Commerzbankin 1929,
the latter having an equity-capital base of
95.6 million Reichsmark. Commerzbank was
founded in 1870 as Commerz- und Discon-
to-Bankin Hamburg. Around 1900, it became
one of the leading major Berlin banks. The

name was changed to Commerz- und Pri-
vat-Bank in 1920 and twenty years later to
Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft. In order
to maintain a presence in the two financial
centres Frankfurt am Main and Berlin, the
bank purchased the Frankfurt bank J. Drey-
fus & Co. in 1897, including the Berlin branch
which continued to operate. The Frankfurt
branch became a limited partnership under
the name of J. Dreyfus & Co. in 1903, for an
agreed period of only five years, and Com-
merzbank maintained a sharein it.

In 1920 Commerzbank opened its own
branch in Frankfurt at Schillerplatz 5-7. One
of the first managers was Carl Goetz, who
subsequently moved to Dresdner Bank,
and another manager was Hermann Schil-
ling, who subsequently became a manag-
ing director of the PreuRische Staatsbank
(Seehandlung) and then a partner in Brink-
mann, Wirtz & Co. The building no longer
exists. When Commerzbank took over the
Mitteldeutsche Creditbank in 1929, the two
branches were merged to become the Mit-
teldeutsche Creditbank branch of Commerz-
und Privat-Bank. Frankfurt remained one of
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The counter hall was restored and re-opened in December 1949. © Commerbank AG.

the largest locations within the Commer-
zbank network after this merger. The former
managing directors of the Mitteldeutsche
Creditbank Friedrich Reinhart and Albert
Katzenellenbogen became members of the
Commerzbank board of managing directors.

The building in Neue Mainzer Strasse

was badly damaged during the Second
World War, but was re-opened in December
1949. The press reported:
‘The old premises were destroyed during the
war, and their practical but elegant successor
has been designed to the latest standards by
architect Karl Olsson. Nut and oak have been
used for the furniture and wooden fittings,
and the floors are of Solnhofer tiles. The coun-
ters are of an Italian marble, portor. Two large
overhead glass lights and modern Sistrah
graduated lights ensure that the hall is bright
even when it is dark outside or the weather is
gloomy. An air-conditioning system has been
installed, piping in pre-heated fresh air and
removing the stale air’

The Allies’ decentralisation policy left
Frankfurt as the administrative headquar-
ters for southern Germany, with Hamburg
and Dusseldorf the counterparts for north-
ern and western Germany, respectively. The
Frankfurt branch was designated as head
office. In the early 1960s, the bank commis-
sioned a new seven-storey building in Frank-
furt. It was 60 metres long and roughly 15
metres deep, at a right angle to and slight-
ly apart from the present building in Neue
Mainzer Strasse. The two were connected
by a wing at the rear. Architect Walter Maria
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Schultz’s reinforced concrete frame and
glass facade were reminiscent of the New
Building style of the 1920s. A wide staircase
with a false bearing and a number of lifts led
from the elegant entrance hall to the confer-
ence rooms on the first floor and the board’s
offices and conference rooms on the second
floor. An atmosphere of impressive unob-
structed vision was reinforced by the use of
materials such as grey-green mica slate and
awhite marble surround for the glass fagade.
The flat roof of the building was designed as
a roof garden for the use of the staff during
breaks.

When the three regional successor insti-
tutions merged in 1958 to become Commer-
zbank AG, the focus of business was in Dis-
seldorf. However, in the early 1970s, it was
decided to centralise the three administra-
tive units located in Hamburg, Disseldorf
and Frankfurt to Frankfurt. The facilities
available were too small and so were demol-
ished to make way for a larger building. Rich-
ard Heil designed a structure consisting of
two sections with a central core. The build-
ing, which was built between 1970 and 1974,
was 28 storeys high and provided accommo-
dation for some 1,400 staff. Mat bronze alu-
minium sheets with thin vertical lines and
horizontal rows of windows gave the facade
the appearance of a chess board. The 106
metre high building is still used today.

Commerzbank’s legal domicile has
been in Frankfurt since 1990, when in effect
the process of centralisation was com-
pleted. As business expanded, the various

In the early 60s, Commerzbank extended its
headquarters in Frankfurt. © Commerbank AG.

departments had to be located in a num-
ber of different premises around the town.
To overcome this problem, British star archi-
tect Norman Foster, since 1999 Lord Foster of
Thames Bank, was commissioned to design
anew headquarters building. Itis 259 metres
high and was built by Hochtief from 1994 to
1997 on a site between Kaiserplatz, Grosse
Gallusstrasse and Kirchnerstrasse. It has a
steel framework based on 111 enormous
piles, which go 48.5 metres into the ground.
The shape is that of an equilateral triangle
with rounded corners and slightly convex
facades. The three wings, consisting of floor
space and lift tracts, surround a triangular
atrium. On every floor, two of the wings are
used as office space and the third extends
over four storeys as part of a 34 metre-long
garden. The atrium and generous use of
glass on the fronts makes the building light
and airy, and the natural light and well-pro-
portioned gardens lend it a slender appear-
ance. There are nine gardens in all, alternat-
ing from wing to wing in a kind of spiral, and
the structure peaks asymmetrically so that
the tower stands out well from a distance.
With the antenna on top, the building reach-
es a height of 300 metres. Between 1997 and
2003 it was the highest building in Europe.
Highly innovative technology has been
incorporated in order to provide a pleasant
environment for the staff and radically cut
energy consumption. The tower is covered
by a two-layer facade through which fresh
air enters the interim space. The windows
can be opened individually, allowing natural
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ventilation up to the 50th floor. The ceiling
panels have a water-based cooling system to
cope with the summer heat, which responds
to the indoor temperature. The offices are
heated conventionally, with staff able to reg-
ulate the temperature in each office within a
certain range. In 2009, the building received
the Green Building Award.

The bank is entered via a three sto-
rey high foyer. Thomas Ende’s multi-colour-
ed ‘fleece’, the largest transportable picture
ever, hangs on one wall. It measures 16.80
x 12.35 metres and is a strong focal point of
attention. The work consists of 9.5 million tiny
stalagmites of paint, each about 5mm high.
Depending on where the viewer is standing,
the picture appears either as a simple colour
composition or as cumulus clouds in a sum-
mer sky with varying shades of colour. There
is also a restaurant for staff, which is open to
the public as well, and an auditorium cover-
ing over 2,600 m2 for special events.

For roughly two decades, the bank’s
regional branch headquarters were in the
Neue Mainzer Strasse building, butin 1999 the
Frankfurt branch moved into its own premis-
es at Kaiserstrasse 30. They were built in 1905
for the Deutsche Effecten- und Wechselbank,
and have been lovingly restored at considera-
ble expense by the architects Novotny, Madh-
ner & Associates. The impressive frontage fea-
tures five huge columns above the entrance
and a neo-baroque gable with depictions of
various allegories representing mining, heavy
industry and crafts. Inside, the surroundings
are modern but elegant. The large banking
hall has a high ceiling with an art nouveau
lamp hanging from an oval opening. Arched
doorways, columns of artificial coloured mar-
ble, wrought-iron banisters and tinted glass
panes harmonise well with the otherwise
modern style.

In the 1980s, as banking became increas-
ingly reliant on technology, it became appar-
ent that a new technical centre would be
needed. This is located a little way from the
town centre in Mainzer Landstrasse and was
designed by architects Franz Madreiter. Origi-
nally the building accommodated the organ-
isational staff and the data-processing cen-
tre in a space totalling 17,000 m2. About 17
years later, a new service centre was add-
ed to the complex to ensure that all trading
activities could be conducted in one loca-
tion. This was opened in 2001. The heart of
the building is the trading room, 150 metres

Commerzbank’s tower designed by Norman Foster was built in 1994-1997. © Commerbank AG.

long, 25 metres wide and 6 metres high,
accommodating up to 500 currency and
securities traders. There is an open square
between the two Commerzbank buildings,
accessible via a passageway from Mainzer
Landstrasse. ®
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Taunusanlage 12, Frankfurt am Main
More than just steel and concrete

Reinhard Frost

T he 155-metre high Deutsche Bank
Towers are a major landmark in
Frankfurt’s financial centre. Locat-
ed at Taunusanlage 12, they were formal-
ly opened in 1985. Just about 20 years later,
changes in fire regulations required a mod-
ernisation. After extensive analysis, the bank
opted for a full refurbishment that would
meet the highest environmental standards
and offer a major improvement in ener-
gy efficiency. The interior was redesigned
by the Milanese architect Mario Bellini, who
recalls his first impressions of Deutsche
Bank headquarters: ‘The towers stood
there like mighty monoliths on the skyline.
They clearly had something very power-
ful and immense. But the closer | came, the
more that feeling diminished” He immedi-
ately recognised what was missing: ‘There
was no centre around which the space was
arranged. There were lots of long corridors
with doors left and right but no spatial hier-
archy. It quickly became clear to all of us
that there was a great deal of work to do
here. The renovation project began in 2008
and was the largest of its kind in Europe.
More than 3,300 workers and engineers from
24 countries shaped 150 tons of steel and
laid 12,000 kilometres of electrical cable.
There were 20,000 truck journeys to and
from the site. 99 per cent of materials were
recycled - all in all, a mammoth project.

Green technology for the 21st century

After two years of extensive and radical ren-
ovation, the towers emerged as one of the
most eco-friendly high-rise buildings in the
world. The elevators generate their own elec-
tricity, the concrete provides cooling for the
interior and every second window can now
be opened. ‘We developed a highly sustaina-
ble building, set the highest global standards
in green construction, provided high-quality
jobs, created a very open architectural space
- and preserved a distinctive feature of the

Photo: Marburger-Helbig © Deutsche Bank AG

city skyline,’ says Mario Bellini. Since the tow-
ers were completed in 2010, they have been
the hallmark of a new era and a highly visi-
ble expression of the financial and ecologi-
cal identity of a global institution which has
always been aware of its social responsibil-
ity. From 2008, the bank reduced its carbon
emissions by 20%-points year on year. By
2012, it had achieved full carbon neutrality
worldwide.

More than 40% of global carbon emis-
sions are generated by buildings alone.
Deutsche Bank has approximately 4,000 offic-
es, branches and other properties around
the world, which are responsible for around
80% of the bank’s own emissions - and offer
huge potential for carbon savings. The bank is
therefore committed to increasing energy effi-
ciency and reducing its ecological footprint.

The renovation of the towers served as a pilot
project for all other locations. Compared with
the pre-renovation state, energy consump-
tion has been reduced by half, water con-
sumption by over 70% and carbon emissions
by almost 90%. The towers were the world’s
first high-rise refurbishment project to receive
the highest possible certifications of LEED
Platinum and DGNB Gold for their resource
and energy efficiency.

Symbol of a new era

From the outside, one might won-
der what has actually changed. The
55,000-square-metre mirror-glass facade
appears virtually untouched - yet it is argu-
ably the most innovative aspect of the tow-
ers. The insulation is so efficient that heating
is only required for about 60 days each year.
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In the foyer between the towers, the space is
dominated by the 30-ton ‘Sphere’, an intri-
cately intertwined sculptural assembly of
1,400 precision-made parts. Its sweeping
steel arcs symbolise stability and strength as
well as the forces of dynamism and change.
Above the sphere is a round, 18-metre-wide
skylight that reveals the power and mass of
the towers above while flooding the foyer
with light. The foyer, the conference area and
the BrandSpace -Deutsche Bank’s forum for
the brand - are all open to the public. The
entire architectural structure is an open invi-
tation - exactly as it was intended: ‘We creat-
ed a lot of links between the towers and the
city. The new forecourt has a much friendlier
feel. It's a space where people feel comforta-
ble, that they like to walk through,’ says Bell-
ini. ‘This new ‘piazza’ is now part of the tow-
ers just as the foyer is now part of the city.
We’ve connected the towers with the city.

An open invitation

Unusual: A bank that opens its doors to the
public and invites people into its headquar-
ters. This is precisely what happens at the
Deutsche Bank Towers, home to a very spe-
cial visitor attraction.

The BrandSpace is the first public brand
forum created by a financial institution. Since
2011, it is open not only to clients, employees
and partners of the bank but also for the gen-
eral public. So far, more than 100,000 visitors
have accepted the invitation and joined the
guided tours.

The Deutsche Bank Towers are also
home to the Deutsche Bank Collection of con-
temporary art. Now younger and more inter-
national than ever before, it is open to the
public, e.g. via free guided tours. With some
1,500 prints, drawings and photographs by
100 artists from 40 countries on display in the
Towers, the Deutsche Bank Collection takes
the viewer on a journey through global art
practice that can be continued at more than
900 other Deutsche Bank locations.

Finally, the Visitors’ Forum offers presenta-
tions and guided tours where guests can learn
more about Deutsche Bank and the Towers. ®

Art tours
For bookings, go to: www.db.com/art

BrandSpace
Opening hours: Monday-Friday, 9 am -7 pm
www.the-brandspace.com Photos: Marburger-Helbig. © Deutsche Bank AG
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The Deutsche Bundesbank.
'ts Architecture and Art

Rolf Herget

Reichsbank building.

Background
The battle for Berlin in April and May 1945
and the subsequent occupation of the for-
mer Reich capital by Soviet troops marked
the end of both the Third Reich and the sec-
ond world war. It also meant the end of the
Reichsbank banking system, which had been
founded in 1875, with its headquarters in
Berlin (Reichsbank/Reichshauptbank) and
network of subordinated regional branches.

Constructed between 1869 and 1876,
the Reichsbank building in Jagerstrasse, Ber-
lin, was destroyed by bombing during the
war. Only the extension to the Reichsbank
building, erected in Kurstrasse between
1934 and 1939, remained largely undam-
aged. In February 1933, the last free archi-
tectural competition to be held in Germany
until 1945 was conducted among 30 of Ger-
many’s best-known architects (including
Ludwig Mies van der Rohe and Walter Gro-
pius from the Bauhaus movement) for the
design of the extension building for some
5,000 employees. However, after six designs
had been shortlisted, Hitler intervened to
personally select plans previously drawn
by Heinrich Wolff, the Reichsbank’s inhouse
architect. The foundation stone was laid by
Adolf Hitler and Reichsbank president Hjal-
mar Schacht on 5 May 1934. Many guests of
honour from the government and the Nazi
party (NSDAP) attended the ceremony.

At the end of the war, this building was
located in the Soviet sector of Berlin, and

Extension to the Reichsbank building.

served as the seat of the SED Central Com-
mittee of the GDR. It was eventually renamed
‘Haus der Parlamentarier’ (House of the Par-
liamentarians) in 1990. Today, the modern-
ised steel frame construction, extended with
an annex, houses the Federal Foreign Office.

After the war, the Allies ordered the forma-
tion of decentralised central bank structures
in each of the western occupation zones, with
headquarters in each zone. The Land Central
Banks were established in the states within
the western occupation zones, and the Bank
deutscher Lander was set up in Frankfurt in
1948. It was mainly the central bank bodies
and departments of the central office - for
a while, together with the Allied Bank Com-
mission - that until 1972 used the building
of the former Frankfurt main branch of the
Reichsbank (completed in 1933). That build-
ing, too, was designed by Heinrich Wolff, and
was opened by Hans Luther, then president
of the Reichsbank, after less than two years’
construction.

New construction plans

It was relatively late - in the 1960s, in fact -
before planning finally got underway in ear-
nest to erect a new building for the Central
Office and management bodies of the Frank-
furt-based Deutsche Bundesbank, which
had been established as Germany’s central
bank in 1957. Delays held back work for a
number of reasons, even though the work-
force of the Bundesbank’s Central Office had

The building of the Reichsbank’s Frankfurt
main branch of the Bank deutscher Lénder at
Taunusanlage 4-6, (1948-1957).

grown to around 2,000 by then and were
spread throughout the city in no fewer than
19 cramped and sometimes dilapidated
buildings. It thus became increasingly diffi-
cult for the Bank to operate efficiently under
those circumstances.

One reason for the Bank’s reticence in
having new premises built lay in its mone-
tary and economic policy mandate. Since
the Bank had always opposed overheating
in the construction sector during boom peri-
ods, it only wanted to carry out its own build-
ing project when activity in that sector was
weakening. Having put off the project a num-
ber of times, the Bank gave the go-ahead to
start building in early 1967, when a favoura-
ble opportunity finally arrived.

Perhaps the idea of East and West Ger-
many becoming reunified in the foreseeable
future no longer seemed feasible by that time.
After all, the 1957 Bundesbank Act contained
the obligation to locate the central bank at
the seat of the German federal government.
This provision was not repealed until 1991,
when the Act was amended, and it would
have meant transferring the Bundesbank to
Berlin, then considered the potential seat of
government for a reunified Germany.

The most important prerequisite for
the building project, however, was the suc-
cessful conclusion of many years’ negoti-
ations with the city of Frankfurt, enabling
the Bank to buy around 93,000 m? of land -
on which allotment gardens had previously
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Deutsche Bundesbank (1957-1972) is today part

of the Bundesbank’s Regional Office in Hesse.

Main bank building from the south, showing the
canteen and cafeteria.

been located - to the north of Frankfurt’s
city centre.

Following a call for tenders in 1961,
Frankfurt architects Beckert & Becker were
finally awarded the contract to build the
Bank’s new headquarters. The foundation
stone was laid on 10 November 1967, and the
topping out ceremony took place on 2 July
1969. The staff moved into their workplaces
in the new Central Office building in 1972. It
should be noted that the construction work
was carried out at a time when office tow-
ers did not yet dominate the skyline of Ger-
many’s major banking hub. The Bundesbank
building and that of the former chemicals
manufacturer IG Farben, designed by Hans
Poelzig and today part of the Goethe Univer-
sity, were then among the tallest architectur-
al structures in Frankfurt.

Of the 83,000 m?* of floor space, vaults
covering a total area of 6,000 m? were spread
over several floors both in and below the
Cash Department building. Some of these
areas were later used by parts of the Bank’s
IT Department (which has since relocated
with their computing hardware to an exter-
nal high security data centre) and the histor-
ical archives. Today, they are partly used to
store the Bundesbank’s gold reserves.

The long-planned office building quickly
proved to be too small, however - a problem

Specialist library in the Nordbau.

thathas persisted to this day. Although a num-
ber of annexes have been erected on the site,
there is currently not nearly enough space to
accommodate the workforce of the Bundes-
bank’s Central Office, which has risen to more
than 4,000 employees in the meantime.

Architecture
Today, the Bank’s Central Office building pre-
sents a striking silhouette on the gentle slope
of the Ginnheimer Hohe district in the north
of Frankfurt. A continuation of the sprawl-
ing Griineburg Park, and located close to the
Palmengarten, the elongated building - 216
metres long but only 17 metres wide - is sur-
rounded by an extensive green area. Some
53 meters in height, the 13-storey office
building and the nearby television tower
are clearly visible landmarks. Two vertical
structural elements each housing six eleva-
tors divide the building into three sections
and counteract the predominantly horizon-
tal emphasis of the overall design. The con-
struction is a uniform grid-work of exposed
concrete, with recessed windows that have
dark metal frames. Standing to the front of
the main building, the squat, four-storeyed,
cuboid Cash Department building and the
guest-house follow the same design idiom.
The architecture of the original three
Bundesbank buildings of the 1970s (main

Reichsbank building View to the north with the
Cash Department building in the foreground.

Foyer of the guest-house.

building, Cash Department building and
guest-house) is in the tradition of classi-
cal modernism and belongs to the Brutalist
style. This crude-sounding name has its ori-
gin in French architect Le Corbusier’s term
‘beton brut, meaning the grey unfinished
surface of the raw reinforced concrete, which
he himself frequently used as a design fea-
ture. This ‘honest architecture’ movement,
which favoured clear structures and the
use of unclad building materials while dis-
pensing with decoration and ornamenta-
tion, gained popularity both in Germany and
internationally during the 1960s and 1970s.

The growing number of tasks conferred
upon the Bundesbank necessitated an ever
larger workforce at the Bank’s Central Office.
As a result, what was originally a strictly
modern ensemble has since been joined by
more and more annexes. One such build-
ing (the ‘Nordbau’) stands in front of the
main building to accommodate, among oth-
er things, the Money Museum and the pub-
licly accessible library. Over the years, other
purely functional office buildings have been
erected to the south and east.

The original guest-house, which also
contains a gym hall, a swimming pool and a
recently added kindergarten, has not under-
gone any alterations that would compro-
mise its architectural integrity. Although three
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Installation in the entrance hall.

apartments have been converted, the style of
the facade has largely remained intact.

Art

Even before construction of the main
building had been completed, a uniform
approach was agreed with regard to the art
chosen to go on display there. The Bank
tasked an Art Advisory Council with procur-
ing contemporary artworks that would give
‘the entire building an atmosphere that is
open to new ideas’. Three architecture-relat-
ed works were commissioned - an installa-
tion by Jesus Rafael Soto, an interior design
by Victor Vasarely and two large tapestries
by Max Ernst.

Soto (1923-2005) was a Venezuelan
painter and sculptor. From 1950 he lived and
worked in Paris and Caracas, and from the
1960s onwards was one of the leading pro-
ponents of kinetic art and Op art (Optical art)
in South America and Europe. The east-fac-
ing end of the spacious entrance hall fea-
tures a two-coloured kinetic sculpture and a
ceiling installation with integrated lighting.

The interior of the 13th floor, with meet-
ing rooms and dining rooms, is still large-
ly in its original state, its design defined by
clear grid patterns and structures. The din-
ing room was designed by the Hungari-
an painter and graphic artist Victor Vasarely

Interior design.

(1906-1997) and his son. With its coated plas-
ticand aluminium discs, it is a typical assem-
blage of contemporary art.

The former meeting room of the Central
Bank Council is decorated with two wall-filling
tapestries based on designs by the renowned
German painter, graphic artist and sculptor,
Max Ernst (1891-1996). Crafted in the French
carpet-weaving town of Aubusson, the works
take their cue from collages in which the artist
combines elements of his own artworks from
the 1920s.

The architecture-related artworks aside,
art has been made a key aspect of the entire
Bundesbank; for many of the Bank’s staff, it
is part and parcel of their working environ-
ment. ‘Art belongs in the workplace, too. Here,
it counteracts the uniformity that is charac-
teristic of many office blocks and towers -
including our own. Here, art encourages us to
engage with it, to grapple with its meaning,
Bundesbank President Karl Otto Pohl wrote in
the foreword of the book on German 20th cen-
tury art at the Deutsche Bundesbank, which
the Bank published in 1988.

The Bundesbank demonstrated cultural
open-mindedness when, as early as the 1950s,
it set about building up a contemporary art
collection. Since then, the Bank has acquired
several thousand works on a budget which, as
befits a public institution, was relatively mod-
est. With the exception of artworks reserved
for the Bank’s more imposing rooms, all staff
members are free to choose art from the col-
lection for their offices. Once selected, many
of the works accompany employees through-
out their career. The Bundesbank sometimes
buys works specifically by established art-
ists such as Georg Baselitz, Markus Lupertz,
Jorg Immendorf and Gerhard Richter. On the
other hand, it also holds regular exhibitions
for young artists. This gives them a platform
to present their work, and at the same time
brings interested staff members face-to-face
with contemporary art. As a matter of fact, |
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Meeting room with tapestry.

have had two paintings by Heinz Kreutz in my
office for a good few years now.

A variety of sculptures and other
objects, some of which were originally to be
seen at branches that are now closed, are
dotted about the grounds surrounding the
main building. ®
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The new ECB premises. Architecture and design

T he design of the Vienna-based archi-
tects COOP HIMMELB(L)AU compris-
es three architecturally interlinked
elements: (i) the Grossmarkthalle (Frankfurt’s
former wholesale market hall), (ii) the office
tower, and (iii) an entrance building that con-
nects the two other elements. The building
ensemble also includes an underground car
park and ancillary buildings such as the entry
control points and the logistics centre. The
total gross floor area of the new ECB premises
amounts to approximately 185,000 m2.

The competition brief and final deci-
sion focused on the functionality and sus-
tainability of the new premises, and these
key aspects continued to play an important
role in the subsequent design and imple-
mentation phases. The structural and spa-
tial design of the new premises has created
a working environment that meets various
functional requirements and facilitates open
communication, thus promoting teamwork
and interaction at every level. At the same
time, the structural and spatial flexibility
of the design means that changing require-
ments can be adapted to with little effort.

The Grossmarkthalle

The Grossmarkthalle was built between
1926 and 1928, on the basis of the design
of Martin Elsaesser, Director of Town Plan-
ning for the City of Frankfurt am Main at the
time. Until 4 June 2004 it housed a whole-
sale fruit and vegetable market. The former
market hall, which has been a listed build-
ing since 1972, formed an integral part of
the design for the ECB’s new premises. Hav-
ing been fully restored, the building has
retained its fundamental appearance and
now houses the more public areas of the
ECB. The new main entrance leads to the
hall area, which contains semi-public facil-
ities, such as a visitor centre, the lobby, a
cafeteria, a conference area and a staff res-
taurant. The new facilities have been inte-
grated into the hall at an angle, based on a
‘house-in-house’ concept. This has not only
provided access to parts of the Grossmark-
thalle, but has also created manifold spaces
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Atrium © ECB / Robert Metsch.

between the outer shell of the hall and the
structures inside it.

Office tower

To the south of the Grossmarkthalle, two
polygonal towers are joined by a glass atri-
um to form an office tower, which soars to
a height of 185 m. The north tower has 45
floors, while the south tower has 43. The
top office floor is at level 41, above which
there are the services floors.

With its height and distinctive sil-
houette, the new high-rise complements
Frankfurt’s skyline. The concept behind
the glazed atrium between the two office
towers is one of a ‘vertical city’, with inter-
change platforms and bridges creating the
impression of urban streets and squares.
The interchange platforms enable peo-
ple to change from the express lifts to the
local lifts and divide the atrium into three

sections of varying height (between 45 m
and 60 m). They can be reached via sets
of stairs leading from the respective floors
above and below, making it easy for staff to
move between the two towers and commu-
nicate with each other on an informal level.

The two towers house the vast major-
ity of workplaces at the new premises
(maximum 2,900) and internal meeting
rooms. The large council meeting room
and the offices of members of the ECB’s
decision-making bodies are located on the
upper office floors. All floors offer a high
level of flexibility to allow for a variety of
office configurations, from single offices
to larger offices that can accommodate 10
to 12 people. The offices are located along
the outer facades of the towers, and on
every floor there is a kitchenette and com-
munal area.
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Conference area © ECB / Robert Metsch.

Entrance building

The entrance building marks the main
entrance to the ECB on Sonnemannstrasse,
creating an aesthetic and functional link
between the office tower and the Gross-
markt halle. With its asymmetrical design,
inclined facades and generously propor-
tioned windows, it forms a clearly identifia-
ble main entrance to the ECB from the north
of the site.

The entrance building itself hous-
es the press centre, from where the ECB’s
press conferences are broadcast. The
two-storey press centre is accessible via
a lobby, above which there are temporary
workstations for journalists. Thereis also a
second auditorium next to the large press
conference room.
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Metzler Bank in Frankfurt/Main: Festina lente.
Only five headquarter locations in over 340 years

Berenike Seib

B. Metzler seel. Sohn & Co. KGaA can look
back on over 340 years of history. During this
time, it has survived several crises and wars,
has grown and evolved, and to this day, it is
still owned exclusively by the founding fami-
ly. In all this time, the bank has changed the
location of its headquarters only four times.
All locations were chosen with great caution
and careful planning - faithful to the von
Metzler family motto ‘Festina lente’ or ‘more
haste, less speed’. The path the Metzler Bank
followed through the city of Frankfurt/Main
paints an image of Frankfurt’s urban devel-
opment in past centuries.

The history of the bank began in Frank-
furt’s old town, the political and economic
center of Frankfurt. The Messehof, formerly a
trading hall for Roman merchants and now
Frankfurt City Hall (called the Roemer), was
the center of Frankfurt’s original trade fair.
City council acquired the Messehof in 1405
and settled its headquarters there. The cor-
onations of the Emperors of the Holy Roman
Empire of the German Nation took place in
the nearby cathedral. Due mainly to immi-
gration, the population of Frankfurt doubled
to 20,000 at the beginning of the 17th cen-
tury. Most immigrants were Dutch refugees
having fled from Antwerp, a leading trad-
ing city at the time, on account of their faith.
They brought not only money and economic
expertise with them to the free imperial city
of Frankfurt but also a solid network, leading
their new hometown into a golden age. They
settled mostly in the old town, the most pop-
ular district among natives as well. Popula-
tion density was extremely high there, the
streets were tight, and many houses were
narrow with additional floors added on top
that hung way over the edges of the low-
er floors. It was precisely this lively district
that Benjamin Metzler (1650-1686) chose for
his company’s headquarters. In 1674, Ben-
jamin Metzler, a pastor’s son from the Sax-
on town of Cranzahl, founded a cloth trad-
ing company specialized on long-distance
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trade and based in Frankfurt. For company
headquarters, he acquired a two-story build-
ing with seven rooms in Kornblumengasse
not far from the Liebfrauenberg, a square in
the historical old town of Frankfurt. In addi-
tion to warehouse and office space on the
ground floor, this building provided living
quarters for the family and a basement. Ben-
jamin Metzler traded mostly linens and woo-
len cloth, but also yarn, flax and finished
garments. Frankfurt with its century-old tra-
dition as a trade fair town was the most suit-
able location for this merchant to start his
enterprise. In the 17th century, trading activ-
ities were mostly focused on forwarding and
commission business, thus commodity and
financial transactions were closely connect-
ed. At the Metzler enterprise, money and
exchange transactions were part of the busi-
ness from the very start. Like Metzler, many

From 1784 to 1826, Metzler’s
third headquarter location

was situated in this building,
initially without any specific
street address and later named
Am Salzhaus 3’

© Metzler Bank, Frankfurt/
Main, Historical Archive.

private banking institutions of today have
their origins in trading as this demanded
high competency in financial matters. Over
time, the importance of commodity trading
moved more and more to the back burner.

Benjamin Metzler’s sons did business
out of the building in the Kornblumengasse
until 1707. Twelve years later the build-
ing burned down in the so-called ‘Christen-
brand’ (Christian fire). It seems the proper-
ty was still in possession of the family at the
time. Large sections of the old town were
destroyed in the fire, and the city therefore
issued new building regulations that rede-
fined the cityscapein the years that followed.
In March 1944, the entire area was destroyed
for the second time in Allied bombing raids.
Located on the site today is Frankfurt’s Klein-
markthalle farmers’ market, which is well
known far beyond the city limits.
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The second location for Metzler’s head-
quarters was even more centrally locat-
ed in the heart of Frankfurt’s old town. In
1707, the founder’s oldest son, Johann Jer-
emias Metzler (1677-1743), acquired a house
called ‘Zum vorderen neuen Loeweneck’
in the Kaelbergasse located far behind the
Roemer (City Hall). It had been built right
after the Thirty Years’ War and got its name
from the stone lion figures on both front cor-
ners of the house. Other details of the house
are unknown, but its immediate neighbor-
hood is noteworthy. The neighboring build-
ing ‘Zum alten Loeweneck’ was acquired in
1778 by Peter Heinrich Bethmann called Met-
zler (1744-1800), brother of family patriarch
Friedrich Metzler (1749-1825). Thus, Frank-
furt’s most prominent banking institutions
at the time were presided over by two broth-
ers. While the Bethmann Bank placed its first
bond issue worth over a million for the Ger-
man Emporer in Vienna in 1779, the Metzlers
also entered the fast growing and profita-
ble government bond business and became
prominent financiers in Prussia. As early as
1738, Johann Jeremias Metzler termed him-
self ‘merchand banquier’, i.e. a tradesman
dealing not only in goods but also in bills of
exchange. In 1760, the title ‘banquiers’ was
finally introduced in business correspond-
ence, and thus the trading company became
a firm of bankers.

With increased city growth, the Met-
zlers slowly moved away from the crowd-
ed old town. In 1782, Friedrich Metzler sold
the property in the Kaelbergasse but contin-
ued to do business there for at least another
two years. Between 1900 and 1908, the Kael-
bergasse and all of its surrounding buildings
were demolished and the new city hall was
built on these premises.

Until well into the 18th century, Frank-
furt’s new town had the flair of a suburb with
dispersed development and partly agricul-
tural land. Initially this area had been on the
other side of the city wall. In 1333, Emper-
or Ludwig the Bavarian (1282/1286-1347)
granted permission to expand the city area
and a new city wall with magnificent city
gates was erected. In the years that followed,
the new city area filled only slowly with
streets and buildings, and the popular old
town remained the most attractive district
forresidents. It was not until the 18th century
that the balance gradually shifted between
old and new town, and vigorous building
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The last photo of the neoclassical building at Grosse Gallusstrasse 18 before it was destroyed in Allied
bombings on March 18, 1944. © Metzler Bank, Frankfurt/Main, Historical Archive.

activity by Frankfurt’s wealthy townspeople
started to take place in the new town. The
most renowned example from this time was
the erection of Goethe’s house in Grosser
Hirschgraben in 1755/56. Not far from that,
Friedrich Metzler acquired a property in 1784
which had no specific name or house num-
ber. It was located on the south side of the
connecting alleyway between Rossmarkt
and Grosser Hirschgraben. The building had
a large archway on the left side of the fagade
and was later named ‘Am Salzhaus 3’ During
these years, Friedrich Metzler completed the
final transition of the family enterprise from
a trading company to a bank and led it into
its first blossoming phase. The building Am
Salzhaus 3, which was completely destroyed
in the bombings of March 1944 and rebuilt
again in the post-war period, has been home
to the Rosen Apothecary since its sale in
1826.

After the Napoleonic Wars, the new
town became Frankfurt’s economic and
political center. On Prince-Primate Karl The-
odor von Dalberg's (1744-1817) orders in
1806, the city was rid of its fortress-like sta-
tus and surrounded by green embankments.
As a result, new districts were created and
attractive building plots became availa-
ble to the affluent citizens, businessmen
and bankers of Frankfurt. One of these new
buildings was a neoclassical residential and

office building erected in 1810 at Grosse Gal-
lusstrasse 18 by Frankfurt architect Philipp
Jakob Hoffmann (1778-1834). The previous
year, the city’s head architect Johann Chris-
tian Hess (1756-1816) had drawn up new
construction statutes for the city of Frank-
furt that defined neoclassical design as the
compulsory building style for all of Frankfurt.
The building at Grosse Gallusstrasse 18 met
these expectations in full. Johann Friedrich
Metzler (1780-1864), Friedrich Metzler’s old-
est son, acquired the building in 1826 and
moved the bank’s headquarters there with-
in the year. Five years later, Georg Friedrich
Metzler (1806-1889) joined the bank’s man-
agement. Under his leadership and that of
his sons, the bank’s securities trading and
custodian business boomed.

Grosse Gallusstrasse was first men-
tioned in the 14th century, initially as an
undeveloped road. For many years it was
called ‘Galgengasse’ (Gallows Alley) because
it led to the gallows located on the city out-
skirts near where the main train station
stands today. On their way to the gallows,
delinquents were led down Galgengasse
and through the ‘Galgentor’ (Gallows Gate),
a part of the city wall and the most magnif-
icent of the five large city gates. In 19th cen-
tury Frankfurt, Grosse Gallusstrasse was
known as ‘Millionarsgasse’ (Millionaire’s
Alley) due to its many wealthy settlers, and
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the intersecting street Neue Mainzer Strasse
carried the noble name ‘Frankfurt Lom-
bard Street’ due to the many banks settled
there. These two streets later formed the
nucleus of Frankfurt’s banking district, with
banking institutions like Staedel, Hauck and
Grunelius also settled here.

Despite several renovations, the proper-
ty in Grosse Gallusstrasse remained basical-
ly unchanged for almost 120 years. Through
a large semi-circular arch, one could enter
the inner courtyard from the Grosse Gal-
lusstrasse. The opening was wide enough
to accommodate a horse and carriage. The
building had two entrances. From the gate,
the entrance on the right led to the counter
area where the cashier sat and a large stair-
way. The entrance on the left led to the offic-
es along Neue Mainzer Strasse. There was a
large meeting room on the second floor and
a safe in the basement. On the upper floors,
there were several apartments, some of
which were inhabited by the Metzlers while
others were rented out. Technical mod-
ernizations started at the beginning of the
20th century. Shortly after 1900, the bank
installed its first telephone and by World War
I, it had already switched from gas-powered
to electric lighting.

In the night bombing attacks on March
18,1944, the neoclassical bank building and
the majority of banking documents were
destroyed by fire. Banking operations con-
tinued temporarily in space provided by an
associated bank and in makeshift adjoin-
ing buildings in Grosse Gallusstrasse. The
rubble was cleared in 1947, but reconstruc-
tion did not begin until banker Albert von
Metzler (1898-1989) returned from Russian
captivity in 1950. The new building, com-
pleted in 1954, was smaller than its neo-
classical predecessor because some land
had to be surrendered for the widening of
Grosse Gallusstrasse and construction of
Neue Schlesinger Gasse. For years, the bank
was located on the ground floor while the
Metzler family lived on the top floor and the
rest of the space was rented out.

From 1985 to 1987, the building was
extensively refurbished and modernized
without interrupting business operations.
At this time, the so-called ‘bel étage’ was
set up on the second floor for receiving visi-
tors. This area was very tastefully furnished
with family portraits and antiques. About 30
years after this modernization, the building
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Since October 2014, Metzler Bank headquarters has been in only its fifth location at Untermainanlage 1.
© Metzler Bank, Frankfurt/Main, Historical Archive.

in Grosse Gallusstrasse no longer complied
with modern building regulations and was
once again in need of extensive renova-
tions. Thus, after almost 200 years at this
location, the senior management decid-
ed to give up the property at Grosse Gal-
lusstrasse 18 and move to new premises. In
September 2014, the last employees left the
building. The entire property was sold in
February 2015 to the US real estate compa-
ny Tishman Speyer and by summer of 2015
the building had been completely demol-
ished. A new mixed-use 185-meter high-rise
is to be erected on the property by the end
of 2018.

Since October 2015, the Metzler Bank’s
new headquarters has been located at
Untermainanlage 1 and thus outside of the
historical city center for the first time. This
area was still undeveloped as late as the
19th century. In 1879, the Grunelius fam-
ily, which operated a bank at Grosse Gal-
lusstrasse 16, had a neoclassical villa built
on this site by architect Heinrich Burni-
tz (1827-1880). This villa was destroyed in
the bombings on March 22, 1944 and torn
down thereafter. The city of Frankfurt erect-
ed a parking garage on this site in 1961.
Metzler purchased the property in 1999,
tore down the parking garage and erected

a modern nine-story office building with a
stone fagade. Until the bank’s headquarters
moved here in 2015, the building was com-
pletely rented out, and to this day, Metzler
still rents out some of the office space to
a law firm. The bank’s visitors are received
on the second floor where more than 340
years of company history meets the mod-
ern world. Here, modern furnishings are
combined with antique pieces and ances-
tral portraits, and historical city paintings
hang next to works of modern art. Even
the blue sofa, a Metzler trademark from the
entrance area at Grosse Gallusstrasse, has
found a new home at Untermainanlage.

Not one of Metzler’s former headquar-
ter buildings is still standing today. In some
cases, even the streets and addresses where
they were located are no longer existent.
This indicates the consistency of change
affecting the cityscape. While it may often
seem like the city is static and unchanging,
in reality it completely transforms about
every 30 years. Therefore, the history of
Metzler’s headquarter locations is a small-
er-scale but accurate reflection of the city of
Frankfurt’s transformation from a medieval
trade fair town into one of the most impor-
tant financial centers in Europe.
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Sal. Oppenheim Head Office in Cologne

Gabriele Teichmann

undertook a journey to New York. The

personally liable partner of Sal. Oppen-
heim jr. & Cie., representing the fifth gen-
eration of Oppenheim bankers, not only
sought to renew old business contacts. His
chief aim was rather unusual for a banker:
He studied the city’s modern bank build-
ings as possible models for the new offic-
es of his own bank that were in the process
of being planned.

Anew building was necessary because
the old Sal. Oppenheim building at Grosse
Budengasse in Cologne’s centre had been
destroyed during allied air raids of World
War Il. The site had been the home of the
bank since 1808 when its founder Salo-
mon Oppenheim jr. was able to purchase
an impressive city mansion for everybody
to see that its owner had arrived among
the upper crust of Cologne society. By the
turn of the century, however, the build-
ing had become too small for the ever-ex-
panding business. Thus, in 1901 Salomon’s
grandsons Eduard and Albert von Oppen-
heim decided to tear down the old struc-
ture and rebuild on the site, which includ-
ed an adjacent property. The plans were
devised by Schreiterer & Below architects
whom the Oppenheim bankers had prob-
ably met during the construction of the
new Cologne synagogue in Roonstrasse,
the planning of which lay in the hands of
the same team. While both Oppenheims
had converted to the Christian faith in the
1850s, they had kept in touch with Jew-
ish life in their city and were found on the
donators’ list for the new synagogue.

In 1902, the bank moved into their
new building at Grosse Budengasse 8-10.
Its staff numbered about 60. For some time
now it had included women who worked as
typists or telephone operators, a develop-
ment indicating technical progress as well

I n June 1952, Waldemar von Oppenheim
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as social change. A series of photographs
taken in the early 1930s reminds us of the
interior - dignified butin no way pompous,
reflecting the pride and unassuming con-
servativeness of one of Germany’s leading
private banking houses.

The Nazi takeover of 1933 rang in
twelve years of harassment and persecu-
tion for the Oppenheim family and bank
due to their Jewish roots. However, with
the loyal support of Robert Pferdmeng-
es, personally liable partner since 1931,
the bank was able to continue its opera-
tions under his name. In 1942 the building
in Grosse Budengasse was hit by bombs so
that all business was shifted to the private
home of one of the partners. After this had

Grosse Budengasse 8 was
purchased by Salomon
Oppenheim jr. in 1808, ten years
after he settled in Cologne.

been heavily damaged, too, the few opera-
tions that remained were carried out from
makeshift offices set up in the ruins of the
Grosse Budengasse building.

At the beginning of March 1945,
Cologne was conquered by American
troops. For the Rhineland, the war was
over. While a large part of the population
reacted with a mixture of relief and fear,
the allied conquest was greeted by all three
partners of the bank - Robert Pferdmenges
and the brothers Waldemar and Friedrich
Carl von Oppenheim - with uncondition-
al joy and a sense of liberation. They had
all been persecuted by the Gestapo after
the assassination attempt on Hitler in July
1944 and had spent the last months before
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the downfall of the regime either in prison,
in hiding or under house arrest.

Together, they tried to re-estab-
lish normality. Top priority was given to
rebuilding business connections at home
and abroad, and especially to helping Ger-
man industry to get its feet again. The
rebuilding of their bank’s domicile could
wait. Instead, the bankers rented interim
offices in of the few houses in the city cen-
tre, which had escaped destruction.

At the beginning of the 1950s, they
felt that the time had come to put an end
to this provisional arrangement. But they
were having second thoughts on the loca-
tion of the bank building. Surely Grosse
Budengasse stood for tradition, but it was
situated in the old town with its narrow
medieval streets and provided little room
for expansion. Moreover, the commercial
hub of Cologne had shifted from the old
town to the quarter around the central rail-
way station after its opening in 1859. The
new development focussed on the street
Unter Sachsenhausen in the immediate
vicinity of the station where many banks
and insurance companies built splendid
offices, turning the formally inconspic-
uous street with its humble houses into
what locals soon nicknamed ‘Cologne
Wall Street’. The owners of Sal. Oppenheim
decided that this would be the appropriate
choice for their new start.

Soon, a suitable plot was found. The
city of Cologne owned a large proper-
ty, now in ruins, at Unter Sachsenhaus-
en where the Chamber of Commerce and
Industry (CCl) had had its seat. The impos-
ing building had originally been erected
as the head office of Schaaffhausen’scher
Bankverein, created in 1848 as the first
joint-stock bank in Germany with the assis-
tance of the Oppenheim bankers. After the
takeover of Schaaffhausen by Deutsche
Bank in 1929, the building was sold to the
city authorities to house its CCI. In Novem-
ber 1951, Sal. Oppenheim and the Cologne
City Council signed a contract to swap
premises. Oppenheim acquired half of the
plot; the rest was allotted to a new thor-
oughfare cutting through the old layout of
the city to ensure easier flow of traffic.

As their architect, the partners of
the bank chose Fritz August Breuhaus de
Groot. Born in 1883, he had joined the
Deutsche Werkbund (German Association
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The new Oppenheim building under construction. The remains of the previous offices in the foreground
were later removed to make way for a new six-lane street. © Hausarchiv Bankhaus Sal. Oppenheim jr. &

Cie., Cologne.

The postwar situation in rented interim quarters. © Hausarchiv
Bankhaus Sal. Oppenheim jr. & Cie., Cologne.

of Craftsmen) around 1910. Inspired by
the English Arts and Crafts Movement, the
Werkbund aimed at integrating tradition-
al crafts and industrial production in order
to create quality products of high aesthet-
ic value. The Werkbund movement was
premised on the quest for a clean design
based on function, foreshadowing an
important aspect in the development of
the Bauhaus school of design.

Breuhaus primarily planned private
homes for the well-to-do in Germany and
abroad. This is probably how he came to
the attention of Waldemar von Oppen-
heim who, in 1948, commissioned him to
build avillain the park of his Schlenderhan
estate as the family had decided to leave
the 18th century manor house in favour of
a more comfortable lifestyle. The cooper-
ation must have been successful because
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The entrance and service halls, 2005. © Hausarchiv Bankhaus Sal. Oppenheim jr. & Cie., Cologne.

Waldemar von Oppenheim recommended
Breuhaus as the bank’s architect, in spite
of the fact that he had never designed an
office block before. The banker followed
the planning phase with great enthusiasm.
Besides his reconnaissance trip to New
York in 1952, he met up with Breuhaus reg-
ularly to discuss the emerging plans. The
new building was going to be bright and
transparent, with high-quality materials
and a sense of understatement, under-
scoring the discrete style of a private bank-
er. For Oppenheim, this meant more than
just an architectural credo: He intended
to make visible that Germany was leaving
behind its dire past and trying to become
an open, modern society.

In  September 1952, construction
works began after rubble had been cleared
from the plot. Waldemar von Oppenheim,
however, did not live to see the building
finished. On December 12, 1952, he died of
aheartattack at the age of 58. It seems that
the trials and tribulations of the Nazi peri-
od had been too much for him. When the
bank’s partners and staff moved into their
new offices in October 1953, it proceeded
quietly without the usual celebrations.

The new Sal. Oppenheim building, a
five-storey block, displayed a rather unob-
trusive limestone facade void of any décor.
On entering the building, one was wel-
come by a foyer receiving daylight through

large, etched-glass windows and the adja-
cent service hall, both clad in warm beige
and red stone. The most remarkable fea-
tures of the entrance were a spiralling
staircase accentuated by bands of light,
and a glass lift. As a contrast, the strong-
room in the basement reflected the bank’s
history. The clients’ safes and the heavy
doors manufactured in 1901 by S. J. Arn-
heim, locksmith to His Imperial and Roy-
al Majesty in Berlin, had been carefully dug
out from the ruins of Grosse Budengasse
and transferred to the new premises.

A novelty much commented on was
the garage on the fifth floor providing room
for 26 vehicles. It was accessible from the
rear of the building by a specially designed
car lift. Due to the rapid expansion of car
ownership, however, the garage quick-
ly proved too small and was replaced by
offices. There was a staff restaurant on the
fourth floor, one amongst the social amen-
ities of the bank. Another feature worth
mentioning was the pneumatic delivery
system which guaranteed quick internal
exchange of documents.

For many decades, the decoration
of the representative rooms consisted
mainly of family portraits and old mas-
ters. In the 1990s, the bank followed a
trend set by other enterprises and start-
ed its own collection of contemporary art.
The decision was triggered by opening an
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Staircase and lift, 2005. © Hausarchiv Bankhaus
Sal. Oppenheim jr. & Cie., Cologne.

additional building behind the tradition-
al offices. It also reflected the Oppenheim
family’s long-standing commitment to
art collection and art patronage. The old
1950s building was included into the col-
lection concept that combines painting,
graphic design and sculpture. Stylistical-
ly, modern classics with painters such as
Pablo Picasso and Henri Matisse are to be
found next to Informal Art epitomised by
Hann Trier and Emil Schumacher, or Pop
Art with artists like Andy Warhol and Roy
Lichtenstein. Other notable artists repre-
sented in the collection are Sigmar Pol-
ke, Gerhard Richter, Christo, Hans Arp,
and Eduardo Chillida. Many of the meeting
rooms are decorated with the works of a
single artist and named after him. Howev-
er, the works of art are not only on display
in the more formal rooms but also in staff
offices and corridors. The underlying mes-
sage is that art is not just for the select few
or for museums but part of everyday life.

While the offices had to go with the
times and underwent regular modernisa-
tion, the entrance and the service halls still
genuinely reflect the architectural spirit of
the 1950s so typical of Cologne. As a mat-
ter of course, the Sal. Oppenheim building
was listed in 1992. During the Cologne Day
of the Open Monument, the bank is proud
to offer guided public tours to its premises
and its art collection. ®
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Banks in Leipzig

Dirk Schaal

ank buildings and their architecture

leave their mark in the city skylines.

In some European cities this archi-
tectural heritage tells us a fascinating story
about the evolution of the modern banking
system and its architecture. For example in
Leipzig: a thousand year old city of trade in
the middle of Germany. Elaborate restored
monuments reflect the history of banking at
this location. Bank architecture of all styles
and functions can be explored: baroque
banking and trading houses, private banks
of the early 19th century, representive state-
owned banks and universal banks of the late
19th century, bank buildings in reform archi-
tecture from the early 20th century or in
modern and contemporary architecture.
Using 38 examples of Leipzig bank builidings
the historians Ulrike Zimmerl and Andre-
as Graul describe the development of mod-
ern banking, its architecture and visual lan-

guage, as well the history of these banks  Handelsbérse The stock exchange, built 1679-87 by Georg Starcke, was the 1st fixed location for trade
and their bankers. The well designed book  and fair buisiness in Leipzig. © PUNCTUM / Peter Franke.

with high-quality photographs invites read-
ers to visit Leipzig and its banking history.
The book assists the reader in discovering
and decrypting the secret messages of bank
architecture. ®

Reichsbank Hauptstelle Leipzig. Built 1886-87 by Max Hasak for the central bank of Germany,
founded in 1876 shortly after the establishment of the German Empire in 1871. Example of historical
Wilhelminian architecture.buisiness in Leipzig. © PUNCTUM / Peter Franke.
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Deutsche Bank, entrance safe. Built 1898-1902 by Arwed
Rossbach for the Leipziger Bank. Immediately after the collapse
in 1901 the Deutsche Bank took over the Leipziger Bank. ©
PUNCTUM / Peter Franke.

=l e ] i e
Dresdner Bank, banking hall. Built 1910-11 by Martin Diilfer for the Dresdner
Bank branch in Leipzig. © PUNCTUM / Peter Franke.

Ulrike Zimmerl/Andreas Graul:
Banken in Leipzig. Vom Barock
bis zur Moderne. Halle (Saale):
Mitteldeutscher Verlag, 2015.

Kroch Jr. KGaA. Leipzig’s first skyscraper built 1926-1928 by German
Bestelmeyer for the private bank Kroch. © PUNCTUM / Peter
Franke.
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The main building of the Magyar Nemzeti Bank

The new building

Towards the end of the 19th century, the
area of today’s Szabadsag square was occu-
pied by a single colossal edifice called Neu-
gebaude (New Building), designed by Isidore
Marcello Canevale in 1786 during the reign of
Emperor Joseph II. The building functioned
as a prison during the Franco-Prussian War,
was later used as a prison, and after the
defeat of the 1848-1849 War of Independ-
ence it became a prison for Hungarian patri-
ots, and many were executed here. Among
these martyrs to the cause of liberty was
Count Lajos Batthyany, prime minister of
Hungary’s first independent government. In
1851 Lajos Kossuth, Mihaly Tancsics, Daniel
Irdnyi and their associates who had escaped
the reprisals by fleeing abroad were all hung
in effigy in this building. Thus, understanda-
bly, the square that stood free after the Neu-
gebaude was torn down was named ‘Sza-
badsag’ (Liberty) and the streets leading into
it were named after the martyrs and heroes
of the War of Independence.

By the end of the 19th century, the build-
ing had become a symbol of detested foreign
oppression, like the Bastille in Paris. Follow-
ing the Compromise, the New Building was
to serve as a printing press, then an orphan-
age, but it was eventually demolished in
1897. In the course of the 19th century, the
city became so densely built-up that in the
period following the Compromise, the neigh-
bourhood of the infamous Neugebaude was
considered as part of the city centre, and
eventually it had to be demolished. Its place
made way for a completely new quarter.

The building site was divided into 28
plots and offered for sale with a thirty-year
tax concession. The buyers included the Aus-
tro-Hungarian Bank, which had no head-
quarters in Budapest, and the Hungarian
Royal Postal Savings Association. The sub-
sequently demolished headquarters of the
Budapest branch of the Austro-Hungarian
Bank on Jozsef nador square was unsuit-
ed for the purposes of a central bank, and
so a decision was adopted to erect a new
building. Szabadsag square, a central area
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Facade from Szabadsag square © Magyar Nemzeti Bank.

earmarked for development but still unde-
veloped, proved to be an excellent site.

The tender

The Austro-Hungarian Bank invited tenders
for planning the Bank’s Budapest headquar-
ters in the summer of 1900. In strict obser-
vance of the dualist system, eight Hungari-
an and eight Austrian architects were invited
to submit a tender. The Hungarians includ-
ed Ignac Alpar, Lipét Baumhorn, Floris Korb,
Jozsef Hubert, Albert Kéréssy, 0dén Lechner,
ArtUr Meiningg and Ernd Schannen, with the
Austrians represented by Fellner and Helm-
er, Franz Freiherr von Krauss, Karl Konig,
Friedrich Schachner, Ludwig Richter, Lud-
wig Baumann and Otto Wagner. The panel of
judges consisted of two Austrian architects
(Christian Ulrich and Emil Forster) and two
Hungarian architects (Gy6z06 Czigler and Ist-
van Pucher) and government and bank dig-
nitaries. According to the decision made in
May 1901, the judges unanimously awarded
the first prize to Ignac Alpar. The press and
Hungarian architects celebrated the result

as a national triumph over Austrian architec-
ture. In Austria, the professionals were sur-
prised by the Hungarian success, as they had
been certain of an Austrian victory.

The little that was published in the Aus-
trian press about the event, it was, never-
theless, fair: it was generally conceded that
Ignac Alpar deserved the award!. Anoth-
er building, namely the Stock Exchange,
was already under construction at this time
under Alpar’s plans in Szabadsag square,
and itis very likely that the judges were influ-
enced by the need to maintain the stylistic
unity of the two dominant buildings in the
square.

Unfortunately, the plans submitted in
the competition have been lost. The only
one we have knowledge of from the maga-
zine ‘Hungarian Design Contests’ is the one
made by Ignac Alpar. As far as the other plans

All participants of the tender were financially rewarded. The
winner was awarded 5,000, the runner-up 3,000, the third
placed tenderer 2,000 and the other tenderers received 1,500
crowns. The crown was a strong currency at the time; the
amount of the first prize was equivalent to 2-3 years’ annual
income of a very well earning, high ranking public servant.
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Lamfalussy Board Room © Magyar Nemzeti Bank.

are concerned, we can only make specula-
tions based on contemporary publications.
Construction of the Budapest head-
quarters of the Austro-Hungarian Bank start-
ed in the spring of 1902, and was complet-
ed within three years, in the spring of 1905.
It was a monumental structure with a pala-
tial facade, with columns 12 metres high and
1.5 metres in diameter, spanning two stories,
finished at a cost of 4.5 million crowns com-
pared to the projected cost of 3 million.

The designer

Ignac Alpar (1855, Pest — 1928, Zurich) was
a great Hungarian master of the late eclec-
tic-style architecture. He was born in 1855
under the name of Ignac Schockl into a
craftsman’s family in Pest. He did not fare
well in school and after the fifth grade he
was sent to serve as an apprentice to a stone
mason. He started to work under the guid-
ance of Alajos Hauszmann in 1873, then
transferred to an academy in Berlin (Schin-
kel Bauakademie) to continue his studies. In
his first year there, he already participated
in academic contests and won several first
prizes.

In 1877 he was named librarian of the
Hungarian Society of Berlin, created for Hun-
garian students, then was elected secretary
and finally chairman. In 1880 he was award-
ed the Schinkel Medal of the Association of
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Berlin Architects. He returned to Budapest
in 1881 upon the invitation of Hauszmann
and spent seven years working with Stein-
dl and Hauszmann as an assistant lectur-
er. Then he decided to go independent and
opened up his own office. The six years he
spent in the German capital significantly
affected his style for a lifetime. Contempo-
raries and critics spoke of him as ‘a difficult
person’, full of contradictions, but his works
leave no doubt as to his talent. Instead of the
grace of neo-Renaissance, Alpar’s architec-
ture is characterised by monumental feats
of late historicism, an amalgam of Greco-Ro-
man and ancient Eastern stylistic elements.
Speaking in 1916 to the Austrian Association
of Professional Engineers and Architects,
Alpar summed up his artistic credo as fol-
lows: ‘Sound technology, i.e. fine craftsman-
ship; conscientious management, i.e. strict
accounting; and fitting the building to its
environment, to the townscape, in as mon-
umental a form as possible.

In addition to the central bank building,
Ignac Alpar designed several other finan-
cial institutions; for example, he started the
design of the building of the Hungarian Com-
mercial Bank of Pest on Franz Josef square
(today Roosevelt square, housing the Minis-
try of Interior). Zsigmond Quittner continued
the work on the plans and Alpar was again in
charge from the second phase. Other works

of Alpar include the Hungarian General Cred-
it Bank (currently Ministry of Finance) locat-
ed on Jozsef nador square; the First Nation-
al Savings Association of Pest (headquarters
of the Budapest Stock Exchange until 2007),
on the corner of Vaci street and Deak Ferenc
street; and the Budapest Stock and Com-
modity Exchange on the other side of Sza-
badséag square (housing the Hungarian Tel-
evision until July 2009). Alpar designed a
historical complex called Vajdahunyad Cas-
tle in Varosliget (City Park) for exhibitions
and special events on the occasion of the
millennium of the Hungarian State in 1896,
which has been the home of the Museum of
Agriculture for some years. Alpar was a pro-
lific architect; in addition to the financial
institutions, he designed over thirty primary
and secondary schools, a university and sev-
eral churches. He designed a total of approx-
imately 120-130 buildings (the exact figure is
not known) spread throughout the country.

The external decoration of the building
Alpar designed the facade to exude an aura
of strength and serenity. The building’s two
main facades (one facing Bank street, the
other Szabadsag square) are asymmetrical.
The one facing Szabadsag square is more
ornate, as it was designed to complement
the Stock Exchange on the other side of the
square.

The building is illustrated by the reliefs
of sculptor Karoly Sennyei, starting at the
corner of Kiss Ernd street and Szabadsag
square, with the following scenes: smelt-
ing the ore and casting bars of precious
metal; coining money; printing paper mon-
ey; designing and stamping paper mon-
ey; arts, science and silversmithing; ani-
mal husbandry, agriculture and industry;
Phoenician, Egyptian, Arab and Jewish
trade; medieval banking; and mining for
ore. The keystones of windows on the first
floor symbolise different nations, allud-
ing to the international nature of banking.
The two stone figures on the balcony above
the main entrance are the work of Istvan
Toth; the statues on the parapet of the Bank
street and Hold street corner is the work of
Jozsef Rona; while the statue on the para-
pet facing Szabadsag square is the work of
Béla Markup. The facades overlooking Hold
street and Kiss Ernd street are considera-
bly more modest. The latter is the shortest
street in Budapest.
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Windows of Miksa Roth © Magyar Nemzeti Bank.
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First floor hall and staircase © Magyar Nemzeti
Bank.

Staircases
Upon entering the building, we are in a
grand, spacious foyer that offers a view of the
bank’s impressive, grand internal staircases.
Opposite the main entrance is a state-
ly and majestic three-flight staircase lead-
ing to the third floor. With passages on both
sides, these staircases and the foyers built
on each floor lend the building an unmis-
takable ambience and architectural rhythm.
The baroque winding of the main staircase’s
railing is a distinct feature of the building,
decorated with wheat bales which unique-
ly symbolise the prosperity of the Hungarian
economy. The two quarter-turn stairs flank-
ing the main staircase end on the first floor
in a spacious hall with stairs leading to the
third-floor neo-Renaissance conference hall.
Originally, this was the second floor until
the beginning of the 1950s, when the build-
ing saw its largest reconstruction with a new
floor being added in between the first and
second one without altering the external
appearance of the building. This is how the
Bank was turned into a four-floor edifice.

The internal decoration of the building

As visitors move upstairs on any of the stairs,
they can admire the original windows of Mik-
sa Roth. With coloured windows and wood-
work, the main staircase has the most ornate
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courtyard facade in the building. Items of Art
Nouveau architectural decoration are credit-
ed to Géza Maroti, while richly carved doors
and door frames are the work of Alajos Michl.

Each floor has a characteristic orna-
mental motif of its own: the ground floor is
decorated with wheat sheaves, the first floor
with fleur-de-lis and thistles, while the third-
floor support stones, stair handles, stuc-
coes, door carvings and lamp-posts display
horse-chestnuts. The secession-style plant
and flower-patterned mosaic tiles in the foy-
ers and passages on the ground and upper
floors were made by Jozsef Walla of Torok-
balint. The wrought-iron rails were designed
by Ede Alpar and the wheat-motif light fix-
tures are the work of Rudolf Kiszling.

Original plan of operation

In addition to interior architectural details,
Alpar laid emphasis on meeting advanced
functional requirements. He explained this
as follows: ‘When | started drafting the plans,
| soon realised that the task | undertook dif-
fered from the buildings that transacted ordi-
nary banking business. A special-purpose
building was required that had not been built
ever before ... So | adopted my governing
principle that an architect can design a spe-
cial-purpose building only if he is absolute-
ly and completely aware of the operation for
which the building is to be built. Unlike oth-
er banks of the time, in the central bank Alpar
decided not to include a main customer hall.
In modern terms we could say he adopted a
‘private banking’ approach: administration
was envisaged in small, even visually isolat-
ed offices on the first floor. In keeping with
bank security requirements, he designed a
cortile for cash delivery vehicles. This cortile
had a 10-12 vehicle capacity. Customers were
served through the main entrance from Bank
street, while delivery wagons entered the cor-
tile from Szabadsag square, through a com-
pletely separated entrance.

In the original building bank transac-
tions were handled on the first floor, while the
second (currently third) floor housed offic-
es and living quarters for the management,
and the boardroom, and the third (current-
ly fourth) floor accommodated staff quar-
ters. A two-floor establishment was erected
in the vacant cortile during the reconstruc-
tion of 1949-1950. Its second floor functioned
as a teller hall providing commercial banking
services. After the Bank’s portfolio had been

redefined, the teller hall lost its function and
it was converted into the Visitors’ Centre,
offering comprehensive information servic-
es to the general public.

Board-rooms

The most significant events take place on
the third floor where the boardrooms are
located, along with the offices of the gover-
nor and the deputy governors.

The Lamfalussy Board room

The Lémfalussy Board room is an ornate
neo-Renaissance hall. This is the meeting
place of the Monetary Council. Emil Schrodl
designed the interior which has remained in
its original form ever since.

Upon entering, the gold-plated stuccoes
of the ceiling immediately catch the eye. The
stuccoes reflect the spirit and formal elements
of neo-Gothic England, while the marble pillars
enrich the area with neo-Renaissance details.

In addition to paintings and small sculp-
tures, the atmosphere of the room is further
heightened by Venetian mirrors, oak-wood
wall coverings and original chandeliers. After
one hundred years the appearance of the
room remains unchanged; the bars of the for-
mer ventilating system can still be seen where
the walls meet the ceiling. The chairs and
armchairs were made after the fashion of the
original furniture.

The Popovics Board Room

The smaller boardroom of the Bank used to
accommodate board meetings. It contains
less decorative elements than the ‘Lamfa-
lussy’ Board room, but the carved wall cov-
erings, ornamental chandeliers and gypsum
stuccoes lend elegance to it. The furniture
fits the style of the room perfectly. Portraits
depict Sandor Popovics and Lip6t Baranyai,
two former governors of the bank. The main
building of the MNB has been listed as a his-
toric monument since 1976.

Jozsef Antall Conference Centre

The newest part of the MNB building is the
Jozsef Antall Conference Centre, completed
in the summer of 2006. The Conference Cen-
tre consists of two parts: the upper floor hall
accommodates a smaller number of partici-
pants, while the large hall is suitable for con-
ferences with up to 100 participants. Con-
temporary works of art harmonise with the
modern interior.

bulletin




1893. A new home for the central bank.
The Bank of Italy’s head office in Via Nazionale

Marco Pagliara

fter the unification of Italy, Rome
became the last European capital
to undergo the major urban trans-

formations of the nineteenth century ush-
ered in by the industrial revolution and the
birth of a new political order within the Euro-
pean states. Buildings began to spring up to
the north-east of the capital after the con-
struction of Termini railway station, which
opened in 1863 and was enlarged barely a
decade later in 1874.

New urban districts gradually overran
the huge private parklands spread across the
high ground to the east of the capital, where
winding paths and tree-lined avenues once
opened onto delightful views of the scen-
ery around Diocletian’s Baths and the bell
towers of the Basilica of St Mary Major ris-
ing above the surrounding gardens. Among
these were Villa Montalto, once owned by
Cardinal Felice Peretti (later Pope Sixtus V)
and now replaced by Termini station and the
Esquiline neighbourhood, and Villa Patrizi,
now the Opera House.

These vast estates, which until shortly
before had been in the hands of a few very
wealthy aristocratic families, were split up
and sold in lots for the construction of sym-
metrically laid-out residential areas in the
style of Paris. The new apartment blocks
were designed to accommodate the legions
of senior civil servants, for the most part
recruited among the middle classes as in the
other European capitals, and destined to fill
various roles in the new government of the
Kingdom of Italy.

The architects and engineers designing
the buildings to house the administration of
the newly unified State had to decide what
type of construction and what architecton-
ic language would best convey the ideals of
the young nation and meet the functional
requirements of the new capital. The Rome
of the former pontifical government offered
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Air view of the Palazzo Koch area © Bank of Italy.

virtually no examples of buildings designed
for specific purposes, only the occasion-
al construction that had been put to differ-
ent uses, such as Palazzo Montecitorio which
had once housed the papal law courts (curia
apostolica) and was transformed into the
seatof the Italian Parliament. So, even for the
new institutional buildings the architectural
point of reference remained the late Renais-
sance palazzo of the Roman aristocracy.

The previous generation of architects
had taken the sixteenth-century palaz-
zo as inspiration for some of their greatest
achievements. Andrea Busiri Vici (1818-1911)
belonged to that generation, and both his
works on architectural theory and his pro-
jects shaped the tastes of the Roman aristoc-
racy of the time. The ideals of classical Rome
had always inspired the city’s art, witness
the various ‘schools’ that sprang up between
the fifteenth and eighteenth centuries; a
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large selection of their work is preserved in
the museum of prints and drawings in Rome
(Istituto centrale per la grafica). It was in the
late eighteenth and early nineteenth centu-
ries, when the originality of Roman culture
with respect to Greek had been reassessed
with the publication of Antichita Romanae
by the architect G.B. Piranesi (1720-1778),
that the models of classical Rome fused with
a more ‘romantic’ and nostalgic vision of
ancient architecture that sought to retrieve
the roots of Italian identity.

Interest in Roman antiquities contin-
ued to animate the art academies and influ-
ence the collective imagination of the most
cultured members of the new Roman bour-
geoisie and of the aristocracy, becoming a
‘cultural requirement’ of contemporary sen-
sibility and taste. Enthusiasm for ancient
history, spurred by the resumption of wide-
spread archaeological excavations, was the
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only cultural point of reference around which
the new State could, in symbolic terms, forge
its identity. It encompassed equally the last
descendants of ancient aristocratic families
and the new middle classes, both of which
could feel themselves to be adequately rep-
resented by the common roots of classical
Rome.

In this artistic and cultural milieu, Gae-
tano Koch graduated in architecture from
the Accademia di San Luca in 1872. Just ten
years later, in 1882, he was invited, in com-
petition with the well-established architects
Pio Piacentini and Francesco Azzurri, to sub-
mit plans for the Bank of Italy’s head office
to be erected on the last section of Via Nazi-
onale. Piacentini and Azzurri had already
experimented with innovative forms and
languages in their residential projects, driv-
ing forwards the architecture of the peri-
od through the adaption of elements of late
Renaissance style to new buildings, as in the
designs for the Esquiline, the first district of
Rome as capital city.

Most of Gaetano Koch’s private commis-
sions, like those of other architects working
in Rome at the time, came from the middle
class and business milieu whose members
were gradually assuming the management
of the new State. Other work came from the
old aristocratic families which, having sold
off their suburban estates, withdrew to their
vast Renaissance palaces in the city centre,
in the area now occupied by Corso Vittorio
Emanuele Il and Via del Corso. Perhaps it
was the historical roots of these great Roman
dynasties that Koch wished to symbolise
with the ships’ prows in travertine stone set
in the facade of the Bank of Italy’s building.
The reference, taken from the architecture of
the Roman forum, would seem to allude to
the aristocracy’s leading role in the events of
the nascent Italian economy.

So, as the new Kingdom of Italy began
to incorporate the various issuing institutes
into a single body capable of performing
the role of central bank, a competition was
launched to design the headquarters. Ban-
ca Nazionale nel Regno d’ltalia, as it was
known at the time, had moved its headquar-
ters to Rome in 1870 after the capture of the
city and was housed in rented offices close to
Largo Argentina. After ten years, however, it
became necessary to find a suitably impres-
sive home that would convey the idea of the
bank’s solidity.
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Air view of the Palazzo Koch area © Bank of Italy.

Given the many functions performed by
the bank and the need to provide offices for
its local branch, the size of the new building
was an important factor. Thus a plot of some
10,000 square metres, at the back of Villa
Aldobrandini, was chosen, occupying some
120 metres along the last section of Via Nazi-
onale, which had not yet been completed.
On 19 April 1882 the Board of Directors of
Banca Nazionale nel Regno d’ltalia approved
a proposal to draw up the specifications for
a suitable building in which to carry out its
new functions. The project plan was drawn
up by the bank’s Director General, Giacomo
Grillo (1830-1895). It covered both the head
office premises and those of the local Rome
branch, with details of the arrangement of
the various floors and the bank’s require-
ments. It would be assigned to one of three
well-known architects for a fee of 5,000 lire.
In the plan the building would be erected on
Via Nazionale, at a distance from all the sides
of the plot (a trapezium) for reasons of secu-
rity. In addition to the local Rome branch of
the bank and the head offices it was to con-
tain apartments for the two directors, more
modest accommodation for guards, porters
and other bank staff, and finally there was to
be space for the banknote printing facilities.
The building, therefore, was to serve three
purposes: bank, residential accommoda-
tion and industrial printing works. Each was
to have its own separate entrance, although
the apartments of the two directors (the

Director General of the bank and the Direc-
tor of the Rome branch) needed to commu-
nicate with their offices.

The project plan contained a descrip-
tion of the interior, floor by floor starting
from the basement, and called for health
and hygiene standards and lighting require-
ments to be observed even in the store-
rooms and strong rooms. All the offices of
the Rome branch were to be located on the
ground floor, including the banknote print-
ing works. The various procurement offices
were to communicate with the head office
located on the upper floors, close to the
room designated for the annual meeting of
shareholders,* which would have seating for
500 people and good acoustics.

The plan also dictated the style of the
building, which was to be monumental but
plain, the rooms decorated according to
their importance. The roof had to be acces-
sible, with metal structures. The basement
and ground floor areas would have vaulted
ceilings, while the other floors would have
flat or curved plaster ceilings. The shutters
were to be of metal not wood and slide back
into the walls, the wall cladding would be
in travertine stone and the flooring in stone
or marble. Heating would be supplied by

1 Thisis the Shareholders’ Room where the Bank of Italy still
holds its annual general meeting at the end of May of every
year. On this occasion the Governor reads his Concluding
Remarks to the Annual Report on the bank’s activities during
the year, which include supervision of the banking and finan-
cial system, oversight of the payment system and money sup-
ply, and an analysis of economic developments.
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radiators. The building should preferably
be of brick with foundations consisting of
tufa blocks on a layer of cement. Lastly, the
tender specifications stated that the plans
should be accompanied not only by draw-
ings but also by a report with a complete
breakdown of costs.

On 1st May 1882 the architects Gaetano
Koch, Pio Piacentini and Francesco Azzurri
were invited to submit tenders. These would
be evaluated by Camillo Boito (1836-1914),
one of the best known namesin Italian archi-
tecture at the time. To begin, Gaetano Koch
visited the bank’s offices in Florence, Bolo-
gna and Milan, where he and Pio Piacentini
also went to see the head office of the Cassa
di Risparmio delle Provincie Lombarde. On
30th September the two architects submit-
ted their plans for the Palazzo della Banca
Nazionale nel Regno d’ltalia, but Francesco
Azzurri did not present one and was there-
fore excluded.

From this preliminary stage all that
remains of Gaetano Koch’s proposal is a
report indicating that the building would be
free-standing with open space on four sides
and an entrance on Via Nazionale leading
into a main courtyard. All the offices of the
bank’s Rome branch on the ground floor
overlooked this courtyard, but there was
no mention of the prospective location of
the banking hall. The courtyard of the bank-
note printing works was accessed from Via
del Mazzarino. The offices of the senior man-
agement and the rooms for the sharehold-
ers’ meeting and the meetings of the Board
of Directors were on the first floor. The style
of the building was late Renaissance, with
the main fagade featuring two architectural
orders. Aroad at the back, running parallel to
Via Nazionale and within the area of the plot,
would give the building symmetry and make
it similar in volume to Palazzo Farnese.

Boito did not like the plan: the bank-
note printing works should not be sited
within the main building, some offices were
badly located, others had insufficient light,
and the shareholders’ room was too long
for the acoustics to be satisfactory. Last-
ly, he thought the fagade on Via Nazion-
ale was unsuitable for a public building and
even very ordinary. Gaetano Koch reject-
ed the latter criticism and stoutly defended
his design for the fagade. He maintained that
the monumental proportions of the build-
ing set it above any private palazzo because

the plain style demanded in the specifica-
tions was combined with majestic propor-
tions, the building being 32 metres in height
overall with 10 metres between each floor.
More serious objections, both functional and
of spatial arrangement, were raised against
Piacentini’s project and his extremely impos-
ing main facade was out of balance with
respect to the other sides.

In the second stage of the tender the
building designed by Koch, the one eventu-
ally constructed, had two square, symmet-
rical courtyards of equal size: one was the
Ceremonial Courtyard and the other, which
was roofed, housed the Banking Hall for cli-
ents of the Rome branch, with offices on the
ground floor. In this way the architect solved
the problem of the two roles of the building,
in which the institutional functions of a bank
serving the national interest had to be carried
out alongside the commercial activities of a
bank that dealt at the time with private inves-
tors. He did so by updating the model of the
two-peristyle house described by Vitruvius
in De Architettura, and applied in the Domus
Octaviani and Domus Augustana on the Pal-
atine Hill, where the emperor had conducted
both public and private functions.

In the central body of the building sep-
arating the two courtyards was the Grand
Staircase, preceded by a square antecham-
ber from which a long corridor linked the
main front and rear wings. The fagade on
Via Nazionale was set back below road lev-
el to let air and light reach the basement are-
as from the resulting gap; at the same time a
central section extended 8 metres forwards
across the gap, improving the appearance of
the fagade from Via Nazionale.

At this stage Boito favoured Koch’s
design for its distribution of space and its
functional qualities, whereas Piacentini’s
project was defective in terms of interior
arrangement although his grandiose fagade
was preferred, being in the fifteenth-cen-
tury Florentine style of Palazzo Strozzi as
opposed to the late sixteenth-century style
adopted by Koch. In view of the special func-
tions of the bank, the priorities in the choice
of project were functionality and good spa-
tial distribution. However, the aesthetics of
the fagcade were also important as this would
project the image of the first national bank in
the capital of Italy. Thus the choice between
the two projects was not made immediate-
ly and in June 1884, after a year’s hesitation,
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the Board of Directors asked the two archi-
tects to take on the project jointly, combin-
ing their two designs: the layout of one and
the facade of the other.

Piacentini tried to adapt Koch’s project
to accommodate his fagade, completely over-
turning the design presented by Koch, who
refused to be part of such an imbroglio. At
this point the bank acknowledged that Koch’s
project was better in terms of spatial distribu-
tion and in March 1895 commissioned him to
draw up the plans, with some alterations to
the facade, and oversee the work.

In the event, not only was Koch’s spatial
distribution maintained but also his facade,
although the central projecting section was
much reduced and two symmetrical main
entrances were set on Via Nazionale, leading
through to similarly arranged spaces. Inside
the entrances are two lofty vaulted vesti-
bules. Beyond one of them is the Ceremoni-
al Courtyard porticoed on two sides, reached
by a second vestibule with three cross vaults
(in line with the triple arches of the entrance
on Via Nazionale) offering a view through to
the statue of Antinoo? against the back wall.
The vestibule of the second triple-arched
entrance abuts on a corridor running length-
wise between the Grand Staircase and the
Banking Hall, which occupies the second
courtyard area, here roofed with a partially
vaulted coffered ceiling with lunettes.

The Grand Staircase has an open well
and a semi-circular vault projecting 3.2
metres from the cornice. It occupies the cen-
tre of the building between the two court-
yardsandcanbereachedfromboth,although
the main access is through the portico of the
Ceremonial Courtyard into the Room of the
She-Wolf. The Banking Hall, or public room,
is double height with wide arches along the
walls resting on imposts of a minor Tuscan
order and separated by Corinthian pilas-
ter strips, creating a repetitive design that
marks out the various functions of the room
while drawing everything together. Natural
light comes from a series of small windows
similar to those in Roman baths, set in the
lunettes surrounding the vaulted ceiling.

The building is some 30 metres high on
Via Nazionale with two floors below ground
level and two floors above, while along the
side roads and at the back, where the land
slopes down, the building has five floors,

2 Discovered during excavations for the foundations of the
building.
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Entrance hall © Bank of Italy.

with one mezzanine at ground floor lev-
el and one on the first floor. The building’s
functionality stems in part from the use of the
slope in the land towards the rear of the plot
on Via Panisperna to create additional floors
above ground level at the back, linked to the
front wing on Via Nazionale. A passageway 5
metres deep and 8 metres wide separates the
two buildings and allows light and air to reach
the two floors below ground level.

The fagade on Via Nazionale has three
horizontal bands which define the over-
all composition and three main vertical sec-
tions, the central one projecting forwards.
At ground floor level the band of rusticated
blocks of travertine stone runs right around
the building, giving unity to the design. The
forward section in the centre of the facade is
itself divided into three vertical sections and
contains the two sets of arched entrances
openingin the lower band of rusticated stone.
Above and between these entrances jut sculp-
tures in travertine of the prows of Roman war-
ships, the rostra that adorned the raised
platforms used by orators, giving the name
‘rostrum’, several of which had been exca-
vated in the Roman forum at that time; they
contain a symbolic reference to Octavian.

The inclusion of such good omens above the
entrance to a reception area was a tradition of
ancient Rome, described by Cicero in the Phi-
lippicae, and it alludes to Octavian’s capture
of Egyptian warships at the Battle of Actium
in 31 bc (later put on display in the Roman
forum) and the positive effect this had on the
future of Rome, which was able to enact the
first monetary reform and launch the econo-
my of the empire.

A wide cornice in the classical architec-
tural style of Antonio da Sangallo the Young-
er encircles the building, marking off the attic.
Above it, close to the entrances on Via Nazi-
onale, were once two groups of sculptures
by Cantalamessa Papotti depicting allegories
of economics and law; they were removed
in the 1930s. Above the ground floor, in the
central part of the facade, are two superim-
posed classical orders (lonic and Corinthian)
consisting of half columns and corner pilas-
ters; the balcony windows are framed by col-
umns and lintel, with segmental arch tympa-
na on the first floor and triangular pediments
on the second. The Ceremonial Courtyard fea-
tures three architectural orders (Tuscan, lon-
ic and Corinthian), with pilasters adorning the
piers of the portico on the ground floor and

separating the windows on the upper floors.
The construction of such a magnificent build-
ing was a novelty for Rome at the time. There
were no other examples of bank architecture
except for the banking halls created inside
the courtyards of the palaces of the aristocra-
cy, which differed from other styles of archi-
tecture owing to the presence of vast expans-
es of glass and metal roofing. This instance of
special purpose architecture inspired by the
style of the late sixteenth century brought a
fresh approach to the functional and spatial
arrangement of the typical Roman palazzo.
It adapted the structure and distribution of
space to the various requirements dictated by
the new tasks and representative role of the
institution.

When he designed the building for the
Bank of Italy at the end of the nineteenth cen-
tury, Koch achieved, at a very specific histor-
ical moment, a superb synthesis of form and
function. His design not only evoked the roots
of the identity of the newly unified State but
showed the next generation of architects of
the ‘Roman School’ (which included Marcel-
lo Piacentini) how the revival of ancient archi-
tecture could lead the transition towards the
style of the Italian ‘Novecento’. ®
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The historical premises of the
Opere Pie di San Paolo in Turin

Erika Salassa

n the pages of the Turin-based daily La

Gazzetta del Popolo della Domenica of

October 26, 1902 an in-depth feature
described the new premises of the Istitu-
to delle Opere Pie di San Paolo. A few days
earlier the building had been inaugurated
in the presence of king Victor Emmanuel
IIl, princess Letizia Bonaparte and Emma-
nuel Philibert duke of Aosta after undergo-
ing a comprehensive renovation on a pro-
ject by Giuseppe Pastore. ‘Not delusions
of grandeur nor an unrestrained desire
for elegance and splendor, but a genuine
need for larger spaces and a better organi-
zation of the many services provided, san-
itary considerations as well as a remark-
able sense of decency’: these were the
motivations that emerged from the article
to explain the decision to undertake such
an architectural feat at the turn of the cen-
tury. Other interventions had been car-
ried out in the past, as the Institute’s own-
ership extended to larger portions of the
block’s property, until it came to own it in
its entirety by 1930 with the goal of pro-
viding larger and more functional premis-
es to the Monte di Pieta (pawnshop). One
example was the construction of an auc-
tion room, that was built after the demoli-
tion of a number of low-rise constructions
and that would later be dismantled to built
the main hall. The main facade of the new
building was characterized by a severe and
elegantappearance. It featured three sepa-
rate entrances: one for the employees, one
for the Monte di Pieta, and the central one
for the public that entered across a wide
concourse and a peristyle with marble
columns from Verona leading to the vast
main hall. Each arc corresponded to a win-
dow with a teller. Looking up, an elegant
balcony ran around the upper portion of
the hall and the ceiling was made of glass.
The flooring consisted of glass square tiles,

Auction room of the Monte di Pieta before the renovation, late 19th century. © Archivio
Storico della Compagnia di San Paolo.

Ground floor hall, home to lending and treasury activities, early 20th century.© Archivio
Storico della Compagnia di San Paolo.
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Paolo Gaidano, ‘Come dressed
in purity to receive your dowry;
fresco, 1909. © Archivio Storico
della Compagnia di San Paolo.

through which the light reached the rooms
below the ground, that housed the safety
deposit boxes. These offered booths for cus-
tomers, strongrooms containing 2550 small-
er boxes and larger safes. The armor-plating
consisted of a shield of ‘sheets of unpiercea-
ble steel from the Flocart steel mill in West-
falia’. The doors were fitted with safety locks
with timed combinations. The upper floor
was home to the administration and pres-
ident’s offices, while the attic housed the
archives, the registry and the general sup-
plies offices.

The renovation works continued in the coun-
cil’s meeting room, designed by the architect
Carlo Ceppi, who recommended the paint-
er Paolo Gaidano for the execution of the
frescoes and the decorative friezes on the
walls and the ceiling. The painting cycle was
completed in 1909: the themes of the com-
positions depicted the Institute’s historical
activity, from the origins of the 16th-centu-
ry brotherhood to the 20th-century lending
institution. A set of allegories in the upper
frieze illustrated the various social and char-
itable work in which the Institute engaged,
from providing a dowry to poor girls to com-
mercial, industrial and agricultural property
credit; from pledges and loans to the edu-
cation of the needy; from assistance to the
‘shamefaced’ to charity to the derelicts.

The premises of the Institute, which
have remained in the district historically
known as Saint Felix (San Felice) since the
18th century, in the old center of Turin, have
continued to characterize the city. To this
day, the street where the building is located
is known as via Monte di Pieta. ®
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Auction room of the Monte di Pieta, before the renovation, interior, late 19th century. © Archivio Storico
della Compagnia di San Paolo.

73

bulletin | 2016




Generali’s real estate between the end
of the XIX century and the Great War
The historical headquarters

Silvia Stenner

‘... thus | required - | say - that Generali
choose the most prominent lots in our major
cities with the aim of building headquar-
ters for the Company, to be duly decorated
with the emblem of our beloved Lion*’: this
was, in brief, President Marco Besso’s? real
estate policy. Indeed, over the years Gener-
ali attentively managed to purchase or build
its own headquarters in its main Europe-
an and extra-European cities, identifying to
this aim the most attractive or strategic loca-
tions. The buildings would serve not only as
business or representative venues but also
and foremost as investments, contributing
at the same time to the modernization, the
development or simply the embellishment
of several urban areas. The first real propri-
etary activities date back to the years soon
after the Company’s foundation and consist-
ed in the operation of life annuities and the
granting of mortgage loans. Among the most
ancient transactions recorded in the Com-
pany’s papers is the raising of a mortgage
in the amount of five thousand Florins for
a building located in Trieste, in 1834°. After-
wards, several buildings and land acquisi-
tions in the major places of business on the
Italian peninsula and abroad would follow*.
In order to investigate the Company’s real
estate operations, reference has to be made
primarily to the papers of the Top Manage-
ment meetings, which are a complete archi-
val series (as from 1831) housed at the Com-
pany’s Historical Archive®. As a matter of
fact, in accordance with the Company’s arti-
cles of association this collective body pos-
sessed both the technical competence and
the decisional power to deal with these mat-
ters, subject to the approval of the Board of
Directors®. The minutes, compared with the
annual management reports’, not only allow
for the reconstruction of the Company’s real
estate policy, but they also contain accurate
progress reports on buildings’ construction
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Fig 1. Assicurazioni Generali’s building, Geiringer’s
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building, piazza Duchi degli Abruzzi, Trieste

[1925-1928], headquarter of the Company’s Head Office. ©Archivio Storico Assicurazioni Generali,

Versamenti, scheda 27520.

works, as well as a wealth of information on
how critical obstacles were overcome and
the various situations successfully managed
as awhole.

Each property investment would be
evaluated on the basis of two basic require-
ments: first, its financial profitability over
time® and second, its adequacy in fulfill-
ing the Company’s commercial needs and
return on image (or rather ‘réclame’ as not-
ed in the minutes). The latter was an acute-
ly felt need whenever the extent of the Com-
pany’s business grew to such an extent so
as to call for space expansion for employees
and their offices. Quite often, the most prop-
er locations would be suggested by local
agents themselves, as they were thoroughly
acquainted with their business area, so much
so that they could even be officially entrust-
ed by the Management with the conduct of
purchase negotiations: the acquisition either
of building land for the ex-novo construction

of buildings - whose cubature usually cor-
responded to that of preexisting buildings
which were to be demolished - or of prestig-
ious buildings of significant historical, artistic
or local functional value. On other occasions,
to the contrary, the Company would resort
to the support of local professionals, sort
of ‘estate agents’, who were soundly knowl-
edgeable about the features and develop-
ment potentialities of the various city areas
(such as suitability for residential housing or
for the operation of insurance business, the
nearby presence of other insurance com-
panies or banks headquarters, availability
of facilities, etc.). Thus, the Company would
make an investment either in office venues
or residential buildings, or both of them. In
most cases, the last option would apply, so
that entire blocks would be purchased, with
the aim of optimizing investments over time
and recovering expenses by renting out
premises later on to associated or affiliated
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companies, or to other companies or to pri-
vate individuals. The ground floor was then
usually reserved for shops, the first floor for
offices, all other floors for private accommo-
dations. After identifying the deal, local bro-
kers would carry out proper market surveys
and collect basic information on the build-
ing or the location area. Once the Manage-
ment assessed the proposed offer, one of its
members or a technical consultant would be
sent to the premises for a closer examination
of the matter and to make the first contacts
needed to conclude the purchase. In case
the investment was judged positively, and
subject to approval by the Board of Directors
on the basis of a detailed report, the Man-
agement would issue a mandate to one of its
members and appoint a lawyer to assist him,
in order to proceed with the acquisition®.
Generally, these were the rules and proce-
dures to abide, as reconstructed on the basis
of the available archival sources®.

Returning to Besso’s Autobiography, all
real estate investments he promoted and
cited in his work are part of a wider inter-
nationalization project: Rome, Trieste, Milan,
Turin, Florence, Naples, Palermo and then
Paris, Vienna, Prague, Constantinople, Cai-
ro, Belgrade and Venice ‘and elsewhere’ ™.
More specifically, and in chronological order,
Besso’s investments included (distinguishing
between ex novo constructions and acquisi-
tions of prestigious buildings): Constantino-
ple (1908-1913) in rue Voivodina, now head-
quarters of Sigorta; Turin (1909-1911) in via
Cernaia, facing piazza Solferino, by engineer
Pietro Fenoglio; and Palermo in via Roma,
where a stylish building was erected by archi-
tect Ernesto Basile (1910-1912); Belgrade
(attested as from 1901) at the corner of kral-
ja Milana ulica and Bulevar kralja Aleksandra;
Florence (early 1900s) in piazza della Signo-
ria; Cairo (1908) in rue Ema del Din et rue El
Manakh; Paris (1909) in avenue de I'Opera;
Naples (1909) in via Agostino Depretis.

Generali owes immense gratitude to
Marco Besso, as he steered the Company
to worldwide success by strengthening the
Company’s presence in the Mediterranean
basin, above all in the east, and in the major
ports across the Atlantic. Between the ‘80s
of the XIX century and the beginning of the
Great War, the Company ranked as the first
insurer of both the Hapsburg Empire and the
Kingdom of Italy. On these foundations Bes-
so built a network of affiliated companies

Fig 2. Assicurazioni Generali’s building, building
at the Bauermarkt, Vienna. © Archivio Storico
Assicurazioni Generali, Versamenti.

that would later become the Generali
Group*. This project existed from the very
beginning, as the Company’s deed of incor-
poration of 1831 already provided that a
double management structure be estab-
lished, each with its own market sharing: Tri-
este was chosen as the seat of the Central
Head Office and its technical and adminis-
trative competences spread all around the
territories of Austria-Hungary and abroad,
but it also maintained all major general
management powers, while Venice was to
be the seat of the Venetian Head Office, in
charge of the Italian business'®. Both cities
played a strategic role as seaports, butin the
XIX century they belonged to two different
states, i.e. Trieste was part of Austria-Hunga-
ry, while Venice belonged to the Kingdom of
Lombardy-Venetia“.

In 1886 Generali settled in its new head-
quarters in Trieste®, located in what is now
known as Piazza Duchi degli Abruzzi, a highly
vital passage point of the former local empo-
rium, facing the downtown seafront. The
building counts nowadays as one of the most
notable and typical architectural testimo-
nies of Trieste’s flourishing XIX century (fig.
1). The building was erected between 1884
and 1886 in neo-Greek style according to a
project by engineer Eugenio Geiringer'®. The
Company opted for the construction of an
entirely new building which would provide
comfortable venues, equipped with a mod-
ern electric system (the first in town, realized
by a Turinese company and consisting of a

Fig 3. Assicurazioni Generali’s building, Vaclavské
namésti, Prague. © Archivio Storico Assicurazioni
Generali, Versamenti, scheda 28267.

total of 400 bulbs, with power ranging from 8
to 200 candles, distributed within the whole
building®"), an efficient heating system (pow-
ered by water in corridors and by gas in the
rooms), as well as a special security cell for
the storage of valuables and to be used as an
archive for vital documents. In addition, the
chosen location offered ample potential for
further enlargements in the surroundings®.
Geiringer worked as the external Com-
pany consultant in charge of real estate
operations (from 1871 - at least - to 1904,
when he was replaced by engineer Gior-
gio Polli*). He would be entrusted with
the supervision of all stages of any estate
investment, from the calculation of
expenditures and returns, to the selection
of the materials to be used, from the dec-
oration works, etc. to the support to archi-
tects (chosen from time to time among the
most renown professionals available in
each location) during the various phases of
project execution. He would also carry out
analyses of the critical pointsin a project or
submit personal projects himself.
From 1879 to 1881 he assisted architect
Otto Thienemann during the realization
of the agency office in Vienna (which later
became Austria’s Head Office), located at
the Bauermarkt (fig. 2). Owing to the long-
standing business relations in the city (the
Company had been operating its business
in the city already since 1832) and the sub-
stantial commercial interests of the Com-
pany in this European region, Vienna was
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Fig 4. Assicurazioni Generali’s building, Procuratie
Vecchie, piazza San Marco, Venice. © Archivio
Storico Assicurazioni Generali, Versamenti,
scheda 64703.

for Generali one of the most attractive and
significant places for real estate invest-
ments. The papers related to these activ-
ities can be consulted at the Historical
Archive and are some of the few surviving
sources on real estate investments abroad,
as well as on how these operations used to
be managed®.

Another strategic operational outpost
within the Hapsburg Empire was Prague. The
Prague general agency, staffed with about a
hundred employees, ranked among the most
important of the time. Indeed, many regional
agencies were under its direct management.
The Prague agency played a pioneering role
in several fields: in 1884 it was the first agen-
cy to hire female personnel - a first success-
ful experiment which would be echoed by the
Head Office in Trieste in 1892 - and it was the
first agency to be housed in a modern build-
ing (located at the corner of Wenzelplatz and
Heinrichgasse? (fig. 3)) specifically designed
to meet modern business requirements. It
included electric lights and a central heating
system. It is a well-known fact that the writ-
er Franz Kafka worked there as a temporary
clerk (‘Aushilfskraft’) of the life department
from October 1907 to July 1908%,

It must not be forgotten - in this con-
text - to recall the impressive construc-
tion works commissioned by the Company
in the main cities of the Italian peninsula:
first of all, the restoration of the Procuratie
Vecchie in Venice - the historical headquar-
ters of the Venice Head Office, which subse-
quently became the Italian Head Office (fig.
4). The lease contract was signed in July
1832 by director Samuele della Vida® as a
representative of Generali and the build-
ing owners Pietro and Leonardo Gradeni-
go. The contract dealt with the venues at
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Fig 5. Assicurazioni Generali’s building, piazza
Venezia, Rome. © Archivio Storico Assicurazioni
Generali, Versamenti, scheda 64703.

both the noble floor and the next floors fac-
ing St. Mark’s square and the Calle del Sel-
vatico. After purchasing these venues lat-
er on, Generali progressively expanded its
possessions over time, starting in the ‘60s
of the XIX century. In the first decade of the
XX century, when most of the building ven-
ues had been acquired, restoration works
were started, which also implied the adapta-
tion of the venues to business office require-
ments. A first stage took place between 1909
and 1914, when the Company became the
majority owner of the building, a second one
between 1941 and 1943, when the last lots
were acquired, and the works were executed
under the direction of architect Giulio Fano*.

Another emblematic headquarters in Ita-
ly is the building at piazza Venezia in Rome
(1902-1907)%, currently still the seat of the
Company’s representative office, which has
served as a strategic base for the relationships
with national and international institutions.
This building was strongly sponsored by Bes-
so, who made it the official seat of his activity.
The construction works were led by architect
Giuseppe Sacconi, who was also entrusted
with the design of the entire square area.
The building’s wings were to serve as addi-
tions to the Vittoriano (fig. 5). The facade of
the building is overshadowed in high relief of
the winged lion of St. Mark, coming from Pad-
ua’s city walls, where it had been positioned in
1518 after the end of the war of the League of
Cambria. The original project for this building,
given its far-reaching implications, would be
examined and monitored by a specific com-
mission appointed within the Management,
together with Geiringer’s supervision for all
ongoing changes.

Geiringer also acted as a trusted techni-
cal consultant for the projects in Milan, i.e. the

Fig 6. Assicurazioni Generali’s building, palazzo
Venezia, piazza Cordusio, Milan. © Archivio
Storico Assicurazioni Generali, Versamenti,
0GG001062047.

demolition of Cordusio square for the con-
struction of a Generali building designed
by Luca Beltrami between 1897 and 1900
(fig. 6). The erection of palazzo Venezia in
Milan, located between via Mercanti and
via Orefici, involved a surface of two thou-
sand square meters and was part of a regen-
eration project of the urban area extending
from the Cathedral square to the Sforza cas-
tle, a most unique part of the city. Indeed,
here was the pulsating heart of old Milan,
whose geometric center had been Cordu-
sio Square until the end of the XVI centu-
ry. From this site - which quite probably
was the political and administrative seat
of the Longobard Dukes (in fact, the place-
name is derived from the Latin Curia Ducis,
which later became Cordusio), there depart-
ed six main roads of the ancient road system
leading towards six city gates. Remarkably
impressive in its appearance, Palazzo Vene-
zia was the first city building built in Ferro
concrete and citizens would soon refer to it
as ‘the insurance palace’. The complex also
includes two buildings facing piazza Mercan-
ti, where the discovered remains of an old
medieval building facade - namely the Log-
gia dei Notari - still have pride of place over
the square as they were included into the
new building after careful restoration, thus
restituting to the community some unique
pieces of precious Milanese architecture of
the Visconti age®. The building hosted the
offices of the Company’s main agency, as
well as the headquarter of the first two affil-
iated companies, i.e. the Anomina Grandine
and Anonima Infortuni (Joint-Stock Com-
panies of Fixed-Premium Insurance against
Damage from Hail and Accidents), which in
1947 would be incorporated into Generali
and become the Milan Head Office.
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M. Besso, Marco Besso. Autobiografia, Roma, Fondazione

Marco Besso, 1925 (reprint 1981), p. 118.

2 Heentered Generaliin 1863 and from 1877 to 1885 he held
the office of secretary general, later to become a director
at the Venice Head Office and eventually a technical con-
sultant. He was appointed as president in 1909 and kept
this last office until his death in 1920. For further reading,
see R. Spada, Marco Besso’s Personnel File. This important
document is among the oldest personnel files kept at the
Historical Archive, in M. Lipari, M. Marizza, S. Stener et al.

(a cura di), Stories from the Historical Archive. Events and
Players at Assicurazioni Generali during the 1800s, Trieste,
Tipografia del Villaggio del Fanciullo, 2012, p. 176-180.

3 Minutes of Management meeting dated April 16, 1834,

4 For further reading, see Assicurazioni Generali di Trieste e
Venezia, La proprieta immobiliare urbana e agricola, Ber-
gamo, Istituto italiano d’arti grafiche, 1963; M.V. Gastal-

di (a cura di), Le Assicurazioni Generali di Trieste e Vene-
zia. Monografia illustrata, Fratelli Treves Editori, Milano,
[1925], extract from L'illustrazione italiana. | ricostruttori
d’ltalia: nei venticinque anni di regno di S.M. Vittorio Ema-
nuele Ill, Milano, 1925; Assicurazioni Generali, ‘Bollettino’,
n. 4, Giugno 1941, XIX; G. Stefani, Il Centenario delle Assi-
curazioni Generali. 1831-1931, Novara, Istituto Geografico
De Agostini, 1931, p. 237-264. Other useful information and
pictures can be found in several issues of ‘Bollettino’ - the
Company’s magazine - in the supplements accompanying
the annual financial statements from 1935 to 1943, as well
as in the complementary sections on real estate and land
properties published in the annual financial statements
from 1949 to 1970.

5 The Generali Group Historical Archive is home to the docu-
mentary heritage of four historic companies, namely: Ass-
icurazioni Generali (Trieste), Istituto Nazionale delle Ass-
icurazioni (Ina) and Assitalia (Rome), Toro Assicurazioni
(Turin). The Historical Archives of these companies are
under the protection of law as they were awarded the sta-
tus of ‘historically significant’ cultural heritage by the rel-
evant Archival Authorities of the Italian Ministry of Cultur-
al Heritage and Activities and Tourism (in 1983, 1992, 2000
and 2010 respectively).

The Historical Archive of Assicurazioni Generali keeps the
documents created and exchanged by the Central Head
Office of Trieste. These include a wide variety of papers,
ranging from the minutes of top management meetings to
the papers of the various internal departments, from 1831
(year of the Company’s foundation) to the end of the twen-
tieth century. In addition, the Archive hosts some (incom-
plete) records of surviving documents produced by the
Venice and Milan Head Offices, as well as by Anonima
Grandine e Infortuni (Joint-Stock Companies of Fixed-Pre-
mium Insurance against Damage from Hail and Accidents)
and other affiliated companies. The holdings take up
about 14 linear kilometers of shelving.

6 Article n. 33 of the Articles of Association of 1831. The com-
petences of the Board of Directors were detailed in articles
39 i-lin the Articles of Association of 1864.

The minutes of Management meetings would report the
date of the upcoming Board of Directors meeting in which
the board would have to vote on specific matters - in this
case related to real estate - submitted by the Manage-
ment. The minutes can be regarded as an extremely sig-
nificant source of information on real estate activities. The
complete series of the meeting minutes of these execu-
tive bodies from 1831 to this day are kept at the historical
archive and are available for consultation in digital format.

7 Thecity buildings and farm companies belonging to Gen-

erali both in Italy and abroad were (and are) a major con-

stituent of the guarantee funds, i.e. one of the most sub-
stantial items of the Company’s balance sheet, whose
description in the annual management reports - as a con-
sequence of the expansion of business and the corre-
sponding increase in the deployment of financial means

- has come to be more and more detailed over time. With-

in the time span considered in this essay, a thorough real

estate summary would be published in the annual finan-
cial statements starting from 1895: the estate was first
classified in A balance sheet or B balance sheet items

(starting in 1909 urban premises were to appear in the

B balance sheet and landed property in the A balance

sheet; as from 1913 both classes were listed in the B bal-

ance sheet only and as from the unified annual statements
for 1915-1919 they were arranged according to their loca-
tion in Italy or abroad); then it was further differentiated as

to whether it was in Italy, Austria-Hungary or other coun-
tries, also as to whether it was a new acquisition or it was
being constructed; and finally according to the city, with
an indication of address, cadaster value and income gen-
eration. Moreover, starting in 1879 a list of all representa-
tions would appear on the back cover of the annual state-
ment booklets, showing the premises according to their
location in the Austro-Hungarian Monarchy and abroad
together with the indication of whether it was a head office
or rather an agency, their addresses and also whether it
was company-owned. Thus, in order to ascertain the date
of acquisition of a building or the inauguration of a new
headquarters, reference can be made to both the annu-

al statements series and the more detailed Management
meetings minutes. The complete series of published annu-
al statements from 1832 to this day is available for consul-
tation in digital format.

8 Article n. 40 of the Articles of Association of 1831 provided

that 10% of the gross A balance sheet value - after deduct-
ing the Management’s emoluments — and 30% of the prof-
its resulting from the B balance sheet should be allocat-
ed to the reserve fund, which would be ‘inviolable for the
entire duration of the Company’, as well as that the money
collected in this fund ‘should be invested in real estate’.

9 Sometimes, a local lawyer would be appointed, too, in
order to ensure full legal assistance also with respect to
local rules and regulations.

10 In 1868 a selected Venice Board of Directors was brought
into being: it was made up only of the Board members
residing in Venice and was in charge of the acquisition
and management of real estate assets located in the Ital-
ian Kingdom. The selected Board stayed in force until
1922, when the structure of the Company was thoroughly
reshaped after the annexation of Trieste to Italy. For further
reading, see R. Spada, The selected Venice Board of Direc-
tors. The dialectic complementary relationship between
Trieste and Venice characterized the Company from 1831,
in M. Lipari, M. Marizza, S. Stener et al. (a cura di), op. cit., p.
182-187.

11 See M. Besso, op. cit., p. 119-120.

12 See T. Favaretto, Lo sviluppo dell’attivita internazion-
ale delle Assicurazioni Generali tra il XIX e il XX secolo, in
P. Garonna (a cura di), Assicurare 150 anni di Unita d’Ita-
lia. Il contributo delle assicurazioni allo sviluppo del Paese,
Roma, ANIA - Associazione nazionale fra le imprese assi-
curatrici, 2011, p. 93-151. For further reading on the agen-
cies’ business in the Company'’s early years of activity
in the Italian peninsula and abroad, see M. Marizza, The
agencies. An immediate expansion in Europe and the
world, in M. Lipari, M. Marizza, S. Stener et al. (a cura di),
op. cit., p. 94-99 and S. Galasso, Expansion of the Compa-
ny in the Italian territories. The importance of Carlo Alber-
to’s authorization to conduct business in Piedmont, in
M. Lipari, M. Marizza, S. Stener et al. (a cura di), op. cit., p.
134-139.

13 The competences of the two Head Offices were set in arti-
cle n. 20 of the Articles of Association of 1831 and subse-
quently further specified in the by-laws of 1832, in the Arti-
cles of Association of 1864 and in the by-laws of 1885. For
further reading, see R. Spada, The selected Venice Board
of Directors. The dialectic complementary relationship
between Trieste and Venice characterized the Company
from 1831, in M. Lipari, M. Marizza, S. Stener et al. (a cura
di), op. cit., p. 182-187.

14 For further reading, see S. Galasso, The Charter. December
26, 1831: founding of the Austro-Italian General Insurance
Company, in M. Lipari, M. Marizza, S. Stener et al. (a cura
di), op. cit., p. 66-71 and S. Stener, Samuele Minerbi’s Share
Certificate. Shares and shareholders: first steps towards
the establishment of Generali, in M. Lipari, M. Marizza, S.
Stener et al. (a cura di), op. cit., p. 76-87.

15 The first headquarters in Generali’s history was palaz-

20 Carciotti, located along the city’s seafront. In 1866

the Head Office was moved to palazzo Stratti, a compa-
ny-owned building, and in 1870 again to other premises in
via della Procureria, behind the town hall in what is now
called piazza Unita d’ltalia. For further reading, see L. Rua-
ro Loseri, M. L. lona, R. Costa et al. (a cura di), Palazzo Car-
ciotti a Trieste, Trieste, Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A, 1995.

16 Eugenio Geiringer (Trieste 1844-1904) was an original
architect-engineer mostly inspired by the neoclassical
style, which was highly fashionable at the time of the Aus-
tro-Hungarian Empire. He graduated from the Universi-
ty of Padua with a specialization on gas lighting systems.

He was the director of Banca triestina di costruzioni (Tri-
este building construction bank), the president of the engi-
neers and architects association, as well as member to
several city administrative institutions. He also curated the
Civici musei di antichita e storia naturale (Civic museums
of antiquities and natural history), started the construction
of the Trieste-Vienna railway and authored several projects
for the railway development in the Istrian peninsula, in
Carinthia and in Slovenia.

17 Assicurazioni Generali di Trieste e Venezia, op. cit., p. 25.

18 The first enlargement works date back to 1900, while in
1912 an adjacent building was erected, which was then
linked to the Head Office premises through a passageway
in 1930.

19 This was the decision taken by the Management during
the meeting of December 12, 1904. His personnel file bears
evidence that his last consultancy terminated in 1938.
Born in Trieste in 1862, he was employed at the shipyard
in Pula (Istria), worked for the Company on a temporary
basis from 1886 to 1888 and was then hired as a munic-
ipal employee. Eventually, he also worked freelance. As
such, together with his son Carlo, he worked for Gener-
alias a technical and artistic consultant in charge of the
management of real estate. He graduated in mechanical
engineering and became one of the most prominent rep-
resentatives of eclecticism in Trieste. The city is indebt-
ed to his design of several significant urban works, such as
the Pescheria (fish market building, 1913) and the Chiozza
block (1925-1927). As reported in his personnel file, his first
consultancies date back to 1914 and his contract was sub-
sequently renewed in 1924. As a technical consultant he
became a member of the ‘technical section” (made up of
three engineers) of the Central Head Office in 1911, his task
being that of ‘overseeing and arranging the regular, func-
tional and good management of the Company’s real estate
assets’ (Management meeting minutes n. 2339 of 12 Janu-
ary 1911). In the same year, given the considerable growth
of real properties, it was decided that a Surveillance Com-
mission on Real Estate should be established within the
Head Office (with competences including both commercial
and technical-administrative topics), composed of 4 mem-
bers from the Trieste Head Office and 3 of the Venice Head
Office, the former in charge of the business in Austria-Hun-
gary and abroad and the latter responsible for the activ-
ities in the Italian Kingdom. The Commission’s by-laws
were voted on during the meeting of January 18, 1912.

20 An additional source for the history of the Company’s real
estate is the Real Estate fund at the Historical Archive,
which includes a considerable wealth of technical-admin-
istrative papers. Moreover, another archive is available at
Generali Real Estate S.p.A,, the asset management com-
pany of the Generali group, which is home to documents
related to cadastral, town planning and asset manage-
ment activities. Finally, complementary information on
asset management activities can also be retrieved from
the Central Accounting fund (with respect to assets val-
ues), hosted at the Company’s Historical Archive.

21 The building was expropriated following WWiIl events in
the communist countries.

22 As inferred from his personnel file. The Central Head Office
personnel files have been preserved almost entirely from
as far back as the second half of the XIX century (except for
a few gaps). They include the file of this famous writer.

23 Holding 20 shares in his name, he was among the most
prominent founders of Generali. Also, in his role as a direc-
tor at the Venice Head Office he was the operational brawn
and the brain of the Italian business from 1831 to 1875.

24 For further reading, see A. Viggiano, E. Vio, G.P. Mar et al. (a
cura di), Le Procuratie Vecchie in piazza San Marco, Roma,
Editalia, 1994 e G. Morolli, U. Franzoi, A. Augusti, et al. (a
cura di), Le Procuratie Nuove in piazza San Marco, Roma,
Editalia, 1994.

25 For further reading, see V.S.M. Scrinari, M.L. Casanova, R.
Luciani et al. (a cura di), Il palazzo delle Generali a piazza
Venezia, Roma, Editalia, 1993.

26 A. Paglia (a cura di), Il palazzo Venezia in piazza Cordusio a
Milano, Trieste, Editoriale Lloyd di Trieste, 2000, p. 54-56.
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How the historical archives of large banking
oroups manage architectural heritage.
The case of Intesa Sanpaolo

Serena Berno and Francesca Pino

ank mergers involve the handing
over of assets including physical
properties and people, both of which
require documentation. Itis the job of archive
teamsto produce the latter, identifying those
aspects that will be useful to the new group
in its day-to-day management of its assets.
It is essential, in fact, to gather and
make available detailed information on the
thousands of buildings now owned by the
group. Visiting all of them would require a
great deal of time, since they are located in
every part of the country. Moreover, it is not
easy to assess their architectural and decora-
tive value right off the bat, nor to determine
whether regional authorities have imposed
restrictions on the artistic and architectural
holdings or how much preservation and res-
toration work might be called for (or alterna-
tively, whether it is advisable to cede or sell
the buildings). Administrative and land regis-
try records, city permits and fire safety certif-
icates often need to be tracked down as well.
Documentary archives are located in
various places, including external reposito-
ries that have been divided up due to their
bulkiness, while technical and other types
of drawings are often hidden away in chests
of drawers or roll files in long-forgotten clos-
ets and other such spaces. Photographs tak-
en in different periods for purposes of docu-
mentation also need to be hunted down and
processed; this includes restoring them, cat-
aloguing them, and identifying both the loca-
tions of the buildings portrayed and, when-
ever possible, the creators of the images.
Finally, following the merger it is fun-
damental to promptly establish commu-
nications between the departments of the
group that are involved with artistic and/or

1) Intesa Sanpaolo’s new head office under
construction in Turin in July 2013; the Porta

Susa railway station is visible in the foreground.
photograph: Andrea Cappello, © Intesa Sanpaolo
Historical Archives.

architectural heritage projects, book series
on the group’s properties, and the produc-
tion of guides and leaflets for the public.

This is why the Intesa Sanpaolo Group,
at the initiative of its Properties Division and
Historical Archives, has set up a working
group to share all available information and
continue the work of collecting materials
on new architectural projects. Most of these
are born-digital and/or multimedia in order
to meet communication needs; sometimes
they are also 3D, particularly in the case of
projects or models by renowned architects.
Our own team is currently at work on recov-
ering materials related to three recent pro-
jects: the Gallerie di Piazza della Scala, the
art heritage museum located in what was
previously Banca Commerciale Italiana’s
main hall; our Group’s new head office, a sky-
scraper in Turin designed by the Renzo Piano
Building Workshop (see photo 1); and the
Intesa Sanpaolo ‘Waterstone Pavilion’ built
for Milan’s EXPO 2015.

2) Banca Commerciale Italiana’s headquarters on
Piazza della Scala 6, Milan, on 11 September 1909
.photograph: Achille Ferrario, © Intesa Sanpaolo
Historical Archives.

Work to identify and process series of
paper records has been completed, for a
total of more than 500 binders and regis-
ters. This entailed defining and implement-
ing appraisal criteria; in certain cases we dis-
carded up to 60-70% of the materials. Our
search for information in traditional archival
documents enabled us to identify addresses,
changes in location, the dates of significant
renovations as well as valuable properties
that had formerly been central headquar-
ters of banks, both private and not, that
were subsequently (between the 1920s and
1990s) incorporated into our Group.

We also ascertained the potential value
of photographs of the properties, which were
often taken for purposes of documentation
but sometimes - especially in the case of sig-
nificant restoration and refurbishing work -
also for communications and promotional
use. Banks often commissioned prominent
photographers to do this work, so the col-
lections are also useful for those wishing to
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3) CARIPLO’s first headquarters, ‘Ca de Sass) on
Via Monte di Pieta 8, Milan, 1872. photograph:
Pompeo Pozzi (albumen print) © Intesa
Sanpaolo Historical Archives.

explore the history of analog photography.

The process of building up folders for
each of the properties took quite some time;
it required pruning out insignificant pho-
tographs and in some cases attempting to
match negatives on glass plates or on film
with photographic prints. Altogether some
90,000 photographs were selected out of a
far greater number; collection inventories
are gradually being made available at http://
intesasanpaolo.xdams.org/intesa-webinthe
online database of the Historical Archives
The photographs allow researchers to work
out both architectural and decorative styles
and changes in the layouts of branches in dif-
ferent periods.

In terms of architectural history, the
documents and photographs start off from
the earliest phases of construction and go
on to provide detailed accounts of excep-
tional operations, from both a city planning
perspective (for example, the acquisition
of adjacent areas and demolition permits)
and an engineering and structural one. Our
Quaderni fotografici (Photographic Note-
books) series includes two volumes on the
history of the ‘new’ CARIPLO building - the
so-called ‘Palazzo delle Colonne’ (1941) -
and the Banca Commerciale Italiana (BCl)
building designed by Luca Beltrami and built
in 1911 on Piazza della Scala 6. Also of inter-
est are cases in which important historical
! S.Berno-B. Costa, Uno scavo ciclopico. Il nuovo palazzo

della Cariplo nel cuore di Milano (A Cyclopean Excavation:
The New CARIPLO Building in the Heart of Milan), Milan, Hoep-
li, 2012; S. Berno - F. Pino, Il palazzo Comit di Luca Beltra-
mi. Fotografie tra testimonianza e interpretazione (1905-
1990) (Luca Beltrami’s Palazzo for the Banca Commerciale

Italiana: Recording and Interpreting History Through Photo-
graphs, 1905-1990), Milan, Hoepli, 2014.
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4) Giacomo Manzu’s clock in the main hall of
the Palazzo delle Colonne in the 1990s. Made
of embossed copper, it depicts the signs of the
zodiac © Intesa Sanpaolo Historical Archives.

buildings were purchased and renovated by
banks; examples include the Palazzo Zeval-
los Stigliano in Naples and the Palazzo Leo-
ni Montanari in Vicenza, both of which now
host Intesa Sanpaolo art galleries.

Of special note are those architects
who were capable of defining the ‘house
style’ of individual banks, men whose work
in terms of planning and building can be
studied and better understood with the
help of architectural historians. The most
interesting such cases are the headquarters
of Banca Commerciale ltaliana (see pho-
to 2) and the first headquarters designed
and built for CARIPLO between 1868 and
1872 by Giuseppe Balzaretti (see photo 3).
His was a majestic new take on the archi-
tectural style of Florentine banks of the
past, an approach he continued to use
while selecting the distinctive furnishings
and ornamentation for CARIPLO’s branch-
es, all inspired by the ‘virtues’ of securi-
ty and thrift. Along with a wealth of such
motifs (which can also be found elsewhere
throughout Europe), many of the proper-
ties also feature precious works of art. Two
examples are the clocks designed by Gia-
como Manzu in 1941 for CARIPLO’s Palazzo
delle Colonne (see photo 4) and by Franc-
esco Barbieri in 1955 for the facade of Ban-
ca Commerciale Italiana’s Lecce branch in
Apulia; both depict the signs of the zodiac.

These buildings can be compared with
other ‘Italian style’ banks outside of Italy;
see John Booker’s Temples of Mammon: The
Architecture of Banking (Edinburgh Uni-
versity Press, 1990). Annie Jacques’s book
Beautés d’un patrimoine architectural:

5) The head office of Banca Commerciale Italiana
and Romena in Bucharest in the early 1920s ©
Intesa Sanpaolo Historical Archives.

Crédit Lyonnais (Bibliotheque de I'image/
Crédit Lyonnais, 1993) provides a compre-
hensive survey of the international archi-
tectural heritage of a single banking institu-
tion, Crédit Lyonnais; other banks followed
its example in building their own foreign
subsidiaries. As for Banca Commerciale Ital-
iana, an invaluable photo album from 1930
provides a wealth of information on the
bank’s properties in South America, Cen-
tral and Eastern Europe (see photo 5) and
the Mediterranean basin; it is available for
online consultation and we hope that it will
spur further scholarly research.

It is interesting to note the ways in
which the design of areas for the pub-
lic evolved over time. At the start of the
twentieth century, staff and customers
were generally kept apart by a long coun-
ter surmounted by iron grating or wood or
glass panels that gave off a sense of per-
manence and security. In the 1920s a great
deal of space began to be designated for
back office activities; later, automation fur-
ther impacted the interior layout of banks,
with more space for customers and less for
staff. Starting in the 1960s bank counters
were no longer required to be orthogonal,
and the rigorous separation between cus-
tomers and staff by way of glass panels was
eliminated to allow more informal, direct
contact between the two. Finally, the move
towards more open and transparent banks
gradually led to the traditional bank coun-
ter giving way to customer-service desks.
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Naples Palazzo Ricca.

A bank since 1616

Andrea Zappulli

he Banco di Napoli Foundation and
I Historical Archives are located in
the 16th century building called
Palazzo Ricca. From 1616 to 1809, one of
the oldest and richest Neapolitan banks
was housed in the same building: the Sac-
ro Monte e Banco dei Poveri (the Sacred
Fund and Bank of the Poor).

The Sacro Monte e Banco dei Pov-
eri was the second Neapolitan bank to be
created, and it began its lending activi-
ties in 1563. The Monte (Fund) was creat-
ed by some lawyers, who worked at the
Vicaria Tribunal, in Castel Capuano. It used
to function as the main courthouse. The
lawyers, who pitied the debtors because
of their conditions in prison, decided to
create an institution, which could liber-
ate them from their humiliating circum-
stances. The work began in a small office
at the Vicaria courthouse. That same year,
it was transferred to the Casa dei Santis-
simi Apostoli dei padri teatini (The House
of the Saint Apostles of the Theatine
Fathers). When they had to remodel, the
Monte moved to some other rooms of the
Church of San Giorgio Maggiore, and then
returned to Castel Capuano in 1585. It was
not until 1616 that the Monte found its per-
manent location.

That same year, the building belong-
ing to Gaspare Ricca on the street known
as Via Tribunali, was purchased for 10 thou-
sand ducats. Its proximity to the Vicaria Tri-
bunal gave meaning to the choice of gover-
nors of the Monte and Banco dei Poveri. The
Square in front of the Courthouse offered
an appropriate context for the vocation of
the Monte because of the so-called ‘Pillar of
Shame’. This pillar served as a form of pun-
ishment for debtors, a means of exposing
them to public ridicule. This was directly
connected to the activities and the spirit of
solidarity connected to the Monte dei Pov-
eri, whose main objective was to improve
the conditions of debtors and to avoid the

Main entrance. Damiano Falanga, © Fondazione
Banco di Napoli.

proliferation of usury.

Today, the building of the Monte is a
well-structured complex, the result of suc-
cessive restructurings, which took place
over the centuries as a consequence of
the continuous evolution of the architec-
tural structures as the needs of the credit
and charity institution changed. Although
the construction of the building has
never been uniform, what was once the
Monte dei Poveri now has a certain equilib-
rium and harmony in the sum of its parts.
This shows the careful and continuous
consideration shown throughout history
when the challenges and logistical choices
were addressed.

The building, as previously mentioned,
was not created for the Monte, but was
adapted for this use only in 1616, following
its acquisition. Before that time, the Ricca
family residence had all of the characteris-
tics of a typical single-family residence built

Entrance, second floor. © Fondazione Banco di
Napoli.

in the 16th century. One of the first chang-
es made to the building was the construc-
tion of the oratory chapel of the Monte.
This reflected the need for a place of wor-
ship, for prayer and traditional religious
practices tied to the founding fraternity of
the Monte, in addition to offering a tangi-
ble symbol of the mission of hope and com-
fort for the troubled members of the devout
institution. That is how the typical Neapol-
itan structure came into being, with a deep
courtyard and a clearly visible chapel, lend-
ing a civil function similar to other buildings
housing charitable organizations.

The acquisition of the building on the
part of the Monte dei Poveri inevitably
changed the layout of the main structure,
without touching the staircase to the right
of the entryway. This stairwell still fea-
tures the Ricca family crest, typical of that
era, with the development of the walkway
and ramps, which did not face the internal
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Clocktower. Damiano Falanga, © Fondazione
Banco di Napoli.

courtyard.

At first, the transformations had to be
small so that the Monte was able already
in 1617 to open its doors to its new offic-
es. The most dramatic changes could be
found in the main reception hall, but then
they had to proceed gradually, changing
the structure of the building and adapting
it to the needs of the bank and to the recep-
tion of clients.

The needs of the Monte, because of
its function and the security of what was
keptinside the building, brought about the
addition of heavy iron grates to the win-
dows and the creation of a series of rooms
dedicated to the offices of the institution.
Among these are the cloakroom and the
room holding other pawned items (jewelry
and fabrics) deposited at the Monte, as well
as the Treasury, where gold reserves and
valuables were kept. The most important
room of the entire organization was the
secretary’s office, the place where the gov-
ernors held their meetings and made deci-
sions about the management of the bank.

At the beginning of the 18th centu-
ry, the building housing the Banco had
already become too small for its grow-
ing needs, both for the conservation of
the pawned items and for the exponen-
tial growth of the written documents. In
1927, the governors decided to prepare a
blueprint for expansion. Gaetano Romano,
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Corridor. Damiano Falanga, © Fondazione
Banco di Napoli.

Giovan Battista Nauclerio, Domenico Anto-
nio Vaccaro and Giuseppe Stendardo pre-
sented their proposals. The proposal made
by Stendardo was chosen and the work
was started. The work centred mostly on
the enlargement of some rooms near the
Cloakroom of pawned items, the Auditing
room, an office dedicated to the correc-
tions and audits done on account books,
and the Ruota, where credit documents
and payment orders were issued to clients.

Major work was done between 1729
and 1736. This was when the stairway with
disjointed flights was created, a creation by
Ferdinando Sanfelice. In order to reach the
two edifices, which were the result of the
new formation of the building, he imagined
a stairway with misaligned entrances,
where each flight of stairs rests on the
same central wall, while running alongside
the two separate buildings. That way, when
climbing one of the flights of stairs, the two
staircases never meet, as they run along-
side each other.

In 1770, Gaetano Barba was given the
task of redoing the fagade of the Banco,
which had suffered enormous damage to its
structure and foundation because of water
leaks and the presence of a natural under-
ground channel. In the 1760s, the entire
structure had risked collapse. The work
continued until 1772 and brought about the
demolition of the original facade of Palazzo

Detail. Damiano Falanga, © Fondazione Banco
di Napoli.

Ricca. The presence of the vaulted entryway
and the structures behind it prevented pos-
sible distortions and created the conditions
for a balanced solution.

The deepest and mostimportant mod-
ifications were carried out upon the acqui-
sition of the adjacent palazzo Cuomo, and
when the entire documentation of the
eight public banks was brought to the Mon-
te dei Poveri complex as a result of the roy-
al decree of 1819. This united all of the doc-
umentation of the old public banks and the
Banco delle Due Sicilie, which was created
in 1809.

At present, it houses the Banco di
Napoli Foundation, which pursues: social
interests and promotes economic and cul-
tural development; distributing funds and
supporting projects in scientific research,
instruction and education in the humanist
and economic fields; the improvement of
healthcare equipment; and the protection
and promotion of the patrimony and artis-
tic, archaeological, museum and environ-
mental activities.

The Historical Archives of the Ban-
co di Napoli represents an extensive pat-
rimony of information for the community
of researchers in the fields of economics,
history of art, sociology and history. In its
330 rooms, there are documents that have
been archived for 200 years in the Palazzo
Ricca building, which once housed one of
the oldest Neapolitan banks.
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The UniCredit headquarters in Milan

Francesca Malvezzi

he penchant to be open to innova-
I tion is a feature that goes with Uni-
Credit from the beginning, not only
in seeking the most technologically innova-
tive solutions to meet customer needs, but
also in acquiring cutting-edge facilities in
which to allocate the executive offices. The
historic headquarters of Cordusio Square
and the new UniCredit Tower in Milan are
the examples that best illustrate this atti-
tude to change and innovation within the
banking group.

At the end of the XIX century, Cathe-
dral Square was completed, the city of Milan
knew a period of fervent renewal of urban
structure which affected the arrangement
of the Castle area, the Foro Bonaparte and
the Parade-ground, as provided by the 1886
town plan. The banks took part in this pro-
cess of the city’s modernization and com-
mitted to building new branches of prestige
and high architectural quality, an expression
of corporate identity. Following the trends of
other major banking centers, the construc-
tion of lending institutions’ representative
buildings was gathered in the urban area of
Cordusio Square, the natural point of conver-
gence and connection between the center
and the periphery. In just over ten years the
arrangement of the city center was com-
pleted and, notably, of the Cordusio ellipse,
which at its birth aroused discussions and
doubt both for the many road outlets and for
the undoubted planning difficulties to oper-
ate on disunited curvilinear sections. Among
the major banks that adopted new and mod-
ern building headquarters in the area, Cred-
ito Italiano stands out. The Bank of Genoa,
founded in 1870, took the name Credito Ital-
iano in 1895 (then UniCredit) and decided to
expand its activities, taking over the business
and staff of the bank branch of the historic
company Vonwiller. The new Milan offices
were opened in a rented building in Manzoni
St., n. 4. With the rapid development of busi-
ness, already in 1897, however, the need to
have its own headquarters arose. The choice

fell on the area of the greatest transforma-
tion: Cordusio Square. Here Credito Ital-
iano built its headquarters through one of
the most famous architects of the time: Lui-
gi Broggi, former designer in Milan of the Old
Stock Exchange building and the Bank of Ita-
ly headquarters. These projects had allowed
Broggi to enter into relationships with many
bankers, including Mr. Balzarotti, then direc-
tor of the Milan branch of Credito Italiano.
Broggi suggested to Balzarotti the opportu-
nity to buy a plot of land still available in the
Cordusio area: the idea was a good one. The
area was purchased in 1899 and the respon-
sibility was given to the architect for drawing
up the building.

The new building was inaugurated
in 1902 and in 1907 the Board of Directors
moved from Genoa to Milan, confirming the
prominence acquired by the city as a finan-
cial center. The project, realized by Brog-
gi, is the historic core of the block where the
offices of the Milan Branch and the execu-
tive offices of UniCredit were housed for over
100 years until the construction of the Uni-
Credit Tower. The historic core of the Cred-
ito Italiano building has a linear and volu-
metric remarkable sobriety. The load of the
decoration reveals itself clearly in the orna-
mental facade design that recalls the sub-
tle, careful work of a goldsmith, with minia-
ture effects and attention to detail. A tribute
to the ancient specialization of the place,
which has been known since the Middle Ages
for goldsmith shops. The facade has a con-
cave front, with extensions into adjacent
Broletto and Tommaso Grossi streets, and
bears the imprint of the eclecticism of the
time, but also the special dignity that char-
acterizes the architecture of those years.
This architecture is not insensitive to some
elements in the incipient flowering of liber-
ty, to which, two years later, the same Brog-
gi would be converted to produce, at Tom-
maso Grossi St., the building of Magazzini
Contratti, the first warehouses in Milan. The
measured approach given to the prospects

Credito Italiano headquarters facade in
Cordusio Square realized by Broggi: 1905. ©
Archivio storico UniCredit.

of the historical building would facilitate the
harmonious insertion in the original cen-
tral plot of the post-war architecture. The
original site is only a part of the 6000 square
meters of the block currently in use. In this
vast area there was a set of composite and
extremely disjointed constructions, made
up of buildings of different styles built to be
hotels and homes. Due to the continuous
increase of work and the number of employ-
ees, Credito Italiano had to gradually estab-
lish its own offices also in adjacent buildings,
a temporary solution soon became inade-
quate. Therefore the need to have a build-
ing complex of organic structure and unitary
authority was posed. In addressing the prob-
lem of the new design, the situation of the lot
was carefully examined . It was decided to
absorb in the new project with the old part,
taking it as a point of reference and a depar-
ture from the remaining body. The facade of
the former headquarters of Magazzini Con-
tratti, a fine example of Broggi’s Art Nouveau
architecture, which had suffered the loss of
its architectural design due to continuous
change of use, was preserved, thus respect-
ing even the deep emotional bond that the
city had with the building that had housed
the first department store in Milan. The
remaining buildings were demolished. The
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Cordusio Ellipse, 1970. © Archivio storico UniCredit.

newly built area composed of 3500 square
meters, the design, entrusted to the archi-
tect Giovanni Muzio, adopted a sense of flex-
ibility. The work was begun in 1963 and com-
pleted in 1968. The buildings were divided
into different units, which follow the track of
the streets, with 6 floors and a covered ter-
race with a height of 23 meters. The central
body of 7 floors above ground has a charac-
teristic dome that wraps around the build-
ing appropriately, at the same time masking
the so-called technical volumes, namely the
various rooms intended for particular instal-
lations. In correspondence to the entire sur-
face, 4 floors within the grounds were made,
which received, at the center, a large three-
floor armored room, designed with safe-
ty specifications and for the storage of cus-
tomers‘ or the Bank’s bonds. In the rest of
the basement the technology exchanges are
placed, as well as archives. In implement-
ing the plan the structural patterns of the
most advanced architecture have been fol-
lowed, putting in place the specifications of
flexibility in order to make them consistently
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adaptable to the changing of functional
needs: no more fixed rooms, but everywhere
moving walls which identify and define only
workspaces. The link between the new build-
ing and the historic one is guaranteed, on
each floor, by a round corridor. The design
of the exterior and the harmonization of the
building complex in the environment of the
historic center of Milan looked very difficult
to chart. Muzio opted for materials - granite,
copper and bronze - that evoked the idea of
a certain age and that quickly acquired the
patina of time.

Despite the innovations brought to the
historical headquarters, at the beginning of
the 2000s it became increasingly clear that
the building was no longer functional for
current business needs. The predominant
dematerialization of banking operations and
the consequent elimination, already started
with the mechanization process of the sev-
enties, of strenuous and repetitive activities,
marked out by heavy work peaks (closing of
accounts, the capitalization of interest on
deposits, counts for crediting of coupons to

The Muzio’s facade, 1970, photo: M. Mulas.

depositors etc.) and the need of large depos-
its for the custody of paper documents prov-
ing the activity, have, in fact, revolutionized
construction methods of financial headquar-
ters, eliminating the technical reasons that
advised against the use of properties for rent
because of the expensive adaptation of the
places to the specific requirements of bank-
ing activities. Moreover, Cordusio Square
had gradually lost its central role of financial
hub in Milan, expanding the possibilities of
finding new spaces in other strategic points
of the urban area. As it happened, at the end
of the nineteenth century, the Group had
decided to support the urban renewal pro-
jects undertaken by the city and to move its
Headquarters to the area between the Por-
ta Garibaldi Station, the former Varesine and
the Isola neighborhood, the greatest work of
urban renewal made in the center of Milan
and one of the main in Europe with its more
than 290,000 square meters.

UniCredit Tower, designed by Argen-
tine architect Cesar Pelli of Pelli Clarke Pel-
li architectural study, is an integral part of
the Porta Nuova district and is part of a wid-
er project called ‘City Plan’, which aims to
reorganize all the major European branch-
es of the UniCredit Group. The streamlin-
ing of locations, only in Milan (26 to 5), has
reduced by more than 55 thousand square
meters of occupied space.

The UniCredit Tower complex consists
of 3 towers, respectively, 230 meters (32
floors, 145 meters without the Spire), 100
meters (22 floors), and 55 meters (12 floors).
One floor of Tower A is about 950 square
meters, 900 square meters one of the B and
1100 square meters one of the C. They host
approximately 4,000 employees and allow
annual savings of about 25 million Real
Estate expenses.
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With its 225 meters high UniCredit Tow-
er is now one of the tallest building in Ita-
ly thanks to the Spire, a shaped spire struc-
ture about 80 m, which completes tower
A. The Spire, which is an open slender spi-
ral, is constructed by curved surfaces of dif-
ferent diameter and size, capable of fac-
ing wind loads, snow and adverse weather
conditions.

Tower A, whose top can be reached by
elevatorin 44 seconds, is visible from 10 km
away and it is four times as high the Tower
of Pisa and twice the Milan Cathedral.
180,000 m3 of concrete was used to build
UniCredit Tower. The surfaces of the towers
are covered with 49,900 m3 of glass. Steel
structures have a total weight of 30,000
tons. The three buildings are traversed by
800 km of electric cables, with 393 cells per
20,15 KW peak for the one photovoltaic sys-
tem. Each building has two solar panels to
produce hot water.

The three buildings have received from
the US Green Building Council the LEED Gold
certification (Leadership in Energy & Envi-
ronmental Design) for urban regeneration
and the environmental sustainability. The
US Green Building Council is the organiza-
tion that promotes and guarantees, in over
100 countries around the world, a glob-
al approach to sustainability The Buildings
won this award thanks to the 22.5% ener-
gy savings, the 37.3% reduction in the use
of drinking water, the 100% reuse of rainwa-
ter, the 93% recycling of construction waste,
the 20.5% of recycled material used in con-
struction and the 41% of construction mate-
rials sourced locally. All this has translated
into a reduction of more than 40% of CO2
emissions.

UniCredit Tower also is looking ahead to
the concept of space and labor, in line with
the most innovative models of workplace.
The interior spaces are united by the desire
to encourage socialization and well-being of
the person, with flexible spaces in line with
changing professional and personal needs.
The Group has started the project ‘take your
space’ which implements a new concept of
space, favoring an ever greater harmony
between work demands, social sphere and
daily life.

In this context, great importance was
allocated to common use areas (such as
meeting rooms, informal meeting areas,
auditorium), which occupy about 40% of the

ITALY

The new headquarters: Tower A, 2014. photo: M. Puoti.

total area, in addition to the open and total-
ly transparent spaces, with the almost total
elimination of Single rooms.

Predominant characteristic of the dif-
ferent spaces, available to those who live
and attend UniCredit Tower, is indeed ‘multi-
disciplinary’, designed to create a friendly
atmosphere and at the same time adaptable
to the needs of businesses.

Meeting rooms are alternated with open
areas that, using reconfigurable furniture,
peninsulas and couches, allow individual
and group work. Three terraces overlooks
Gae Aulenti Square, ideal for informal meet-
ings or for relaxing in the open air.

The so-called TreeHouse, for exam-
ple, available spaces for the individual or

group work and for informal meetings, are
the result of a project born from the desire
to bring a bit of nature in offices, creating
an imaginary path between the park, which
will be built near the Towers, and workspac-
es. The rooms take advantage of the double
height with meeting rooms that resemble
tree houses. The main theme is the nature
with some of its elements (water, earth, air).
The materials are mostly wood or recycled.
The layout of the interior of each meeting
room is composed primarily by art instal-
lations and furniture made from recycled
materials, restored or eco designed in order
to offer rooms that are harmonic and at the
same time unique. An integral part of the
TreeHouse is the vegetable garden places on
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The terrace overlooking Gae Aulenti Square, 2014. photo: M. Puoti.

the terraces, where employees of UniCredit,
who joined ‘Grow your space’, can cultivate
a small plot of land and follow it in its entire
life cycle, taking care of plants and vegeta-
bles, from planting to harvest.

Evolution of open space, the Smart
Working also allows to choose between dif-
ferent rooms depending on the needs of
businesses. For more formal meetings, for
example, there are available meeting rooms
of various sizes and a room equipped with
video conference. The Focus Area is instead
designed to encourage concentration, while
the Phone Booths (payphones) allow you
to make calls in privacy. A multifunctional
space, the so-called Flexi Room, allows for
meetings with two or three people and shar-
ing documents with colleagues in other loca-
tions through a video wall.

UniCredit Tower also houses a new
weather forecasting station for the city of
Milan. Right in the highest tower of the com-
plex built in Gae Aulent Square, advanced
meteorological instrumentation was
installed, all in collaboration with the Epson
Meteo Institute.

This project stems from the desire to
deepen and conduct scientific experimen-
tation on climate and, as a first objective,
focuses on the collection of meteorological
data for the study of the phenomenon called
‘heatisland’in the city of Milan. The scientific
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study is completed with the research on Gen-
eral Visibility through the collection and
analysis of images captured from HD web-
cams also installed on UniCredit Tower.

The data collected will contribute to
the creation of a historical series and weath-
er patterns related to Urban Heat Island (or
UHI) of Milan, with particular reference to
temperature, wind conditions, humidity,
rainfall, transport and storage of pollutants.
UniCredit Tower is, according to experts, a
place of ideal detection, both for the height
of the structure and the absence of build-
ings in the immediate vicinity, both for the
possibility of placing the instrumentation
at different height levels. The installation
of special tools on the Towers will allow a
recording of the parameters on a continual
basis, allowing researchers to collect more
data to build predictive models even more
accurately.

The regeneration of the area taken over
by UniCredit was finally completed with the
building of a new multi-purpose space, the
UniCredit Pavilion, designed by the architect
De Lucchi. Itis open to the city for meetings,
conferences, conventions, exhibitions, per-
formances, seminars and has an auditorium
with 700 seats. It also hosts a space dedicat-
ed to the exhibition of art and visual con-
tent and a nursery that can accommodate
60 children, between 0-3 years of age. The

The TreeHouse meeting room, 2014. photo: M. Puoti.

architecture enhances the natural resources:
the lightness of the structure and the bright-
ness of glass combine to create an inviting
atmosphere where constructive technical
innovations allow the building to connect
the park, the square and the modern and
vertical heights of UniCredit Tower.
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LUXEMBOURG

The Banque Centrale du Luxembourg

René Link

he Banque centrale du Luxembourg
I (BCL) currently occupies four build-
ings, all located in Luxembourg City
and spread across two sites. The main head-
quarters consist of two buildings bridged
together and located on the ‘Berlaymont’ site.
It is hosting the Board of Directors and some
275 staff from several departments. A sec-
ond building, located opposite the main site,
underwent renovation works and opened in
December 2015. The second site, ‘Monterey,
is hosting additional departments, a numis-
matics centre, an exhibition hall, an auditori-
um and a learning centre.

These various buildings all have very dif-
ferent architectural styles but share a num-
ber of surprising elements linking them to
the history and the evolution of the Luxem-
bourg society from the 19th century to pres-
enttimes.

The architecture

The Berlaymont buildings

The first building of the BCL headquarters
was built in 1902 on the ‘Berlaymont’ site
and is a perfect example of the revivalist
architectural style that prevailed at the turn
of the century. This expressive architecture
pulls together neoclassical elements, alle-
gories and ornaments drawing from the
Greek mythology. Proportions according
to the golden section confer to the building
a well-balanced grandeur. The dominance
of vertical lines is skilfully cut across by the
horizontal lines of narrow corbelled bal-
conies, which are purely ornamental. The
mansard roof is reminiscent of the style of
French provincial prefecture headquarters.
It is heightened at its ends and in the mid-
dle of the build, slightly protruding from
the principal line of the front of the build-
ing, and suggests in a discrete but visi-
ble manner the existence of towers, there-
by conveying to the passer-by a castle-like
appearance, symbol of strength and secure
location. A monumental staircase lodged
between columns of Doric style leads

© Banque Centrale du Luxembourg.

the visitor to the main hall that has man-
aged to preserve its ‘Art Nouveau’ charac-
ter throughout time and generations. This
triumphant architecture aimed to impress
and to symbolize the economic power of its
owner. Hence, it comes as no surprise that
this building was originally erected as the
operational and administrative headquar-
ters of an important commercial bank. It
was purchased by the BCL in 1998.

The second building of the headquar-
ters, adjacent to the first, was inaugurat-
ed in 1962 and was clad with a modern
glass facade in 2001. It is a purely func-
tional building with a cubical geometry
that openly contrasts, albeit in a delicate
manner, with its flamboyant 1902 neigh-
bour. The building offers a splendid view
of the European district of Kirchberg. BCL
headquarters are strategically located on
a straight axis connecting downtown Lux-
embourg City, an international finance
and banking centre, and Kirchberg, an area
that is host to major European institutions,
both vital economic and political hubs for the
Grand-Duchy. This building has been named
‘Pierre Werner’ as a tribute to the ‘Founding
father of the euro’ as per decision of the Board
of the Bank, of which Mr Werner was a mem-
ber since the creation of the BCL in 1998.

The Monterey building

The building of the ‘Monterey’ site is a recent
construction dating back to 2005. Itis an ele-
gant and slender building with a sleek front
wall, punctuated by glass panels and narrow
strips of concrete, unadorned nor embel-
lished, with a very discrete main entrance
and without any visible window. The very
small slant front facade suggests an arcade;
indeed, the building stands as a transition
between the urban landscape of the city
centre and the green belt of the park, which
shimmers like an optical extension on the
building’s prominent glass body.

Historical sites and designations

The Berlaymont buildings

The name of the location of the BCL’s head-
quarters ‘Berlaymont’ is reminiscent of a
place of historical importance of the old for-
tifications of the fortress of Luxembourg.
This designation is very old and predates
that of the headquarters of the European
Commission in Brussels, its namesake, by
several centuries. The Earl Florentin de Ber-
laymont (1550-1628) was Governor of the
Duchy of Luxembourg from 1604 until his
death in 1628, when Luxembourg was under
Spanish rule. The Earl undertook considera-
ble building works to reinforce the enclosure
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of the fortress, including a huge bastion
named after its creatorin 1638.

The ‘Berlaymont’ site carries additional
elements of historical interest. In 1684, Lou-
is XIV troops besieged the fortress of Lux-
embourg under the command of Marshalls
Créqui and Vauban. The entry of French
troops was made possible due to a breach
opened in the ‘Berlaymont’ bastion. During
the construction of the building, remains of
this conquest (grenades) were unearthed.
The reinforcement works undertaken by the
Earl of Berlaymont were obviously insuf-
ficient to safeguard the fortress against
French military savvy.

Today, the BCL headquarters stand pre-
cisely on the location of the bastion ‘Berlay-
mont’. This location, lodged on a promonto-
ry dominating the valley of the Alzette river
(an emblem of the Luxembourg national
anthem) was much sought after at the end of
the 19th century and various projects were
contemplated at the time - including the
construction of a national library, a memo-
rial for national hero John the Blind and a
paintings gallery - albeit none materialised
inthe end.

The Monterey building

The designation of the second building of
the BCL, the ‘Monterey’ building, also has
deep historical roots. Under the command
of Earl Don Juan Domingo de Zuniga and
Fonseca, Earl of Monterey and Fuentes, gen-
eral Governor of the Netherlands, the for-
tifications of Luxembourg were reinforced
from 1671 to 1673. By decree of 12 Decem-
ber 1673, a street in Luxembourg was named
after the Earl of Monterey, which was then
extended to the outskirts of the fortress after
its dismantling in the 1870s and in which the
second BCL building is now located.

Historical details about the two locations:
a mirror of the social and economic
history of Luxembourg

The two BCL buildings (‘Berlaymont’ and
‘Monterey’) became part of the urban land-
scape after the city opened itself following the
dismantling of the fortress walls in the 1870s.
This dismantling was a condition includ-
ed in the 1867 Treaty of London by the Great
Powers who, at the same time, declared the
Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg to be perpetu-
ally neutral and independent and placed the
country under their special protection.
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The demolition of the fortifications and
the filling of the moats from 1870 onwards
gave rise to new plots of land that the Gov-
ernment reserved itself the right to sell under
strict conditions, which were laid out in con-
struction regulations designed to confer a
style of Parisian boulevard to the main arter-
ies of the new areas. At the same time, the
tight control of the Government over the plots
of land located in the fortress area contribut-
ed to avoid, more or less successfully, unwel-
come real-estate speculation. Asking pric-
es negotiated between the Government and
the future owners were set at such a level
that only affluent members of the upper class
were able to purchase them. Indeed, notaries,
lawyers, businessmen, industrials and promi-
nent politicians were living in the villas builtin
those new housing estates. That is how a cor-
don of wealthy residential neighbourhoods
came to form a transition between the core of
the old fortress and the parks spread out on
the free plots of land beyond the former forti-
fications. Both sites of the BCL are to be found
within this cordon.

Berlaymont

The first owner of the ‘Berlaymont’ estate
was a rich widow, a direct descendant of
a dynasty of steel barons. In her large villa,
she lived with her extended family spanning
several generations and domestic servants
that befitted her lifestyle. The villa was pres-
tigious enough to house later on the French
Embassy for a couple of years until it was
acquired by a renowned commercial bank.
The same bank built in 1902 the aforemen-
tioned building that now serves as the head-
quarters of the BCL. The villa was demol-
ished in 1962 and subsequently replaced
by the so-called ‘Pierre Werner’ building. In
1998, the BCL purchased this estate to use
it as its headquarters, after undertaking
major refurbishments to make the buildings
compliant with central banks’ high security
standards and IT requirements.

Monterey

The list of early owners of the ‘Monterey’
building is similar to those who had pur-
chased the ‘Berlaymont’ estate. The first
building on the ‘Monterey’ site was a res-
olutely upper middle class villa and was
constructed in the 1870s by the widow of a
former minister of the Luxembourg Govern-
ment. The following owner (from 1897) was a

both photos: © Banque Centrale du Luxembourg.

member of parliament, son of a minister and
nephew of the national poet. He installed the
first phone in the house and rented out part
of it to the Chamber of Commerce. The villa
was later acquired by an insurance company,
which sold it in 1936 to the National Bank of
Belgium (NBB), when the latter established
a branch in Luxembourg in the framework
of the Belgo-Luxembourg Monetary Associa-
tion. The NBB transformed the building into
a fully-operational office and a residence.
When both Luxembourg and Belgium adopt-
ed the euro, the monetary association end-
ed. Concomitantly, the NBB branch closed
down and the BCL took over the building.
The succession of various owners of
the sites that today belong to the BCL illus-
trates very well the transition from the steel
industry and political elite towards a servic-
es-oriented economy, thereby symbolising
in broad lines the transformation of the Lux-
embourg economy over the past 150 years.
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NORWAY

Headqguarters building of Norges Bank
The Central Bank of Norway

Kristin Fagerhaug

Summary
Architects: Lund &Slaatto
Design and construction period: 1974-1987

TheNorgesBankbuildingfrom 1987isunique
in a Norwegian context. Filling an entire city
block in the old part of central Oslo, it is the
most expensive public building from the
1970s and 1980s. The quality and elegance
of the materials used in construction can be
matched by few other buildings in Norway.
At the same time, the Norges Bank building
radiates a subdued sober-mindedness and
rationality that distinguish it from the typical
iconic architecture of recent decades. The
harmony of colours and materials communi-
cates substance, solidity and security.

The architectural idea behind the Norg-
es Bank block is based on mathematics and
geometry, a style known as structuralism.
This idea has been uncompromisingly exe-
cuted in a manner whereby the building
becomes a work of art itself. Lund & Slaat-
to, responsible for the design, was one of the
architectural firms that led the way in reviv-
ing the discussion of the nature of architec-
ture and helped to make Norwegian archi-
tecture a more intellectual discipline. Their
work recalls Mies van der Rohe’s use of mod-
ular structures and Louis Kahns ideals of
‘order’. The result was to be a building that
even after 30 years remains a milestone of
Norwegian architecture.

Geometry

The architects were confronted with the
task of designing a 65,000 square metre
building of national importance on a site
that comprises one complete, rather ordi-
nary inner city block. The task included a
typically 1980’s limitation - the require-
ment to restore and keep two groups of
old buildings: On the Radhusgaten front-
age, three pleasant, small-scale timber
frame buildings from the seventeenth cen-
tury and on the Kirkegaten frontage, two
typical nineteenth-century sub-classical

Facade. Foto: Espen Schive.

buildings were required to be retained
and respected.

The architects Lund & Slaatto were
geometers. Like all true geometers, the for-
mal order is taken right down to the small-
est detail so that concern with clear organ-
isation is everywhere manifest. A site with
fine old buildings on it poses a real problem
to architects in love with such total order.

The resulting plan for Norges Bank’s head-
quarters stems from two decisions. The first
was to find a grid that fitted so well that the
old buildings click effortlessly into the overall
architectural harmony. The second was to note
that the old buildings were always in the mid-
dle of the elevations. This permits granite faced
pavilions to define the four corners of the site,
leaving the infill to be the old buildings or cop-
per curtain walling as appropriate.

Structure

The building is typified by a substantial con-
tent of prefabricated elements. Character-
istic of the building’s design is a structure
based on a 90 cm x 90 cm construction mod-
ule. The octagonal form was adopted ear-
ly for the column sections for functional

reasons in order to accommodate ventila-
tion ducts. The octagon became an aesthet-
icelement, which along with the square, cre-
ates variety and gives rise to a leitmotif - a
molecular structure - that is the building’s
signature stamp. The octagon is consistently
applied, and is reflected in bearing columns,
stone paving, lifts, outdoor plantings and
flower pots.

The fixtures and fittings have also
become a part of the building’s structure,
adapted to the building’s complex geome-
try. Interior ceiling, wall and floor treatments
are integrated into a strict modular system,
based on a narrow range of materials.

Choice of materials and interior
Quality and durability guided the choice of
building materials. These include Carrara
marble and granite in three colours (pink
Royken granite, light Steren granite and
dark Hauge granite), concrete, metal (cop-
per, brass and steel) and wood (beech, white
laminate and merbau parquet).

Outside, the facade is composed of
Rayken granite combined with copper. These
materials were chosen for their durability,
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workability and appearance and in consider-
ation of the surrounding cityscape.

The interior reflects a hierarchy of mate-
rials, where the means of achieving effects
are more complex. In stairwells and corri-
dor zones, stone is the primary material. For
offices, beech and while laminate are used
as a contrast to the stark marble stairwells.
Inside, the copper is replaced by brass,
which is supplemented with steel. Stain-
less steel is a recurring element accenting
concrete columns and beams in walls and
ceilings, while brass marks the position of
load-bearing structures. Concrete columns
are visible throughout the interior.

The interplay of materials creates con-
trasts between hot and cold, while mark-
ing the different zones in the building.
Stairwells and corridors can serve as an
example: The floor tiles in the corridors are
composed of light and dark granite, with
dark granite signalling an intersecting cor-
ridor or access to a different level. The actu-
al design of the stairwells is important, with
two kinds of stairwell in the building: rec-
tangular main stairwells in the middle of
the block, and spiral staircases in the out-
er corners of the block. The materials in the
stairwells are marble, granite and brass.
The choice of materials consciously helps to
distinguish offices, corridors, stairwells and
conference rooms as discrete contrasts with-
in awhole.

Inner courtyards and gardens

The open spaces between the buildings in
the block are designed as gardens. They cre-
ate a pleasant atmosphere and are intend-
ed to help people orient themselves in the
block. The gardens can be enjoyed by stroll-
ing about in them, but are also visible from
inside, from the storey the garden is located
on or from the galleries, stairwells and offic-
es on higher floors.

The gardens are composed of graphi-
cal elements and are variations on the build-
ing’s geometric theme. The garden spaces
differ in characwter according to function,
location, light conditions and size and rep-
resent different combinations of main com-
ponents: water, rock, vegetation and light.
To distinguish south from north and east
from west, the motifs of some of the gardens
occur in mirror-image pairs. The gardens are
in and of themselves an important part of
the building’s ornamentation.

Courtyard. Foto: Alexander Wisting.

Corridor. Foto: Espen Schive.

Urban fit

Opposite the bank’s main entrance the
architects have designed a public square -
Bankplassen. The geometry of the building
extends across this square and beyond, to
include copper-clad structures that provide
access to the car parks below and define the
limits of the architect’s control.

Part of the brief of the original compe-
tition was that the old buildings on the site
be retained and the existing character of the
area enhanced. This has been achieved by
the architects by keeping the height of the
perimeter of the building down to that of the
area, by putting granite corner pavilions to

Stairwell. Foto: Espen Schive.

‘break up’ the long elevations, and by having
window spacing generally in accord with the
old structures in the building’s immediate
surroundings. At the same time, they com-
promised neither the geometry of the plan
nor the modernity of the architecture. ®

Literature & Sources

Byggekunst 6/5 1987: Articles by Kjell Lund,
John Winter, Solveig Lenne Christiansen.
Riksantikvaren, Orientering 3/91, 4/91,
Norges Bank’s Annual Report 2011, Norges
Bank’s website / History, NOU 1990:25, Norg-
es Banks nye hovedsete [Norges Bank’s new
head office].
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Historical quarters of Bank Handlowy w Warszawie SA

tukasz Wilinski

ank Handlowy w Warszawie SA is

Poland’s oldest continuously oper-

ating commercial bank. Its main
founder was Leopold Kronenberg, a leading
financier and industrialist in the nineteenth
century Kingdom of Poland®. Kronenberg
allied with Warsaw’s intellectuals, aristocra-
cy and financial community to found Bank
Handlowy in response to the growing needs
of Polish agriculture, commerce and indus-
try, the needs that could not be met by exist-
ing banking houses or the state bank, Bank
Polski. Having recognized the demand, Kro-
nenberg had made first steps towards the
establishment of a bank as early as in the
nineteen-sixties. His first efforts were unsuc-
cessful, undermined by Kronenberg’s polit-
ical opponents. Consequently, the second
attempt to establish the bank was conduct-
ed behind-the-scenes. In 1869 the draft of
the Bank’s statutes was ready and, with
some changes, it was approved by tsar Alex-
ander Il on 24 February 1870. The founding
agreement was signed on 30 April 1870 and
the first clients were received already on 15
July of the same year.

The first, provisional office of the Bank
was Mostowski Palace, made available by
the government of Kingdom of Poland. After
several months the Bank moved to Dtuga 8,
a location provided by Leopold Kronenberg.
The next temporary office was in Count Zam-
oyski’s building in Mazowiecka 10. Mean-
while, the founders authorised the Board of
the Bank to ‘purchase, if needed, a property
in Warsaw for the Bank’s head office or to
purchase a plot of land and have a suitable
building constructed’. Already at the begin-
ning of 1871 it was decided that the Bank
would buy a plot in the centre of Warsaw,
on the corner of Berga and Wtodzimierska
streets (currently Traugutta and Czackiego).

1 Established in 1815 by the Congress of Vienna, Kingdom of
Poland consisted of parts of the territories of former Polish
Lithuanian Commonwealth captured by Russia in 1772-1795
partitions.

2 Archive of New Records (further: AAN), Archive: Bank Handlowy
w Warszawie (further: BH), CN. 1/72b, p. 12, Founding Agree-
ment of Bank Handlowy w Warszawie, 30 April 1870.
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Head office of Bank Handlowy, the corner of Berga and Wtodzimierska streets ca. 1910.
To the right (slightly higher) the building purchased in 1907.

The 13,400 square ells® property was to be
purchased from the state at 2.50 rubles per
square ell*. The main advantage of the cho-
sen location was its proximity to the provi-
sional office in Mazowiecka 10 and to Kro-
nenberg’s palace (the distance was ca. 200
metres from both). The plot was purchased
at a public auction and, while other bidders
offered higher prices, the Bank was deter-
mined enough to go much over its initial bid.
The final purchase price was a little under
80 thousand rubles, nearly 6 rubles per ell.
The agreement was most probably closed at
the end of 1872 or early in 1873.

After purchasing the land, the Bank
announced a contest for the architectur-
al design of its future seat. Five established
architects entered their designs: Marceli

3 Ca.4760m’.

4 AAN,BH, CN.1/72b, p. 63, Board of the Bank Meeting of 11 Jan-
uary 1871; AAN, BH, CN. 1/72¢, p. 196, Board of the BankMeeting
of 11 October 1872; Z. Landau, J. Tomaszewski, Bank Handlowy
w Warszawie. Historia i rozwoj 1870-1970, Warsaw 1970, p. 27.

5 AAN,BH,CN.1/72¢, p. 161, Board of the Bank Meeting, 13
December 1872; AAN, BH, CN. 1/1, p. 335, General Assembly
Meeting, 8 May 1873.

Berendt, Artur Goebl, Jozef Huss, Bronistaw
Zochowski and Leandro Marconi. At the
meeting of 22 July 1873, the Board of the
Bank selected the designs by Zochowski
and Marconi. It was however decided that
both required adjustments and that the two
architects would develop the final design
together. It was also settled that the cost of
construction and furnishing should not go
beyond 140 thousand rubles®. The final cost
of the building and furnishing of the offic-
es totalled nearly 200 thousand rubles’. The
construction began in the second half of
1873 and was completed in under a year. The
building was expected to be ready for use
by 1 July 1874% In summer 1874 the Bank
was ready to move to a new head office.

The

new office was a two-storey

6 AAN,BH,CN.1/72d, pp. 81,82, Board of the Bank Meeting of 22
July 1873.

7 152,924 rubles were spent by 31 December 1874, plus ca. 45
thousand rubles later on, AAN, BH, CN. 1/72f, p. 69, Annual
Report of Bank Handlowy for 1874.

8 AAN,BH,CN. 1/1, p. 345, Board of the Bank Meeting of 30 April
1874.
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Safe deposit box vault, Bank Handlowy w Warszawie, 1909.

neo- renaissance building. Located on the
corner of Berga and Wtodzimierska streets
was its main entrance - a three-door por-
tal with Doric columns, topped by a tym-
panum with a clock in the centre and floral
ornament on its sides. The tympanum was
supported by 4 lonic columns. Below the
eaves ran a frieze with floral decorations and
human heads in relief. Ground floor windows
were decorated with caducei - the symbol of
commercial success.
In 1907 the adjoining building (Berga
9) was purchased for 210 thousand rubles®,
and repurposed for offices to accommodate
for the growing business and headcount. Not
much is known about the remodelling, oth-
er than that the changes were made only to
the interiors, leaving the outside of the build-
ing unchanged. In 1909 a vault was installed
under the building, with 1700 safe depos-
it boxes, a new service in the Kingdom of
Poland, and very popular among clients®.
The Bank enjoyed a particularly high
growth in business after the end of WWI.
With Poland regaining independence in
1918, Bank Handlowy took active part in
the country’s reconstruction and in the inte-
gration of the territories formerly under

the rule of different occupantst. With the
growth of business volume came higher
employee count. In 1919 the Bank’s main
office employed 263 people, a year later the
number grew to 5312 To accommodate the
growth, the Board of the Bank decided to
expand the head office.

The expansion started in spring 1921
and was completed in January 1925. The
works took nearly four years because of their
extend and the fact that the building contin-
ued to house an operating institution. The
bulk of the work was performed at night.
The expansion project was managed by
Bronistaw Zurkowski and Jan Heurich. The
overhaul included unification and raising of
the the facade - which involved the construc-
tion of 2 storeys. The corner entrance lost the
tympanum with the clock and gained a frieze
with the Bank’s name. The four first floor lon-
ic columns were replaced with pilasters. A
new large operations hall was built on the
side of Mazowiecka street and multi-storey
saferooms were installed. The cellars were
deepened by 1.5 metres and all ceilings were
replaced by reinforced concrete. The recon-
struction allowed for creating workposts for
ca. 1thousand employees.

The outbreak of WWII in September 1939

9 AAN,BH,CN. 1/25, p. 43, General Assembly Meeting of 23 April
1908.

10 State Archive of the Capital City of Warsaw, Walery Przy-
borowski’s collection, CN. 31, pp. 262-264.

11 After regaining independence in 1918, Poland’s territory consist-
ed of parts of the lands seized in 1772-1795 partitions by Russia,
Prussia and Austria.

12 Tygodnik llustrowany, 1925, 6, p. 116.

markedthestartofdifficulttimesforthebuilding.
The cellar became the Headquarters of
Anti-Aircraft Defence for Warsaw and its dis-
trict and a section of the building housed a
field hospital. The Bank’s staff, while contin-
uing to perform their day-to-day duties, also
carried out the tasks of protecting the build-
ing against fire and securing food supplies.
The employees also opened a canteen for
the injured, refugees and soldiers. ‘In those
conditions, transporting food, with a truly
unique means of transport - a grand piano
dolly found in the neighbourhood - was a
genuine challenge, no lesser than the fight
of soldiers on the front’ - recalled Bozena
Niemierowska-Szczepanczyk®. As a result of
bombings and shellfire, particularly severe
on 15 September, the third storey of Traugut-
ta 7 building was burnt and sections of Trau-
gutta 9, 11 and Mazowiecka 16 were near-
ly completely destroyed™. Regardless, the
Bank’s cashiers’ windows were open until 23
September and the few remaining employ-
ees did their best to protect the building
against fire and secure the Bank’s movable
possessions. The first days of October 1939
saw the Bank resume its operations. Its Dep-
uty Director Wactaw Jacobson recalls: ‘The
building was in chaos caused by the fire of
the third storey and adjoining buildings. The
archive, books, machines and equipment
were gathered in a few places in complete
disarray. The team was decimated’.

After the Bank’s resuming its operations,
the employees were tasked with securing
theinstitution’s property, rescuing the books
and documents and repairing damages. At
that point, to many of them the only meal
was a bowl of hot soup in the Bank’s can-
teen®, The work was made more difficult by
the fact that it became extremely cold in the
first days of October and the operations hall
that had lost all its window panes, needed to
be cleared of snow. The temperature inside the
building was only three degrees Celsius and
the heating was not working®’. With time the
most urgent problems were solved - new glass
panes were mounted in the windows and the
heating was turned on again. However, over-
all working conditions continued to be difficult

13 Archive of Head Office of Bank Handlowy w Warszawie (further:
ABH), CN. 207/8, Bozena Niemierowska-Szczepariczyk, My Long
History Working for Bank Handlowy, Retrospect, p. 7.

14 Z. Landau, J. Tomaszewski, op. cit., pp. 121-123.

15 AAN, BH, CN. 1/271b, p. 2, History of Bank Handlowy 1939-1943.

16 ABH, CN.207/8, Bozena Niemierowska-Szczepanczyk, op. cit.,
p.3.

17 AAN, BH, CN. 1/271b, p. 6, History of Bank Handlowy 1939-1943.
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Head office of Bank Handlowy w Warszawie S.A. after expansion in 1925.

due to the damages and staff shortages.

With the outbreak of Warsaw Uprising
on 1 August 1944 came another difficult peri-
od for the building. Not only did the fight-
ing mean that the head office and all War-
saw branches of Bank Handlowy stopped
operating. The solid buildings of the Bank’s
head office in the Traugutta - Czackiego -
Mazowiecka quarter became the insurgents’
stronghold and were manned by AK*® bat-
talion ‘Harna$’. Moreover, Traugutta street
became the frontline, with its even-num-
bered buildings occupied by Wehrmacht.
Stanistaw Czerminski, nom de guerre ‘Miles’
recalled the fighting in that area: ‘From the
windows of Bank Handlowy, on the corner
of Traugutta and Czackiego, we shot at Ger-
mans on the other side of the street, at the
rear of the current Academy of Fine Arts. Lat-
eron it got more severe. The Germans would
aim at the area more often. It was constant-
ly under shellfire and bombed™. The most
damage was caused by the explosion of a
Goliath tracked mine, that caused the build-
ing’s corner to collapse.

While the fighting was still under way,
the Bank’s management applied to the

18 Home Army Pol. Armia Krajowa (AK) - Polish underground mili-
tary resistance active on the territory of Poland occupied by the
Third Reich and Soviet Union, disbanded on 19 January 1945.
AK’s main purpose was to conduct military resistance and pre-
pare a country-wide uprising.

19 http://ahm.1944.pl/Stanislaw_Czerminski/6?lang=en, [date
accessed: 13 Dec. 2015].

German authorities for a permit to evac-
uate the Bank’s possessions and the con-
tents of its vaults that they hoped to have
survived untouched. Eventually, they man-
aged to collect all needed keys and secure
all necessary permits. On 24 October 1944 a
special delegation set out to check the con-
dition of several Warsaw offices of the Bank.
They found a depressing picture. ‘The front
section is nearly entirely burnt-out, includ-
ing the ground floor. The front walls in Trau-
gutta and Czackiego streets have collapsed
entirely, and the rubble is blocking the way
in. Reinforced concrete slabs are hanging
loose. (...) The inner courtyard annex is par-
tially damaged, but not burnt’®. The main
vault was intact, but the lock was damaged
asaresult of afailed attemptto unlockit with
a different key by burglars. The lower vault’s
lock had been damaged the same way and
was impossible to unlock. The outer strong-
room door was destroyed and the strong-
room’s contents stolen?.

The first evacuation transport did
not take place until 28 October 1944. The
employees were brought in at 9:30. It was
impossible to unlock the main vault because
of damaged locks. However, there was a
secret hatch only a handful of people knew

20 AAN, BH, CN. 1/325, p. 81, Report from the Evacuation of Bank
Handlowy’s Head Office in 1944.
21 Ibidem, pp. 6, 81.

POLAND

about. After locating it, it turned out to be
two armour plates set in concrete. Burn-
ing a hole through the plates and breaking
through the concrete took 4 hours. In the
meantime, books, carpets, paintings, etc.
were removed from the lower vault. The
hatch was not opened until 13:30, with the
return initially set for 14:00. All cash and the
most valuable securities were packed with-
in half an hour! The main vault hatch was
bolted to prevent the theft of the remaining
deposits. Over 6 million zt was removed?, all
to be deposited in the storage facility rented
in Grodzisk Mazowiecki®.

It is worth noting that a special super-
vision system was developed. At each stage
(in front of and inside the vault, during the
transfer of the items to the car, during trans-
port inside the car, on arrival and transfer of
the objects from the car to the storage facili-
ty in Grodzisk, all were performer in the pres-
ence of at least one trusted supervisor. There
was also a rule barring entry to the storage
facility by a single person®.

The second transport was planned for
2 November. The bolted vault hatch had not
been disturbed so it was possible to collect
another load of deposits as well as a num-
ber of paintings by Poland’s most illustri-
ous painters, such as Chetmonski, Brandt or
Wojciech Kossak®.

The next transport took place on
3 November and it included the remain-
ing deposits as well as disorganized books
and papers from the lower vault. The Mar-
schbefehl®® did not allow for the transport
of personal affects, clothes or food. How-
ever, some of the Bank’s employees failed
to comply and loaded boxes with personal
items. Feliks Wilinski recalls: ‘l warned them
against taking it all, because our pass did not
cover textiles or food, but it was a voice cry-
ing in the wilderness. They nodded assent
but quickly loaded the objects in bags and
carried to the cars when | was not looking™'.
Of course, the Wehrmacht soldier oversee-
ing the transport reported the fact at the exit
post. The Germans searched the transport,
scattering deposits and all items they con-
sidered unlikely to be the Bank’s property.

22 Ibidem, pp. 8-9, 82, 83; AAN, BH, CN. 1/284c, Feliks Wilinski -
Memories from the Evacuation of Bank Handlowy’s Head Office
Vault Contents to Czestochowa, pp. 8-11.

23 Town ca. 30 km West of Warsaw.

24 AAN, BH, CN.1/325, pp. 7-8.

25 Ibidem, pp. 9-10; AAN, BH, CN. 1/284c, p. 15.

26 Literally: marching order, here: transfer permit.

27 Ibidem, p. 17.
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Theincident nearly ended in some members
of the transport crew being shot. In the end,
we manager to appease them and the trans-
port was allowed to leave.?®

By November 1944 all Bank’s posses-
sions stored in Grodzisk were transferred
to Czestochowa: 1) cash 13,662,214.14% zt
and 690,000 zt from Mazowiecka branch;
2) Cash of the personnel and other individ-
uals 248,449 zt; 3) 160 bags with deposits;
4) office equipment - 14 typewriters, count-
ing machines and perforators; 5) 30 paint-
ings belonging to the bank and its clients;
6) books, files and documents; 7) library
books; 8) 5 carpets; 9) 1 tapestry. All of
the above were deposited in BH’s branch
in Czestochowa and it was then that the
books and documents were reviewed to
discover major gaps®.

On 25 November a new permit for
the transfer of objects out of Warsaw was
received. However, due to logistical prob-
lems, the transport did not leave Warsaw
until 6 December 1944. Later transports
took place on 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13 and 14
December. Safes and vaults were unlocked
or broken open to remove cheques, secu-
rities, accounts files, cash and other items.
There were also 73 paintings, the collection
of silvers, china, Persian carpets, counting
machines, empty forms, etc.3! Unfortunate-
ly, not everything could be rescued. Ger-
man authorities did not allow for the transfer
of some Bank’s possessions such as print-
ing and bookbinding machines, silvers and

% Ibidem, p. 18; AAN, BH, CN. 1/325, p. 10.

»In another report the amount is 13,331,714.14 4, cf. Ibidem, p.
83.

" Ibidem, passim.

% Ibidem, pp. 15-19,42,43.

Remains of Traugutta 9 building, 1945.

Collapsed corner of Bank
Handlowy’s head office, 1945.

some paintings.

‘The transports were successful in res-
cuing nearly all of the Bank’s multi-million
cash reserve [Head office and other War-
saw branches - £.W.] and substantial depos-
its of its clients. Besides, the immense assets
of the Bank and its clients in the form of
securities, precious paintings, book collec-
tions, including a number of rare old vol-
umes, family documents and memorabilia
and many other valuable items. With some
minor gaps, the Bank managed to move files
and documents that later served to recreate
the balance sheets, as well as a bulk of emp-
ty forms, albums with forms necessary for
the organization’s reconstruction, and sev-
eral dozens of office machines. The evacua-
tion was a tremendous success, particularly
taking into account the conditions in which it
was performed’2,

It was decided that the destroyed build-
ings would be rebuilt and the temporary
head office would be located in £odz, in
Piotrkowska 74. The reconstruction, based
largely on original designs, was conducted
by engineer Zdzistaw Maczynski. The project
was successful largely to personal involve-
ment of Director Henryk Czarnecki. Bozena
Niemirowska-Szczepanczyk remembersthat
Henryk Czarnecki ‘(...) used his foreign con-
tacts to import pink marble for columns, to
make them just as the ones before the war,
marble slabs for floors in operations halls.
The door elements (...), wood, brass, glass -
exquisite. Because he was also rebuilding his
flat, he was accused of defrauding some of
the money for the Bank’s reconstruction. It
could not be proven but he was transferred

2 Ibidem, p.21.

The corner of Traugutta and Czackiego,
present view.

to the foreign trade office anyway’®. The
Bank returned to the rebuilt offices in 1949.

Although the Traugutta 7 building was
carefully recreated to bring it back to its pre-
war look, the buildings at former address-
es Traugutta 9 and 11 and Mazowiecka
16-18 were rebuilt in an entirely different
style, simple form, without the historical or
ornamental details. This was due to the much
greater damage and the necessity to rebuild
them practically from scratch, as well as lack
of original designs. It was also decided that the
pre-war building numbers would be replaced
by one address: Traugutta 7/9, one complex
that would serve as the Bank’s statutory head
office until 1979, when it was moved to the new
address in Chatubinskiego 8.

After the reconstruction, along with the
offices, the building also housed a kinder-
garten, an excellent canteen, flats as well as
a club that hosted evening entertainment
events featuring Warsaw-based artists as
well as ones organized by the Bank’s depart-
ments including performances by former
employees, often satirizing their superiors®.
Currently, the building houses a branch of
Citi Handlowy, some departments of the
Bank’s main office, some residential quar-
ters and the office of Kronenberg Founda-
tion at Citi Handlowy. ®

* Activities conducted by the communist authorities; Interview
with Bozena Niemierowska-Szczepariczyk
of 4 Feb. 2013, original stored by Kronenberg Foundation at Citi
Handlowy.

*  ABH, CN.207/9, Bozena Niemierowska-Szczepanczyk, My
Memories from Working for Bank Handlowy, p. 10.
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Polish central banks. An architectural overview

Stawomir Parfianowicz

he first Polish central bank, the Bank
I of Poland (Bank Polski), was estab-
lished in 1828. By some measures this
was relatively late. At that time, Poland - the
Kingdom of Poland, consisting of only a frac-
tion of its historical territory - was a depend-
ent state bound by a personal union with
Tsarist Russia, and later on became known
as Congress Poland (because of the Con-
gress of Vienna).
In a way, the creation of a central bank was
impossible earlier, before the partitions, due
to the peculiar aspects of the political con-
stitution in the times of the sovereign Pol-
ish-Lithuanian Commonwealth.

The idea to establish a central bank
was part of a much wider, manifold policy of
national economic development laid down
by Franciszek Ksawery Drucki-Lubecki, the
Kingdom’s finance minister. The planned
activities of the bank went far beyond that
of an issuing bank alone towards most-
ly performing general and investment bank
duties. The Bank of Poland was supposed to
be a hub of development financing.

The Bank was granted a prominent
location at the intersection of Rymarska, Ele-
ktoralna and Senatorska streets, where after
the demolition of older buildings a triangu-
lar square was created just in front of the
bank’s plot and later on accordingly named
Plac Bankowy (Bank Square). To the north
it was adjacent to the residence of the Min-
ister of Finance, and further were the build-
ings housing the Governmental Commission
of Revenue and Treasury (Komisja Rzagdowa
Przychodéw i Skarbu). Plac Bankowy itself
constituted the westernmost part of the
newly established artery of the capital city
ranging from Plac Zamkowy (Castle Square)
along Miodowa and Senatorska streets and
through Plac Teatralny (Theatre Square),
where the majority of the most important
institutions were gathered.

Antonio Corazzi, an architect already
known for his designs of some of the most

View no. 1 Current headquarters of Narodowy Bank Polski, Swietokrzyska str. Warsaw,
photo: Wtodzimierz Dgbkowski NBF, (IMG 0996).

important new Warsaw buildings at that
time, including the adjacent buildings of the
Finance Minister’s residence and the Reve-
nue Commission, was appointed to design
the bank. Born in Livorno and educated in
Florence, he was appointed by the govern-
ment of Congress Poland and worked herein
1819-1847.

His buildings represent a finely defined
neoclassical repertoire, well set in Warsaw’s
architectural townscape, strongly cast with
an air of classicism of the numerous build-
ings erected or remodelled during the reign
of Stanistaw August Poniatowski (1764-
1795). Corazzi’s buildings include Patac
Staszica (Warsaw Scientific Society) and the
Grand Theatre, still among the most charac-
teristic of Warsaw’s monuments.

The Bank’s building significantly dif-
fers from most of Corazzi’s works. Two high
storeys make up the building’s main body,
articulated with tall open arcades running
in a fine curve around the corner, creating
a very long, unbroken facade. Its impact is
amplified by the contrasted texture of walls
- rusticated at the ground floor, and unem-
bellished at the top floor. The heart of the

building consists of a grand, domed rotunda
hall, lit by great Diocletian windows. Initially
it was intended to house the stock exchange,
and later became for decades one of the
most appreciated assembly halls in the city.
The overall character of this building, influ-
enced by the stylistic air of Jean Nicolas
Durand’s pattern book, was with no analogy
in Warsaw at that time, and must have been
considered to be the most modern building
in those days.

The apparent source of some solutionsin
this design, the great rotunda, the enfilades of
vaulted office rooms and the rounded corner
in particular, are the buildings of the Bank of
England as expanded and remodelled by sir
John Soane in 1788-1833. Architectural his-
torians attribute this to the cooperation on
the project of another architect, Jan Jakub
Gay, known for his close contact with British
architecture. Occupying a prominent loca-
tion at one of the cities nicest squares, with
clearly distinguishable architectural features,
the building quickly became one of the most
iconic buildings in Warsaw.

In consequence of the 1830-1831 upris-
ing, the Bank of Poland, like many other
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View no. 2. Headquarters of Bank Polski SA, Bielariska str. Warsaw , collection
of NBP, (Bank Polski Warszawa).

institutions in Congress Poland , entered the
path of step-by-step liquidation, which actu-
ally took almost half a century. By the end
of the process, all its components, including
the building itself, were merged into the Rus-
sian State Bank.

Strongly oppressed politically, through
the last quarter of the 19th century Warsaw
was developing very rapidly economically,
and in effect demographically gained third
position in the entire Empire by the end of
century, being preceded by the capital cities
of St. Petersburg and Moscow only. Warsaw
owed this rapid development mostly to the
railway boom, which made the city a main
hub in Russia’s exchange with the West.
The volume of transactions to be served by
Warsaw’s branch of the Russian State Bank
caused it to recognise its existing premises
as insufficient and decide to erect new ones.
Construction started in 1907 on a spa-
cious plot at Bielanska street. Leon Benois,
an eminent architect active in St. Peters-
burg, was appointed for the task. The com-
plex of buildings he designed was the largest
bank in Warsaw until the current headquar-
ters of Narodowy Bank Polski were complet-
ed. The style of the main body of the build-
ing, as the majority of bank buildings of its
time, derived strongly from the Italian pala-
zzi of the renaissance, with a very firm touch
of St. Petersburg’s architectural grandeur.
Side buildings, like the surviving one at
Danittowiczowska street, were already tend-
ing toward modern forms.

Soon after the Russian State Bank was
completed, World War | broke out. In 1915,
after the city was taken over by the Germans,
the Reichsbank settled here, later on, in due

(rycina-03).

course the newly established central bank
of the resurrected Poland - Bank Polski SA
- took over the new buildings of the State
Bank(1907-1912). One may say that the his-
torical circle closed.

In the course of World War Il, the origi-
nal Bank Polski premises at Plac Bankowy
were burnt out as early as September 1939
after being raided by German war planes.
The Bielanska street premises served during
the occupation as the Warsaw branch of Ger-
many’s established Bank of Issue (Bank Emi-
syjny w Polsce), and then during the War-
saw Uprising for several weeks it came under
siege and was bombed and burnt out as well.
Of the two, only the plac Bankowy building
was reconstructed after the war. The other
remained, until the early 21st century, one of
Warsaw’s longest lasting ruins.

The new Polish central bank - Naro-
dowy Bank Polski - established in February
1945, took as its temporary headquarters the
premises of the former Pafistwowy Bank Rol-
ny (State Agriculture Bank), the only surviv-
ing bank building in Warsaw at the time and
one of the biggest ever built here. Neverthe-
less, because of the planned bank’s scope of
responsibilities and due to the ideological
inappropriateness of the Nowogrodzka build-
ing’s ‘bourgeois’ style, it was decided to erect
a brand new headquarters for the bank.

A vast plot of land demarcated by
Swietokrzyska and Warecka streets and
Napoleon square (today’s Plac Powstancéw
Warszawy) was granted for this purpose.
The 1948 architectural competition was
won by the design of Bohdan Pniewski, an
already renowned and widely active archi-
tect. Pniewski contrasted large voluminous

View no. 3 Building of Bank Polski, Bank Square, Warsaw, collection of NBP

components: a low, elongated, continuous
building framed the entire complex along-
side its external border, and a large, very
high, H-plan office block inside. Stylistical-
ly, the complex was a derivative of late 1930s
architecture, pretty much like many other
buildings in Warsaw in 1945-1947. But the
design’s date coincided with the advent of
socialist realism, soon to be declared the offi-
cial and only accepted style in 1949. Criticised
at length, Pniewski started subsequent rede-
signs. Between 1949-1953 more than three
clearly distinguishable versions were creat-
ed. They were marked with a proliferation of
socialist realist decorum, but still did not sat-
isfy the political bodies responsible for the
design’s final approval. The actual construc-
tion started in 1953, but based on blueprints
unaccepted by Pniewski himself.

Immediately after the political thaw of
1956, Pniewski returned to the subject and
provided new drafts modelled on a modernist
idiom. The most interesting part was a brand
new solution for the large bank’s main hall fac-
ing Plac Powstaficow Warszawy. It consisted
of a low, glass-panelled ground floor preced-
ed by a wide terrace, and a very long horizon-
tal blank wall some three-times higher, intend-
ed to be covered with a mosaic. It is said that
it was the offspring of Pniewski’s recent tour
of Mexico and the impression made by a large
mural there. Pniewski died in 1965, not manag-
ing to see his design completed. It took anoth-
er decade to finalise the project, redesigned in
the meantime and deviating in many regards
from the original drafts. ®

Sources
www.nbportal.pl
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The headqguarters of Banco de Portugal.

A long way

Anténio Gil Matos, Maria do Carmo Rogado and Filipe Fernandes

Abstract

Banco de Portugal’s headquarters went
through a lot of transformations, from its
rented first premises in the 19" century, up
to today’s building. It remained always in
downtown Lisbon, the city’s commercial
and financial centre. In this short essay we
would like to highlight the successive admin-
istrations’ concern for functional and suit-
able premises, wherever it would be locat-
ed. A gradual process of acquisition of the
buildings that integrate the headquarters
took place, as well as the main architectural
projects for the headquarters building on the
occupied city block. We also refer to the proj-
ects for a new building, away from down-
town, and finally the decision for a deep
rehabilitation of the downtown’s building,
including S. Julido’s church, where the Mon-
ey Museum will be installed. It was during
these last construction works that, in 2010,
the D. Dinis Wall, built in the 13t century, and
from which there was documentary, although
not archaeological, testimony, was identi-
fied. This wall is classified as a National Mon-
ument. By keeping its headquarters down-
town, and opening both the Money Museum
and D. Dinis Wall to the public, Banco de Por-
tugal actively participates in the revitalization
of the Baixa/ Chiado area, which are historical
grounds of the city of Lisbon.

The headquarters of Banco de Portugal
First steps

Banco de Portugal resulted from the fusion
of Banco de Lisboa with Companhia Confi-
anca Nacional. Banco de Lisboa' was a com-
mercial and banknote issuing bank estab-
lished in the Lisbon city centre, in the old

1 The Banco de Lisboa was created by a Royal Charter of Decem-
ber 31%, 1821. It initiated its business in August the following
year, two years after the Liberal Revolution of 1820, and a few
days before the approval of the 1822 Constitution. Portugal’s
first constitution, it established the beginning of the constitu-
tional monarchy.

*- Archive Coordinator; **-Archivist

Picture 1: City Hall front, drawing by Reinaldo Manuel dos Santos. Picture prior to the 1863 fire.

© Historical Archive of Banco de Portugal.

Council Hall building (Costa, 1963) [Pic-
ture 1]. It was built according to a Reinaldo
Manuel dos Santos project (Matos & Paulo,
2013 p. 84) after the 1755 earthquake. Since
the Middle Ages and particularly during the
Renaissance (Gschwend & Lowe, 2015), Lis-
bon’s centre was the main location for the
country’s commercial and financial activity,
a situation that, with varying intensity, was
maintained until nowadays. The Compan-
hia Confianga Nacional? (Costa, 1963) was a
financial society, partially capitalized by the
Banco de Lisboa, and essentially destined to
support loans to the Government. It occu-
pied the same grounds as Banco de Lisboa.

When Banco de Portugal® initiated its activ-
ity, it kept the same functions and occu-
pied the same premises as its predeces-
sors. Beside this institutions, many others,
of administrative and financial nature, such

2 The Companhia Confianga Nacional was created by Decree of
September 25, 1844.

3 Banco de Portugal was created by Decree on November 19,
1846.

as Companhia de Seguros Fidelidade, Sec-
retaria de Estado dos Negdcios da Fazenda,
and Administragéo do contrato do Tabaco,
amongst others, shared the same building.
In 1863, a violent fire started in the Council
Hall building and devastated almost all the
block. The Bank was temporarily installed
in the building’s first floor that, due to its
arched structure, escaped the damage. The
negotiations with the City Hall and with the
government commission, began immediate-
ly, aiming to allow the reconstruction and
the permanence of the Bank in the same
location. These negotiations, however, were
unfruitful, and the Bank had to search for
new premises.

The Bank’s first ‘own’ premises

The Bank chose to find its own, adequate
and independent place to practice its bank-
ing activity. As such, on September 11, 1868
it acquired two contiguous buildings, on
Rua do Ouro, turning to Rua Nova d’El-Rei,
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Picture 2 : Chronological plan from the acquisition of the buildings of the block where the Bank of
Portugal’s headquarters is located. © Historical Archive of Banco de Portugal.

nowadays Rua do Comércio, and Rua de S.
JuliGo. After adaptation works, trusted to
architect Miguel Evaristo da Silva Pinto, and
the subsequent structural viability test, the
Bank established its headquarters there in
March 1870.

Over time, the Bank developed its inter-
nal services and gained new competences,
which required growth of the initial premis-
es. In 1887, the Bank celebrated a contract
with the State, in which the Bank became
the exclusive banknote issuer, ending forever
the regime of a multiplicity of issuers, which
had been in place since 1835* (O Papel-Moe-
daem Portugal, v.1, p.73). The Bank assumed
the role of the State’s bank and national trea-
sury®. To observe its new functions, the Bank
created, at the end of the 19t century, a net-
work of branches in all the district capitals,
projects for which it contracted the coun-
try’s most prominent architects. In the same
year that it celebrated its contract with the
State, the Bank acquired two more buildings
on Rua de S. Juliéo and began the necessary
adaptation works, trusted to architect José
Anténio Gaspar. In the same year a new floor
was added to the old building.

In 1890, a chance to purchase two more
buildings, one in Rua Nova d’El-Rei and the
other in Rua de S. Julido, appeared, which
allowed the Bank to enlarge the occupied
area. In the next years, Banco de Portugal
increased the size of its premises with suc-
cessive purchases of adjoining buildings,
proceeding to a vast internal restructur-
ing, in order to reinforce structures, open

4 The privilege of banknote issue was given to Banco Comercial
do Porto in August 13™, 1835, and later on to other banks.

5 According to clause 24' “The Bank shall be the State’s bank and
national treasury in the Metropolis. In this capacity, it is obliged
to possess branches in all administrative district capitals of the
Kingdom’s continent and isles.”

safe deposit boxes, consolidate founda-
tions, reinforce railing, improve ventilation
and security, maintain the building facades
unaltered so that the aesthetic spirit of the
Baixa Pombalina - the architectural ensem-
ble derived from the reconstruction of the
city after the 1755 earthquake under Mar-
quis de Pombal’s rule - was maintained. The
areas open to public access also deserved
great attention in order to improve accom-
modation and client satisfaction.

In 1907, another building was bought by
Banco Lisboa & Agores, in Rua Nova d’El-Rei.
In order to complete the acquisition of the
totality of the block, there was just one more
space left, which was owned by the Archcon-
fraternity of S. Julido. Negotiations to this
end proceeded over the course of decades
and concluded in June 7th, 1933 with the
purchase of the church and annex property.
The Bank was made the legitimate proprie-
tar of the entire block - the largest in down-
town Lisbon [Picture 2].

Headquarters building pojects

It was the Bank’s intention to have a head-
quarters building that gathered, in the same
location, both its administration and its ser-
vices, and that represented with dignity the
institution’s prestige. With that in mind, in
1910, architect Adaes Bermudes® was invited
to present an ‘adaptation and amplification’
preliminary project for the building, con-
sidering all the block, including S. Julido’s
Church [Picture 3]. It was an ambitious proj-
ect, with deeply elaborated masonry orna-
mentation, in the spirit of the epoch, with
the main facade turned toward Rua do Ouro,

6 Addes Bermudes worked for Banco de Portugal for over 20
years, having signed, besides this project, many district branch
projects.

a main street from the city, and the east
facade toward Largo de S. Julido. With the
standoff in negotiations between the Bank
and the Archconfraternity of S. Julido, how-
ever, the project became outdated and was
never implemented.

Shortly after the acquisition of S. Julido’s
Church, the Bank challenged some famous
national architects to present a concept
study for the construction of the new build-
ing, having in mind the institution’s func-
tional demands. The project from archi-
tect Porfirio Pardal Monteiro was chosen.
In 1938, he presented a preliminary project
for a monumental building, with a ground
entrance, four floors, basement and under-
ground level. The author intended to inte-
grate the building harmoniously into adja-
cent streets, while sufficiently maintaining
the identity of a central bank [Picture 4]. This
much anticipated project was never brought
to implementation. Due to disagreements
with Lisbon’s City Hall, and its elevated cost,
the project ultimately did not meet with the
Government’s approval. In both projects the
church was removed from the block.

The Bank later presented two more
projects to City Hall. One, in 1965, in which it
was suggested that one more floor be added
to the building; and another, in 1970, in which
it was proposed that the church be disman-
tled and the building stones to a new loca-
tion, allowing the construction, in its place,
of a building, similar to the others, in a homo-
genised group. In order to accomplish that,
the church’s building stones where num-
bered. But the new architectural perspective
(born from the illuminist values of the 18t
century), which valourised the downtown
ensemble, impaired this project. This percep-
tion was confirmed with the classification of
Lisbon’s downtown as an architectural ensem-
ble, and as such a publicinterest asset’.

Headquarters services expansion

Lack of space was always a problem
throughout the institution’s life. The Bank
tried to solve it by promoting the realiza-
tion of expansion works on its headquarters
and by transferring services to other, further
acquired, facilities.

In 1928 it purchased a building in Rua
do Crucifixo and, in 1942, acquired, from
the banking house Porto Covo & Companhia
liquidator commission, several buildings,

7 See Decree n2. 95/78 of September 121,
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Picture 3: Addes Bermudes project. Main front over Rua do Ouro, 1910.

© Historical Archive of Banco de Portugal.

scattered throughout the city. In 1967, it
bought a new building, in Praca do Principe
Real and, in 1984 bought the Edificio Portu-
gal, yet under construction, an office build-
ing which eventually became a major loca-
tion where the Bank’s departments were
relocated. This building was later augment-
ed with the construction of a new body, facing
Av. Almirante Reis.

In 1992 the Complexo do Carregado
construction, under architect Carlos Roxo’s
project, began, taking until 1995 until com-
pletion. The banknote production facto-
ry installations are located in this building
as well as the Issue and Treasury Depart-
ment. It is a geographically privileged loca-
tion in a central area of Portugal. It is well
served in terms of transportation infrastruc-
ture, with high security levels and functional-
ities, assuring a fast distribution of currency
through out the country.

A new headquarters outside, downtown
Lisbon

From the 1950s the Bank started to pon-
der the construction of a new headquarters,
which would be located outside Lisbon’s
downtown. Many places were considered,
such as Praca do Martim Moniz and Praga
do Cais do Sodré. Those considerations were
ultimately inconsequential.

In 1986, the Bank took the decision to
construct a new building destined for this
purpose. The chosen place was Praga de
Espanha. Three years later, a tender was
issued in order to gather architectural pro-
posals for it. The choice was the project sub-
mitted by Intergaup, under the direction of
architect Nuno Vieira da Fonseca. It was an

bulletin

Picture 4 : Pardal Monteiro’s project. Front over Rua do Comércio,
1938. © Historical Archive of Banco de Portugal.

impressive building that, in draft form, went
to an advanced state of implementation
(Matos & Paulo, 2013, p. 168). Although the
project did not come to realization, the idea
of a single building for the headquarters was
not abandoned.

Rehabilitation and restoration of the
headquarters

In 2004, to overcome urgently identified
necessities, namely, those concerning secu-
rity requirements, anti-seismic Europe-
an requisites, emergency exits, fire protec-
tion, structural reinforcement, and energy
use, the Bank decided to restore and reha-
bilitate the entire block. For the first time
a seismic resistance analysis as well as a
structural reinforcement study were under-
taken with reference to an entire Baixa
Pombalina block. Meanwhile, in 2006,
the Comissariado para a Reabilitagdo da
Baixa/Chiado (committee for the rehabili-
tation of the Baixa/Chiado area) proposed
the integration of the Bank’s headquarters
in an integrated financial centre. The Bank
expressed its availability, together with the
rehabilitation works, to integrate the future
Money Museum into the space of the for-
mer S. Julido’s Church. A few months lat-
er, in January 2007, the process of selecting
the architectural firm for the rehabilitation
and restoration of S. Julido’s Church (The
Head Office of Banco de Portugal: Reno-
vation and restoration, 2015, p. 3) began.

In September of the same year the proj-
ect was given to the architectural firm of
Gongalo Byrne, with architect Jodo Pedro
Falcdo de Campos as coarchitect. This proj-
ect allowed for the definition of a plan of
action to overcome the above mentioned
requirements, making the buildings com-
patible with European rules regarding seis-
mic resistance, safety and fire protection;
space distribution according to the Bank’s
new requirements as part of the Euro sys-
tem; optimization of the building’s ener-
gy solutions; and, finally, the installation of
the Money Museum.

The construction’s size and complexity
required occupants to temporarily vacate
the building. It was necessary to demolish
and reconstruct two adjacent church build-
ings, respectfully maintaining the exteri-
or facade, with the purpose of mooring the
rest of the structure. This complexity was
also due to the fact that the construction
took place in a historical area of the city
with surrounding space limitations. More-
over, the construction works had to deal
with cultural, archeological, and patrimo-
ny preservation and restoration issues. Its
worth mentioning the fruitful interchange
with public authorities responsible for the
preservation of that patrimony, which over-
saw and supported the works.

This project had the merit of keeping
S. Julido’s Church in its original space, dig-
nifying it in its utilization. All its areas were
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Picture 5 - Former S. Julido’s church, where the Money Museum is located, 2012.

@ Historical Archive of Banco de Portugal.

designed so as to accomodate the Money
Museum’s permanent exposition, with the
exception of the church’s nave, which was
to house temporary expositions, confer-
ences, concerts, and other events. This deci-
sion meets the City Hall’s project of revital-
izing Lisbon’s downtown, the historical city
centre, opening it to citizens, specifically
through the creation of cultural spaces and
rehabilitating the existent bank institutions.
The construction works made it possible to
save parts of the church’s main altar, burned
in the 1816 fire, and to find several artifacts
and archeological vestiges. Namely, sections
from D. Dinis Wall (Rocha, in press), the esta-
caria pombalina, a wooden structure creat-
ed after the earthquake in 1775 in order to
secure the alluvial grounds below the city
as well as spoils from medieval, Arab and
Roman times. Particular attention was given
to the building’s restoration. An was made
to capture light and gain space, while giving
back to the place harmony, uniformity and
continuity.

In 2012, the Bank occupied the remod-
eled building. The D. Dinis medieval wall
from the 13" century was described and
open to public visit in 2013. The Money
Museum should open in 2016.

Conclusion

Throughout its 170 years, Banco de Portugal
has dedicated special attention to its head-
quarters, particularly after the fire that, in
1863, devastated its premises in the Coun-
cil Hall building. After this catastrophe, the
Bank searched the surrounding area for a
proper location. In a first phase, it acquired
in 1868, two buildings that, after being
remodeled, were its first home. Later on, in
a progressive way, between 1887 and 1933,
it acquired all the block buildings. The
exterior unity of the facade was marked by
the internal individuality of the compos-
ing buildings and by the multiple adapta-
tion works.

The second phase began in 1910 and
continued to the end of the century. During
this phase the aim was to build a functional
building that dignified the institution. Pro-
jects were requested from architects such
as Adaes Bermudes and Pardal Monteiro for
the building’s downtown location, but the
plans were never implemented.

Together with the continuous invest-
ment in the downtown building, over the
years several other projects for a new head-
quartesr in other Lisbon areas were creat-
ed. Namely, the one of Praga de Espanha,
in which Nuno Vieira da Fonseca’s project

came to an advanced phase of develop-
ment but was never accomplished.

To answer urgent necessities of the
Bank, buildings were acquired in different
parts of town, particularly the Complexo
do Carregado and the Edificio Portugal, this
last one being an office building.

More recently, with the present head-
quarters’ rehabilitation and restoration
project, which was concluded in 2012, a
third phase started. This includes the main-
tenance of the institutional headquarters
downtown, including the development of a
big connection to the city, signaled by pub-
lic access to the D. Dinis Wall and to the Mon-
ey Museum. Both are actively devoted to the
rehabilitation and promotion of Baixa/Chia-
do [Picture 5]. ®
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Caixa Geral de Depositos
Sustainable architecture

Helena Real Gomes and Joaquim Pombo Gongalves

aixa Geral de Depositos (CGD) was

founded on 10 April 1876, and cel-

ebrates its 140th anniversary this
year. Initially it was established under the
jurisdiction of Junta do Crédito Publico
(JCP), aninstitution founded in 1837 to man-
age public funds, but soon developed man-
agement autonomy with its own Board,
legally approved on May 21st, 1896.

CGD was founded during difficult times
due to the existing policies concerning the
promotion of public works, and both domes-
tic and foreign loans geared toward govern-
mental initiatives.

Although CGD was founded to serve the
State and deal with the public debt, over the
years it became an institution clearly linked
to financial services and developed its own
vocation - that of being a credit institution.
In those days there were plenty of institu-
tions with difficult banking conditions in
Europe, namely savings banks, and there
were countries that enjoyed strong industri-
al economies. In this environment Portugal
promoted the concept of avoiding expendi-
ture and of promoting small savings. Caixa
Econdmica Portuguesa (CEP) was estab-
lished in 1880 as an autonomous institu-
tion whose purpose was to receive small
amounts as voluntary deposits.

Decree-Law number 4670, from 14 July
1918, established a new Organic Law and
redrafted the tasks of CGD, increasing and
improving its scope and including the grant-
ing of powers to the Board of Directors to
establish offices, branches, delegations or
agencies with CGD employees.

The 1929 great economic crisis also
affected the Portuguese economy as a
whole. The government encouraged reform
measures that included CGD as well. CGD
went through major changes in its governing
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CGD head-office building, general view. © CGD-GPH.

bodies and operations. Its role as a credit
institution was therefore consolidated. With-
in the scope of State reform, CGD played a
centralising role for a wide number of dis-
persed institutions and resources. Two oth-
er institutions were created under its man-
agement: Caixa Nacional de Crédito (CNC) to
grant agricultural and industrial credit, and
Caixa Nacional de Previdéncia (CNP) for civ-
il servants’ retirement. The latter encompas-
sed Caixa Geral de Aposentacdes (CGA) and
Montepio dos Servidores do Estado. The Cai-
xa was Caixa Geral de Depésitos, Crédito e
Previdéncia (CGDCP) until 1969.

Caixa was aiming at becoming a finan-
cial organisation according to corporate
management rules. The 1969 new Organic
Law (Decree number 48953 from 5 April) con-
firmed it as ¢...) a collective body of public
law, endowed with administrative and finan-
cial autonomy, and its own patrimony’ Thus

CNC no longer was an annex institution and
was encompassed in CGDCP which assumed
its tasks, rights and obligations.

Caixa’s banking services included countries
with major Portuguese populations such as
Brazil with the Rio de Janeiro agency as well
as the Paris branch, requiring new adequate
regulations for the operation of new Caixa
agencies abroad (Decree number 265/75
from 28 May).

The institution’s growing activity
required an urgent relocation to new head-
quarters. The head office buildings were no
longer sufficient to accommodate the grow-
ing number of departments and employees.
It was important to gather every service and
department into one single building and to
join the departments according to their type
of activity.

The Caixa built, maintained and expand-
ed its premises so as to accommodate its
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CGD head-office building - central hall. © CGD-DCM.

departments for a long time. A whole block
in the old part of town - from Rua do Ouro
to Rua da Conceicao, S. Julido and Nova do
Almada - was bought to accommodate the
deposits department and the CNP.

In order to keep the head offices at Cal-
hariz, the adjacent Palacio Palmela (Palme-
la Palace) was acquired and adapted to the
existing Palacio Sobral (Sobral Palace), turn-
ing the two into a single building.

Its branch network also increased in
the mainland and the islands (Madeira and
Azores). In the 1980’s CGD had 223 agencies.
As far as building design was concerned, CGD
invited renowned Portuguese and foreign
architects who had received various awards
throughout their careers (just to name a few):

« Anténio Reis Camelo - Prémio Valmor (Val-
mor Prize), Prémio Municipal de Arquitectu-
ra (Municipal Award for Architecture) - 1931,
1942, 1945;

« Carlos Oliveira Ramos - Prémio Valmor
(Valmor Prize) - 1958;

Tapestries by Julio Pomar detail. © CGD-DCM.

» Jorge de Almeida Segurado - Prémio Val-
mor (Valmor Prize) - 1958;

« Jorge Ferreira Chaves - Prémio José Luis
Monteiro (José Luis Monteiro Prize) - 1946;

« Luis Cristino da Silva - Medalha de Honra da
Sociedade Nacional de Belas Artes (Medal of
Honour from the National Fine Arts Society) -
1943, Prémio Valmor (Valmor Prize), Prémio
Municipal de Arquitetura (Municipal Award
for Architecture) - 1944, Prémio Nacional de
Arte do Secretariado Nacional de Informagéo
(National Prize of the National Information
Secretariat of Art) -1961;

« Porfirio Pardal Monteiro - Prémio Valmor
(Valmor Prize) - 1923, 1928, 1929, 1930, 1938
e 1940, Mengdo Honrosa (Honourable Men-
tion) - 1930, Prémio Municipal de Arquitectu-
ra (Municipal Award for Architecture) - 1947,

« Raul Lino da Silva - Prémio Valmor, Pré-
mio Municipal de Arquitectura (Municipal
Award for Architecture) - 1930, Prémio José
de Figueiredo (José de Figueiredo Prize)
-1948;

« Tertuliano Lacerda Marques - Prémio Val-
mor (Valmor Prize) - 1921.

Its sustainable growth needed a venue to
which central services could be transferred
from the various dispersed buildings and
joined together in a single one. This ambi-
tious project aimed at substantiating Lis-
bon’s image and urban value through devel-
oping a paramount architectural landmark.

CGD’s current head office building
is located in an area that was on the out-
skirts of Lisbon until the end of the 20t
century. This area had some rural estates
and its development changed the area’s
urban design. Between 1908 and 1981
this plot was the site of the Companhia
das Fabricas de Ceramica Lusitania fac-
tory (founded by Sylvain Bessiére). It was
one of the city’s development hubs due to
the existence of the necessary raw mate-
rial (clay) which supplied the factory. Var-
ious municipal urban construction works,
such as the construction of Avenida Jodo
XXI, led to the company’s estate expropri-
ation in 1964 and subsequent production
came to a closure in 1971.
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On 7 July 1981, the Board of Direc-
tors of CGD, presided over by Alberto Alves
de Oliveira Pinto, asked the minister of
Finance for the permission to acquire the
estate of said factory. The government
accepted the request on 13 August (Res-
olution number 185), and the acquisition
took place on the 26 August.

The public tender process included the
following pre-requisites: representativeness
(an architectural landmark reflecting both
tradition and future); habitability (environ-
mental conditions); flexibility (readjusting to
its evolution); security (for users and exter-
nal agents); and management (minimising
costs); The criteria highlighted the institu-
tion’s clear effort to adjust its structure to its
growing activity, as well as to the growing
number of human resources, both in terms
of quantity and quality.

The blueprint for the new venue was
handed to the Municipality in 1985. It was
approved and licensed in 1986 and soon the
preliminary architecture and specification
projects were developed. A preliminary pub-
lic tender was also carried out for the earth-
works, foundations, structures, water prob-
ing and collection works that started in 1987.
While the works were still ongoing, central
services were relocated to other new build-
ings because the living space had become
scarce in the former ones - e.g. the head-
office at Calhariz and Rua do Ouro. In July
1982 the new Centro Clinico de Lisboa (Med-
ical Center of CGD) began operating from a
modern 5-storey building at Rua da Emenda.
The architect Arsénio Luis Raposo Cordeiro
designed the building and its foundation
stone was laid on 15 July 1987, along with a
sarcophagus containing a parchment docu-
ment recording the beginning of the works
and some coins minted that same year.

This brand new complex would include
the central services and many others, name-
ly the scientific and cultural departments,
most of which were related to patronage or
similar programmes. In 1988 CGD joined Lis-
bon’s municipality in funding the reconstruc-
tion of Chiado after the great fire, awarding
various accolades, and supporting confer-
ences or books for libraries. As far as social
responsibilities were concerned the new
Caixa building encompassed a wide range
of revolutionary elements that would allow
better support to the various cultural pro-
grammes and events.
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The Direction relocated to the building
on Avenida Jodo XXl on 14 March 1994.

As far as its structure is concerned the build-
ingisdivided into three main blocks: Eastern,
Central and Western. It has several depart-
ments: Direction and Central departments,
social and cultural activities (library, leisure,
sports and commercial, restaurants, gar-
dens), Medical Centre, Central Agency, com-
panies from the CGD group, and Culturgest.
As far as the types of finishing used in the
facades are concerned we can find: Out-
doors - limestone, pre-moulded white con-
crete, glazed roof tiles, rooftop gardens, alu-
minium and glass window frames; Indoors
- limestone and moleanos, metal-board ceil-
ings, synthetic materials, removable elevat-
ed carpet pavements, agglomerated and
thermo-laminated walls, staircases/toilets/
halls with stone and ceramic mosaic.

The interior design of the building’s
public areas display several art works: tapes-
tries by Julio Pomar and Julio Resende; tile
panels by Graga Morais and Sa Nogueira; an
arched roof with glazed mosaics by Eduardo
Nery; sculptures by Lagoa Henriques, Asca-
nio Monteiro, Clara Menéres and Fernando
Conduto; and paintings by Anténio Charrua.

Here are some figures concerning the
building’s infrastructure:

« Areas: 38,000m? plot, 22,850m? implanta-
tion, 15,150m” gardens, 205,200m? con-
struction, 173,600m? living area, 15 storeys
(from -6 to +9), 4,500 residents, 1,000 park-
ing spaces, 245 toilets and showers;

Water: 12,000m?* water monthly consump-
tion, 62km of water pipes;

Fire: 103 fire zones, 6,500 sprinklers, 5,000
fire detectors, 471 fire doors;

Motorised document transportation:
4,5km trail, 205 containers, 67 stations,
1,500 daily shipments;

Security: 66 turn-styles, 420 CCTV cameras;

Electricity: 3GWh electricity monthly con-
sumption, 3 transformer stations with
16MVA of global power, 6 power stations
with a global power of 5,5MVA, 13 UPS
with a global power of 3.9MVA, 2,250km of
wiring, 62km of wiring paths, 400 switch-
boards, 52,000 electricity devices;

« Air conditioning: 1,200.000m? of treated
air, 50 units of treated air, 10 chillers, 8 heat
pumps, 110km of air pipes, 60km of water
pipes, 203 switchboards, 16km of linear dif-
fusers, 16,000 measurement points;

» Elevators: 58 lifts, 6 escalators, 11 swing
stages;

« Centralised vacuum equipment: 3,7km of
pipelines, 320 vacuum sockets;

« Communications: 5,000 phones, 5,100 per-
sonal computers;

« Sound diffusion: 6,500 loudspeakers, 503
amplifiers;

« Solar thermal power plants: 1,600m? of
solar collectors, 158 collectors, 1GWh
annual production;

» Centralised technical management: 25,000
information points;

« Water reserves: Supplies-350m?,
Fire-450m?>, Air conditioning-220m?,
Kitchens-75m>.

It is also important to point out the
establishment of Culturgest - Gestdo de
Espacos Culturais (Management of Cultur-
al Spaces) - in 1993. The goal of this socie-
ty was to manage cultural venues, and pro-
mote and develop cultural, artistic, and
scientific events at the head office building.
At the beginning of July 1993 the opening
of the new central agency/head office took
place at the new building and all central
departments were relocated by the end of
the first quarter of 1994. The cultural venues
managed by Culturgest opened in October,
including two halls (one with 605 seats and
another with 180 seats), exhibition galler-
ies, a documentation centre, a media library,
and a European information centre.

The media library opened in February
1994, offering a multimedia computerised
library, a wide range of information services,
including access to a European Information
Centre implemented in cooperation with the
European Commission.

By the end of October 1994 every depart-
ment was fully operational at the new build-
ing followed by the remaining Caixa Group
companies by the end of the year. Over the
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Culturgest Auditorium — Rodrigo Peixoto photo.

years CGD has been involved in a vast array
of patronage programmes, encompassing
different fields of intellectual and artistic cre-
ation and production, both supporting edu-
cation, scientific research, social solidarity
and sports projects from various institutions
and through Culturgest.

Culturgest promotes several music,
dance, theatre and essay theme schemes,
and initiated the 20" century opera pro-
gramme as well. As far as exhibitions are
concerned Culturgest also continues to
introduce new creations and artists whose
contributions to the emergence of 21 centu-
ry art movements are significant.

In its capacity as role model, CGD fos-
ters sustainable development criteria based
upon the company’s values and culture, thus
resulting in a profitable financial company
that is both socially fair and generates sus-
tainability initiatives.

‘Our commitment towards the Commu-
nity is based on the unshakable struggle for
upholding ethics and respecting the laws that
regulate our activity, abiding by good conduct
and practices codes, respecting our co-work-
ers, (...) with ongoing and committed support
to social and cultural activities (...)™.

Given this strategic priority, the goal of
CGDisto be numberonein sustainablefinan-
cial activity (abiding by international prac-
tices concerning economic, social and envi-
ronmental activities), fostering responsible

1 CGD Sustainability Report 2009.
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behaviour and providing positive financial
products for economic activities (namely in
the field of renewable energies).

This guideline can be found in the Plano
Estratégico do Grupo CGD (CGD Group Stra-
tegic Plan), 2011-2013, in which the focus
of the institution is the ...) banking indus-
try operations ensuring both sustainability
and competitiveness (...) substantiating the
CGD sustainability strategy, allocating a wide
range of voluntary commitments {(...) organ-
ised according to axes defined by its Sustain-
ability Policy: Responsible Banking, Future
Promotion, Environment Protection, Human
Asset Management, and Involvement with the
Community.”.

Within the scope of its Programa Cor-
porativo de Sustentabilidade (Sustainabili-
ty Corporate Programme) we would like to
stress the implementation of: Principios do
Global Compact das Nagdes Unidas (Princi-
ples from the UN Global Compact); Sistema
de Gestdo Ambiental (Environmental Man-
agement System), ISO 14001:2012; Cédigo de
Conduta (Conduct Code); Declaragdo sobre
Politicas de Sang¢ées (Declaration on Sanc-
tions Policies); Gestdo de Risco (Risk Manage-
ment); international norms against corrup-
tion and money laundry.

As a response to climate change Pro-
grama Carbono Zero (Zero Carbon Pro-
gramme) operates in various fields: quan-
tifying greenhouse gas emissions; reducing

2 CGD Sustainability Report 2013.

energy consumption; emissions balancing
(sustainable development projects); low
carbon financial solutions; raising aware-
ness (adoption of better practices).

We would like to point out various envi-
ronmental programmes: Programa Caixa
Carbono Zero 2010; Floresta Caixa (pres-
ervation of the native forest); Programa
Ambiental das Nag¢bes Unidas para o Sec-
tor Ambiental - UNEP FI, by Banca&Ambi-
ente - Financiar o Ambiente em Portugal
2009-2011; Carbon Disclosure Project Ibéria
125 (information on greenhouse gases and
strategies to tackle climate change); Calcu-
ladora de Carbono da CGD (individual car-
bon footprint); Programa Nova Geragdo de
Cientistas Polares (promotion of polar sci-
ence in Portugal).

Within the scope of the energy efficien-
cy programme, between 2006 and 2014 CGD
achieved a 28% electricity consumption
decrease through the installation of photo-
voltaic microgeneration units in 10% of its
branches (1,450 panels with an annual pro-
duction of 430,000kWh). CGD was the first
bank to produce ‘clean energy’ in Portugal,
thus preventing an annual emission of 200
tons of CO2.

Its Thermal Solar Power Plant locat-
ed at the head office - the largest ever
installed in an office building in Portugal -
is the most visible measure taken to tack-
le the reduction of CO2 emissions and to
provide a source of renewable energy, thus
minimising national energy dependence. It
occupies an area of 1,600m? with 158 col-
lectors and produces 1,000MWh every year,
allowing 70% energy savings of the build-
ing’s water heating apparatus. It represents
an annual reduction of 500 tons of CO2, as
well as power savings equivalent to the con-
sumption of 2,000 people, and the preser-
vation of oxygen equivalent to the amount
released by 170,000 trees.

The installation of this power plant
was decisive in receiving the Prémio EDP -
Energia Eléctrica e Ambiente 2008 award - a
competition whose goal is to reward com-
panies that use a distribution power net-
work and that optimise energy efficiency
while respecting the environment.

Following its centennial tradition - and
apart from its financial role as banking enti-
ty - CGD plays a major role in promoting cul-
tural events and sustainability projects, well
depicted by the head office building itself.
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ROMANIA

The headquarters of the National Bank of Romania.
History and architecture

Brindusa Costache and Nadia Manea

or the past 125 years, the headquar-

ters of the National Bank of Roma-

nia have been located at the same
address in Bucharest: number 25 Lipscani
Street. Today, the Bank operates in three
monumental buildings: the Old Palace, at
number 25 Lipscani Street, the New Pal-
ace, at number 8 Doamnei Street, and the
Chrissoveloni Palace, at number 16 Lipscani
Street. The first two buildings stand back-to-
back, as part of the same architectural com-
plex. The two streets are part of the oldest
commercial area in Bucharest, lying on the
left bank of the Dambovitza river, near the
Princely Court of the 15th to 18th century.

The presence of the Prince and His
Court attracted merchants, the develop-
ment of trade and the building of many
inns which offered shelter for people, com-
modities, and animals used for transporta-
tion. Lipscani - the name of the main street
- is actually derived from the word lipscan
which means a merchant trading in com-
modities brought from Lipsca, the name
then used by the inhabitants of Bucharest
for the town of Leipzig.

The National Bank of Romania was
established in 1880 as a ‘discount and circu-
lation bank’ and was the result of the mod-
ernisation of the Romanian society in the late
19th century, and the consequence of the
national independence achieved after the
War of 1877 - 1878. In the first few months,
the headquarters of the Bank were located
in the University building, where the Senate
had rented several rooms. But this was an
improper location, and in July 1880, the Gen-
eral Council of the National Bank decided to
temporarily relocate the headquarters in the
building of the Rural Credit Bank, at num-
ber 21 Coltei Street’, which had a vault and
enough space to fit the equipment required
to print banknotes. The National Bank of

Romania continued to operate in the build-
ing for ten years (between 1880 and 1890).
Meanwhile, the officials of the Bank decid-
ed to erect a new, modern, and monumental
building to be used as headquarters for the
benefit of contemporaries and future gener-
ations alike.

The actions of the National Bank were
in line with the urban planning ideas imple-
mented by the Bucharest City Hall in the last
decades of the 19th century. The old com-
mercial area experienced a ‘burst’ of new
constructions, including a new street pat-
tern and higher buildings, both public (the
University) and private (hotels), with mod-
ern design and functionality. All experts are
of the opinion that ‘the Romanian culture’s
Westernised approach, particularly French,
allowed the penetration and spreading of
Western architectural styles’. The process
was supported first of all by ‘the presence
in Romania of numerous foreign architects,
who were entrusted with the design of most
of the new representative public buildings’,
as well as by the work of the first Romanian
architects educated in France, Italy and Ger-
many.? As a result, even the most famous old
inns®, fell under picks and shovels, clay roads
or roads paved with oak beams ... were
replaced by cobbled streets covered with
gravel and asphalt.*

Another inn, the Prince Serban Inn, the
biggest and most famous of old Bucharest
became the National Bank of Romania Pal-
ace. Owned by the Government of Romania
since 1863, the inn® was sold to the Nation-
al Bank for 800,000 lei in October 1881°.
The sale was approved by the Parliament
of Romania in February 1882, as announced
by Governor lon I. Campineanu to the NBR
General Council of 26 February 1882. On
the same occasion, the Council resolved
that ‘the Governor and the Chairman of the

One of the oldest pictures of the headquarters of
the NBR. © Collection of NBRArchive.

Council of Financial Controllers (Menelas
Ghermani - our note) should visit as soon as
possible some of the most important foreign
banks, and, after seeing the progress made

. should commission an accomplished
architect from abroad to take care of the
entire project.””

Documents make no clear reference to
the actual visit of the two NBR represent-
atives, or the country they visited. Never-
theless, there are clear indications that the
visit actually took place and the city of des-
tination was Paris. Both lon Campineanu
and Menelas Ghermani were ‘absent’ from
the meetings of the NBR Council almost the
entire month of May 1882, as indicated in
the minutes of the meeting®. Governor lon
Campineanu returned on 24 March 1882°,
and Menelas Ghermani on 31 March 1882.
On this later date, the meeting of the NBR
General Council took place, ‘acknowledging
the report of the Governor and the Chairman
of the Council of the Financial Controllers,
advising the General Council of the manner
in which their mandate was accomplished’
and ‘after hearing the verbal explanations
given by the two, the Council approves the
agreement concluded with Mr Cassien Ber-
nard and Mr Albert Galeron for a draft design
project for the headquarters of the Bank and
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Task book regarding the erecting of Lipscani
Palace: first and the last pages. © NBRArchive.

would like to congratulate the delegates for
the manner in which they accomplished the
mandate they had so willingly undertaken’*

The two French architects, Cassien Ber-
nard (1848 - 1926) and Albert Galeron (1847
- 1930) enjoyed a good reputation in Paris.
Both had graduated from Ecole de Beaux-
Arts. While the former inspected the con-
struction works for the Opera in Paris, the
latter was already well-known in Bucharest,
where he had taken on several jobs."" In a
very short period of time, the two architects
completed several different versions of the
same draft design project. After reviewing
the proposals, the General Council decided
that the new headquarters should have their
main entrance facing Lipscani. The General
Council also ‘authorised the Governor to ask
the architects for the final project and the
cost estimate’.*?

In 1883, the Prince Serban Inn was
being demolished while the design project
of the new Palace was being completed and
revealed at the National Exhibition of Fine
Arts in Paris. Work on the Palace started on
12/24 July 1884 and lasted as long as 1890,
although the initial timeline had been set at
about two or three years. The delay was due
to the Serbian - Bulgarian war (November -
December 1885), which prevented the sup-
ply of the Rusciuc stone, but also to difficult
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tender processes and negotiations for the
purchasing of materials and equipment, plus
unfavourable weather conditions, particu-
larly during the winter of 1888/1889, which
resulted in the construction works being
put at a stop for several months. The com-
pany in charge of the construction was The
Romanian Company of Public Construc-
tions and Works, while Nicolae Cerchez, an
engineer and architect, was appointed as
lead project manager, with architect Con-
stantin Bdicoianu acting as his deputy. Also
part of team were lohan Seewald, drafts-
man; Albert Seraia, supervisor of concret-
ing works, and Nicolas Pascal, supervisor of
construction works.t

The materials and equipment originat-
ed from Romania (wrought iron, gas lights)
and abroad (cement and iron beams from
France, copper sheets from Germany, Rus-
ciuc stone from Bulgaria, Carrara marble
from Italy, heating equipment from Vien-
na). In the opinion of experts, ‘the structur-
al frame and the materials used were in line
with the most modern construction meth-
ods of the late 19th century’*“.

In February 1889, ‘the construction of
the palace was complete, except for parts
of the interior decorations. The printing
works were already operational’ The year
1889 is displayed on the frontispiece of the

Lipscani Palace during the interwar period.
Picture by N. lonescu ©Library Romanian
Academy, FIl 1594 87.

palace in Latin (MDCCCLXXXIX). Relocation
to the new palace was completed on 1 June
1890.%

The design developed by the French
architects and brought to life by the Roma-
nian architects and engineers focused on
the idea of dedicated areas for the spe-
cific operations of the bank. Thus, the
interior of the Lipscani Palace comprised:
a ground floor area opened to the pub-
lic, where the Discount Office and the cash
desks were located, now hosting the NBR
Museum; the first floor area dedicated to
senior officials, hosting the Board room and
the Governor’s office, both carefully dec-
orated and furnished, as well as the Gov-
ernor’s suite; the offices of the employees
working the bank’s seven departments; the
basement vault designed for public access
and the safekeeping of valuables, the print-
ing works areas, including other amenities.
The design was meant to allow access to
bank employees and the public while also
observing the safety measures aimed at
protecting the bank’s valuables, taking into
consideration the street pattern and the
surroundings of the building.*

The exterior of the palace is built in
eclectic French style, with four Corinthian
columns, four allegorical characters (Jus-
tice, Agriculture, Commerce and Industry)*’
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Inside of Lipscani Palace. © Collection of
NBRArchive.

and two other characters (a man and a
female) on the sides of a dormer housing a
clock on the main facade.*®

Eugeniu Carada, one of the senior offi-
cials of the National Bank, was appointed
to closely supervise on behalf of the NBR
the design and construction of the Palace in
all the six years to completion.'® The build-
ing was subject to several major changes in
design. In 1915, the large first floor gallery
surrounding the Lobby housing the cash
desks was restructured into two large offic-
es. Wood structures were also fitted to sep-
arate the new office area from the cash desk
area. After the German occupation of 1916-
1918, work was resumed, as the NBR need-
ed to comply with the new economic and
political realities of Greater Romania.

In 1924, the statue dedicated to the
Eugeniu Carada’ memory was built on the
west corner of the palace. The Lipscani Pal-
ace underwent the most significant trans-
formations between the years 1929 and
1930. Thus, the Governor’s suite was trans-
formed into offices, and a second floor was
added to the three secondary sides of the
building, to come to the same level as the
facade. All these transformations required
complex engineering work. As a result, the
Old Palace became more compact and more
impressively massive. After the 45 years
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The construction site of National Bank of Romania’s New Palace. © NBR’ Archive.

of communist regime, when only repair
works were conducted, the Lipscani Palace,
already one hundred years old, was in great
need of significant restoration and refurbish-
ment. The decision of the Board of Directors
was made in 2001, and works were carried
out between 2005 and 2010.°

One of the most beautiful buildings in
Bucharest, as seen by lon Mincu, a signifi-
cant representative of Romanian architec-
ture, the Old NBR Palace was the first in a
series of monumental buildings to stand for
the new and modern Romanian institutions.
So itis not by chance that the banking city of
Bucharest began its life in the surroundings
of the Palace at the start of the 20th centu-
ry.* Restored and consolidated according to
the principles of built heritage, the Lipscani
Palace is a category A building, i.e. a histori-
cal landmark of exceptional importance.

In the years between the two world
wars, the diversification of the duties of the
National Bank of Romania in the area of for-
eign exchange and precious metal super-
vision required the establishment of new
departments, the employment of addition-
al personnel, and the expansion of office are-
as. Consequently, in 1923, the Bank acquired
two buildings in the immediate vicinity of
the old headquarters, namely the building
formerly hosting the Modern theatre and the

so-called Zaharia building. Then, in 1933, the
NBR also acquired the former Chrissovelo-
ni Bank Palace, following the credit institu-
tion’s bankruptcy?.

Inthe middle of the second interwar dec-
ade, the NBR was operating three different
buildings, which, even though located close
enough to one another, were not adequate-
ly serving the purposes of the bank. Wishing
to put an end to all the shortcomings of the
three separate buildings, the officials of the
bank were planning to erect a new building
that should achieve all the intended func-
tional purposes of the old building. The two
buildings, old and new, were to be surround-
ed by public areas (streets, squares, etc.),
providing for enhanced security. To this end,
some legal obstacles regarding ownership
of the surrounding buildings had to be over-
come. In 1938, the members of the Bucha-
rest City Council recognised the necessity of
expanding the headquarters of the NBR, and
included in the city’s urban plan the project
for widening or changing the pattern of the
streets in the immediate vicinity of the bank,
as well as the project for the demolition of
some buildings in the area. At the same time,
the relevant buildings were declared public
buildings and expropriated®. By March 1939,
the National Bank of Romania had paid the
purchase price set in the expropriation act,
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The New Palace of National
Bank of Romania, today.

as well as the damages claimed by former
tenants.

Meanwhile, the designs for the New
NBR Palace were being drafted by the for-
mer chief architect of the bank, Radu Dudes-
cu, with the help of architect lon Al. Davides-
cu, a professor of the Polytechnic School of
Bucharest, and architects N. Cretoiu, Gh.
Nichitovici and G. Vidrascu, all employees of
the bank?®. In designing the project, architect
Radu Dudescu considered other buildings of
similar size and importance constructed in
Europe at the same time. While on a research
trip, the NBR’s chief architect visited the Pal-
ace of the League of Nations in Geneva, the
construction site for the expansion of the
headquarters of the Banque de France in
Paris, as well as the future headquarters of
the Reichsbank in Berlin, and the Nation-
al Bank of Bulgaria in Sofia. The architect
Radu Dudescu was interested in everything
that was new in the field of constructions at
the time, and some of the novelties were to
be included in the design of the New Palace,
such as flexible office areas, air conditioning,
enclosed wiring, etc.

The final version of the design pro-
ject for the New NBR Palace was discussed
and approved in the Board meeting held in
the autumn of 1940. The project included 2
basements housing the NBR vault, a bomb
shelter able to protect around 1,800 persons,
the archive storage, the boiler and water
supply room, the fuel tanks, the garage, etc.
The mezzanine would house a canteen and
locker room for the bank employees, located

near the entrance on one side of the build-
ing. The ground floor would be open for the
public and had rich decorations. The two
rows of cash desks stood on the sides of
the main lobby and reminded of the shape
and size of the Old Palace. Floors one to
four would be used as offices; the offices
were more austere, but nevertheless fitted
with the latest technological equipment.
The reception area and the offices of sen-
ior officials were on the fifth floor. The origi-
nal design had 6 floors, but the last floor was
eliminated in the subsequent versions. The
last two floors were smaller in size than the
others and left room for a terrace which gives
this 1930’s style building a touch of elegance.
The ground floor and the first floor connect-
ed the old and new palaces®.

The facades of the building were in line
with the architectural style of the bank’s
Old Palace and the central area of the city
of Bucharest. The exterior decorations were
classic, reiterated the motive of the Corinthi-
an columns, and had the same height and
stone finishing®.

The New NBR Palace was built by the
SAR National Construction Company (SONA-
CO) managed by engineer Liviu Ciulley, one
of the most famous construction companies
in Bucharest at the time. Construction works
started on 2 May 1940, the date when SONA-
CO took over the land where the New Palace
would stand®’.

According to the initial schedule, the
structure of the building was supposed to
be ready by the end of 1941 or the beginning

Apud Nicolae St. Noica, Liviu
Ciulley - un reper, cuvant
inainte de M. Isdrescu,
Bucuresti, Editura Vremea,
2011,p. 7.

of 1942. The difficulties encountered in pur-
chasing materials and the impossibility to
find workers due to the start of the war pre-
vented the timely completion of the pro-
ject. The two basements had been finished
by the end of 1940, but work slowed down
in the years to come. Three years later, the
building also had a mezzanine, part of the
ground floor, and one third of the under-
ground garage.? In February 1943, the finan-
cial burden of the war forced the Bucharest
officials to limit construction works. In their
effort to obtain approval to continue con-
struction and obtain the necessary mate-
rials, the bank’s officials cited the impor-
tance of the institution whose building was
being erected, as well as the fact that the
two basements of the New Palace were the
safest bomb shelters in Bucharest® as well
as the safest earthquake shelters, since the
New Palace was the first building in Romania
whose structure was earthquake resistant.®
The military events to later unfold proved
the truthfulness of the above statements. In
April 1944, when Romania was an ally of Ger-
many and Bucharest was bombed by Allied
aircraft, only the first floor and the ground
floor of the new NBR headquarters were
damaged®. Several months later, after the
arrest of Marshal lon Antonescu, the leader
of the Romanian State until 23 August 1944,
and after the newly-appointed Government
decided that Romania should join the coa-
lition of the United Nations, Bucharest was
the target of German air strikes. Seeing the
danger, the new Government found refuge in
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the shelter of the New Palace of the National
Bank of Romania, where it continued to oper-
ate with only short interruptions between 24
and 30 August 1944, The German missiles
destroyed the streets surrounding the Bank,
but the Bank’s building was undamaged.
Thus, the unfinished National Bank building
was already making history.

The years to come were also not easy on
construction works, due to political turmoil.
The construction site of the New Palace was
still open by the middle of the 1960’s. In line
with the changes undergone by the Roma-
nian society at the time, the Marmi Compa-
ny, which was initially appointed to line the
interior of the building with marble, was
named Sovromconstructia, Fabrica pent-
ru prelucrarea pietrei (Sovromconstruction,
Stone Processing Factory) in 1949. The com-
pany was a Soviet and Romanian joint ven-
ture, where the Soviets participated due to
the German property they received as war
reparations®,

The delivery of stone from Vratsa, Bul-
garia, showed the changes occurred in the
relationships between the two countries.
While in 1941, the first stone shipments to
Romania were settled by virtue of the clear-
ing agreement signed between Romania and
Bulgaria, five years later, in 1946, when the
lining of the facades was resumed, the stone
needed for the exterior finishing was deliv-
ered against 92,000 bottles for lemonade®.
We may say that the construction of the New
NBR Palace ended in 1955, when the ceil-
ings of the ground floor and first floor were

Image from inside of New Palace
of National Bank of Romania.
Apud Nicolae St. Noica, Liviu
Ciulley - un reper, cuvant inainte
de M. Isdrescu, Bucuresti, Editura
Vremea, 2011, p. 74.

decorated. But at that time the building no
longer belonged to the National Bank of
Romania. Starting with 1950, when most of
the interior finishing and the exterior lining
of the New Palace had been completed, sev-
eral bank departments began to relocate to
the New Building, but in January 1953, few
years after the National Bank became the
property of the Romanian Sate under the
subordination of the Ministry of Finance,
the latter moved its headquarters to the
New NBR Palace®, while the issuing institu-
tion was forced to limit its operations to the
boundaries of the Old Palace.

At the beginning of the 1990’s, the
building now known as the New NBR Pal-
ace became, as originally intended, the
headquarters of the central bank of Roma-
nia, along with the first palace of the issu-
ing institution. Today, the two buildings are
not only the image of the National Bank of
Romania, but also the image of the chang-
es which took place in the Romanian capital
starting with the end of the 19th century. ®
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The Central Bank of the Russian Federation
12 Neglinnaya Street, Moscow

he main building of the Central Bank

I of the Russian Federation is a viv-

id example of late 19th century civ-

il construction. The central building’s facade

overlooking Neglinnaya Street has become a
visiting card of the Russian banking system.

From 1728, the territory, on which the
building is located, belonged to Artemy Pet-
rovich Volynsky, a prominent nobleman dur-
ing the reign of Empress Anna loannovna.
His heirs eventually completed the construc-
tion of the estate ensemble. A park was laid
out on both sides of the Neglinnaya River
and ponds were set up on its left bank. Here,
a two-storey building of the Moscow office
of the State Bank was built under the promi-
nent architect Konstantin Bykovsky in 1890-
1894, following the transfer of land to the
Moscow office of the State Bank. The build-
ing has mainly retained its appearance to
this day.

The building’s main facade is decorat-
ed with exquisite ornamental stucco and
sculptural depictions of allegorical figures,
symbolising agriculture, industry and trade
performed. These were designed by sculp-
tor Alexander Opekushin, the creator of the
famous monument to Russian poet Alexan-
der Pushkin in Moscow.

The entrance to the building is located
inits central part and leads to a spacious hall
with a wide staircase.

The premises have mainly maintained
their original appearance. The plinths of the
hall are made of marble and the same mate-
rial was used in the column shafts in niches
and in galleries.

The central staircase leads to the first-
floor gallery. The building’s side parts on the
first floor previously housed visitors as well
as the offices of departments.

The front staircase is located adjacent
to the first-floor gallery. The enclosures of
its flights of stairs are decorated with bal-
ustrades. The original illuminating equip-
ment - wall lamps and cast-iron floor lamps
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Moscow Office of the State Bank. © Public Communication Division of the Bank of Russia.

mounted on pedestals near the central stair-
case - have been well preserved to this day.

The building’s second floor was desig-
nated for the bank’s main offices. A Board
Conference Room was located at one end
of the hall. Its high windows overlook Neg-
linnaya Street. The vaulted ceiling and the
walls at the hall’s end were made using the
Grisaille technique. At present, this space
accommodates a Conference Room of the
Bank of Russia Board of Directors.

The governor’s office was originally
located to the left of the Conference Room. It
was finished with stained oak and decorated
with carved furniture and a chimney.

The second floor’s vaulted main ‘nave’
accommodated spacious and light corridors
designated for the reception of clients. Bank
clerks sat behind wooden counters installed
between the hallway’s columns in order to
receive visitors. The side ‘naves’ accommo-
dated the offices of different departments.

In 1908-1910, the building was extend-
ed from the courtyard. Two structures were
added under the prominent architect Illarion
Ivanov-Shitz in order to accommodate oper-
ating halls surrounded by galleries and illu-
minated by large lantern like light fixtures,
specially installed in the ceilings.

After the 1917 October Revolution, the
building housed the Moscow office of the
RSFSR People’s Bank. In the early 1920s,
the RSFSR People’s Bank was abolished and
until the autumn of 1921 the building accom-
modated a cash desk of the Central Budget
and Settlement Department of the People’s
Commissariat for Finance.

After the RSFSR State Bank was estab-
lished in October 1921, the building housed
the Bank’s Board and its Moscow office. In
July 1923, the RSFSR State Bank was reor-
ganised into the USSR State Bank. Before the
USSR State Bank was abolished in 1991, the
building accommodated its Board.
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Front Staircase. Designed by K.M. Bykovsky.

In 1927-1929, two six-storey blocks
were erected from the building’s northern
and southern sides under the architect Ilvan
Zholtovsky. These blocks were to overlook
Neglinnaya Street. Connected with the main
building, the new blocks formed the front
courtyard.

The monumental blocks are a vivid
example of the architecture of the late 1920s.
Their exterior and interior design includes
elements of the Italian Renaissance: exqui-
site columns and pilasters with sumptuous
capitals, diverse vaulted ceiling systems and
thin facade linings. The original space and
the layout of the blocks have been preserved
to this day and the interiors of their main
staircases have not changed.

Since 1992, the compound of buildings
in Neglinnaya Street has accommodated the
divisions of the Bank of Russia head office. By
decision of the Bank of Russia Board of Direc-
tors, renovation and capital repairs were car-
ried outin the building of the former Moscow
office of the State Bank in 1999-2002. During
these works, architectural ornaments were
restored, the flooring, wooden coverings,
roofing and utility networks were replaced
and the building’s load-carrying structures
were reinforced. New offices and workrooms
were set up on the first floor and temporary
partitions were removed on the second floor.

Conference Room of the Bank of Russia Board
of Directors.
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Public Events Hall. Designed by I.A. Ivanov-Shitz.

Entrance Hall of the North Building. Designed by V. Zholtovsky.
© Public Communication Division of the Bank of Russia.

During the reconstruction of the main stair-
case, zinc balusters and enclosures of the
second-floor gallery in the form of gryphons
were replaced with copies made of copper
alloys.

After the repairs, the Bank of Russia had
1,800 square metres of additional useful flo-
orspace at its disposal.

The golden-ochre colour gamma used
in the interior design, marble floors, bronze
chandeliers and gryphons underline the
grandeur of the old architecture.

The compound of the Bank of Russia
buildings in Neglinnaya Street is an architec-
tural landmark of Moscow and the most rec-
ognisable site of Russia’s banking system. ®

bulletin | 2016

110



SERBIA

Edifice of the National Bank of Serbia

Sonja Jerkovi¢, Sasa Ili¢ and Vladimir Bulaji¢

enturies long Ottoman rule and sev-

eral decades of armed and diplo-

matic struggle for the national lib-
eration of Serbs in the Pashalik of Belgrade
finally came to an end in July 1878 following
the decision of the Congress of Berlin. Hav-
ing gained full sovereignty, independence of
the State and international recognition, Ser-
bia joined the ranks of European countries in
the modern era.

Parallel with the national liberation
struggle, efforts were made to organise the
state and establish its organs, while at the
same time modernizing Serbian society. Dur-
ing the process of remodeling its commer-
cial and financial sectors, it was only logical
that the subject of a national central bank-
ing institution should be put forward. The
first initiatives to establish the national bank
came as early as the 1840s, when Serbia was
still a principality, and grew louder and more
widespread from 1882 onwards, when it was
elevated to the rank of a kingdom. The objec-
tive was twofold: to resolve huge monetary
problems, given that dozens of different cur-
rencies were in circulation in Serbia at the
time; and to secure a safe and cheap source
of loans for businesses. Finally, on 6 January
1883,1 the National Assembly passed a Law
on the Privileged National Bank of the King-
dom of Serbia. Owing, primarily, to the initi-
ative of Belgrade tradesmen and their view
that founding a bank with domestic capital
would be an expression of patriotism, the
subscription of shares was financed exclu-
sively with the money of Serbian citizens.
The needed amount of the founding capi-
tal was raised by the end of February 1884,
and the first governor was appointed in ear-
ly March. The operating licence was obtained
by the end of that month. Once the location
was secured, offices were rented for a private

1 Alldatesin the paper prior to February 1919 are given accord-
ing to the Julian calendar, which was then in official use in Ser-
bia. In the 19" century, the Julian calendar was 12 days behind
the Gregorian, and 13 days in the 20" century.

loan facility in Belgrade and qualified staff
were recruited. The National Bank began to
operate on 2 July 1884.

The National Bank not only performed
important tasks in terms of corporate lend-
ing but was licensed to print money. Hence
the subject of constructing a designated
building arose quickly. Documents record
that a building was required which would
respond to its needs in every aspect, for
years to come. As soon as 1886, the Nation-
al Bank purchased a lot in the centre of Bel-
grade, at 12 Dubrovacka Street (today’s Kral-
ja Petra Street), only a few dozen metres
from the main commercial artery of the Ser-
bian capital, Knez Mihailova Street. The fol-
lowing year, 1887, as documented in a report
of the Board of Directors, a decision was
made to build an edifice according to the
design of Konstantin A. Jovanovic, an archi-
tect from Vienna.

The son of Anastas Jovanovi¢, a
renowned Serbian photographer and
superintendent of the Royal Court under

Edifice of the Privileged
National Bank of the Kingdom
of Serbia, around 1890,
signature: ANB 19 (Collection
of Photographs).

Prince Mihailo Obrenovi¢, Konstantin Jova-
novi¢ was born in 1849 in Vienna, where his
father lived after the change of dynasty in
Serbia. Having finished primary school and
high school (Realschule) in Vienna, he was
admitted to the Institute of Technology in
Ziirich. With his unswerving devotion to
the Renaissance, renowned German archi-
tect Gottfried Semper was pivotal to Jova-
novi¢’sforma tion as an artist. Hence, after
graduation in 1870, he spent some time in
Italy, studying Renaissance art first-hand.

Jovanovi¢’s  architectural engage-
ments spanned across three countries:
Austro-Hungary, Serbia and Bulgaria. Lit-
tle is known about his construction activi-
ties in the dual monarchy, while in Bulgaria
he designed projects for a number of build-
ings, of which the edifice of the Nation-
al Assembly in Sofia stands out particular-
ly. This building, together with the National
Bank edifice in Belgrade, represents the
crowning achievement of Jovanovic’s archi-
tectural expression.
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Edifice of the Privileged National Bank of the Kingdom of Serbs, Croats and Slovenes, 1925, signature: ANB 19 (Collection of Photograph:s).

In addition to his incontestable qualifi-
cations and enviable reputation, his choice
for the architect of the building that would
house Serbia’s central banking and issuing
institution was no doubt partly influenced
by his father’s friendship with the Bank’s
management and the then governor Filip
Hristié.

The construction of the National Bank’s
edifice began in the spring of 1888. The
appointed contractors, Jirdsek and Kraus
from Szeged, agreed to finish the construc-
tion by 1 September 1889. However, com-
plex works on the interior required more
time and the building was not completed
until January, with employees movingin on
15 March 1890. Aware of the edifice’s archi-
tectural value for Belgrade, the Bank’s man-
agement of the time recorded: The National
Bank now has a home which, with its stur-
dy materials and manner of construction,
its layout and its architectural beauty, and
all other qualities, fully corresponds to its
needs and reputation.

The site on which the edifice was erect-
ed was irregular in shape; therefore Jova-
novi¢ opted for a corner solution. The mon-
umental edifice comprises a basement,
a ground floor, two floors and a loft. The
facade is of artificial rock, which through the
use of different ornaments reveals a tripar-
tite horizontal division - from the elaborate
ground floor to less ornate upper floors. Win-
dow decorations are also tempered going
up, with gradual simplification of ornaments
and a calmer rhythm. Of particular inter-
est is the design of the corner facade, which
is interrupted by a formal entrance to the
building.

Aiming to leave the strongest possi-
ble artistic imprint on the building that
he designed and to testify to his personal
friendship with members of the Bank’s man-
agement, Jovanovi¢ also designed the inte-
rior and all its details, including doors and
windows, stucco decoration and furniture.

The central part of the building is com-
prised of the richly decorated official hall,

bordered by the colonnade, decorated by
mural paintings and a stained-glass ceiling.
The hall contains an imperial staircase with
gilt candelabra, dominated by a gilt female
bust symbolising Serbia. This bust - a detail
from the monument to Kosovar heroes in
Krusevac which represents the memory of
fallen heroes in the most momentous Serbi-
an medieval battle - the Battle of Kosovo of
1389. The bust was created by the renowned
Serbian sculptor Dorde Jovanovié.

Konstantin  Jovanovi¢’s remarkable
efforts did not go unnoticed. In the year
when the building was completed, Jovano-
vi¢ received an important state decoration -
the third-class Saint Sava Order.

After the First World War, the Nation-
al Bank continued with its mission in much
different circumstances. The scope of its
operations was broadened due to the ter-
ritorial enlargement of the country, follow-
ing the unification of Yugoslav countries and
lands into the new Kingdom of Serbs, Croats
and Slovenes. Renamed into the Privileged
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Official hall (modern view), signature ANB 24 (Digital Archives).

National Bank of the Kingdom of Serbs, Cro-
ats and Slovenes, the Bank took on new
tasks, such as the liquidation of branches of
the Austro-Hungarian Bank.

At the first meeting of the Gener-
al Board, held on 3 January 1921, the sub-
ject of the expansion of the Bank’s building
was raised. Vice-Governor Marko Stojano-
vi¢ remarked that office space was insuffi-
cient to accommodate the Bank’s clerks, and
the vaults were too small to hold all the cash
so that bundles of cash were heaped high
in treasury corridors. The Board decided to
launch the initiative to construct an annex
to the building. A request was then sent to
architect Konstantin Jovanovi¢ to prepare
plans for the construction of an annex that
would not impair the current appearance.

After negotiations with architect Jova-
novié, who lived in Zirich at the time (where
he died on 25 November 1923, before the
annex was constructed), and after he agreed
to prepare the plan, the Board for the Con-
struction of the Bank’s Building was estab-
lished at the Bank. The first meeting of the
Board was held on 23 December 1921. The
Board accepted Jovanovi¢’s proposal for the
extension of the building on the corner of the
streets Kralja Petra and Cara Lazara and the
construction of a square edifice flanked by
Trgovacka (present-day Ivan-begova) and
Gracanicka Streets. After preparations were
made, at the 14th meeting of the Board of
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Official hall, wall painting & decoration,

signature ANB 24 (Digital Archives).

Directors held on 11 April 1922, Vice-Gover-
nor Marko Stojanovi¢ proposed that a char-
ter illustrating all milestones in the Bank’s
history should be walled in on the occasion
of laying the cornerstone. The Board led all
activities relating to the construction - from
the selection of contractors to the procure-
ment of construction material and construc-
tion permits from the Municipality of the City
of Belgrade. As Konstantin Jovanovi¢ was
in an advanced age, the Belgrade architect
Aleksandar Jankovi¢ assumed the task of
overseeing the construction.

The construction of an annex lasted
for three years - from 1922 to 1925. Finally,
the edifice had the appearance of a square
building with an inner yard. Although the
building consists of two parts - older and
newer, the evidence that it was built in stag-
es shows only at the base of the ground floor,
i.e. at the two entries and two representa-
tive spaces - the official hall with an imperial
staircase and the subsequently constructed
monumental teller-halls. Although created
within almost four decades, the interior of
the building is stylistically harmonious and
consistent. Its beauty is particularly accentu-
ated by the examples of exceptional artistic
craftsmanship in wood, stone, wrought and
castiron.

The National Bank’s building is one of
the highest achievements of Serbian aca-
demic architecture and the best example of

Neo-Renaissance architecture. It is one of
the most monumental edifices in Belgrade,
not only for the epoch in which it was erect-
ed but nowadays as well.

Despite the tumultuous decades that
followed, crises, upheavals and wars, social
revolution, political and economic discon-
tinuities, the National Bank’s building has
remained one of the rare edifices whose
original appearance and purpose has been
well preserved.
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Buildings of central banks in
Slovakia in historical perspective

Frantisek Chudjak

[though Narodna banka Slovenska
is a relatively young central bank
(existing since 1 January 1993),

the history of central banking in present-day
Slovakia goes back to the early 19th centu-
ry. The first central bank that kept monetary
developments under control in our territory
was the Austrian National Bank established
in 1816. In 1878, the Bank was transformed
into the Austro-Hungarian Bank, which
established five branches in the territory
of Slovakia. The first branch was opened in
KoSice on 21 July 1879; the second in Brati-
slava on 25 August 1879. The first branches
of the Austro-Hungarian Bank had no prem-
ises of their own; they operated in leased
buildings. In 1879, the KoSice branch leased
a building from the local citizens Judlius and
Rudolf Mauer in the Main Street and the Bra-
tislava branch leased premises from the
Industrial Bank in Laurinska Street.
Subsequent to the approval of the
third banking privilege in 1899, the manage-
ment of the Austro-Hungarian Bank decid-
ed to expand the branch network. Thus, a
branch was also opened in Banska Bystrica
in 1990 and in Nitra in 1901. In 1900, the Aus-
tro-Hungarian Bank started to build office
buildings for its branches across the monar-
chy. The buildings of all branches in Slovakia
were designed by Jozef Hubert, an architect
from Bratislava living and working in Buda-
pest. His first project was the building of the
Nitra branch at 9 Stefanikova Street, erected
in 1900-1901. This was a two-storey build-
ing with a basement, built exclusively for the
needs of the branch and its personnel. The
building of the Bratislava branch in Starova
Street was built in 1901-02 and that of the
KoSice branch at 10 Roosewelt Street was
erected in 1902-03 by Jakab Arpad & Gejza.
The building of the Banska Bystrica branch
at 4 Stefan Moyzes Square was purchased in
1900. The Zilina branch in Legionarska Street
was opened in 1912, to provide banking ser-
vices to the residents of the economically
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Picture 1: Zilina branch in Legiondrska Street. © National Bank of Slovakia.

significant Povazie region. The building was
erected by Karl Lingel & Séhne very quick-
ly, between November 1911 and December
1912. It was imposing and hence belonged
to the dominant features of the town. The
branch comprised bank premises as well
as residential units, with vaults situated on
the first floor where money was transported
with a lift manufactured by the company of
Franz Wertheim in Budapest. The lift had a
loading capacity of 300 kg and was the first
goods lift installed in Zilina. (Picture 1)

After the birth of the Czechoslovak
Republicin 1918, the tasks of a bank of issue
were performed temporarily by the Banking
Office of the Ministry of Finance, which was
responsible for running the entire branch
network of the Austro-Hungarian Bank in
Czechoslovak territory. After having taken
over the individual buildings, the Banking
Office had them adjusted or reconstructed,
especially the vaults needed for the safe-
keeping of money and precious metals. In

the case of the Bratislava branch, a second
floor was added to the building in 1921-
22. The construction work was carried out
by the firm of Matej Blecha from Bratislava.
(Picture 2)

The Banking Office of the Ministry of
Finance ended its operations on 1 April 1926,
when a new legal entity was established: the
National Bank of Czechoslovakia [Narodna
banka Ceskoslovenska - NBCS] as a central
bank for the whole republic. NBCS took over
the entire branch network of the Banking
Office and expanded it still further. In addi-
tion to its head office in Prague, NBCS had
34 branches and 136 local offices in 1937, of
which 6 branches (Bratislava, KoSice, Ban-
ska Bystrica, Zilina, Nitra and, from 1993,
Ruzomberok) and 22 local offices were in
Slovakia.

Shortly after its establishment, the
National Bank of Czechoslovakia launched a
large scale reconstruction programme with-
in its branch network and started to build
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new buildings where the need arose. In the
history of banking, the first decade of the
20th century and the interwar period can be
described as ‘the golden age of bank build-
ing in Slovakia’. The central bank had several
significant buildings erected in that period.
Some of them still serve their original pur-
pose and are on the list of national cultural
monuments for their architectural and his-
toric value.

In 1932-33, NBCS had a building erect-
ed for its Ruzomberok branch at 2 Doncova
Street. It was a three-storey building com-
prising banking premises and apartments for
the staff. The building was designed by archi-
tect Vladimir Fischer of Prague and built by
Jozef Pesko, a builder from Ruzomberok. It
was built in modern style based on classical
architecture, with its ground-storey facade
covered with stone tiles. The facade is divid-
ed by large windows and strips of figurative
bronze reliefs. The building is an example of
early functionalism combined with classical
forms and represents a product of interwar
architecture in the urban environment of
RuZomberok.

The building of the Banska Bystrica
branch purchased in 1900 gradually ceased
to satisfy the needs of a central bank, espe-
cially the vaults. Hence, NBCS decided to
have a new imposing building erected at
10 Narodna Street. The construction work
was carried out by the Slovak-Czech Build-
ing Company, Banska Bystrica, according to
the design of prof. Ladislav Skfivanek. The
architectural design was based on themes
from Tuscany, which is a unique phenom-
enon in our architecture. The building was
erected in a very short period of time, from
1930 to 1932. Its exterior and interior fea-
tures some unusual decorative elements
and details. The facade shows the coloured
national symbols of Slovakia and the styl-
ised letters ‘NBC’. In the arch-shaped part of
the building, there are large oak doors con-
taining 1,932 threads, which symbolise the
year in which the building was completed.
The door-handles are made of cast copper,
in the shape of a lying lion. The exterior dec-
oration is made from natural materials, pro-
cessed with a deep sense for detail. The inte-
rior walls are covered with dark-red marble
tiles, as well as the walls in the basement
and in the staircase. (Picture 3)

In 1936, the National Bank of Czecho-
slovakia started to build a new building for
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its Bratislava branch. The building’s archi-
tectural design was made by Emil Bellus,
one of the most prominent architects in Slo-
vakia. The building was erected in 1936-38in
a parcel between Jesenského and Gorkého
streets with an entrance from Stirova Street.
The main fagade faces east. The building’s
layout was determined by the relatively nar-
row parcel. The higher wings on the sides of
the main fagade give this building a monu-
mental character. There is a wide opening
between them bounded with a lintel from
above, in which a sculpture of the Greek god
Hermes was planned to be situated. This
plan, however, has remained unfulfilled.
The facade is covered with travertine wall
tiles, including rough stone tiles in the par-
terre and smooth stone tiles on the floors. An
interesting element is the cassette entrance
gate made of stainless steel with grates on its
sides. (Picture 4)

The year 1939 saw serious geopoliti-
cal changes in Central Europe, which greatly
affected Czechoslovakia too. The establish-
ment of the Slovak State under the protec-
tion of the German Reich was announced
on 14 March 1939. This was followed by the
announcement of the Protectorate of Bohe-
mia and Moravia on the following day. The
Slovak National Bank [Slovenska narod-
na banka - SNB] was established on 4 April
1939. Two days later, SNB took over the
entire branch network of the National Bank
of Czechoslovakia in Slovakia. The new
building of the Bratislava branch of NBCS at
2 Stdrova Street, which had been built for
roughly 30 employees, had to be adapted to
the needs of the Slovak National Bank with
300 employees. Since these adjustments
proved insufficient, SNB decided to build
a new building for its head office - a ‘large
business palace’, designed to become a
dominant building of Bratislava, the capital
of Slovakia. It was designed as a poly-func-
tional building comprising two parts: bank-
ing premises and a theatre. The building
was intended to raise the level of cultural
life in Bratislava. On the instruction of gov-
ernor Imrich Karvas, the building in the Slo-
vak National Uprising Square started to be
built in the autumn of 1942. (Picture 9) It was
planned to be completed by 1 July 1945 but
was actually completed in 1955. The archi-
tectural design was produced by the Design
Office of Eugen Kramar and Stefan Lukacovi¢
in Bratislava. The construction work was

Picture 2: Bratislava branch. @ National Bank
of Slovakia.

Picture 3: Building of NBCS at 10 Narodnd
Street. @ National Bank of Slovakia.
carried out by the firm of J. Petri of Bratisla-
va. The foundation stone of the new build-
ing was laid together with a commemorative
document and samples of Slovak bank-
notes and coins. Owing to its monumental
character and stylised classical architectur-
al elements, this building is an example of
neoclassical architecture. The facade of the
bank and the theatre was to be decorated
with sculptural elements, which, however,
were implemented in a limited range only.
The portal of the theatre features the works
of sculptor FrantiSek Draskovi¢. The artistic
decoration of the bank and theatre facade
includes coloured leadlight windows with
folklore motifs from painter Janko Alexy and
wall paintings with the same motifs on the
first floor of the theatre and in the foyer.

As a result of the Vienna arbitrage in
November 1938, Kosice became part of Hun-
gary and thus eastern Slovakia remained
without an SNB branch. Hence, the man-
agement of SNB quickly decided to open a
branch in Predov, the building of which was
erected in 1941-43 according to the design
of architect Jan Stefanec of Bratislava. The
construction work was carried out by the
Tatra building company from Bratislava.

After the restoration of Czechoslovakia
in 1945, the National Bank of Czechoslova-
kia also restored its operations and estab-
lished a Regional Office for Slovakia with a
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Picture 4: Building of NBCS at 10 Ndrodnd Street. @ National Bank of Slovakia.

head office in Bratislava. After southern Slova-
kia had been returned to Czechoslovakia, two
branches were opened in Slovakia after the
situation had consolidated to some extent: in
KoSice at the beginning of August 1945 and in
Nové Zamky at the end of August 1945.

The National Bank of Czechoslova-
kia operated until 1950, when it was trans-
formed into the State Bank of Czechoslova-
kia [Statna banka ceskoslovenska - SBCS],
which was established as a united social-
ist bank for the entire republic. For Slova-
kia, a Regional Office was established in
Bratislava. The State Bank of Czechoslova-
kia was a large organisation with 66 branch-
es in the territory of Slovakia. At the begin-
ning of its operations, SBCS owned more
than 200 office buildings in Slovakia which
had previously belonged to NBCS, the Post-
al Savings Bank, and commercial banks. The
buildings that SBCS no longer needed were
granted to state-owned companies, social
organisations or to the Communist Party of
Slovakia. For example, the palace of Tatra
Bank in Bratislava was given to the Czech-
oslovak Television, the head office of the
Slovak Bank to the Association of Czecho-
slovak-Soviet Friendship, etc. Several SBCS
buildings were granted to other financial
institutions operating in Slovakia, e.g. the
building of the Zilina branch built in 1912
by the Austro-Hungarian Bank was given to
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the Czechoslovak Commercial Bank, Prague.
Some of the buildings, however, were used
for inappropriate purposes (as warehouses
for example), often changed hands or were
neither renovated nor maintained proper-
ly so their technical condition deteriorated
to such an extent that they had to be pulled
down in the end.

In the 1950s, SBCS completed sever-
al buildings, which had started to be built
during World War Il. The most significant of
these buildings were the banking palace and
theatre in Bratislava and the Trencin branch.
The Slovak National Bank decided to open
a branch in this significant industrial centre
in 1942. The architectural design was pro-
duced by the Design Office of Eugen Kramar
and Stefan Lukacovi¢ in Bratislava. Owing
to the approaching front line, however, the
building was erected laterin 1946-51 accord-
ing to the design of Jan Barytus of Trencin.
The characteristic features of the building in
Palackého Street are the intersecting mas-
sive structural elements, the layout adjusted
to the street lines in the Old Town, and the
use of stylised historic elements.

In response to the changes in territori-
al administration in 1960, the State Bank of
Czechoslovakia gradually reduced the num-
ber of its branches in Slovakia, to 38 plus
the main office by the early 1970s. In that
period, the Bank started to build several

office buildings, designed in the character-
istic style of that era: socialist realism and
schematism.

The birth of the Slovak Republic on 1 Jan-
uary 1993 was accompanied by the estab-
lishment of its central bank, i.e. the National
Bank of Slovakia [Narodna banka Sloven-
ska - NBS], which is now part of the Eurosys-
tem (since 1 January 2009). In addition to
monetary and foreign exchange problems,
Narodna banka Slovenska had to tackle the
shortage of appropriate premises after its
establishment. The Bank had its head office
at 2 Stlrova Street in Bratislava, which,
despite having been adjusted and recon-
structed on several occasions, failed to satis-
fy the needs of the new central bank. Hence,
the management of NBS decided to build a
new head office in Imricha Karvasa Street.
The winning project of architects Martin
Kusy and Pavol Panak started to be imple-
mented in November 1996. The construction
work was carried out by the H-V-Z Associa-
tion (Hydrostav, Bratislava, Vahostav, Zilina,
ZIPP, Bratislava). The new NBS head office
was formally opened on 23 May 2002. The
building complex has sufficient capacity for
approximately 1,000-1,100 employees. With
its architectural design, the head office now
belongs to the dominant features of the cap-
ital city. The architectural composition of
the NBS complex is based on the contrast
between its massive horizontal part and the
fully glazed tower. The lower horizontal part
comprises premises for the performance of
the Bank’s operational functions. The com-
plex also comprises an internal courtyard
forming an attractive open space with nat-
ural vegetation. The tower building hous-
es administrative offices, a conference hall,
and an exhibition room. The load bearing
structure is a monolithic reinforced skele-
ton combined with a system of columns and
prefabricated elements. Regarding its tech-
nological equipment, the NBS head office
is an intelligent building, for it satisfy the
strictest energy efficiency requirements,
ecological requirements, and requirements
concerned the quality of the working envi-
ronment. The tower building has 33 storeys
above ground, whereas the horizontal part
has only six storeys. The basement has three
levels below ground, including an interme-
diate level. The tower building is 111 metres
high and the total built-up area amounts to
6,272 m2. (Picture 5)
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Picture 5: Tower Building in Karvasa Street. @
National Bank of Slovakia.

In addition to its head office, the Nation-
al Bank of Slovakia has five local offices in
Slovakia. An interesting thing is that the Ban-
ska Bystrica office is still housed in a building
which was built in 1932 for NBCS. As a result
of frequent organisational changes, the
workplaces were often reorganised and relo-
cated. This led to deterioration in the techni-
cal condition of the building. The last recon-
struction in 1992-95, however, created good
environment for the performance of central
banking tasks in the years ahead. In terms of
technical equipment, the building was mod-
ernised but its historical character was pre-
served in line with the law on the protection
of historic buildings and monuments.

Another interesting building of NBS
is its KoSice office in Slovenskej Jedno-
ty Street, which was opened on 21 March
1996. The building was designed to meet
the requirements of the European standard,
with well-equipped offices for 110 central
bank employees. The project was designed
by architects Karol Gregor and Marian Pitka,
and the building was erected by Hydrostav
Bratislava in two years. (Picture 6)

This brief historic overview indicates
that the banks of issue that have been oper-
ating in the territory of present-day Slova-
kia over the past 200 years have contribut-
ed to the country’s modernisation through
their building activities, too. The banks in
question built or bought buildings that fitted
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Picture 6: Kosice office in NSlovenskey Jednoty Street. © National Bank of Slovakia.

into the environment and were impressive
enough, in line with the recommendations
of the municipal councils concerned and of
the competent office for the conservation
of historic buildings and monuments. Their
buildings were designed by prominent archi-
tects, so many of them are now on the list of
national cultural monuments for their archi-
tectural, artistic and historic value.
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Introduction
The prime exponents of bank architecture
in Bilbao are the headquarters and out-
standing buildings of several banking insti-
tutions. Here we focus on two significant
buildings that have been closely linked to
the urban and economic development of
this city.

The plans for the first site were drawn
up in 1861 and construction began in 1865,
at a time when the city was expanding out-
wards from its traditional heart. It was
therefore sited close to the historic center,
when the city was undergoing a boom. The
Palacete de San Nicolas, the head offices
of BBVA, stands in the square of the same
name. This building was built for use as
a bank, along neoclassical lines with an
architectural style defined by its French
influence. This is possibly the oldest place
dispensing banking services in Spain, as it
opened its doors in 1868 and has continued
operating until the present day. Today it is
also one of the headquarters of the BBVA
Foundation.
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BBVA headquarters. Palacete de San Nicolds in Bilbao. © Archivo Fotografico del Archivo Histérico BBVA.

Construction began on the second
building in 1920. This was also intend-
ed for use as a bank, and had a notably
neoclassical design but in a more eclec-
tic and flamboyant style than the Palac-
ete de San Nicolas. The new building of
1920, which the Bank had been planning
since 1916, has two monumental col-
onnades on both sides of the entrance
arranged in a miter. This building stands
in the Gran Via, the city’s financial axis,
which in the 20th century saw the instal-
lation of all the leading banking institu-
tions as they abandoned the heart of the
historic center once and for all.

The Palacete de San Nicolas was
designed by the Parisian architect Eugene
Lavalle (with two extensions by Severi-
no Achucarro, although Enrique Epalza
is also thought to have been involved in
the first). The building at Gran Via 12 was
designed by the architect Pedro Guimén
(with a subsequent extension by Ricar-
do Bastida and Francisco Hurtado de
Saracho).

Palacete de San Nicolas, Bilbao.

BBVA Headquarters

As described in the work ‘Arquitectura en
BBVA: edificios singulares’ (‘Architecture
at BBVA: unique buildings’) published in
2003, this is a national monument with five
floors and a facade made from stone and
brick, occupying a total area of 3,703 square
meters. The original architect was the Paris-
ian Eugene Lavalle, who began work some
time between 1865 and 1867; it was opened
as the Bank’s main building in January 1868.
The builders were Jamain peére et fils. It
underwent two extensions in the 19th centu-
ry, and since 1898 it has had the same exteri-
or appearance as it does today in terms of its
structural features.

Background, 1857-1860

The headquarters of what for the rest of the
century would become known as the ‘Banco
de la Villa’ or ‘city bank’ occupied a space in
Bilbao that was redrawn in the mid-19th cen-
tury. This was an area undergoing expansion
in Bilbao’s historic center, and was the first

118




SPAIN

Palacete de San Nicolds during the Carlist siege
of Bilbao in 1874 . © Archivo Fotografico del
Archivo Histédrico BBVA.

location of the private office of Don Ambrosio
de Orbegozo, the Bank’s original general man-
ager. After the’Semana Grande’ festivities, on
24 August, 1857, the Bank opened its doors to
the public at number 7 on the street known
today as Calle Viuda de Epalza -then called
‘Calle de la Estufa’ (‘stove street’), as this was
where the ships’ caulkers set up shop.

A little later, on 1 October the same year,
the Bank moved its offices to the exchange
and main floor of the building at number 22
Calle de La Ribera, the former address of the
Chamber of Commerce. The Bank’s offices
therefore occupied the site on which the idea
for its foundation was first conceived in late
1855. The building is no longer standing, but
its original site was beside the Escuelas Mugi-
ca -still there today- and almost opposite the
famous Hanging Bridge described in the song,
which was destroyed during a bombardment
by the Carlists in the spring of 1874.

Origins of the Palacete de San Nicolas,
1861-1868

The two first venues -adapted for use
as business offices- were however small for
the ‘Banco de la Villa’, even though it had just
been created. The need to have its own offic-
es -tailored to the Bank’s requirements and
reflecting its status- was a matter of para-
mount importance to the administrators.
Thesite had to be centrally located in the city,
and such a space was found in the Plazuela
de San Nicolas square opposite the church.
The site was occupied by a lodge -the city’s
most luxurious at that time, and deserved-
ly renowned. The deed of sale was signed in
Madrid on 31 December 1861, and the ven-
dors were the Marquis of Fuente Pelayo and
Count of Montes Claros. The deal included

The large courtyard of the Palacete de San
Nicolds, with its monumental proportions and
elaborate skylight. © Archivo Fotografico del
Archivo Histérico BBVA.

other estates and properties, ultimately giv-
ing rise to interminable lawsuits which con-
tinued throughout the 19th century.
Thefirst stone was laid at the corner of El Are-
nal on 30 May, 1865. According to tradition,
gold and silver coins were buried beneath,
along with a silver plaque on which were
engraved the names of the members of the
Bank’s Board of Governors, and a certificate
signed by all as a testimony to the solemn
occasion. Copies of the local newspapers Iru-
rak Bat, Villa de Bilbao and Euskalduna were
also deposited.

The building was conceived following
neoclassical canons with a French influence
-which is unsurprising since it was the work
of the French architect Eugene Lavalle, and
the builders were Jamain pere et fils from
Bordeaux. It cost the exorbitant sum for that
time of 394,000 francs.

The first phase of the building was
opened to the public on 7 January 1868, and
the Bank’s offices were installed in the part
that today corresponds to the small court-
yard; as although on completion the fagade
had the appearance we see today, there
were still houses in the streets of Fueros and
Ascao set into the space between the large
courtyard and the cashier services.

The Bank has kept its doors open uninter-
ruptedly on this site for almost 150 years to
serve the public.

The first extension, 1882-1888

In the 1880s it became necessary to extend
the building, a process in which it gained
space and artistic value without losing any
of its architectural quality, as the stone
came from the same quarry in Angouléme
used in the original part, accompanied by

limestone from Llodio (Alava) at the base of
the building.

For this purpose, on 21 November, 1882
the Bank acquired and demolished the adjoin-
ing houses -numbers 1 and 3 in the Calle de
los Fueros-, and the first extension was built
on part of the site. The building is though to
have been designed by Severino Achucarro,
although it has also been attributed to Enri-
que de Epalza. This may possibly be due to
the fact that he also directed the works, which
were carried out by management contract
through to the impost line, and the rest under
contract. It cost 243,500 pesetas.

The construction works were award-

ed to Juan Murgoitio and terminated in late
1886. Owing to municipal requirements,
this extension obliged the Bank to finance
the opening of a street through the middle,
which as compensation was given the name
of Calle Banco de Bilbao.
There was a single site remaining between
the Bank and El Arenal, which the Bank
made repeated and unsuccessful attempts
to sell for a number of years. Forced to find
a use for it, the Bank erected a substantial
building on the same site, which after some
years became home to the Hotel Torron-
tegui, one of the most emblematic hotels
in Bilbao. Today a modern office building
stands on the site.

The last extension, 1898

The end of the century saw the definitive
extension of the Bank building, when it
attained its current perimeter, delimited by
the streets of Ascao, Fueros, Banco de Bil-
bao, and Plaza de San Nicolas square.

This was possible due to the purchase of the
houses on the corner of the streets of Fuer-
os and Ascao.

The works began in the fall of 1898
under the direction of Severino de Achtcar-
ro, and when the new century dawned the
building had the appearance we see today,
with a floor plan of almost 1,000 square
meters, divided into two courtyards illumi-
nated by elaborate skylights, and an attrac-
tive mirrored room for board meetings.

This stately building -today the BBVA
head office- bears witness to a bank that
is both old and young at the same time.
Old, because its roots go back to 1857; and
young, because in 1999 it arose from the
merger between BBV and ARGENTARIA. In
total it has almost 160 years’ experience,
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and has seen the passage of three centuries:
the second half of the 19th century, the 20th
century and now the 21st. It may even be the
oldest site in Spain dispensing banking ser-
vices to the public without interruption.

The BBVA building at Gran Via 12 in Bilbao
This emblematic BBVA building is also
included in the work mentioned above, enti-
tled ‘BBVA architecture.... This is a monu-
mental building also listed in local invento-
ries of Historic Architectural Heritage of the
Basque Autonomous Government and the
Provincial Government of Bizkaia. It is locat-
ed in Gran Via in Bilbao and its facades are
faced in stone, marble and bronze. It occu-
pies a total of 21,786 square meters, and has
ten floors plus two underground. It is the
work of the architect Pedro Guimén Eguig-
uren, and was built between 1920 and 1923.
The building was refurbished in the 1950s
and underwent another more extensive
refurbishment 25 years later. Ricardo Basti-
da and Francisco Hurtado de Saracho were
responsible for these modifications.

Planning and construction, 1916-1923
The first transaction of importance took
place in 1916, when José Luis Villabaso, the
General Director, announced that they had
been offered for sale ‘a property at number
20, Gran Via de Lépez de Haro and although
it is not fit for use as a building, the site has
meets the necessary conditions for the con-
struction of a building destined for use as a
Bank’. The Board agreed to authorize Villa-
baso to initiate negotiations for the pur-
chase on behalf of the Banco del Comer-
cio for a maximum sum of 900,000 pesetas.
In the end 875,000 pesetas were paid to the
owner, Mr Olavarri.

Some time passed, and by May 1918
four plans had been received for the con-
struction of the new building. The project
submitted by the architect Don Pedro de
Guimon was finally approved. The founda-
tion and basement works were put out to
tender on 20 March 1919, and in May 1920
were awarded to the firm of Ochandiano and
Anduiza. The contract for the building works
was set at 1,975,502.48 pesetas. In the end,
the first stone was laid on 17 January 1920.
Building was completed, and on 10 Decem-
ber 1923 the Banco del Comercio and a dele-
gation from the central office of Banco de Bil-
bao moved to the new building.
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Signing the placement of the first stone for the building at Gran Via 12 in Bilbao. Archivo Fotografico del
Archivo Histdrico BBVA.

Appropriation for institutional uses,
1936-1941

In those years the Bank was renting out
some sections of the building as office space.
But with the outbreak of the Spanish Civil
War in 1936 it was appropriated for two vital
uses by the institutions in those years. On 16
October 1936 the Board announced that the
bank had received a verbal request from the
Ministry of the Economy of the Basque Gov-
ernment to ‘indicate the sale price or the
establish a rental price for the building cur-
rently occupied by the Banco del Comer-
cio, and it was agreed to make clear to the
Ministry that the Bank was not interested in
selling the aforementioned building, which
would be highly damaging in the current cir-
cumstances, and to authorize the Perma-
nent Commission -with regard to the estab-
lishment of rent- to take the decision it
considers necessary’.

This situation continued until June 1936
when the Nationalist troops entered Bilbao.
The Civil Government also used the build-
ing as their headquarters. This much can be
learned from the minutes of the Board of 26
July 1941, in which it says that ‘the transfer
of the Civil Government has now taken place,
and the spaces which had been enjoyed in
usufruct by this institution after the libera-
tion of the city of Bilbao now remain at the
disposal of the Bank’.

The lengthy extension, 1942-1957

Once the Civil War was over, in November
1941 the Bank once again returned to the
idea of an extension in which to house the
Central Administration, which had remained
in the Palacete de San Nicolas. It therefore
acquired the houses at number 11 and 13
Calle Ledesma (behind the building) and
number 14 Gran Via.

The extension works began in 1950 and
took place in two phases. In the first phase,
the building was incorporated into the sites
created after the demolition of the houses in
Calle Ledesma, evacuating the upper floors
and installing them elsewhere to be able to
continue providing banking services. The
second phase incorporated the site at num-
ber 14 Gran Via, whose demolition had been
considerably delayed as it took some time to
evacuate the neighborhood.

The architect Ricardo Bastida was ulti-
mately unable to oversee his own extension
project as he died on 15 October 1953. The
architect Francisco Hurtado de Saracho took
over the direction of the works.

The facade on Calle Ledesma at that
time had the same colonnade as on the
facades on Gran Via and Alameda Mazarredo.
However when the building was extended in
Gran Via, the columnsin Ledesma were trans-
ferred to that fagcade, plus one that had to be
made expressly to complete the total length.
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The building at Gran Via 12 in the 1930s. © Archivo
Fotografico del Archivo Historico BBVA.

The building works -which lasted from
1950 to 1957- uncovered the first stone laid
in 1920, along with the zinc receptacle con-
taining the coins and newspapers of the day.
This deposit was supplemented with news-
papers from 1957 and once again placed on
the miter to the left of the main door.

On Saturday 24 August 1957, 100 years
after the opening of the Bank’s first office to
the public after its foundation three months
earlier, the refurbishment of the new site at
Gran Via 12 was officially inaugurated. The
banking offices to provide service to the
public occupied the first-floor courtyard
and the next floor. The following floor con-
tained spaces for the Board of Directors, the
Chairman’s Office and the General Manage-
ment, along with the boardroom, the hall-li-
brary and the main offices. The Bank’s Cen-
tral Administration services were located on
the remaining three floors.

The new site was blessed at 12:30 pm
in the presence of numerous members of
the public. As the guests arrived they were
received by the Chairman -the Count of
Arteche-, the General Manager and a group
of directors. Also present were leading fig-
ures from the world of banking, commerce,
industry and shipbuilding, in addition to
national and local authorities, of which
the most notable were the President of the
Spanish Parliament, the Permanent Del-
egate of the United Nations in Spain, the
General Director for Banking and the Stock
Exchange and the Deputy Governor of the
Bank of Spain, among others.

5

The building at Gran Via 12 during BBVA's centenary, in around
1957-1960. © Archivo Fotografico del Archivo Histérico BBVA.

Description of the building in 1958:

In February 1958, the publication ‘Club Ban-
cobao’ published an account by Rafael San-
tamaria, a Bank employee and a correspond-
ent in London, who was vacationing in the
city of Bilbao and visited the new building at
Gran Via 12 after its extension. This gives us
an insight into its monumental proportions.
He praises the profile and the exterior per-
spective of the building, highlighting the
majesty of its towering columns and the ele-
gance of its proportions. He continues in the
interior, where ‘you walk through the mar-
ble in the monumental hall to the opera-
tions floor, where numerous employees
move between the desks and metal cabinets
-all with clean and modern lines- among
machines and vortex tubes that relay docu-
ments around the space propelled by a sys-
tem of compressed air’.

‘To the right of the doorway is the base
of the master staircase, covered in a car-
pet of spectacular proportions. On different
floors, surrounding the courtyard and sup-
ported on greenish-colored marble columns
contrasting with the reddish ocher of the
guardrail and the bronze banister, there are
some spacious galleries by way of amphi-
theaters which house the Bank’s different
services. Surrounding these galleries are the
director’s offices’.

The 1976 extension

Until 1976 the building had two basements,
the first floor and six others (the last of small-
er proportions) with a mansard roof. It con-
tained the Head Office, Central Administra-
tion and the Chairman’s Office. In that year,

based on a project by Don Francisco Hurta-
do de Saracho and under his direction, work
was begun to cover the interior courtyards
and raise a seventh floor, maintaining the
same mansard system as on the sixth. After
this action, the final in-depth refurbishment
took place in 2007-2008 to bring the building
from the 20th into the 21st century. ®

Literature & Sources

Direct documentary and bibliographic
sources used from BBVA’s Historical Archive
Books of Minutes of the Board of Governors
of the Banco de Bilbao, 19th century
Books of Minutes of the Board of Directors of
the Banco de Bilbao, 20th century.
Books of Minutes of the Board of Directors of
the Banco del Comercio.
Magazine ‘Bancobao’
Photographic collection in the Historical
Archive (photographic material used)
Historical newspaper and periodicals
archive: local press of the time —’Euzkadi’, ‘El
Liberal’, ‘El Pueblo Vasco’.
Historical newspaper and periodicals
archive: Magazines of the time: La Hormiga
de Oro, 19th-century issues.
BBVA: ‘Arquitectura en BBVA: edificios sin-
gulares’ (Architecture at BBVA: unique build-
ings) (Madrid, 2003).
Texts by Jean Nouvel, Ricardo Legorreta, Car-
men Giménez Serrano, Sofia Diéguez Patao,
Paulino Martin Blanco, Ramén Gutiérrez)
Bank’s commemorative books:
50th anniversary, 1857-1907.
75th anniversary, 1857-1932.
Centenary, 1857-1957.
125th anniversary, 1857-1982.
150th anniversary, 1857-2007.
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A history of the headqguarters of Banco Santander

Teresa GOmez Ledn

ne of the most significant buildings

in Santander, aside from its cathe-

dral and the Magdalena Palace, is
the Santander Bank itself, located at 9-10
and 11-12 on Paseo de Pereda in the most
characteristic and bustling area of the Can-
tabrian capital. However, this unique build-
ing which houses the headquarters of the
organisation was actually preceded by sev-
en previous headquarters.

By the mid-nineteenth century,
Santander’s was linked to the close trade
relationship that existed with the Ameri-
can colonies through the port of Santand-
er, which saw heavy traffic between Europe
and America. The port became the epicentre
of the city’s economic development and its
transformation to rapid modernisation.

Just a few metres from the pier, the
main consignees set up their offices, from
where they could carry out overseas com-
mercial transactions overseas, and oversee
from their large windows the loading and
unloading of steamships, whose goods were
then transported by rail to the rest of the
Peninsula.

In this prosperous environment, a select
group of men linked to the business world
met one morning in January 1856 at the
Commercial Courts. Their goal was to meet
the credit needs and increased demands for
methods of payment from a growing import
and export market. The result was the found-
ing of a bank of issue that shared a name
with its city.!

They first opened their doors on the
morning of 20th August 1857, and although
the exact location of what was the first head-
quarters cannot be found in any source, all
signs point to it having occupied the cor-
ner of the Pombo palatial home, built by the

1 HOYOAPARICIO, Andrés, De comerciantes y para comerciantes.
El Banco de Santander, 1857-1874. [By traders and for trad-
ers. Banco de Santander, 1857-1874] Universidad de Cantabria
Press. Santander 2015, p.27-35.

Current headquarters of Banco Santander on Paseo de Pereda.
© CDIS Centro Documentacion de la Imagen Santander.

future Marquis Juan Pombo Conejo?, locat-
ed between Calle del Martillo and the former
Calle Colosia (today Calle Ataulfo Argento)
just behind where the current headquarters
of the bank sit today.?

The bank had to abandon its headquar-
terson 16 January 1874 and occupy the hold
of the tugboat ‘Hercules’, which became
Banco de Santander’s second headquar-
ters for several days. It happened during the
Third Carlist War: when faced with the fear
of a possible occupation of the plaza by the
Carlist army, captained by Torcuato Mendi-
ri, the bank’s Board of Directors rushed to
authorize the bank’s temporary move, in
order to safeguard its funds from the threat
of a possible military conflict.*

2 MARTIN-ACENA, Pablo. 1857-2007. Banco Santander 150 afios
de historia [Banco Santander 150 years of history]. Grupo
Santander. Madrid 2007, p. 72 Juan Pombo Conejo, formed
part of the founding group of shareholders, sat on the first
Board of Governors in 1857, and was the first to hold the posi-
tion of Bank President.

3 SANEMETERIO, José Higinio. Banco Santander, apuntes para
la historia. [Notes on the history of Banco Santander] Revista El
Santander Issue 7, August 1988, p.25-28 .

4 SAN EMETERIO, José Higinio. Op. Cit. p. 25-28.

Aside from this anecdotal event, the compa-
ny remained at the Pombo palatial home for
18 years until the early hours of 28 May 1874,
when afirethatbegan in the storeroom of the
Isasia drugstore affected the adjoining build-
ing, that of Banco de Santander. They man-
aged to completely evacuate all the funds
apart from the archives.® Banco de Santand-
er quickly moved their offices temporari-
ly to what would be their third headquar-
ters, the Toca rooms at 1 Calle Santa Lucia.
There, in a function room and lounge area,
they remained for 11 days until 8 June 1875,
when they moved once again to what would
be their fourth and latest headquarter, locat-
ed in what is now 13 Calle Hernan Cortés, on
the corner of Calle del Martillo. This building
was also owned by Juan Pombo and built
from a design by architect Severiano Cecilia
as a housing residence in 1861.

Five years later, another fire that began
on 6 October 1880 reached this building and
the facilities of Banco de Santander. Through
the intervention of the employees, they

5  Ibidem.
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Sixth headquarters of Banco Santander, rebuilt by Atilano Rodriguez based on plans by Severiano
Cecilia. (MARTIN-ACENA, Pablo. 1857-2007. Banco Santander 150 afios de historia [Banco Santander

150 years of history]. Grupo Santander. Madrid 2007).

managed to rescue some of the cash, goods
and other valuables. The iron vault built in
the basement managed to protect the secu-
rities portfolios and safety deposit boxes.®
This disaster forced the Banco de Santander
Board of Directors to temporarily seek a fifth
headquarters, in a gymnasium owned by
Fernando Fernandez, located in the house
opposite at 1 Calle Daoiz y Velarde, where
they remained temporarily until 1881.
Meanwhile, on 3 January 1881, there
was recorded at the department of the Com-
mission of Works of Santander Town Hall the
order for the reconstruction of the house,
block numbers 1 and 3, Calle Vad-Ras, in
which Juan Pombo requests the reconstruc-
tion of the block on which had been estab-
lished the ‘Banco de Santander’ and which
in agreement with its architect Atilano
Rodriguez, intends to maintain the facades
that remain standing and set upright those
which have been destroyed in the same way
which they were and appear in the plans
approved by said Commission and signed
by the architect Severiano Cecilia on 9 Octo-
ber 1861, introducing modifications such as

6 AHBS. ‘Report presented to the Board of Governors at the Gen-
eral Meeting held on 20 January 1881 ... for the second time
this Credit establishment, has experienced the loss of seeing
disappear into flames, the building in which it had established
its offices, however on this occasion, as previously, they have
suffered fewer losses of public interests, owing principally to the
sound construction of the iron vault.
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placing iron and glass galleries on the balco-
nies on the West and East facades.” Following
the reconstruction the bank returned to this
building in September 1881, this time occu-
pying a larger space with the addition of a
mezzanine.

Years later in 1898, the Board of Direc-
tors decided to move all its offices to the
premises which they had acquired at 2 Paseo
del Muelle, with the aims of providing Banco
de Santander with a larger, more public and
more prestigious location, placing it in the
main artery of the city’s financial and com-
mercial activity.

The building of its seventh and
penultimate headquarters - still standing
today at 2 Paseo de Pereda - was built from
ashlar and had a ground floor, mezzanine
and three stories with matching French win-
dows, which opened onto wide balconies
surrounded by vertical bay windows. Con-
struction began in 1766 from designs made a
year earlier by the engineer Francisco Llovet,
as part of the plan to expand the port and the
new town. This plan entailed reclaiming land
from the sea, regularizing housing construc-
tion, and harmonising building facades®. The

7 AMS.leg G-82n.83.

8  SAZATORNIL RUIZ, Luis. MANJON RODRIGUEZ, Alodia Lorena.
Arquitecturay Urbanismo en la época de la Ilustracion [Archi-
tecture and Urbanism in the Age of Enlightenment]. Catalogue
of the Cultural Heritage of Cantabria Volumelll . pp. 183-218

Seventh headquarters of Banco de Santander
at 2 Paseo del Muelle. (MARTIN-ACENA, Pablo.
1857-2007. Banco Santander 150 afios de historia
[Banco Santander 150 years of history]. Grupo
Santander. Madrid 2007).

new offices of Banco de Santander® opened
on 6 December 1898, and they remained
there for 25 years until these facilities began
to lack capacity. As a result, in April 1923
they decided on the move to what would be
the eight, last, and current headquarters of
the bank.

This emblematic building of the Can-
tabrian capital and Banco Santander itself,
which presides over Paseo de Pereda, did not
look then as we know it today. It has under-
gone a series of modifications and remodell-
ings that form part of the building’s history, a
history that began on the night of the fire of
6 October 1880, during which two buildings
were razed along the Paseo del Muelle that
housed the famouse Café Suizo and the Rec-
reation Club, at numbers 11 and 12.

A few months later, the representative
of Claudio Lopezy Lopez, brother of the Mar-
quis de Comillas™, presented on 2 August
1881 to the Works Commission of Santand-
er Town Hall*2, the order to rebuild on top of

9 MARTIN-ACENA, Pablo. Op. Cit. p 84. The building at 2 Paseo del
Muelle was sold for 700,000 pesetas to Francisco Pérez Venero.
In 1924 Café Boulevard opened on the lower floors.

10 Thefire of 6 October 1880 also affected the palatial home of
the Marquis of Casa Pombo and the adjoining building, also
owned by him, in which Banco de Santander was established.

11 RODRIGOYALHARILLA, Martin. Los marqueses de Comillas
1817-1925. Antonio y Claudio Lopez [The Marquises of Comillas
1817-1925. Antonio y Claudio Lopez. LID Editorial Empresarial,
S.L. Madrid 2000. p. €6.

12 AMS.leg. G-83n.13.
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Eighth headquarters of Banco de Santander in 1923.
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© CDIS Centro Documentacion de la Imagen Santander.

the affected site a building designed by the
architect José Oriol Mestre.

The Catalan architect employed an
eclectic architectural language to accom-
pany his ormentation of: modillions, urns,
pilasters, Corinthian columns, and cast-iron
sculptures on the sides of the central bal-
cony. The verticality of the building, stand-
ing taller than all the other buildings along
the seafront, is even further distinguished by
its facade, thanks to the three vertical wood-
en closed balconies; two on the sides of the
building and the third above the entryway
keystone canted arch.

With the intention once again of estab-
lishing a new headquarters to respond to
the ever-growing needs of the bank, this
building at 11 and 12 Paseo de Pereda was
acquired by Eusebio Lépez y Diaz de Qui-
jano, nephew of Antonio Lopezy Lopez, Mar-
quis of Comillas, for the sum of one million
pesetas, agreed in writing on 1 September
1919, thanks in particualr to the personal
intervention of Emilio Botin y Lopez, presi-
dent of Banco de Santander.

A few months later on 9 March 1920, the
director of the bank requested authorisation
from the Works Commission of Santander
Town Hall to expand the offices.

13 AHBS. D4489-10 Record of the Governing Board 30-6-1919.
AHBS. D4489-178 Record of the Governing Board 14-8-1919.
AHBS. D4489-179 Record of the Governing Board 1-9-1919.

In the report signed by architect Valentin
Lavin del Noval, they propose to perform a
radical transformation in the layout of the
basement, ground floor and mezzanine.
The plan was drawn up by architect Ricardo
Bastida. According to this plan all the interi-
or walls of the ground floor and mezzanine
shall be demolished; the current staircase
will be taken down; parapets and railings will
be placed in the spaces of the ground floor
where doors are not necessary; the horizon-
tal lattices will be broken up, necessary for
the passage of new stairs, and on the north
facade the windows will be replaced by exte-
rior closed balconies and the used area of
the basement will be deepened and refur-
bished. On the basement floor deposit box-
es shall be installed and that which the Bank
determines for its own usage. On the ground
floor there will be a wide central vestibule
(hall) accessible from Paseo de Pereda; sur-
rounding the vestibule (hall) and separat-
ed by wood and glass partitions shall be the
offices that require greater contact with the
public such as accounts, cash desks, etc, and
on the mezzanine floor those of a more inti-
mate nature, such as management, secretar-
ial, etc, meeting rooms and advisors... **
With the works completed on 31 March
1923, the inauguration of the headquar-
ters of Banco de Santander took place in the

14 AMS.leg.F-330n.21.
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presence of the appropriate local official and
church authorities, as well as Emilio Botin y
Lépez, president of the Board.

The next refurbishment was approved
on 13 March 1936 by the Town Hall Depart-
ment of Works, to replace the balconies with
newer wooden ones on the south or main
facade, under the supervision of the archi-
tect Javier Gonzalez de Riancho.®®

The next year 10 dormer windows were
built, and in January 1942 they presented
to the same Works Commission a plan to
remodel the main facade, designed by the
architect Pedro Mugurza, in which he sug-
gests to simply remove the closed balco-
nies, both for aesthetic reasons as well as to
avoid a fire hazard. This problem has been
resolved in the simplest and most econom-
ical fashion, retaining the existing openings
on the facade, which give way to the bal-
conies and having parapets on both sides
and in the centre an overlaid decoration
that gives it the character of a public build-
ing, instead of the residential building it
currently is.

Indeed, at that time the building was
also occupied by residents, a hotel, and the
headquarters of the Sailing Club, but owing
to the absorption of Banco Mercantil, the
opening of new branches and the increase
in operations and the volume of business,
they were forced to expand their facilities at
Paseo de Pereda, beginning in 1945 to take
the necessary steps to evict tenants.

On 24 December 1951, bank president
Emilio Botin Sanz de Sautuola Lépez first
presented to Santander Town Hall the plan
to expand the bank building to that which
we know it today. They sought to accommo-
date the present and future growth of the
bank, develop a number of locations and
above all... to beautify the city, giving it a
monumental building that is equally worthy
of presiding over all of the Bank’s buildings
spread throughout the main cities of Spain®’,
and so the current headquarters of Banco
de Santander were conceived. The plan was
overseen by the architect Javier Gonzalez de
Riancho, intending to demolish numbers 9
and 10 on Paseo de Pereda, which had been

15 AM.Sleg. G-304 n.25.

16 MARTIN-ACENA, Pablo. Op. Cit. p.164.

17 AMS.legl-17n.26.

18 MORALES SARO, Maria Cruz. Javier Gonzélez de Riancho (1881-
1953): arquitecto [Javier Gonzalez de Riancho (1881-1953):
architect. Cantabria Official School of Architects. Santander
1983.
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Computer generated image of the Banco Santander Financial City
in Boadilla del Monte. Madrid. © Banco Santander.

acquired by the Bank in 1946 and bordered
the west side of the bank’s building, and to
build a twin building on that site, with the
same arrangement of floors and facades.
The novelty lay in turning the two bod-
ies of the building into one, linking them
with a third structure, a grand arcade that
does not detract from the street that sep-
arates them, giving the whole a monu-
mental character comparable to the fin-
est buildings in the greatest foreign cities,
where these truly triumphal arches are
admired for giving access to plazas, major
roads through public buildings from other
centuries.”

The arch spans the width of Calle
Marcelino Sanz de Sautuola, also known
as Calle del Martillo, which as described
in the report is 11 metres and 30 cen-
timetres wide, and its height up to the
keystone at 14 metres. The architectur-
al composition of the arch is of the clas-
sic style, an entablature separated by two
pilasters with a central motif, which could
be no other but the heraldic shield of
Santander, and above this entablature a
Greek upper floor crowned with four stat-
ues made of marble or stone, represent-
ing the Arts, Agriculture, Business and
Sailing, by sculptor José Planes Pefal-
ver.? And on the lower level a large frieze
in high relief represents the Bank protect-

ing the Industries, Blast Furnaces, mining,
19 AMS.leg.I-17n°26.
20 REYERO HERMOSILLA, Carlos. La escultura publicay conmem-

orativa [Public and commemorative sculpture]. Catalogue of
the Cultural Heritage of Cantabria Volumelll. pp. 357-378.
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sports and other elements of life, national
and international interests.?*

Since then Banco Santander has grown
exceptionally, becoming a leading interna-
tional bank, and in 1999 carrying out a pro-
ject as pioneering as the Santander Financial
City headquarters, integrated into the Medi-
terranean surroundings of Boadilla del Mon-
te, a town to the northeast of Madrid.

This idea was conceived and developed
toconcentrateaseriesof new buildingsinone
autonomous space of 160 hectares, compris-
ing: a corporate complex, two data process-
ing centres, a training centre, a residence,
a maintenance and logistics complex,
a kindergarten, a sports complex, an exhi-
bition hall and a communications tow-
er, plus a golf course. The scope of the pro-
ject was designed by Irish architect Kevin
Roche, winner of the 1982 Pritzker Prize in
architecture. He managed to capture the
attention of Emilio Botin, then president of
Banco Santander, to create a family work
environment in which nine thousand people
coexist.
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The Banco de Espana building. 1882-2006

Pedro Navascués Palacio

Background*

Among the first resolutions passed by the
Banco de San Carlos in the early months after
its founding (1782) was the decision to lease
a house belonging to the Count of Sastago
in Calle de la Luna, Madrid. While the build-
ing was being refurbished, the general share-
holders’ meeting was held in the ‘decency
and comfort’ of the palace of the Count of
Altamira, in Calle Ancha de San Bernardo.

In 1823 the Banco de San Carlos bought a
house on Calle de la Montera, also fronting
onto Calle Angosta de San Bernardo, which
istoday Calle de la Aduana. The first meeting
was held in the new building in 1825. Mean-
while, a Royal Warrant on 9 July 1829 creat-
ed the Banco Espariol de San Fernando with
part of the capital of the Banco de San Carlos,
and it was installed in the premises on Calle
Montera, which it occupied until merged
with the Banco de Isabel Il in 1847. Follow-
ing the merger, the new Banco de San Fer-
nando was relocated to the former offices of
the Banco de Isabel Il in the house of the Cin-
co Gremios (Five Guilds) on Calle de Atocha.
When the Banco de Espaiia was founded in
1856 it occupied this same building until it
was transferred to its new headquarters on
the corner of Calle Alcalad and Paseo del Pra-
doin 1891.

The Bank moved out of the old house of
the Cinco Gremios as its increasingly complex
needs made it difficult to adapt a conven-
tional building. The idea of banking estab-
lishments as a particular building type or as
a specific subject for architecture had not
taken hold in Spain, or elsewhere in Europe
for that matter, such that stylistic considera-
tions took precedence over practical needs.

Thus, more than just a good and prac-
tical building, the Banco de Espaiia urgently
needed a building specifically designed to

1 Summary of an article by Pedro Navascués Palacio, ‘El Banco
de Espafia en Madrid. Génesis de un edificio’, published in El
Banco de Espafia. Dos siglos de historia. 1782-1982, Madrid,
1982

© Banco de Espania.

house the Bank’s departments, and which
responded to its particular needs.

After a number of years of inconclusive
efforts, the Board decided to buy a large plot
suitable for a new building of its own. Talks
were held with the Duke of Sexto to establish
the terms on which he would sell the house,
garden and orchard on the corner of Calle
Alcala and Paseo del Prado, better known as
the Palace of the Marquis of Alcafices. A deal
was reached in March 1882, setting the price
at 3,187,500 pesetas. The Banco de Espana
made a wise decision in choosing this plot,
asitoccupies an unrivalled strategic location
in the city.

The works committee and the 1882
competition
Once the land had been bought in March
1882, a Works Committee was set up. This
comprised the Bank’s Governor, various
board members, and the Bank’s secretary,
with a remit to study everything concerning
the new building.

First of all, the new committee proposed
the construction of two separate, independ-
ent buildings for the Bank. The first of these

was intended to be the main building, and
would be an entirely stand-alone building
housing the Bank’s general services, includ-
ing everything from the cash desks to meet-
ing rooms (for the Governing Council, General
Shareholders’ Meetings, lotteries, etc.), along
with the areas for serving the public. The sec-
ondary building would house the workshops
and presses for banknote printing, along with
activities relating to tax collection.

Having decided on this approach, the
Works Committee’s next important step was
its decision to run a competition for the design
of the new buildings. Only four designs were
ultimately submitted, and these were exam-
ined in January 1883. All of them expressed
the reservation that it would only be possi-
ble to construct one of the buildings on the
site unless adjoining land was bought. In Feb-
ruary 1883 the Governing Council declared
the competition null and void, considering
none of the designs to have sufficient mer-
it to deserve the prize. Nevertheless, in rec-
ognition of their contributions, a runner-up
prize of 30,000 pesetas was awarded to the
‘Doblén’ design by the prestigious architects
Luis Aladrén and Adolfo Morales de los Rios.
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A second runner-up prize was divided equal-
ly between the ‘Mercurio’ design by Enrique
Repullés Segarra and José Gonzalez-Carva-
jal, and the ‘Comercio’ design by Luis Maria
Argenti y Herrera. The fourth design, ‘Labor,
Creditum et Arts’, was disqualified on the
grounds that it did not meet the conditions
laid down in the competition.

The final building plans

Almost five years elapsed between the 1882
competition and the definition of the plans
used to start the building work. A whole host
of changes took place during this period, mak-
ing today’s Banco de Espafia building very
different from that originally planned. These
changes affected the nature of the building,
which would develop into landmark and one
of the most emblematic examples of what was
referred to as ‘modern Madrid’.

After the competition had been adjudi-
cated, the Bank had just three designs, none of
which —despite the prizes awarded— met the
needs of the establishment or the wishes of
the Governing Council. Eduardo de Adaro was
therefore commissioned to conduct a study
of major European banking establishments
‘in situ), so as to gather data, particularly on
technical matters, security, and distribution,
for use in preparation of a final design joint-
ly with his colleague, Sainz de la Lastra. How-
ever, there is no hiding the fact that many of
the suggestions in the ‘Doblon’, ‘Mercurio’ and
‘Comercio’ designs —which were numerous
and valid— musthave also had aninfluence on
the plans. In particular, the fact that the partic-
ipants had all complained of the narrowness
of the plot for the two buildings envisaged in
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the competition led the Works Committee to
consider combining them in a single building,
which was what it eventually chose to do. Ada-
ro and Sdinz de la Lastra prepared their final
design, which was approved on 31 December
1883, taking this major change into account.
However, although the design was awarded
the gold medal when it was presented at the
National Exhibition of Fine Arts in 1884, it was
not how the building would ultimately look.

Sainz de la Lastra died at the end of 1884
and was briefly succeeded by Alvarez Capra,
who was later replaced by José Maria Agui-
lar y Vela, who would play a decisive role in
the stage that began in 1885. Aguilar’s joining
the project coincided with the Governor of the
Bank’s entering into negotiations with the Con-
gregacion de Naturales Navarros de San Fer-
min with a view to buying the plot they occu-
pied adjacent to the Bank. This purchase was
concluded in early 1886. In order to give the
plot a more regular shape, some land behind
the San Fermin plot was also bought from
the school of road engineers. This purchase
meant the plans had to be changed, although
building work was already under way, repre-
senting a second shift away from the design in
the 1882 competition. This may be considered
a ‘first expansion’ and, more than just a scal-
ing up of the plans it was a genuine extension
of the building, as by 1885 construction work
had already reached the main floor.

In March 1886 Aguilar presented a study
of the facade of the Salon del Prado that could
wellinclude the idea of a central body in which
the current grand staircase is located, shifting
the focus from the entrance on the chamfered
corner to that on Paseo del Prado. This obvi-
ously meant rethinking the interior distribu-
tion, leading to the emergence of a second
building with its own characteristics, inter-
nally juxtaposed with the main nucleus, but
not distinguishable from the outside, due to
the uniformity of the facade. A comparison of
the entrance on the chamfered corner, initial-
ly intended as the main entrance, with that on
Paseo del Prado, which subsequently took on
this role, is a good illustration of the two dif-
ferent approaches to the design of the Banco
de Espafa building taken in 1882 and 1886:
the former exemplifies a relatively modest
approach, whereas the latter aims at —and
achieves— truly magnificent monumental
scale, highlighting the two very different con-
ceptions of the building.

Two more plots were purchased in early

1887 to enable the building to be complet-
ed and given a more regular shape. These
were on the corner of Paseo del Prado and
Calle de los Madrazo, and belonged to the
Marquis of Larios and the Marquis of Retor-
tillo. This meant preparing the final plans
for the layout and elevation of the build-
ing, thus bringing to a conclusion the par-
adoxical history of a construction project
for which the plans were subject to contin-
ual design revisions over a five-year period.

Description of the building

The facade on Paseo del Prado is undoubt-
edly one of the most powerful images of
19th century Spanish architecture, in which,
within the overall monumental style, two
intrinsic features of the establishment —
industrial and representational— coexist.
The first of these characteristics applies to
the entire base of the building, construct-
ed in high-quality granite ashlars. Slotted in
between the extremely sober base and sec-
ond floor is the main floor, with a facade in
limestone from La Alconera (Badajoz). Spe-
cial attention was paid to the bases of the
arches, columns and balustrades, to dis-
tinguish this as the main floor, on which
the offices and meeting rooms would be
situated.

The two inscriptions commemorating
the start (4 July 1884) and completion of
building work (3 March 1891) flank the main
entrance. These were drafted by the Royal
Academy of History at the Bank’s behest.
Over the main entrance there is a massive
balcony structure, where Adaro and Aguilar
closed the central cavity with an arch and
two sides with lintels. The sculptural reliefs
adorning the spandrels of the arches, the
vertical bands, and the decorative tops of
the composition as a whole, make it clear
that this entrance has pride of place.

Along with this bulkier work, the facade
abounds in fine work, thanks to the genu-
ine sculptors who were responsible for the
shafts, capitals, medallions, keys, spandrels,
decorative pilasters, ornamental tops, and
in particular, the series of caryatids arranged
along the flanking wings. All together, this
comprised a rich array that some directors
even found distasteful. For instance, the Mar-
quis of Aguilar de Campoo felt that the ‘exter-
nal architectural luxury of the new building
was more suited to a palace than an indus-
trialestablishment.’ To executethesedelicate
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works models were requested from a num-
ber of the most renowned sculptors of the
time. However, these models were executed
by other sculptors, although the most critical
works were entrusted to the marble sculptor
Carlo Nicoli in Carrara (Italy), who undertook
to carve the main sculptures of the facade
carefully and artistically in second class mar-
ble, following the plaster models provided.

An essential complement to the facades
is the wrought- and cast-iron work by Ber-
nardo Asins, responsible for the finest iron
constructions in Madrid, including the Pala-
cio de Cristal in the Retiro park and the Sen-
ate Library. He also undertook the construc-
tion in soft iron of the entrance doors to the
building, which can be considered unique in
their class for their time.

The well organised screen of the fagade
gives no hint that it conceals a complex dis-
tribution of spaces, resulting from the con-
stant changes made to the plans while work
was already under way. In fact, the build-
ing’s floor plan includes two main juxta-
posed axes, somewhat poorly integrated
with one another, that create two radical-
ly different atmospheres in terms of space,
light and handling. The first comprises a spa-
tial sequence along the axis of the cham-
fer, with the entrance, vestibule, staircase,
and the magnificent courtyard that was the
general cash operations area and is now the
library of the Studies Department. This is all
treated soberly, close to the spirit sought by
the 1882 competition, where the building is
considered more of an industrial establish-
ment than a palace or monument. The latter
are precisely the characteristics that define
the main axis on Paseo del Prado side, where
the entrance and grand staircase were con-
ceived of along very different lines, incorpo-
rating the regal character of the staircase,
which offers some interesting perspectives.

From the architectural viewpoint, the
most interesting of all the interior spaces are
the general cash-operations patio and the
grand staircase. The former is a true gem in
cast iron, the metal structure being handled
with consummate skill to free it from the
potential monotony and weight of this quin-
tessentiallyindustrial material. Aswith all the
metal structuresin the building, this was pro-
duced by the Mieres factory, which won the
contract in 1884 against strong competition
from some of the leading manufacturers in
Europe as well as those of Spain.

The detailed design of the grand stair-
case was completed by Adaro and Aguilar in
1888, who stipulated in the terms of the con-
tractforits construction that the marble used
was to be from Carrara. It follows the pattern
of animperial staircase, with a single flight at
the bottom that divides into two flights lead-
ing in opposite directions, with the variant
of including an exit on both sides of the first
flight, leading off to the mezzanine. It is rich-
ly decorated with lion heads, palms, crowns,
caducei, and medallions with the head of
Mercury, as well as the medallions with the
busts of Charles IlI, Charles IV, Ferdinand VI,
Isabella II, Alfonso XII, and Alfonso XIII.

The set of stained glass windows, made
by the Munich-based company Mayer, form
an important complement to the stairs, illu-
minated on all levels by windows on the
main and rear facades and the twin later-
al courtyards, and the light from the large
opening of the skylight above. Particularly
beautiful is the composition illuminating the
stairwell from above, designed to look like a
balustrade in perspective, with the goddess
Fortuna in the skylight at the back, holding
the cornucopia and with the wheel guid-
ing the course of human life at her feet. The
Old World and the mythical rape of Europa
are also shown at her feet, with allegories of
Asia, Africa, America and Oceania in the four
corners.

The 1927 expansion and other changes
As a result of the Bank’s constantly growing
needs, in 1923 the neighbouring Santam-
arca buildings were bought from the Dow-
ager Duchess of Najera. The Bank’s archi-
tect, José Yarnoz, submitted his draft plans
for the new building in 1927, and demolition
of the houses began in 1929. The architect
clearly saw the problem that the juxtaposi-
tion of a different architectural style to that
of the old building would suppose, particu-
larly as the new building was meant to be an
extension of the old one. He therefore opted
to relegate all the new 1920s architecture to
the interior, and in a show of respect for the
city and for the building, repeated Adaro’s
model with scrupulous precision. Not only
did Yarnoz repeat the design of the elevation
but he sought out the same materials from
the same quarries, and required that the
ironwork of the facades, etc. have the same
dimensions as the original work. He even
included contractual clauses to ensure that
all subcontractors adhered to the models on

SPAIN

display in the old building. Nevertheless, Yar-
noz did introduce some changes, particular-
ly in the central block on Calle Alcala.

The interior architecture of the grand
hall or operations patio is of a very differ-
ent style. This hall is to the extension what
the iron courtyard was to the main build-
ing or the grand staircase to the true ‘first’
expansion of the Bank building. It compris-
es an immense courtyard, covering nine
hundred square metres, rising to a height
of twenty-seven metres. Its internal eleva-
tions interpret various classical themes, but
all in an anti-classical context that is rem-
iniscent of the architecture of 1920s New
York. This immense courtyard is lit from a
huge suspended stained-glass window over-
head, which is an exceptional example of the
as-yet unstudied Art Deco in Spain. The work
was carried out by the firm Maumejean,
which interpreted various allegories in a lin-
ear, zigzagging and highly geometrical style.
The common underlying theme was the
idea of progress and prosperity, with com-
merce, industry, agriculture, and fishing, etc.
appearing again.

As an epilogue, between 1969 and 1975
the Banco de Espafia again expanded its
premises on Calle de Los Madrazo and Calle
Marqués de Cubas, following Javier Yarnoz
Orcoyen’s plans, which had nothing to do
with the character of the old building, but
did not make a contribution of any inter-
est. With this new expansion the Bank came
to fill the whole block it had timidly begun
to occupy in 1882. To complete the build-
ing, only the Calamarte Bank on the corner
of Calle Alcala and Calle Marqués de Cubas,
already owned by the Banco de Espafia,
remained to be redeveloped. A limited com-
petition was run to solicit ideas in 1978,
in which the architects Orio Bohigas, Luis
Cubillo, Moreno Barbera, Rafael Moneo and
Javier Yarnoz Orcoyen were invited to take
part. The selected proposal (1979) was that
of Moneo, who offered a chamfered solution
for this corner, repeating all the elements
Adaro had devised almost a century earli-
er for the building at the other end. The new
building was opened in 2006. ®
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SWEDEN

The Riksbank Building

The Bank

The Riksbank was established in 1668 and is
the world’s oldest central bank. All the Riks-
bank buildings have always been located
in the heart of Stockholm. After a number
of years at Storkyrkobrinken, where it was
located in a palace built by Axel Oxenstierna,
the Riksbank moved to Jarntorget in 1680
where for the first time it was given its own
building, designed by Tessin the Elder.

In 1907, the Riksbank moved next door
to the Riksdag building in a newly construct-
ed area on Helgeandsholmen. Following
the reform to a unicameral system of par-
liament, the Riksdag required more space
and this resulted in the Riksbank moving to
Brunkebergstorg in 1976.

Brunkeberg Ridge on Norrmalm long
played a part in the defence of Stock- holm.
From the top of the steep, wooded ridge the
military were able to control the roads lead-
ing into the city from the north. So it was
entirely in keeping with tradition to keep the
Riksbank’s vault in the interior of Brunkeberg
Ridge.

Presumably, Brunkeberg was named
after the 14th century Lord Chief Justice,
Johan Brunkow. Brunkow held office at the
court of King Birger Magnusson, and his life
came to a dramatic end in 1391 when he was
hanged on the gallows of Brunkeberg.

In the Battle of Brunkeberg on 10 Octo-
ber 1471, one of the most famous events in
the history of Stockholm, the Swedes, led
by Sten Sture the Elder, defeated the Danes
under Kristian I. The victory paved the way
for Gustav Vasa’s unification of Sweden as a
free and independent kingdom.

The building
The new Riksbank building at Brunkeberg-
storg was completed in 1976 and took six
years to build. The black granite that cov-
ers the facades of the building was quar-
ried in Goinge in north Skdne. Stonemasons
in Bohuslan worked the large stone blocks,
producing their rough surface.

On entering the building, visitors are
met by walls, ceilings and furniture of light,

both pictures © Sveriges Riksbank.

thinly cut birch from Norrland and Finland.
The rooms and corridors are adorned with
sculptures, tapestries and oil paintings.
Peter Celsing was not con- tent with the cus-
tomary architect role. He also designed the
interior and engag- ed the services of artists
Sivert Lindblom and Ulrik Samuelson at an
early stage of his work.

Celsing chose the colours for the interi-
or together with the artist Olle Nyman. Here,

we encounter once again the black granite of
the building’s facades in the panelling and
floors. The walls are white, while the ceilings,
pillars and carpets are yellow.

Celsing used the geometric shapes of the
circle and square as a basis for his designs.
The main structure of the house creates the
impression of a huge cube; the main entrance
hallincludes cylinder-shaped doors, the inner
court forms a square and the top floor is

129

bulletin | 2016



SWEDEN

all pictues © Sveriges Riksbank.

shaped like a dome. The circular and square
shapes are also recurrent features of the fur-
niture and other decorative details.

As a contrast to the heavy structure and
black granite, Celsing chose to deco- rate the
interior with textiles. Several of the textiles
were woven by Handarbetets Vanner (the
Friends of Textile Art).

The architect

During the post-war era, the Klara
district of Stockholm was demolished.
The most prestigious assignments in the
rebuilding of this district were given to Peter

Celsing. Born in 1920, Celsing was an archi-
tect and professor at the Royal Institute
of Technology, having trained at the Roy-
al University College of Fine Arts. Follow-
ing graduation, he began his architectural
career in Beirut.

On his return to Sweden, Celsing was
appointed chief architect at Stockholms
Sparvagar (now Stockholm Transport)
where he became involved in the plann-
ing of underground metro stations for
Stockholm’s suburbs. In the 1950s, Celsing
designed the churches in Harlanda in Goth-
enburg, Almtuna in Uppsala and Vallingby

in Stockholm. He restored the university
library Carolina Rediviva in Uppsala as well
as the Royal Opera House and the Operakal-
laren restaurant in Kungstradgdrden in
Stockholm. In the 1960s, he also won two
Nordic com- petitions which resulted in the
Filmhuset building in Gardet and Sergels
Torg including Kulturhuset. The new Riks-
bank building on Brunkebergstorg proved
to be his last project. Peter Celsing died on
16 March 1974. His final days as an archi-
tect were spent working on the top floor
where he recreated the ‘old attics of his
childhood’. ®
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SEB’s building at Kungstradgardsgatan
celebrates 100 Years

Niklas Munter

On 23 September 1915 the doors opened
to what was then one of Stockholm’s most
modern banking palaces. The historic house
has since been the scene of a large part of
Swedish banking and corporate history, but
also a modern workplace, an environmen-
tally certified building and an increasingly
important customer meeting place.

It was in 1907 that the Board of Stock-
holm’s Enskilda Bank decided to leave its
headquarters at Lilla Nygatan in Stockholm’s
Old Town and instead build a new mod-
ern building. The following year, the bank
bought the current plot at Kungstradgarden,
where two older buildings stood at the time,
the Hotel du Nord and the Royal Dramatic
Theatre.

After demolishing the old building, in
September 1911 the bank announced an
architectural competition for the design of
the new house. The race was won by the
young architect Ivar Tengbom, who, inspired
by the medieval banking family di Medici in
Florence, designed a building that would
express stability, strength and security.

Tengbom later became one of
the most significant architects in Swe-
den. Among the other buildings he
designed are the Stockholm Concert Hall
and Stockholm School of Economics.

Inauguration.

On Thursday, September 23, 1915 the new
offices of Stockholm’s Enskilda Bank were
ready to be inaugurated. Banknotes and
documents were transported in the morning
from Lilla Nygatan and at 10:00 am the doors
opened to the public. The inauguration took
place in the presence of KA Wallenberg, who
at that time had left the operational man-
agement of the bank and was now the coun-
try’s foreign minister.

Both Aftonbladet and Svenska Dag-
bladet, two important newspapers, were
present at the opening ceremony and post-
ed impressive reviews about the new bank
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Restaurant Du The old Royal Dramatic

Nord was a popular Theatre was built in

destination for locals 1842 and torn down

in Stockholm around in 1910. The last

1900. © SEB. performance was in
June 1907. © SEB.

palace.

‘The first thing you will definitely notice
when entering this superior banking hall are
artistically sculpted, richly ornamented oak
gates that constitute the entrance to the
hall, wrote Aftonbladet.

‘When the first client on Thursday morn-
ing entered inside the massive bronze doors,
the whole machinery was paired and ready
to work. And soon, the sound of talking rose
and fell in Stockholm’s most modern bank-
ing hall, as if it had risen and fallen there for
years, wrote Svenska Dagbladet.

One of the novelties in the new office
was that officials received free lunches, but
in return they could not leave the bank’s
premises, unless they received special
authorisation.

Tradition and looking towards the future
One, who has spent many years in the
bank’s corridors, is SEB"s Chairman Marcus
Wallenberg.

‘| started spending time here when I was
ten years old. | was here often and the bank’s
kind janitor took care of me and my siblings
when we sat and waited. Eight years old, |
started a newspaper, which | printed down
in the bank’s print shop.

What does the continuity, represent-
ed by the building, mean? ‘This building is

1945: View of the bank
hall before remodelling
in 1946-1949. © SEB.

Ivar Tengbom. © SEB.

associated with a lot of tradition, but also
with looking towards the future. | definite-
ly believe that this building has a place in
the bank’s future and a place in the future
of business in general. Our business will of
course be much more digital in the future,
but you must have a place to meet, and this
is very practical, he says.

A building for client meetings

Also Annika Falkengren, CEO and president
of SEB, has a long relationship to the build-
ing at Kungstradgardsgatan.

‘The first time | came here was before
Christmas in 1987, when | was here on a job
interview. | rarely had any reason to come
here, to the so-called executive floor where
I work now. But, | remember it was very
quiet and closed here. Hopefully it is more
open and lively today.’What is your vision
for Kungstradgardsgatan going forward?

‘Many customers like to come to our
flagship building and take part in our his-
tory and our fine art... It is amazing that
all of us who work in the bank can feel that
we have 160 years of business culture and
business continuity behind us. But, at the
same time we work in the present and look
ahead because customers today have oth-
er needs. We must find a balance where we
take advantage of our proud heritage, while
we look to bring the bank forward.
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SWITZERLAND

Bank Lombard Odier & Co Ltd
at Rue De La Corraterie

Hugo Banziger and Céline Piguet Grand

he Bank Lombard Odier & Co Ltd

I (the ‘Bank’), whose offices are locat-
ed at 11 rue de la Corraterie, was
founded in 1796 by Henri Hentsch. Two
years later, Jean-Gédéon Lombard joined
as a Partner and the Bank was renamed
Henri Hentsch & Lombard. The partners
split in 1800 to each continue their own
business. However, in 2002, the two banks
Lombard Odier & Cie and Darier Hentsch
& Cie merged. The history of the Bank is
closely linked to that of its founding fami-
lies, to Geneva and to rue de la Corraterie.

Throughout its seven century exist-
ence, rue de la Corraterie has always
played an essential role in the life of Gene-
va. In the Middle Ages, during the mar-
ket fairs, there was a horse market in the
street named ‘Carreria corrateriae equo-
rum’ (horse market). In the seventeenth
century, the first Geneva horse racing came
to this place and the first riding masters,
along with their jockeys, were called ‘cor-
ratiers’. It is still considered today to be one
of the aristocratic streets of Geneva, for-
mal, elegant and without embellishment.

The current premises of the Bank in rue
de la Corraterie comprises several build-
ings that were constructed independently
of each other, but whose stories are often
interwoven. Two of the buildings have a
particularly rich history.

The town house located at 15 rue de
la Corraterie was built in 1708 by Abraham
Gallatin. The Gallatins were bankers to Lou-
is XIV but their wealth suffered considerably
from the French Revolution. Albert Gallatin
left Geneva for the United States where he
went into politics to support Thomas Jeffer-
son and eventually became Secretary to the
US Treasury. The legacy of Albert Gallatin
was essentially of debt and the family was
forced to sell their home. The bank Hentsch
rented the property from 1858. It was sub-
sequently bought by Mrs Trembley, wife of
Henri-Charles Lombard, who was a Doctor.

After the merger with Bonna & Cie in 1920,
a two-storey building that partly masks the
townhouse was built for Hentsch & Cie in
order to install bank counters. Around this
time, as the forge was removed, the last
medieval physical link between Corraterie
and the equine world disappeared.

Since 1858 Lombard Odier & Cie has
had its base at the townhouse at 11 rue
de la Corraterie. In 1921, Lombard Odier &
Cie proceeded with the demolition of the
cramped old house, and replaced it with
the current building designed by the Gene-
van architect Frantz Fulpius. It was opened
in 1923.

One of the most distinctive ‘motifs’
of the building at 11 rue de la Corraterie is
located on the door at the main entrance.
The decorative ornament on the door is
composed of four ears of wheat, separat-
ed by four ‘fleurons’. These elements are
linked by a flower in the center of each gold-
en symbol. Historically, farmers stored their
savings in a safe place: the bank. The ears
of wheat, symbolising the fruits of labour
in the fields, are still used by some banks to
represent industry and savings. ®
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SWITZERLAND

The Bank for International Settlements

in Basel and its landmark buildings:

Piet Clement

The BIS and Basel

The Bank for International Settlements (BIS),
an international organisation owned by and
working exclusively for central banks from
across the world, was created in 1930 by
international treaty (The Hague Agreement,
20 January 1930). The initial mandate of the
BIS was double: to administer the reparation
payments imposed on Germany after the First
World War, and to foster closer cooperation
between its member central banks. The rep-
aration payments issue quickly receded into
the background, turning central bank coop-
eration into the BIS’s main objective - which
remains to this day. In the 1930s, this cooper-
ation involved most European central banks,
plus those from the United States and Japan.
Today, 60 central banks from across the five
continents, together representing some 95%
of global GDP, are shareholding members of
the BIS.

Choosing a permanent home for the BIS
proved to be something of a challenge. The
UK government had hoped to lure the BIS
to London, the world’s main financial cen-
tre at the time, but the French objected and
instead proposed Brussels (realising that, for
political and emotional reasons, Paris would
be unacceptable to the Germans). In the end,
Brussels too was rejected - much to the ire
of the Belgian delegation participating in the
negotiations - and the final choice fell on
a location in neutral Switzerland. The ulti-
mate choice for Basel was arrived at by elim-
ination: Geneva was felt to be ‘too political’
(the League of Nations had its seat there),
Lausanne to be too small, and Zurich - Swit-
zerland’s main financial centre - to be ‘too
German’ (sic...). Basel offered the advan-
tage of being on the border with both France
and Germany, and of being a railway hub in
Europe with easy connections to most Euro-
pean capitals - important at a time when
most business travel happened by train and
not by plane.

The BIS building (former Grand Hétel Savoy
Univers) in the 1950s (centre). © BIS Archive.

The temporary becomes

(almost) permanent

There was a pressing urgency in finding suit-
able accommodation in Basel. The BIS was
scheduled to take over the tasks previous-
ly executed by the Office of the Agent General
for Reparations in Berlin as quickly as possible,
and to act as the trustee for a new internation-
al loan issued on behalf of Germany (the 1930
YoungLoan). The BIS’s first Board meeting took
place on 26-27 February 1930, at the premises
of the Bank of Italy in Rome. Scarcely two and
a half months later, on 17 May 1930, the new
organisation opened its doors for business in
a building on Centralbahnstrasse 7 in Basel,
just across from the west-wing of the Basel
main railway station. That building was the for-
mer Grand Hoétel Savoy Univers, built in 1902-
1905 in neo-classical style by the Swiss archi-
tects Emanuel La Roche and Fritz Staehelin
(La Roche also had a hand in the neo-baroque
railway station facing the hotel, completed in
1907). The hotel was adapted to its new func-
tions in record time: guest rooms were con-
verted into offices and the elegant dining
room became the Board meeting room annex
library. The BIS at first rented the building, as
this was thought to be only a temporary solu-
tion. However, in the end the BIS would remain
at the Centralbahnstrasse 7 until 1977. In 1954,
the Bank bought the building outright, but by
then it was already too small.

BIS construction site, 1973-74. © BIS Archive.

The gradual expansion of the Bank
after the Second World War - staff numbers
crept up from about 150 in the mid-1950s
to 250 in the mid-1970s - meant that addi-
tional office space had to be rented or pur-
chased in some of the adjacent buildings.
This prompted the Bank in 1956 to com-
mission from the Basel architect Martin
Burckhardt plans for a new high-rise build-
ing at the Grand Hoétel Savoy Univers loca-
tion. These plans - initially for a twelve
but soon for an eighteen-storey building
- were not particularly welcomed by the
BIS’s neighbours, nor by the Basel author-
ities. The matter was left to rest until 1965,
when Martin Burckhardt was again asked
to prepare a study for a new BIS building
at the Centralbahnstrasse or at a suitable,
neighbouring location. Different possibili-
ties were considered, until the final choice
fell on a large piece of land opposite the
east-wing of the main railway station and
only a few hundred meters from the orig-
inal location. The BIS was able to acquire
the land in 1968. From the outset, the Basel
municipal government welcomed any BIS
plans in this area, as it was in dire need of
renovation.

1 Thisarticleis based on BIS Archives and on papers kindly pro-
vided by Mr J-M Andreoli, who was directly involved in the Tow-
er building project.
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Up, up, up and... down

In December 1969, architect Burckhardt pre-
sented three different designs to the BIS
Board of Directors: a round, high tower of
24-floors (82 metres tall); a horizontal block
of 11 floors with rounded angles; or a rec-
tangular complex with different building
units of different heights. The Board quick-
ly settled for the tower concept. In Febru-
ary 1970, the Bank applied for a building
licence, but immediately met with opposi-
tion from the Heimatschutz, a local heritage
organisation that argued that a 82-metres
high tower would spoil Basel’s historic skyline
as it would be visible from the right Rhine-
bank, rising above Basel’s Muinster cathedral
spire. Arevised project for a tower comprising
18-floors and 69 metres high was approved by
the Basel Grossrat (Parliament) in May 1971.
To make up for the loss in height, the surface
of the lower floors was considerably enlarged.

There were further delays. The ink on
the Grossrat-Beschluss (authorization) was
hardly dry before the Swiss federal govern-
ment decreed a general, temporary build-
ing stop to break the inflationary pressure
on the Swiss economy of an already over-
charged building sector. Almost simultane-
ously, the Basel National Action committee
started to collect the necessary signatures
for a referendum against the BIS project.
One of the arguments used by the commit-
tee was that the planned tower ‘... would
constitute a disturbing feature (...) spoiling
the agreeable placid appearance of Basel.
The referendum was duly held on 24-26 Sep-
tember 1971 and rejected with a resounding
32,371 against 14,210 votes (or 69% in favour
of the BIS project).

The excavation of the land on which
the tower was to be built started in July
1972. From December of that year the con-
crete foundations were laid. The first stone
was laid on 14 May 1973. The structure of the
building was finished by April 1975, when
the traditional fir tree was raised on the top.
From then it took another two years before
everything was ready to receive staff and the
Bank’s visitors in their brand-new, ultra-mod-
ern offices. The building activity was the most
intense towards the end of 1976, when occa-
sionally more than 350 construction work-
ers worked simultaneously on the building
site. On the day the outer facade on the top
floor was mounted it was bitterly cold and
snow fell heavily. In spite of the enormity and
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complexity of the construction work, not a
single serious accident occurred in the four
and a half years it took to build the Tower.

The Bank’s staff moved into their new
premises on Monday, 21 March 1977, and
seven weeks later, on 9 May 1977, the official
inauguration took place. The old building,
the former Grand Hoétel Savoy Univers, was
sold in 1979 to a local insurance company.

Opinions on the aesthetic value of the
Tower may differ (it has a distinct 1970s
feel to it). Undeniably, though, the build-
ing has established itself as a well-known
landmark in the Basel townscape. In many
respects, the Tower has withstood the test
of time remarkably well. The round shape of
the building allows for an abundant flow of
natural light. On a very practical level it also
means you can never get lost in the building,
as eventually you will always come back to
your starting point.

A second landmark in Basel

During the 1990s, as the BIS was globalising
far beyond the initial European sphere, staff
numbers rose gradually from some 350 to
over 500. The Bank had outgrown the Tower
and an architectural competition was organ-
ised for the extension of the building at its
existing location. The jury chose the design by
the renowned Japanese architect Toyo Ito - a
rectangular glass extension protruding from
the base of the Tower building with a roof ter-
race and inner courtyard. However, adding
an entirely new wing to the building would
have taken a number of years. Unexpect-
edly, at about the same time an alternative
solution presented itself. In December 1997,
the Union Bank of Switzerland and the Swiss
Bank Corporation announced their merger
to form UBS. As a result, the Swiss Bank Cor-
poration no longer needed the head office at
the Aeschenplatz in Basel it had constructed
in 1993-94 according to a design by the Swiss
architect Mario Botta. This building, located at
lessthan a kilometre from the BIS Tower, could
be made available almost immediately, solv-
ing in one stroke the BIS’s space problem. The
BIS acquired the Botta building in 1998, and
occupied it the same year after some internal
adjustments. The building’s design and use of
materials is very typical of Mario Botta’s style.
Its half-round shape and the alternation of
light and dark grey natural stone walls make
it an eye-catching presence that nevertheless
fits in well with the surrounding space.

The BIS Tower, Basel, Martin Burckhardt architect
1972-77. © BIS Archive.
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The BIS Botta building, Basel, Mario Botta
architect, 1993-94. © BIS Archive.

Outside Basel

Since the late 1990s, the BIS has also
expanded outside Basel, albeit on a more
modest scale. First, in 1998, a represent-
ative office for the Asia-Pacific region was
set up in the Hong Kong Special Adminis-
trative Region of the People’s Republic of
China. The BIS Asian Office currently occu-
pies a floor of the spectacular, 415-metres
tall 2 International Finance Centre in Hong
Kong’s Central District, which was complet-
ed in 2003 and is also home to the Hong
Kong Monetary Authority (Hong Kong'’s
central bank). In 2002, a second represent-
ative office was opened in Mexico City to
better serve the central bank communi-
ty in the Americas. It is housed in the Torre
Chapultepec, a 109-metres high construc-
tion completed in 1993.
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To beautify and ornament Zurich.
Credit Suisse’s head office on Paradeplatz

Joseph Jung

efore the middle of the 19th centu-
B ry nobody could have known that

Zurich would one day develop into a
major transport hub, a hotbed of academic
and scientific research and one of the world’s
great banking centers, in the process becom-
ing the focal point of Switzerland’s economy
and society. When the new Swiss state was
created in 1848, the Confederation’s politi-
cal, economic and social structures changed
too, and it was in this context that the Zurich
business and political leader Alfred Escher
(1819-1882) emerged as a transformational
figure. He, more than anyone else, kick-start-
ed the development of modern Switzer-
land. He was also the founding father of
Credit Suisse (originally known as Schweiz-
erische Kreditanstalt), which since the final
quarter of the 19th century has dominat-
ed Zurich’s Paradeplatz with its grand head
office building.

Three palaces for Zurich

Escher’s central concern was the develop-
ment of Switzerland’s railways. He recog-
nized that railways were crucial to a coun-
try’s economic and social development and
that railway infrastructure would decide
the question of whether and when a state
joined the modern world. Escher set the
pace for railway construction in Switzerland,
which in the crucial early years was entire-
ly a private-sector matter. State-run Swiss
Federal Railways (SBB) was only founded in
1902. The advance of the steam locomotive
in Switzerland was predicated on a whole
series of other developments, all of which
were connected to Escher in some way. He
oversaw what has come to be recognized as
the greatest period of building construction
in Zurich’s history. Even today, no other pol-
itician or business leader is quite as present
in the city as Escher. The three ‘palaces’ he
had built in Zurich symbolize the importance
of education, banking and transportation.
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Alfred Escher (1819-1882), the man who
commissioned Credit Suisse’s head office building
on Paradeplatz in Zurich. Etching by Edouard
Jeanmaire (1847-1916).

These are the Polytechnic (1861-1864), the
home of academic enquiry perched above
the old city; the main train station (1865-
1871), guarded since 1889 by the huge stat-
ue of Escher; and finally the Credit Suisse
building (1873-1876), which turned Parade-
platz into the center of the financial indus-
try and the main focal point for Bahnhof-
strasse. It is interesting that Escher didn’t
push through plans for the fourth palace, a
temple for music and theatre. It would have
been the natural thing for him to build this,
partly in honor of Richard Wagner, who lived
in Zurich from 1849 until 1858. After build-
ing the Polytechnic, Gottfried Semper got
as far as designing and planning the concert
hall for Wagner, his friend from revolutionary
days in Dresden. But the plans never came to
fruition. The unremittingly busy Escher did
not have a really deep attachment to music
and he was preoccupied by countless other
commercial and political projects.

The founding of Credit Suisse: a sensational
share issue and leased premises

About two decades elapsed between the
founding of Credit Suisse (or Schweizerische
Kreditanstalt as it was known then) on July
5, 1856, and the date it moved into the pres-
tigious building that still serves as the bank’s
headquarters to this day. The new bank and
its half dozen employees first based them-
selves in ‘Kleiner Tiefenhof’, a long, two-story
building right next to the Confiserie Spriingli
confectionery shop.

Before the bank launched its public offer-
ing, there were mixed opinions about whether it
would succeed or not. The popular view seemed
to be that poor demand would force the found-
ing committee led by Escher to take on a large
proportion of the available shares themselves.
The subscription was indeed fraught with con-
siderable risk. Nobody could know how the
Zurich public would respond to the founda-
tion of a new bank in the mold of France’s Crédit
Mobilier. What is more, founding a company in
the form of a publicly listed company was by no
means an ordinary event in mid-19th century
Switzerland. Ranged against the cautious and
critical were those of a more optimistic bent,
who believed in the birth of a new and mod-
ern Switzerland with infrastructure fit for the
future. But what actually happened exceeded
the imaginings of even the greatest optimist.
On the very first day of subscription, tumultu-
ous scenes were witnessed in front of the bank’s
premises as crowds of people tried to cram into
the small offices. The Credit Suisse issue dom-
inated conversation on the street and was tak-
en up by the media. Arguments for or against
an investment in the new bank were soon for-
gotten. Subscribing to Credit Suisse shares had
become a social event, a mark of good taste.
The share issue became a phenomenon with-
out parallel in the economic history of 19th cen-
tury Switzerland. The issue was sensationally
successful and the shares were approximately
seventy times oversubscribed.
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The main facade of the new Credit Suisse building
on Paradeplatz. Architectural drawing from 1872
by Jakob Friedrich Wanner (1830-1903), based

on the drawing by Johann Kaspar Wolff (1818-
1891). The bank moved into its new building on
September 25, 1876.

The bank’s staff grew continually in the
first year of business, and a move to larg-
er premises was soon unavoidable. But it
was decided that the time was not yet ripe
to buy or build its very own premises, so in
April 1858 the head office was moved out of
‘Kleiner Tiefenhof’ and into the east wing of
the post office building, which was later to
become ‘Zentralhof’, just by the Fraumiin-
ster church. Soon, though, the bank outgrew
these offices too and it jumped at the chance
to rent the post office manager’s rooms in
the other wing of the building. Although the
number of employees continued to increase
over the following years, a lack of alterna-
tives meant that the bank remained at this
address for about a decade.

It became increasingly clear to Cred-
it Suisse’s Board of Directors that the search
for a new base would have to be intensified.
In December 1864 the decision was made to
build the bank’s own premises. At the end
of 1871 the section of the ‘Feldhof’ site bor-
dering Paradeplatz and Talacker - where the
old cemetery and the cantonal arsenal had
been located - came up for sale. The bank
and other investors bought the whole site
for around 700,000 francs. The bank took
over the part it needed and the other plots
went to the other investors. At the time it was
arelatively high price to pay for land, but the
ambitious bank seized the opportunity and
bought a plot at the edge of town that would
eventually become the heart of Zurich in
terms of both geography and importance,
and that evolved into a national and interna-
tional financial center.
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Jakob Friedrich Wanner (1830-1903), architect of
Credit Suisse’s head office building, with his wife.
Photograph from 1896 by J. Meiner.

Building the head office

As soon as the land purchase was completed
in 1872 the Board of Directors acted quick-
ly to get construction underway. It decided
to hold a competition and invited ten archi-
tects to submit plans. From the very start,
however, the other contestants must have
realized that it would be difficult to beat
Jacob Friedrich Wanner (1830-1903). He was
chief architect at Escher’s Nordostbahn rail-
way company and had just delivered a fan-
tastic piece of work in the shape of Zurich’s
new main train station (built between 1865
and 1871).

The planning committee chaired by
Escher awarded first prize to Wanner’s con-
cept, though in equal place with the one sub-
mitted by Johann Kaspar Wolff (1818-1891).
The big attraction of Wolff’s plans was his
design for the facade, while the interior lay-
out of the building proposed by Wanner was
particularly impressive. In the end, Wanner
was chosen for the job, though with the pro-
viso that he include a Wolff-style facade in
his definitive plans. Once Zurich city coun-
cil had issued the building permit, the con-
struction company Locher & Cie. started on
excavation work in spring 1873. The basic
build was completed on schedule by the end
of 1874. After that, however, there were mas-
sive delays in the remaining work. The pro-
ject was hit by schedule and cost overruns,
mainly as a result of ongoing changes and
additions to the plans, new planning reg-
ulations and Wanner’s ailing health. Con-
sequently, Credit Suisse’s employees, now
numbering more than fifty, were only able to

Zurich. Photograph from around 1900.

move into the building at the end of Septem-
ber 1876, around two and a half years late.
At that time the bank only occupied the
part of the building on the corner of Parade-
platz/Talacker. The rest of the property was
rented out at first to companies, doctors and
private individuals. There was great demand
for space at this increasingly prestigious
address, and by 1877 the bank was already
taking in 72,000 francs in rent. Business vol-
ume and employee numbers continued to
increase as the years went by and the bank
once gain had to expand physically. Grad-
ually, Credit Suisse spread out into the two
neighboring parts of the building. By 1901,
none of the head office building, apart from
the seven-room director’s apartment, was
being used for residential purposes any more.

Architecture of the head office building

Escher had said that the appearance of the
new bank building should beautify and orna-
ment the city of Zurich as much as the unique
railway station building had done. Wanner
responded with a design for a complex made
up of distinct parts, some inspired by the
Renaissance and some by Baroque style. The
specifications also called for a monumental
appearance, which the building fulfilled by
its sheer scale and size, but also by the taut
formality of the main facade onto Parade-
platz. The whole complex consists of three
distinct buildings, designed to give the sense
of one single extended structure. The large
central building, which has nine axes and
accounts for more than half the frontage,
features a broad cornice, a weighty frieze
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Credit Suisse’s head office on Paradeplatz in
Zurich with five horse-drawn taxis waiting in front
of the main entrance. The legendary ‘Rosslitram’
(‘Pony Tram’) can also be seen in the foreground
of this picture, taken around 1890.

and a row of colossal columns. The exteri-
or of the building is broken up by the use of
slightly protruding or recessed sections and
avery regular pattern of windows. The mate-
rial used is sandstone.

Escher also stipulated that the archi-
tecture of Credit Suisse’s showpiece build-
ing should give an impression of gran-
deur and solidity. This is why today we see
a main facade towering over Paradeplatz
with colossal pillars and pilasters extend-
ing upwards in front of the two upper floors
of the central building, as well as a highly
structured cornice fused to the frieze, which
ties the top floor smoothly into the overall
facade - truly a crowning finish to a building
of imperial stature. It is certainly no criticism
to note that Wanner took various elements
from other architects and existing build-
ings and wove these into the Credit Suisse
building. Quite the contrary. The subtle han-
dling of the influence of facade designs used
on the Bank in Zurich (architect Georg Lasi-
us, built in 1872/73) and on the Polytechnic
(Gottfried Semper’s design with its highlight-
ed bossage on the central section) was very
much to his credit.

The entrance to the Credit Suisse build-
ing was initially in the courtyard and in no
way reflected the ornate facade present-
ed to Paradeplatz. Probably for this reason,
the board decided in 1881 to complete the
38 meter wide central section of the front-
age facing Bahnhofstrasse with decorative
figures. Wanner refused the job of produc-
ing a concept, so architect Adolf Brunner
was given the job instead. A design compe-
tition was launched, which was ultimately
won by the Geneva-based sculptor Charles
Frangois Marie Iguel (1827-1897), who was
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also asked to make the pieces. By 1882 three
seated female figures (allegories for indus-
try, commerce and farming) were ready to
be installed, flanked on each side by groups
of children (representing study and vig-
ilance); these were followed a year later
by a female figure with two floating spir-
its (representing the arts and crafts) look-
ing out over Bahnhofstrasse. It turned out
that the Schleitheimer sandstone express-
ly requested by the artist was not resistant
to frost, and in 1894 the left leg of the left
spirit fell into Bahnhofstrasse. A net was put
up to catch falling pieces of sculpture, but it
proved ineffective, so to avoid further dam-
age to pedestrians and to the sculptures
themselves, the groups of figures were
gradually removed. The current groups, fac-
ing both Bahnhofstrasse and Paradeplatz,
were inspired by Iguel and installed as part
of the comprehensive facade refurbishment
carried out in 1996/97 by a consortium led
by Josef Ineichen.

Conversions and renovations
Credit Suisse’s head office building has now
dominated Paradeplatz for 140 years. During
this time, the whole complex, inside and out,
including facades, has had to be refurbished
several times. The work done in the early
1930s was entrusted to the two star Swiss
architects of their day Otto Pfister (1880-
1959) and Werner Pfister (1884-1950). They
created new internal spaces for the securi-
ties desks and a lobby. They also extended
the small board room. Twenty years later the
Pfister brothers renovated the entire exteri-
or of the complex. Credit Suisse’s decision in
the 1950/60s not to jump on the bandwagon
and to replace its headquarters with a brand
new building, which is what the Bankverein
(now UBS) did with the neighboring building
on Paradeplatz, now appears courageous.
We must be grateful today that those deci-
sion-makers continued to value Escher’s
imposing palace of banking, electing to keep
it rather than knock it down to make way for
a new structure that would almost certain-
ly have failed to meet the architectural and
functional requirements of the present day.
From 1965 to 1970 the architect Wer-
ner Sticheli (1916-1983) reconfigured
the ground floor facing Bahnhofstrasse
and Paradeplatz with an enlarged lobby
and a new banking hall. Major renovation
works had to be carried out on the facades

between 1993 and 1997 owing to serious
deterioration. Pollution-laden rain had eat-
en into the sandstone, which was beginning
to fall off in slivers or turn to powder. Arti-
ficial stone parts used in previous renova-
tions had blackened, so these were replaced
by sandstone. The huge sandstone balcony
slabs were remounted, and new wrought-
iron roof and balcony railings were installed.
The most recent modifications took place
between 1999 and 2002 when the entire
ground floor area was redesigned. The bank
now only occupies around 1450 m2 of the
ground floor. Most of the rest is rented out
to shops (1650 m2) or is given over to public
usage (1200 m2).
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Architecture for Raiffeisen.
Fvery bank building is unique

Andreas Hiittenmoser

he Raiffeisen Group, which is organ-

ised as a cooperative, is the third larg-

est Swiss bank, with 1000 locations
and some 300 organisationally- and legal-
ly-independent Raiffeisen banks. A signifi-
cant characteristic of the individual banks
is their local integration into the communi-
ties and cities. The Raiffeisen banks invest
around CHF 150 - 170 million in their infra-
structure each year.

As a service centre for the cooperatives
(IT, Central Bank, Legal Service, Specialist
Consulting, etc.) Raiffeisen Switzerland cov-
ers the core activities that are available to
all of the banks. Within Raiffeisen Switzer-
land, Construction Consulting fulfils an advi-
sory role for all of the Raiffeisen banks. As
the name implies, Construction Consulting
merely provides advice; decisions are made
locally by the individual banks.

Raiffeisen is a heterogeneous group
with very strong regional and local inte-
gration, giving each individual Raiffeisen
bank its own individual identity. This sig-
nificant characteristic can also be noticed
with regard to the architecture. In con-
trast to its competitors, Raiffeisen does
not want a consistent, repetitive corporate
design for its bank branches. From a pure-
ly visual and superficial perspective, the red
Raiffeisen lettering is the only feature that
links the banks.

Raiffeisen is moving forward with the
‘Archability’ strategy

Under the title ‘Archability’, Raiffeisen has
developed a strategy based on the guid-
ing principles of sustainability, architec-
ture + design and processes, which has cre-
ated a new definition of corporate design
that is geared precisely towards the needs
of a cooperative. But how is it possible to
define a corporate design which has no spe-
cific design? Our understanding of CD is vir-
tually the antithesis to the traditional term,

12

Raiffeisenbank Zurich at the Kreuzplatz. Pictures of historical personalities who lived
in the Hottingen area have been appliquéd on the walls. Foto: Jan Bitter, Berlin.

which generally describes a recognition fac-
tor that is produced through the continuous
and repeated use of individual design or spa-
tial elements.

This of course means that some ele-
ments are not designed, while others
become a part of the design and are there-
fore located within the boundaries of the
system. With ‘Archability’, these boundaries
are not only extended, but also transferred
to other dimensions, which differ from the
traditional, visually and haptically-charac-
terised ones, such as design sustainability or
quality. In other words, the idea of the corpo-
rate design becomes more important than
the actual product, as this can be integrated
seamlessly thanks to strictly defined frame-
work conditions.

Although the banks are formally com-
pletely different, they represent a part of

‘Archability’ and are thus part of the idea
of Raiffeisen. This approach has significant
benefits for the individual Raiffeisen banks.
As they act independently, which means
they are also responsible for their proper-
ty, they are capable of determining their
own room to manoeuvre. Each building is
therefore unique, which in turn supports
the cooperative, local idea while promoting
local business (more than 80% of the invest-
ments are made within the region) and ena-
bling extraordinary solutions.

Good construction is not more expensive

Another core concern of Raiffeisen is the
provision of support for Swiss art. In many
cases the banks, together with the internal
Art department of Raiffeisen Switzerland,
launch their own art competitions. In 2015,
for example, Raiffeisenbank Untersee-Rhein
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Banque Raiffeisen Franches-Montagnes in Saignelégier: Extension to a listed building as part of the
urban development concept. Foto: Thomas Jantscher Architekturfotografie, Colombier.

received the renowned Prix Visarte for its
commitment in relation to an installation by
Yves Netzhammer.

The majority of the Raiffeisen renova-
tions and new developments are based on
architecture competitions or specific stud-
ies. As a constructor, it is important for us
to formulate the programme with as much
detail as possible, but nevertheless provide
the architects involved with as much leeway
as possible for making decisions in relation
to important aspects. We issue public ten-
ders and choose the participants selectively,
in which the criterion of regionalism is very
important.

Looking back on 20 years of strong and
committed support to the arts and contem-
porary architecture, we can draw a very pos-
itive conclusion. We now know that poor
construction is just as expensive as good
construction. The individuality of each bank
highlights the desire to be and remain local
and to cater to the needs of the location and
customers. Above all as a bank that predom-
inantly deals with the financing of owner-oc-
cupied homes, we like to show our expertise
and responsibility when it comes to the plan-
ning and construction of buildings.
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It is surely no coincidence that Raiffei-
sen regularly receives prizes and accolades
for outstanding examples of valuable, con-
temporary architecture, both at a nation-
al and international level. Further thoughts
and impressions regarding architecture can
be found at: www.raiffeisen.ch/architektur

Customer room at the
Raiffeisenbank in Appenzell.

In the background, you can see
frescos from the 16th century
that have been exposed and
restored. Foto: Jean-Claude
Jossen, St.Gallen.
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The Swiss National Bank’s head office in Zurich.
A new feature on the city’s familiar skyline

Evelyn Ingold

he Swiss National Bank’s (SNB’s)
T head office in Zurich emerged from

a matrix of tensions. This wrangling
saw politicians pitted against businesspeo-
ple, one city (Zurich) competing against
another (Berne), urban modernisers rub-
bing up against supporters of the status quo
- and all this amid the often cumbersome
mechanisms of direct democracy.

Two SNB head offices as a compromise
between business centre and federal
capital

The Swiss National Bank was established at
the beginning of the 20th century, which is
fairly recent compared to other countries.
After the National Bank Act entered into force
in January 1906, suitable conditions for oper-
ations needed to be created within a short
time. This included finding premises for the
two head offices in Berne and Zurich.

The fact that the SNB has two head offic-
es - the legal and administrative domicile in
Berne and the seat of the Governing Board
in Zurich - is the result of a typically Swiss
compromise following a hard-fought politi-
cal debate on the legal form of the SNB. The
dispute over whether the central bank should
serve mainly private business or the state
also affected the choice of domicile. A fine
balance had to be found between the inter-
ests of Zurich, as the centre of banking, and
those of Berne, as the federal capital and seat
of government and administration. It was
also necessary to strike a balance in the divi-
sion of powers and responsibilities between
the Confederation and the SNB. For political
reasons, Berne was given precedence in the
construction of head office buildings. Even
before appointing the three Governing Board
members in 1907, the Federal Council decid-
ed that the SNB should be housed in a pres-
tigious building on Bundesplatz square in
Berne, where the new parliament buildings
had been opened in 1902. For the Confeder-
ation, which had taken over a number of new

Swiss National Bank, Berne head office, ca. 1930. Copyright: SNB.

responsibilities from the cantons in the previ-
ous few years, constructing imposing public
buildings was one way of indicating its rise in
importance. The new building at Bundesplatz
1openedin January 1912, only five years after
the SNB had commenced operations. In 2012,
to mark the Berne head office’s 100th anniver-
sary, a monograph on the history of the build-
ing’s construction was published by the SNB.!
The rest of this article will therefore focus on
the construction of the Zurich head office.

In contrast to Berne, constructing a suita-
ble building for the SNB in Zurich was no easy
matter. Although the city, as Switzerland’s
most important banking and trading cen-
tre, had managed to overcome considerable
opposition in its desire to house the second
SNB head office, finding an adequate location
proved difficult. Once the site had been found
in Zurich’s budding business district, con-
struction of the planned building was almost
blocked by a referendum.

Arduous search for a building location on
Bahnhofstrasse

When the SNB launched operations in Basel,
Berne, St Gallen and Zurich, the Zurich office

was located in the building of the former
Bank in Zlirich on Bahnhofstrasse.2After just a
few years, however, the premises proved too
small. Due to lack of space, the SNB was una-
ble to properly organise its Informationsabtei-
lung (information department), and the sta-
tistics unit’s employees were ‘crammed
together in narrow rooms with little light’?
Finding a suitable site to erect a larger build-
ingturned out to be hard. At that time, land for
building development in Zurich’s prime busi-
ness area was becoming scarce and increas-
ingly expensive. The SNB was looking for a
first-class location ‘amid the town’s banks,
which have all gradually gathered together on
and around Bahnhofstrasse’, but prices, rang-
ing from CHF 1,100 to CHF 1,500 per square
metre, were extremely high, and the last via-
ble site for construction had been snapped up
by the Union Bank of Switzerland.*

Bahnhofstrasse

A municipal development project

In the decades prior to World War |, Zurich’s
Bahnhofstrasse,whichlinkstherailwaystation
and the lake, became the centre of Zurich’s
business district in connection with the city’s
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Swiss National Bank, Zurich head office, ca. 1945.
© SNB. Picture credits: ASNB: GE-ZH-BOER-36.

rapid urban and economic development.
Bahnhofstrasse had originally been laid out
in the 1860s in a project drawn up by Zurich’s
municipal engineer, Arnold Burkli, who
addressed the challenges of the fast-growing
city by creating a sewerage system, introduc-
ing a centralised water supply and planning a
tramway network. Arnold Biirkli planned Bah-
nhofstrasse as a broad boulevard above the
filled-in Froschengraben (frog trench), a for-
mer moat alongside the medieval city walls. It
was to be a ‘splendid’ street, but - typically for
Zurich - not a ‘luxury construction’®

The years of economic upturn follow-
ing the Franco-German War also saw the
area between Bahnhofstrasse, the lake and
the Limmat river become a highly desirable
location for hotels, businesses, residential
property and financial institutions. Five-floor
Blockrandbauten (closed terraced blocks),
prescribed by the city’s building regulations,
made for harmonious overall development.
Plots sold by the city had to be developed
within five years. As a result, what was former-
ly a poor and ‘disorderly’ district known as the
Kratzquartier was transformed into a planned
grid of redeveloped streets.®

It was an explicit goal of the municipal
authorities that this old city district should
lose its former character in the process. The
Kratzquartier, with its narrow alleys, angular
houses and brothel, had been home to the
town’s executioners as well as to vagabonds
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Stadthausanlagen park flanked by the River Limmat and Lake
Zurich; City of Zurich survey plan, ca. 1910. © and picture credits:
City of Zurich architectural history archive .

and other social outcasts. The redevelop-
ment of the entire area finally put an end to
its lingering repute as a scruffy and unsavoury
district. Within a few years, labourers’ work-
shops, market stands and a quarantine sta-
tion for people suspected of having small-
pox were replaced by classy shops sporting
two-floor-high fronts and prestigious build-
ings with facades in neo-Renaissance style. A
grand café with a glass cupola above the inner
courtyard added a big-city - almost Parisian
- touch.” Towards the lake front, the district
was bordered by a popular little park known
as the Stadthausanlagen.

The city makes an offer

Ssouth-facing site with lake view available
In 1913, the SNB received several requests

to consider quality building plots in Zurich’s
new business district, possibly due to the
economic downturn and banking crisis
between 1910 and 1912.8 However, the

Bank Committee’s deliberations, viewings
and discussions came to an end when it
received an offer from the City of Zurich in
January 1914. In the northern part of the
Stadthausanlagen park, in the area formerly
known as the Kratzquartier at the upper end
of Bahnhofstrasse, a 2,000 square metre plot
close to the lake had come up for sale at a
cost of CHF 500 per square metre. The site
was exceptional, as was the price. Indeed,
the SNB feared it was so modest that it might

‘scandalise senior municipal figures’; it was
well aware that, just 10 years earlier, the
city’s burghers had voted to block the sale of
the very same plot of land to make way for a
municipal art gallery.®

The site in question - the last availa-
ble building plot in this new part of town -
had long been earmarked for development
and the city had eventually decided to plant
it with trees until a definitive use had been
found. As the many fruitless discussions and
rejected building plans attest, particular sig-
nificance was attached to this parcel of land
on the southern rim of the city, not least
because it enjoyed a panoramic view of the
Alps. These mountains, and the myths asso-
ciated with them, were becoming increas-
ingly integral to Switzerland’s national iden-
tity around the turn of the century. Zurich’s
urban planners were looking for an archi-
tecturally coherent project to round out this
area of town. For its part, the SNB saw the
offer as an opportunity to erect a new struc-
ture ‘whose architecture could rival its sister
building in Berne’*

Opposition to developing the Stadthausan-
lagen park and a tight referendum

In the purchase agreement, the SNB commit-
ted to building a ‘monumental structure’ on
the site and agreed to launch a public com-
petition for architectural proposals.t! Zurich’s
Stadtrat (City Council) would have the chance
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to weigh in during the selection process for
the definitive project. However, opposition
to the sale of the land began to build as the
Stadthausanlagen park was much-loved by
Zurich’s townsfolk.

Anticipating a contentious debate in par-
liament, the City Council added a passage to
the legislative proposal in which it guaran-
teed to preserve the remaining portion of the
Stadthausanlagen park and all of its trees.
After a heated discussion, the proposal was
adopted by a majority. But the plan’s oppo-
nents were having none of it and promptly
initiated a referendum. This political instru-
ment, which had been anchored in the can-
tonal constitution since 1869, allowed citizens
to demand a referendum on any proposed
legislation, provided they could gather a
sufficient number of signatures. A referen-
dum on the project was duly held in the sum-
mer of 1915, one year after the outbreak of
World War .

Letters to the editor of the Neue Ziircher
Zeitung (NZZ) of the time show that readers
considered the prospect of an encroachment
on the park to be ‘outrageous), as it was one
of the few remaining places in the city where
people could relax and regenerate. ‘Especial-
ly over lunch time and after work, virtually all
of the benches are occupied, they argued.®
Proponents, on the other hand, highlighted
the many ways in which the SNB had benefit-
ed the population since its foundation - both

in peacetime and, most especially, during the
war. ‘It is only thanks to the financial strength
of the SNB that the federal authorities have
been able to manage Switzerland’s food sup-
ply in such away that we should be able to get
by reasonably well, assuming fate remains on
our side.® This was the line adopted by the
City of Zurich. In the various voting docu-
ments they also reminded citizens of how
hard they had fought to persuade feder-
al authorities of the need for a head office in
Zurich. ‘The SNB in Berne already has a new
and magnificent home in a prime location -
indeed it has already moved into these prem-
ises. It would be absurd and short-sighted if
Zurich were to deny the National Bank a simi-
lar building site for its second - and commer-
cially far more significant - head office.*

Although virtually all political parties
had pushed for a ‘yes’ vote, the result of the
referendum was very close. With 12,961 ‘yes’
and 12,353 ‘no’ votes, the sale of the land to
the SNB was approved. But the ‘no’ camp was
not going to take the result lying down. After
unsuccessful attempts to appeal the deci-
sion at district and cantonal level (Bezirksrat
and Regierungsrat respectively), they brought
the case before the Federal Supreme Court.
Looking back on the episode, one of Zurich’s
city councillors at the time, Emil Kl6ti, recalls
‘Seldwyla-esque scenes’ts

The competition

SWITZERLAND

Markers in the Stadthausanlagen park stake out
the site of the new SNB head office in Zurich, March
1919. ©SNB. Picture credits: ASNB: GE-ZH-BOER-172.

A project by the Pfister brothers carries
the day

In spring 1916 an architecture competition
was held for the planned bank building.
125 designs were submitted. A proposal by
the Pfister brothers, entitled ‘Im Kratz’, was
ranked fifth in the first round, but came first
in the second round of the competition; after
several modifications, the project was cho-
sen and ultimately built.

The winners of the competition
belonged to a generation of modern archi-
tects who had made their names by design-
ing functional structures that employed
new techniques and materials. However,
these two Zurich architects took their cue
from historical structures rather than from
a particular architectural theory. Pragmat-
ic in style, they sought inspiration in tra-
ditional architectural forms and strove to
reconcile the old and the new. They were
particularly committed to excellent crafts-
manship in their designs and were keen to
ensure that their buildings chimed with the
regional and topographical context. Archi-
tecture professor Karl Moser, who taught
at the ETH Zurich and in whose Karlsru-
he-based architectural office Moser&Cu-
riel Otto Pfister had done his apprentice-
ship, wrote disparagingly about the pair
later in a letter to Le Corbusier.’® But their
proposed mixture of traditional and pro-
gressive forms was well received by the
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contractor, the authorities and the gener-
al population. Having designed two depart-
ment stores and a bank building in baroque
and neo-gothic style, the Pfister brothers
had already changed the face of Bahnhof-
strasse, and their practice would go on to
shape Zurich’s architecture at the begin-
ning of the 20th century like no other, with
municipal and cantonal projects including
a railway station, hospitals and cantonal
administration buildings.

Construction phase during the post-
war crisis
Due to World War I, building work could not
commence until the spring of 1919. The moist
subsoil on the site, which had once been lake-
side terrain, meant an end-to-end reinforced
concrete slab had to be used in the founda-
tions. It took three years to erect the monu-
mental but unpretentious cube. The outer
walls were made of light shell limestone from
Aargau, as stipulated in the competition, and
the floor of the vestibule was made of Tici-
no granite. Various artists were hired to deco-
rate the pillars and cornices of the flat facade
with detailed but restrained sculptures. The
entrance to the public cashier’s counter was
positioned underneath the arches on the
ground floor, while the offices were located
on the upper levels.

The building was a milestone for Zurich
in several ways.}” A prominent, outward-fac-
ing structure that marked the end of the city’s

expansion in the Kratzquartier between Bah-
nhofstrasse and Fraumiinsterstrasse, it con-
cluded an urban development that had been
under way since the middle of the 19th centu-
ry; during this period, Zurich had moved from
being a predominantly riverside to a predom-
inantly lakeside city. Economically, too, the
building’s construction proved to be a stroke
of luck for Zurich. Again and again, people
emphasised what a boon the building pro-
ject had been during a time of crisis, as it had
kept 210 local firms and some 330 workers
employed for a period of three years.

The total cost of the project was CHF 8
million, around CHF 2.3 million of which was
spent on foundations and drainage work
alone. The prices of every single task per-
formed by the masons, plasterers, carpenters,
stone carvers, decorators and architects were
painstakingly logged in a statement of con-
struction costs. Even soap for CHF 4.50, pur-
chased from the Jelmoli department store,
was itemised down to the last centime. And
at the very end of the list, a marginal note
records a tragic incident: ‘Furthermore, the
SNB left the widow of Johann Emmert, who
died in an accident while working on the new
building, CHF 589.%¢ The construction work-
er had been struck by a falling building block
and had left behind a wife and four minors.

A monument that embodies core facets of
Switzerland’s national identity
On the evening of Friday 11 August 1922, the

Picture caption 5: The SNB’s new Zurich
head office under construction, January
1921.© SNB. Picture credits: ASNB: GE-ZH-
BOER-199.

new SNB building was handed over to its
new owners in the presence of the members
of the Bank Committee, all the bank’s Zurich
staff and the building site managers. Even
before this opening ceremony, an enthusias-
tic review had appeared in the NZZ.*° ‘Anyone
approaching Zurich by boat will notice a new
feature on Zurich’s familiar skyline, it notes. It
goes on to praise the building’s hipped roof,
which ‘rises above the existing jumble of hig-
gledy-piggledy roofs. The reviewer claims
that the simple, clean lines of the cubic struc-
ture as well as its flat surfaces offer a pleasant
contrast to the stock exchange building on the
Bahnhofstrasse opposite. While this building
presents florid facades ‘that are unnecessar-
ily ornate, sheathing the interior and obscur-
ing the surface of the wall almost entirely,,
in the new SNB building’s exterior, it asserts,
form follows function. Aside from the ground
floor, ‘where the wide area housing the public
cashier’s counter requires intense light (duly
supplied by a series of arched windows)’, the
structure, says the author, has the character-
istics of a ‘modern office building’. Naturally,
a purpose-built, functional solution does not
make a work of art. ‘While we see function-
ality as fundamental to successful architec-
ture, it takes the hand of an artist to transform
it into something truly aesthetic; to make a
virtue of necessity - make something forced
into something free.’ In the reviewer’s eyes,
the only section that remained unsatisfactory
in this regard was the long edge of the build-
ing facing the lake. He bemoans the absence
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of a suitable transition between the struc-
ture and the adjoining park. This shortcom-
ing, he claimed, serves as a painful reminder
of the struggle waged by ‘some members of
the population to prevent the land from being
sold and protect their beloved, ancient trees..
With luck, he wrote, ‘time will heal these
wounds..

Although it was described at the time as
functional and modern, there are also ech-
oes of the past in the new SNB building. The
tripartite facade and the decorative con-
cept that sees architectural embellishments
taper off with each storey is inspired by clas-
sical models. The round-arch windows and
half-columns flanking the windows on the
ground floor reference Italian Renaissance
palazzos and are reminiscent of the build-
ings created by Italian and German banking
dynasties during the 14th - 16th centuries.
Back at the stage when the jury was making
its selection, it had made special mention of
the open and interesting design of the atrium
giving onto the Bérsenstrasse, as well as of the
public cashier’s counter, which it described
as ‘architecturally beautiful and structural-
ly sophisticated’. ‘The artistic qualities of this
project - both in terms of its floor plan and its
overall organisation - could not be matched
by any of the other submissions.”” Typologi-
cally, along with the Kreditanstalt (now Credit
Suisse) building on Paradeplatz, ‘it is the most
monumental example of prestigious bank
architecture in the city.”

Today, the SNB building in Zurich is

Picture caption 6: Main entrance to Zurich
head office, 2007. © and picture credits:
KEYSTONE.

regarded by architectural historians as an
expression of ‘moderate Modernism’. While
it dispenses with elements of national ico-
nography, the local craftsmanship and tech-
nical precision deployed in building this
monument embody core facets of Switzer-
land’s national identity. ‘The Pfister broth-
ers’ neo-classical structure, which shows
no trace of folklore or romanticism, set new
standards for the decade that followed. Its
flat facade, with its arrays of windows and
sills projecting horizontality, is topped off
with an imposing cubed frieze. The function-
ality and austerity of the architectural style,
typical of this era, offered cultural orienta-
tion in an age of uncertainty.”

Conclusion

Aesthetically, the architecture of the SNB
building is a compromise between tradi-
tion and modernity. It marries functionali-
ty and monumentality, austerity and adorn-
ment, and even manages to blend features of
the Italian Renaissance with the hipped roof
commonly found in northern Europe. How-
ever, politically, too, it is the result of a com-
promise. The construction process was deter-
mined by the at times laborious workings of
Swiss direct democracy according to which
even the building of a significant national
institution must be subject to the will of the
local electorate. While not perfect, this system
often achieves impressive results that stand
the test of time. ®

SWITZERLAND

1 Dominique Chloé Baumann, Patrick Halbeisen, Eveline Ruoss,
Die Schweizerische Nationalbank in Bern - eine illustrierte
Chronik, Berne 2012.

2 Thebuilding was situated on the corner of Bahnhofstrasse and
St. Peterstrasse. Bank in Zirich was taken over by Credit Suisse
(called Schweizerische Kreditanstalt at the time) in 1906. Cf.
Dominique Chloé Baumann, Patrick Halbeisen, Eveline Ruoss,
Die Schweizerische Nationalbank in Bern - eine illustrierte
Chronik, p. 23 et seq.

3 Minutes of the Bank Committee meeting of 4 September 1912,
p.7etseq.

4 Ibid. p. 8 et seq.; extract from the minutes of the Governing
Board meeting of 1913, 874.

5 Werner Huber, Edition Hochparterre, Bahnhofstrasse Ztirich,
Geschichte - Gebaude - Geschéfte, Zurich, 2015, p. 22.

6 Baukulturin Zirich, Schutzwiirdige Bauten, Stadtgeschichte
und Projekte fir die Zukunft, Stadtzentrum, Altstadt/City, Amt
fir Stadtebau (publisher), Zurich, 2012, p.134.

7 Isabelle Meier, ‘Von Bodggenwerken und Zunftumziigen, Vom

Fest zum Spektakel, in: Liicken im Panorama, Einblicke in

den Nachlass ZUrichs, Geschichtsladen Zurich (Herausgeber),

Zurich 1986; Fast wie in Paris, Die Umgestaltung des Kratzquar-

tiers um 1880, Amt fiir Stadtebau (publisher), Zurich, 2001.

Jakob Tanner, Geschichte der Schweiz im 20. Jahrhundert,

C.H. Beck, Munich 2015, p. 117.

Minutes of the Bank Committee meeting of 11 February 1914, p. 55.

10 Ibid., p. 56.

11 Decision of Zurich’s City Parliament (Grosser Stadtrat) of 13 March
1915, Zurich City Archives, City Council directives 1915, 1916.

12 NZZ,no. 234 of 27 February 1915.

13 Ibid.

14 City Parliament decision of 13 March 1915.

15 ‘Wie die Nationalbank zu ihrem Bauplatz kam, Plaudereivon
Emil KIot, Volksrecht (newspaper), no. 263, 8 November 1961.

16 They were, he claimed, exponents of a typically Swiss brand
of ‘mediocrity and inadequacy’, archithese, no. 1, 1993, edito-
rial; cf. also Bruno Maurer, Dominique von Burg, Eine Architek-
tur des Konsenses, Die Gebriider Otto (1880-1959) und Werner
Pfister (1884-1950) ibid.; ‘Von der nationalen Romantik zu ein-
er moderaten Moderne, NZZ of 15 October 2001.

17 Sabine Felder, ‘Die Nationalbank in Zirich (1919-22)’, archith-
ese, no. 1,1993.

18 Statement of construction costs for the new SNB building in
Zurich, Zurich 1923; excerpt from the minutes of the Governing
Board no. 816 of 16 September 1920.

19 NZZ,no. 1648 of 18 November 1921.

20 Dominique von Burg, Gebriider Pfister, Architektur fir Zarich
1907-1950, p. 188 ff.

21 Jury report for the new bank building in Zurich, 4 June 1917.

22 Sabine Felder, see above.

23 Baukulturin Zrich, p. 197.

e}

©

bulletin | 2016

144



A courtly home. Mlnzhof,

Christian Leitz

Introduction

Known as Miinzhof (the aptly named Court
of Coins or Mint - an allusion to a mint that
used to be located in nearby Augustine’s
Church), UBS’s head office on Bahnhof-
strasse 45, Zurich, is undergoing the most
comprehensive renovation in its history. In
fact, the middle of the three-year refurbish-
ment, begun in October 2015, will mark Miin-
zhof’s centenary. It was, after all, in 1917 that
the then Union Bank of Switzerland (Union
Bank) first took up residency there.

And the building retained its impor-
tance after Union Bank merged with Swiss
Bank Corporation (SBC) in 1998 into today’s
UBS, the largest world-class wealth manag-
er and the leading universal bank in Swit-
zerland, complemented by a strong and
focused investment bank and institutional
asset manager.

Infancy

When the Miinzhof opened, Union Bank was
itself only five years old. The bank was estab-
lished in 1912 through a merger of the Bank
in Winterthur, originally founded precisely fif-
ty years earlier in 1862, and the Toggenburg-
er Bank, founded just one year later. The new
bank clearly intended to establish itself in in
the burgeoning city of Zurich with an imposing
physical presence.

Bank in Winterthur first gained a foothold
in Zurich in 1906 by taking over a branch of the
Bank in Baden, located at Bahnhofstrasse 44,
adjacent to the site destined to house Miin-
zhof ten years later. The location provided
easy access to Zurich’s stock exchange, which,
after its foundation in 1880, became the most
important in Switzerland during the first half
of the 20th century and contributed to Zurich
becoming the financial and economic center
of Switzerland.

Moreover, the acquisition was of vital
business relevance because it meant member-
ship for the Winterthur-based bank among the
Cartel of Swiss Banks (established in 1897) -
and thus participation of the bank in the issu-
ing of bonds by the Cartel. In architectural
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Bahnhofstrasse, Zurich, about 1910, Villa zum Grabengarten (left-hand side). © UBS.

terms, the Bank in Winterthur left a lasting leg-
acy on Bahnhofstrasse 44 building by adding
its (current) ground floor aspect in 1910. Tog-
genburger Bank, on the other hand, remained
fully focused on Eastern Switzerland, without
any presence in Zurich at all prior to the 1912
merger with Bank in Winterthur.

During the First World War Zurich’s
role as an international financial center
increased substantially with, as the authors
of the 1962 Union Bank anniversary book
put it, foreign exchange transactions flour-
ishing on an unprecedented scale. In fact,
responding to this development, Union
Bank itself created a separate foreign
exchange department in Zurich.

Location

Looking at Bahnhofstrasse today with its
grand buildings, it’s difficult to imagine that in
the mid-19th century it was still dominated by
family houses and gardens. One of these was
the villa and gardens of the patrician’s fami-
ly Schinz. And it faced not Bahnhofstrasse,
which came into existence in the 1860s, but
Froschengraben (Frogs’ Ditch), a literal refer-
ence to the ditch that had, since the 13th cen-
tury, run from there the (short) distance to

UBS’s head office

Lake Zurich. The name of the Schinz’s home,
Villa zum Grabengarten (Villa By The Ditch
Garden) was therefore very apt. In the 1860s
the Fréschengraben was canalized and cov-
ered over, the construction of the new Zurich
train station commenced - and the street
leading to and from the city’s main train sta-
tion came into proper shape.

Construction

The first official step towards the construction
of Miinzhof - and the demolition of Villa zum
Grabengarten - came in February 1913 when
a ‘Genossenschaft Mlnzhof’ was registered
in Zurich for the explicit purpose of purchas-
ing and building over the site Bahnhofstrasse
43/45. This was followed by Union Bank of
Switzerland tasking a renowned bureau of
architects, Pfleghard & Haefeli, to plan and
construct the building.

Both born in 1869, Otto Pfleghard and
Max Haefeli met as students at the ETH
Zurich. In 1897 Pfleghard took over an estab-
lished firm of architects in Zurich and, a year
later, Haefeli joined him as partnerin the firm.
By the time they were contracted by Union
Bank of Switzerland they had already firmly
established themselves as leading architects,
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notably through buildings in both Zurich and
St. Gallen. Jointly, they would in fact con-
struct about 200 buildings.

Pfleghard & Haefeli had clearly been
instructed to plan big and compete in
size with other banks’ buildings in Zurich,
not least the nearby head office of Cred-
it Suisse, built in the 1870s on the corner of
Paradeplatz and Bahnhofstrasse. Neoclas-
sicism was the chosen style and the build-
ing was to include six massive, three-story-
high Doric columns before the front facade
of the building. If solidity and imperturbabil-
ity were to be the hallmarks of the new con-
struction (and the bank it was to host), then
this was clearly achieved, including also by
the dressed rusticated ashlar and ornate
ironwork on the windows and doors. The
entire facade was done in St. Margrethen
sandstone, including also the five allegori-
cal heads it prominently features. Created
by Jakob Briillmann, a famous Swiss-born
sculptor (though then long resident of Stutt-
gart), they represent Industry (hammer, pli-
ers, fire), Agriculture (fruits and children),
Trade (cap, wings and rod), Science (owl),
and Military (sword and arrows in quiver).

Expansion

On 2 June 1917 Union Bank moved into its
new Minzhof building. While Winterthur
(from the former Bank in Winterthur) and
St. Gallen (from the former Toggenburg-
er Bank) remained the head offices of the
bank, Zurich rapidly gained in importance.
Already in 1918 the bank’s Central Account-
ing Department was moved from Winter-
thur to Zurich. And, significantly, the Board
of Directors completely abandoned its pre-
vious schedule of meetings in Winterthur
and St. Gallen, to meet in Miinzhof only.

It was not, however, until 1945 that
Union Bank moved its head office to Zurich.
It was a year of substantial expansion for
the bank with the absorption of a large
but troubled competitor, Eidgendssische
Bank (EIBA, Federal Bank, founded in 1863)
taking its total assets to 1.5 billion Swiss
francs. At the very same Extraordinary Gen-
eral Meeting that the decision was taken to
take over EIBA, Union Bank also decided on
the move of its head office to Zurich (and
its Miinzhof building). This reflected the
city’s establishment as Switzerland’s lead-
ing financial center and the resulting shift
of Union Bank’s major business activities.

bulletin

Entry, Miinzhof, Bahnhofstrasse 45, about 1917. © UBS.

Union Bank of Switzerland head office,
Bahnhofstrasse 45, Zurich, mid-1950s. © UBS.

In 1962, Union Bank had good reason
to celebrate its 100th anniversary (and also
the 50th anniversary of the Bank in Winter-
thur / Toggenburger Bank merger) in style
- and with a much enlarged head office. An
enormous expansion project commenced
in the mid-1950s had come to its conclusion
in time for the anniversary year. The pro-
ject, split into two expansion phases, was
led by renowned architects Ernst Witschi
and son Bruno, though - following Ernst
Witschi’s death in 1959 - the second phase
was completed by G. Landtwing and H. Walter.

Corner of Bahnhofstrasse and Pelikanstrasse,
Zurich, 1957. © UBS.

Miinzhof was no longer confined to the build-
ing opened in 1917, but consisted of an entire
complex encompassing parts of Pelikanstrasse
and Nuschelerstrasse. By 1987, the estimated
land size of Union Bank’s head office amount-
ed to 10,000 m2 (with a then estimated value
of CHF 400 million).

And there was plenty of work for the
many employees working in the Minzhof
complex - as indeed was the case for other
Swiss banks, including SBC. The Basel-head-
quartered bank had opened its first build-
ing in Zurich in 1899 (one year after it had
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Counter hall of UBS head office, Bahnhofstrasse 45, Zurich, 2012. © UBS.

become the first Swiss bank to open a branch
in London, the then leading financial center
of the world). In the 1950s, it had this build-
ing demolished to make way for a new office
building, unveiled in 1960. As it is located on
Paradeplatz, the square eponymously denot-
ed as Zurich’s financial center, the building is
today sometimes erroneously referred to as
UBS’s head office.

In 1946, the Swiss branch network of the
Grossbanken, including Union Bank, amount-
ed to only 20 percent of the overall amount
of Swiss bank branches, but this was to grow
to 40 percent within less than 25 years. Union
Bank was (like SBC) busy acquiring a num-
ber of smaller Swiss banks and opening
new branches. It increased its total number
of branches and agencies in Switzerland to
159 by the end of 1970, including, in October
1970, Switzerland’s first below-the-ground
bank agency, located in Zurich main train sta-
tion’s new underground shopping complex,
and thus only ten minutes’ walk or one tram
stop away from Munzhof. The latter provid-
ed the central ‘hub’ for all these branches and
agencies - and for an international expan-
sion, which would give the bank representa-
tion across all continents.

Not surprisingly, employee numbers
swelled markedly in the years following
Union Bank’s 100th anniversary celebra-
tions. The payroll increased from just under

4,000 employees in 1960 to almost 10,000 in
1970 (of which almost half were younger than
25). This development led the bank to intro-
duce new working arrangements. In 1962,
the Union Bank of Switzerland introduced
the uninterrupted workday, the 45-minute
lunch break - and its first staff restaurant, on
Nischelerstrasse in direct vicinity to its head
office and now firmly integrated in the entire
building complex that originated in Miinzhof.

Today’s full aspect of the building com-
plex (encompassing Bahnhofstrasse 45 and
47, Pelikanstrasse 9 and 11 and Nischeler-
strasse 10, jointly under protection order by
Zurich City) was completed in the 1990s. Two
years before the merger that joined together
Union Bank and SBC, the former had further
expanded the complex.

Transition
During the current renovation of Bahnhof-
strasse 45, the branch normally located
there has been relocated around the cor-
ner to Pelikanstrasse. Of particular interest is
the digital artwork ‘Ways to Fortune’ by art-
ist Daniel Boschung. The installation offers
a very special client experience and a new
form of client communication by letting visi-
tors to the Pelikanstrasse branch create their
very own individual artwork.

As clients travel along the ‘Ways to For-
tune’ from the lobby to the upper floor,

they create an individual pattern in vari-
ous colors and shapes based on how they
walk. This image is projected in real time
on the large screens in the lobby. As a
memento, UBS clients are given a person-
alized card with the image they created,
which also tells them about how they can
invest in children’s wellbeing and future
through the UBS Optimus Foundation.

Future

The renovation will include comprehen-
sive technological and security upgrades,
and will enhance the building’s role in
the wurban environment. Furthermore,
plans are in place to revitalize Miinzhof
with a café on Bahnhofstrasse. Attractive
commercial space will be created on the
ground floor along Bahnhofstrasse and
Pelikanstrasse. In addition, UBS plans to
ensure long-term flexibility of use through
the various independent entry points to
the bank and the stores. The project is led
by Zurich-based architects EM2N.

UBS has a comprehensive environ-
mental strategy and is committed to
securing LEED Platinum certification for
the renovated building - the highest lev-
el according to the international standard
for environmentally friendly, resource-ef-
ficient and sustainable building. UBS is
therefore improving the shell and technol-
ogy of the listed building from an energy
standpoint to significantly reduce future
energy consumption. Care will also be tak-
en to use mainly environmentally friendly
and low-pollutant construction materials.

Bahnhofstrasse 45 will remain closed
throughout the entire renovation, which
is planned to be completed in the second
half of 2018. The main hall of the building,
recognized as a ‘cultural history monu-
ment of the first order’ in a 1995 curator of
monuments’ assessment, will be careful-
ly renovated and brought in line with the
latest advisory and design concept. UBS
has largely implemented this already in all
of its approximately 300 branches in
Switzerland. ®

Literature & Sources
www.ubs.com/history
www.ubs.com/headquarters
www.waystofortune.com
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Making and Meaning of a Versicherungs-Palast.
The historical headquarters of Zurick Insurance

Christofer Stadlin

A success story and a canceled tenancy
contract
Founded in 1872 as a transport insurance
and re-insurance company Zurich entered
the fields of accident and liability insurance
in 1875, which were destined to become its
sole activity after transport insurance was
terminated in 1880. Immediately, Zurich
expanded its accident and liability business
internationally. By the end of 1875 there were
agencies, general agencies or branch offices
established in Germany, the Austria-Hun-
garian Empire, and all of the Scandinavian
states existing at the time (DK, N, S). Belgium
followed in 1877, France and the Nether-
lands in 1878, Italy in 1881 and the first wave
of international expansion concluded in
1884 with the opening of an agency in Barce-
lona, Spain. A million Swiss francs in annual
premium income was achieved in 1880. For
the next twenty years Zurich’s business grew
vigorously by a yearly average of 14% and
by the turn of the century the company had
become one of the greatest accident and lia-
bility insurance companies on the Europe-
an continent!. That this remarkable success
story would have justified or even demand-
ed the establishment of premises owned by
the company to host its headquarters is an
argument that does not appear in the inter-
nal records documenting the construction of
a splendid building at Mythenquai in Ziirich
from 1899 to 1901. It was left to the press to
take it up: The gorgeous new headquarters
actually correspond to the business of the
company, which by its territorial expansion,
results and the size of its portfolios takes the
first place among continental companies in
its industry?.

Even though there are no exact numbers
it can be assumed that the staff employed at

1 Onthe development of Zurich business: Stadlin, C., Historical
roots of the Zurich Brand 1872 - 1947, internal paper (Ztirich
2008), pp. 4-5.

2 ZAZ 591 Div. Unterlagen zur Geschichte der ZURICH 1872-1998,
Zlrcher Wochenchronik, April 27, 1901, Corporate Archives,
Zurich Insurance Group, Zirich [hereafter Zurich Archive].
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The Headquarters of Zurich Insurance Company Ltd. at Mythenquai 2 in Ziirich photographed from the
lake side park. Note that the church Enge, constructed in 1894, visible on the right side of the building,
has been airbrushed into the picture in as much as it cannot normally be seen from this perspective.
This picture was shared throughout the Zurich organization to reinforce its corporate identity
especially with foreign offices. © Zurich Corporate Archives.

the headquarters in Zirich must have grown
somehow in line with the business. The first
offices of Zurich had been located at Bahn-
hofstrasse, the representative avenue built
on the filled up trenches of the medieval city
fortification. The street, which connected
the main railway station with the lakeside,
had become famous as the home of some
of Switzerland’s largest banks. Around 1880
Zurich moved to the newly erected building
of the Schweizerische Kreditanstalt, today’s
Credit Swiss at Paradeplatz, another spot
famous in banking.

The second half of the 19th century was
an era of rapid economic growth for the Swiss
economy in general and particularly its finan-
cial services sector®. Not only insurers expand-
ed, banks did as well and so it could not have

3 Foranintroduction into the history of the Swiss financial ser-
vices see e.g. Breiding, R.J., Schwarz, G., Wirtschaftswunder
Schweiz Ursprung und Zukunft eines Erfolgsmodells (Zlirich
2011), pp. 105-161.

come as a complete surprise when Cred-
it Swiss informed Zurich in spring 1898 that it
could not prolong the tenancy agreement for
the offices at Paradeplatz as the bank needed
them for its own personnel®.

Finding the right spot

In view of this situation the Zurich board of
directorsdecided to erectabuildingonits own.
An adequate location was found not far away
from Paradeplatz in Ziirich Enge. Ziirich Enge
had come into being in 1894 by the integra-
tion of the formerly independent municipali-
ty Enge into the City of Ziirich. A construction
boom had taken off there since the mid-1880s.
Enge was considered to be the natural area of
expansion for the City as it was a mostly flat
space stretching south along the shores of
lake Zurich. Furthermore the area had been

4 ZAZ 63732, Protokolle des Ausschuss des Verwaltungsrates,
Sitzung 13. Mai 1898, Zurich Archive.
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View of the alps and the new business and residential areas of the City of Ziirich stretching alongside the lake of Ziirich. The picture is printed on stock
certificates of the Zurich Insurance Company Ltd: On the right side the Alpenquai with the City Concert Hall, the Red and White Castle, the Headquarters of
Swiss Life and Church Enge are to be seen as well as Zurich’s new headquarters on Mythenquai, all with lake side parks in the foreground; On the left the so-
called Seefeld area with the Opera house. The ensemble does not depict reality. While Seefeld is directed eastwards towards the Alps as seen in the picture,
the Alpenquai is directed southwards and is not visible from the point of view the picture actually takes. But this distortion of reality seems to be the message
of the picture: Zurich Insurance Company Ltd., originating in Ziirich, the modern business city in the Alps. © Zurich Corporate Archives.

massively enlarged by the way of continued
fillings of the lake since the 1830s. Over a hun-
dred new buildings were erected over a period
of fifteen years (1885-1900). Most of them were
combined residential and business buildings,
much sought after by the bourgeois business
elite of the City, longing to escape the nar-
rowness and inconveniences of the old town.
Zirich Enge transformed radically from a rural
to a mundane metropolitan area®. Especially
on the Alpenquai (today General Gusain Quai),
one of the new boulevards at the lakeside, a
number of prestigious projects were realized.
Most notably the new city concert hall, the
headquarters of the Schweizerische Rente-
nanstalt (today’s Swiss Life) and the so-called
White and Red Castle (two large residen-
tial buildings with luxury apartments provid-
ing the latest state-of-the-art facilities includ-
ing: a central heating system, electric lighting,
hydraulic elevators, waste disposal chutes,
running water, lavatories, etc). It was actually
there, in close vicinity of the Alpenquai, at the
corner of Alfred-Escher-Platz and Mythenquai
that Zurich, on July 12, 1898, acquired a build-
ing plot of about 2300 square meters®. But this
happened only after the entire board had visit-
ed the site and deemed it fit for purpose. It was
also decided that the new building would only
house the offices of the company itself as well
as some apartments for rent. Architects were

5 Forthe (building) history of the Enge area see: Guyer, P,
Geschichte der Enge (Ziirich 1980); Amt fur Stadtebau Zirich
(ed.), Baukulturin Zurich Vol. 5: Enge, Wollishofen, Leimbach
(Ztirich 2006).

6 ZAZ 62740, Protokolle des Verwaltungsrates, Sitzung 12. Juli
1898, Zurich Archive.
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invited to develop and present their projects.
On November 18, only six months after the
issue had been discussed for the first time, the
board selected the project of Julius Kunkler
from a total of three submissions’. The deci-
sion was also based on the advice of an expert
panel that had been nominated by the com-
pany and included, among others, the mas-
ter mason of the City. The actual construction
started in March 1899.

A welcomed construction

To establish a base able of stabilizing the filled-
up former lake floor and of bearing the weight
of the projected building, 8000 wooden poles
had to be rammed into the ground. In summer
1899 a further architect was hired to super-
vise the construction work and especially to
check the building materials. The construc-
tion seems to have gone smoothly. At least in
so far as the only further discussion regard-
ing the project recorded in the board minutes
concerned the installation of a safe room. One
and a half years after the start of construction,
the chairman could open the meeting of the
board committee on October 30, 1900 by wel-
coming its members to the new building of the
company?®. And two days later on November
2 the meeting of the board was rounded off
with a visit to the new offices®. It took another
six months to complete the building, especial-
ly the art work on the facades. But then it was

7 Ibidem, Sitzung 18, November 1898, Zurich Archive.

8 ZAZ 63732, Protokolle des Ausschuss des Verwaltungsrates,
Sitzung 30. Oktober 1900, Zurich Archive.

9 ZAZ 62740, Protokolle des Verwaltungsrates, Sitzung 2. Novem-
ber 1900, Zurich Archive.

done. Twenty eight years after its foundation
Zurich had its own headquarters.

The press was euphoric: When looking
from the Quai-bridge over and above the
trees populating the parks along the lake-
side towards Enge, the eye catches sight
of a long stretched building of especially
noble architecture. None of the larger cor-
porations at home in the city of Zirich can
pride themselves with more beautiful and
more beautifully situated business premises.
When also the brilliant business results the
company regularly achieves are taken into
account, one involuntarily develops the wish
to become an employee and maybe even
spend a lifetime under the protecting roof of
the insurance palace®.

Architecture of an insurance palace

Insurance palace is the keyword. The build-
ingis of a basically rectangular form. The front
facade is dominated by four Corinthian col-
umns centered in the middle and flanked by
two towers rising above the roof and running
down the entire facade. The columns reach
across the second and third floors and car-
ry a temple-like pediment, on top of which
a group of sculptures sits. The complex of
columns, pediment and sculptures is posi-
tioned above the main entrance, the mezza-
nine ground and first floors. Together with the
towers, they really do create a monumental-
impression. At the same time these details
accentuate the separation of floors foreseen
for the actual offices of the company (mez-
zanine and first) from the second and third

10 Note?2, Ibid.
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floors where a total of six luxury apartments
were located. These offered the same con-
veniences like the ones described above in
regard to the White and Red castle. The sep-
aration between business and apartment
floors is taken up on the northern narrow side
of the building, oriented towards the city cen-
tre, the direction from where visitors would
normally approach it. There, on the second
floor, sustained by richly decorated ledges
stretching down to the first floor, is a balcony
which on each side carries two smaller, closely
attached Corinthian columns, again crossing
the second and third storeys.

Palace-like features are also present
inside the building, especially in the lob-
by and the stairway to the first floor. An out-
sized door combining wrought ironwork with
glass flanked by Dorian marble pillars opens
to a first stairway leading to the mezzanine
floor. On the mezzanine the entrance enlarg-
esinto a lobby hall and a flight of stairs in the
style of a Renaissance palazzo. The first stair-
way of the flight, similar to the entrance door
flanked by marble pillars but by two on each
side, leads to an intermediate level. There it
splits into two stairways, one to the right and
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one to the left, each of them passing a sec-
ond intermediate level to the first floor. The
first intermediate level arrives at the back of
the building, which is opened up by large win-
dows covered with art deco glass paintings.
The largest window, right above the interme-
diate level, displays the Zurich lion, the coat
of arms of the City, which the company also
used as logo on policy forms and prospectus-
es until at least the 1930s.

It is interesting to note that the building
of the Gothaer Lebensversicherung, (Gothaer
Life Insurance Company) a classical Insurance
Palace in its own right erected in the city of
Gotha in 1894, used very similar architecton-
ical concepts: A front facade with tower like
structures; columns and an entrance hall with
the same Renaissance like flights of stairs con-
necting the mezzanine with the first floor.

Overall the building, the represent-
ative facades with their columns and the
entrance area, is clearly neoclassical in
style with elements of historicism (e.g. the
heads decorating the ledges) and art deco

11 See: http://www.versicherungs-geschichte.de/museum/his-
torische-entwicklung/entstehung-versicherungswesen/ver-
sicherungspalast-der-gruenderzeit.html, accessed on January
8,2016.

View on the narrow side of

the building, decorated on

the occasion of the visit of the
German Emperor Wilhelm Il to
Switzerland in 1912. Note in the
background on the left the new
headquarters of Swiss Re on
Mythenquai under construction
from 1911-1913. © Zurich
Corporate Archives.

(e.g. the figure group on the roof on the nar-
row side, the ironwork of the main door,
and the glass paintings).

A point of reference

The appearance of the building pointedly
transcends the features of a mere residential
one, an aspect which the report of the panel
of experts explicitly noted. The building ful-
fills its purpose of housing the headquarters
of a great and successful company. The mas-
sive overall structure, together with the pal-
ace-like features assembled in the middle
(the towers, the monumental columns, the
main entrance, the sculpture group, the high-
ly decorated entrance) broadcast serious-
ness, wealth and power. These qualities are
of special importance for an insurance com-
pany that basically trades in trust: The prom-
ise to pay out (significant) sums of money
sometime in the future should adverse events
occur. Accordingly, the new headquarters
started to become a common motif on pro-
spectuses of the company up to the 1960s as
well as a point of reference for the company’s
corporate identity.

The message: Private social insurance
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While the press interpreted the building
primarily as a self-confident expression of
business success, one article? added fur-
ther aspects: First, the progressive charac-
ter of accident and liability insurance; Sec-
ond, how Zurich itself had advanced the
development of these lines of business;
Finally, the sense of commercial responsi-
bility expressed in the business conduct and
business policy of Zurich. Seen from these
angles the building could also be interpret-
ed as a palace, a temple or simply a symbol
of social progress based on and furthered
by private initiative and enterprise.

The allegorical sculpture group on top
of the centre of the facade corresponds to
such an interpretation. It depicts in a clear
fashion the so-called workmen’s compensa-
tion, the collective insurance of entire work-
forces against therisks inherent in industrial
production. The sculpture depicts a killed or
at least heavily injured worker lying on the
ground, identified as such by a bare upper
body and a tool in his hand, his daughter
or wife knelling before a female figure sig-
nified as a goddess by her classical design.
The naked torso and a Greek style helmet
are evocative of the Greek goddess Athena. In

12 Note 2, Ibid. Zurcher Kalender 1901.
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her right arm the statuette holds the horn of
plenty symbolizing the monetary compensa-
tion provided by insurance while beckoning
those seeking relief with her left. Even though
workmen’s compensation was the main line
of business of the company in terms of premi-
um income around 1900, it was nevertheless
only one amongst others: personal accident,
liability and burglary insurance. Choosing
workmen’s compensation for the purpose of
self-portrayal was a clear statement; how the
company wanted to be understood by the
public: Social insurance provided by private
enterprise.

Such a statement is no coincidence con-
sidering that just in the year 1900 the first
attempt by the progressive political forces of
Switzerland and the progressive members of
the Swiss parliament towards the nationaliza-
tion of collective accident insurance had tak-
en place. These sought to lay the cornerstone
for a public social insurance scheme with the
introduction of the so-called Federal Sickness
and Accident Insurance Law (Kranken-Un-
fall-Versicherungs-Gesetz). It failed dramati-
cally in a popular vote, which is typical for the
Swiss system of direct democracy®.

13 See: Leimgruber, M., Solidarity without the state?: business and
the shaping of the Swiss welfare state, 1890-2000 (Cambridge:
Cambridge University Press 2008), p. 43.

The sculpture group in the
workshop of the artist (1900). ©
Zurich Corporate Archives.

The flight of stairs leading from the mezzanine to
first floor, which is visible in the background of the
gallery on the first floor. This is where former CEO
and Chairman Fritz Gerber presented the video
installation ‘Fire Piece’ by Korean artist Nam
June Paik in 1994. For Gerber the contrast of the
neoclassical and art deco interior with the video
installation perfectly expressed the challenges
facing an insurance company like Zurich as it
stepped into the 21st century: coping with the
risks of the post-industrial age with experience
reaching back to the start of the industrial
revolution. Note the first intermediate level where
the stairs split as well as the glass paintings on
the windows in the back wall, with the Zurich

lion dominating the centre. © Zurich Corporate
Archives.
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Unpopularicon of the 1960s. The headqguarters of
de Nederlandsche Bank in Amsterdam

Gert Eijkelboom

ong before Queen Juliana of the Neth-
L erlands opened it in May 1968, the

new headquarters of De Nederland-
sche Bank (DNB) on Frederiksplein in Amster-
dam had been a highly controversial build-
ing - not just because of its business-like
and ultra-modern design by architect Mari-
us Duintjer, but also because of its location
on the edge of the historic city centre and the
jarring size of the large office complex. Many
buildings dating back to this era have since
been pulled down or given facelifts, making
the DNB building one of the few remaining
examples of the architecture of its day with
some style. In the nearly five decades of its
existence, it has undergone two major exten-
sions and various other rebuilds detracting
from Duintjer’s original design. Even after 50
years, many people in Amsterdam still don’t
like the building much, and the older gen-
eration looks longingly back to the stun-
ning glass-and-iron Paleis voor Volksvlijt that
graced this spot up until 1929.

Established in 1813, the headquarters
of De Nederlandsche Bank (DNB) had been
based at Amsterdam’s Oude Turfmarkt until
the opening of the new building in 1968. This
part of town is still dominated by the for-
mer bank building, dating back to the sev-
enteenth century. DNB’s steady growth had
quickly made these early offices too small
for its needs, and it soon started using neigh-
bouring properties. In the 1865-69 period, this
complex of buildings underwent major con-
version and refurbishment, and was given a
new, stately and rather austere monumental
facade, designed by the engineer and archi-
tect Willem Anthonie Froger (1812-1883) DNB
kept growing, though, and many renovations
and extensions were yet to follow.

By the early 1950s, it had become clear
that DNB’s accommodation was no longer
fit for purpose and that something drastic
had to be done. Initially, the Governing Board
resolved to commission a new build at Oude
Turfmarkt, and in 1954 it invited six prominent
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Figure 1: The renovated first buildings of DNB in the oldest part of the city (Turfmarkt) in 1949. Foto: De
Nederlandsche Bank.

architects to submit designs to an architec-
tural competition. The Board was well aware
that a plan on this scale would have a major
impact on this location in one of the oldest
parts of Amsterdam, but in 1957 it neverthe-
less picked the ultra-modern design by Mari-
us Duintjer (1908-1983).!

Bidding adieu to Oude Turfmarkt

While the architects were working on their
competition designs, DNB’s Governing Board
and Amsterdam’s city council were negotiat-
ing a possible land swap, which involved De
Nederlandsche Bank getting the building site
at Frederiksplein in return for the complex of
buildings at Oude Turfmarkt. The Frederik-
splein site had fallen into disuse ever since the
illustrious Paleis voor Volksvlijt, Amsterdam’s
answer to London’s Crystal Palace, had gone
upin flamesin 1929.

The city council’s plans to build a new city
hall and later an opera house had all come to
nothing. Extensive negotiations ended in a
swap between the two players in October 1959
without any money changing hands.?

The deal received a frosty welcome
from the newspapers and the general public,

especially as it put paid to the chances of an
opera house being built on Frederiksplein. It
was decried as a victory for capital and a pow-
erful central bank over art, with many fearing
a dead and closed-off monstrosity that would
ruin Frederiksplein forever.? The city coun-
cil was reproached for kowtowing too much
to De Nederlandsche Bank and ignoring the
public interest.

A new head office at Frederiksplein

Early in 1959 and well before the deal was
actually in the bag, the competition’s winner
Duintjer was commissioned to return to the
drawing board and produce initial designs for
a new head office at Frederiksplein. This ear-
ly design had virtually nothing in common with
the winning design for the Oude Turfmarkt
building. At Frederiksplein, the area actual-
ly available for building was much smaller, but
Amsterdam’s city council was amenable to high-
rise buildings here on the edge of the old city
centre, whereas it had not been at Oude Turf-
markt. What is more, DNB’s schedule of require-
ments put limits on distances within the build-
ing. This, coupled with less than ample building
space, inevitably spelled high rise.
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Figure 3: Duintjer’s first rough design dated 1960 for the new building at Frederiksplein, seen from southwest. Foto: De Nederlandsche Bank.

Duintjer undertook extensive research
before submitting his design for this new loca-
tion, and visited a number of other central
banks in 1957 at the express request of the
Board. The governors had not been entire-
ly pleased with Duintjer’s two designs for the
new build at Oude Turfmarkt, as they felt that
a bank that issues and circulates money on
behalf of the government should not be too
grand or ostentatious, and they saw room for
improvement in Duintjer’s plans. One of their
objections, for instance, was that too much
room was given over to the representative are-
as relative to the rooms where the actual work
would be done.

It seems plausible that Duintjer’s design
for the bank building at Frederiksplein harked
back to a 1937 design for a new city hall in
exactly the same spot by a group of architects
- Huig Maaskant (1907-1977), Willem van Tijen
(1894- 1974), Mart Stam (1899-1986) and Lotte
Stam-Beese (1903-1988). There are also strik-
ing similarities with the New York head office
of Lever Brothers Company (Lever House),
which had been completed in 1952. This com-
plex of buildings consists of a slender tow-
er of 24 floors taking up only one-quarter of
the available land area and placed atop a
low-rise base of two floors placed on pillars.
In May 1952, Holland’s daily newspaper Alge-
meen Handelsblad had called Lever House a
‘beacon of aesthetic beauty, efficiency and
hygiene’* In 1960, DNB awarded the design

contract to Duintjer.

No impregnable fortress

From the very start, openness and transpar-
ency were rated as key qualities for the new
building. On the face of it, these requirements
were at odds with the strict security needs
of the money and gold stored in the vaults,
which really required as ‘closed’ a building as
possible. And yet, the Board of Governors did
not want an ‘impregnable fortress surround-
ed by menacing bars of a lifeless closedness’
Besides, state-of-the-art security systems
obviated the need to demonstrate that secu-
rity was accounted for. As the then DNB Pres-
ident Jelle Zijlstra observed at a press confer-
ence marking the building’s opening in 1968:
‘Those taking an undue interest are certainly
prepared to assume that such security meas-
ures have indeed been taken.

Duintjer pulled the Bank’s multiple func-
tions together in a 15-metre low-rise box
of three floors, combining this with a fair-
ly slender high-rise section of 15 floors total-
ling over 66 metres in height, which split the
open courtyard in two. The low-rise section
covered the full building plot of 100 by 120
metres, and was at its deepest on the north
side of the complex. The ground floor was
four metres high while the first floor - which
contained the cash-counting area - was giv-
en an impressive height of eight metres. The
receding floor above it housed the large staff

restaurant and sports facilities.

The other wings of the low-rise section
rested on free-standing columns, and Duint-
jer envisaged other representative rooms and
offices on the east and west sides of the build-
ing. The main floor in the south wing over-
looking Singelgracht was home to the offices
and reception rooms of the Governing Board.

The close to 70-metre-high tower was set
aside primarily for the administrative back-of-
fice departments. The outer wall of the high-
rise building inches inwards by some two cen-
timetres on every consecutive floor, adding
up to a total 30 centimetres towards the top
and contributing to the high-rise’s more slen-
der feel. Another optical correction is that the
high-rise window areas gradually lose height
as the floors ascend.

The reddish-brown tiling of the low-rise
building and of the parapets in the high-rise
reflect back the colours of the surrounding
cityscape. Note that Duintjer initially pro-
posed charcoal black instead of ‘Amsterdam
brown’ for the stoneware tiles.

Duintjer placed the main entrance in the
west courtyard, explaining his choice as fol-
lows: ‘Giving the main entrance a courtyard
that to some extent reflects back surrounding
buildings, offers a better opportunity for this
modest and little used main entrance to make
an impression than if it were on the large and
busy Frederiksplein. The fact that this puts
the main entrance in the high rise dominating
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Figure 2: Paleis voor Volksvlijt at the
Frederiksplein site in the 1920s from the
northwest. Foto: De Nederlandsche Bank.

Figure 4: Aerial photo of the new
building of DNB at the south
edge of the historical city centre
in 1968. Foto: De Nederlandsche
Bank.

the entire complex will [...] be accepted as
only natural’

Duintjer’s 1961 provisional design was
warmly received by both DNB’s Governing
Board and the board of the city council, and
the project was given the go-ahead. Early in
December of 1961, Amsterdam’s mayor Gijs
van Hall drove the first pile into the ground.
In his speech, DNB’s then President Marius
Holtrop had no doubt that the new building
would be a jewel of the Frederiksplein and
the city as a whole and he predicted it would
showcase Amsterdam’s position as a financial
centre. The mayor expressed the hope that
others would follow in the central bank’s foot-
steps and locate in the area, with the financial
district expanding in this area of town.

The actual build took six years and five
months, with the severe winter of 1962-63
and a strike in the construction industry in
1964 causing a total delay of six months.

On 7 May 1968, Queen Juliana officially
opened the building, which had been in par-
tial use for a while by that time. Receiving the
press at its new head office, DNB President
Jelle Zijlstra called it the most modern and
probably most secure central bank in the
world. At the time, the building was among
the best equipped in Europe.

Integration into its environment
The building’s location at Frederiksplein, on
the edge of the historic city centre and just

inside of Singelgracht, begs the question
whether its high-rise aspect does not over-
ly disrupt the townscape. Duintjer felt it did
not: ‘Frederiksplein is adjacent to the old
heart of the city of Amsterdam, one of the
most beautiful city centres in Europe. Does
it enhance the city’s overall appearance to
build this high on the edge? We believe that
it does! A circle of high-rise, slender build-
ings along Singelgracht right around the
old core of the city could enrich and rejuve-
nate the city’s overall appearance - a change
to the familiar aspect of the low buildings
so typical of the inner city area, but not a
detraction. The high rises making up this cir-
cle should be well spaced, not a tight ring of
tall buildings giving the impression of clos-
ing off the inner city from the new city!’
Duintjer’s words capture the post-
war mindset of innovation that dominat-
ed the optimistic 1950s and 1960s. Amster-
dam’s city councillors were likewise coming
up with grand designs that were to lead to
major traffic breakthroughs - some of which
actually did make it off the drawing board
to be implemented. Very soon, though, the
city council realised that dramatic urban
development was very much at odds with
the desire to retain the beauty of the small-
scale inner city, and the growing resistance
to high-rise cityscaping led it to change its
policies from the early 1970s. It resolved
to retain the city’s residential pull as well

THE NETHERLANDS

as its position as a business and entertain-
ment centre, while respecting its historical
nature. These new policies soon became
dominant and the basic tenets informing the
bank building at the design stage became
obsolete shortly after it was built. As one
detractor put it, ‘the building was old-fash-
ioned before it had had a chance to be mod-
ern, and in the planned ring of tall, slender
buildings surrounding the old inner city, the
bank’s head office remained a one-off for
quite some time.

The building’s qualities

Notwithstanding its generally frosty recep-
tion by the public at large, Duintjer’s design
boasts qualities that set it apart from oth-
er ‘modern’ buildings from the 1950s and
1960s. He belonged to a group of archi-
tects that mixed and matched tradition-
al and modern styles, and his DNB building
proves that even a large and complex design
job on a straightforward piece of land and
built from modest means can produce a sol-
id, balanced outcome in architectural and
urban planning terms. In terms of its height
the building matches others on both sides,
and its placement on ‘pilotis’ (supporting
columns) and glass-covered outer walls was
meant to open it to the outside world. The
factthatthe building did not easily blend into
its environment is also down to the nature of
a central bank: security requirements soon
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Figure 5: DNB’s building today with its two
expansions (Satellite and 3rd floor on the
wings) seen from southwest. Foto: Gert
Eijkelboom.

led to steel bars between the pilotis of the
low-rise building to keep out unwanted out-
siders. Frederiksplein’s green aspect serves
as a transition between the small-scale, live-
ly inner city with all its entertainments and
this large-scale building on its edges. As a
result, Frederiksplein has never become part
of the urban cavalcade.

Duintjer's office tower is not visually
aligned with the Weteringschans-
Sarphatistraat axis, nor is it in sight from
Utrechtsestraat. Its wider sides point west-
wards and eastwards, while one of the nar-
rower sides overlooks Frederiksplein, and
the building is not intrusive from any angle.

The glass facade alongside Frederik-
splein is pleasingly proportioned, with its
unpretentious layers of ground floor, over-
hanging two-floor cash-counting area and
receding structure on top, giving it a rather
reticent yet monumental quality. The first
floor’s significant jutting-out and its flat
roof’s equally overhanging aspect reinforce
the low-rise building’s horizontal nature,
while the tower’s vertical effect is empha-
sised by the optical correction of its slight
tapering and the decreasing height of its win-
dow areas. These major contrasts in height
and direction turn the low-rise and high-rise
buildings into a simple, spatial interplay of
pleasing proportions. Compared with the
low-rise building, the tower is marked by
austerity and simplicity, and it looks much
less spectacular.

The high quality of the materials is
clear from the aluminium instead of steel
that Duintjer plumped for in the outside
walls. He also left the formwork in the visi-
ble concrete, as Le Corbusier had done long
before him. His subtle detailing and selective

use of materials all add up to a cultivated,
restrained look and feel.

Satellite tower

In his designs Duintjer assumed that ‘the
building will be outdated and/or too small
after sixty years’ and that it would be
replaced by a new one round about that
time. That has not happened just yet. How-
ever, it has undergone various minor and
major renovations and extensions since its
completion in 1968. At that time, the build-
ing was able to accommodate 1,200 peo-
ple, more than the workforce that actual-
ly moved in.

In the 1970s and 1980s, however, staff
numbers grew rapidly and large central
mainframe computers required more and
more space. From the end of the 1970s, a
pressing lack of space compelled DNB to rent
or buy office properties in and around Fred-
eriksplein, but the Board of Governors con-
tinued to prefer centralised accommodation
over a more permanent spread of depart-
ments. Central accommodation in a single
building was cheaper and benefited team
spirit and collaboration, they felt, and they
therefore decided to extensively expand the
head office building in order to bring all staff
back together under a single roof.

Inevitably, expansion would erode
Duintjer’'s design, and architects Jelle
Abma (1921-2009) and Marc a Campo
(1954) faced quite a challenge in 1984.
Abma was willing to fit in with the spatial
plan of the existing building but refused
to be led by its architecture; he insisted
on making his addition contemporary and
applying his own style. An additional floor
on the low-rise wings was rejected for both
aesthetic and construction reasons; he set-
tled instead on a slender cylindrical tow-
er adjacent to the existing high-rise build-
ing, as he felt this to be the most neutral
option to offset the rectangular shape of
Duintjer’s tower, that would least compro-
mise the beauty of the original building.

As in the 1960s, Amsterdam’s residents
were vociferous in their disapproval and
opinions were sharply divided on whether or
not the new addition would affect the beau-
ty of the building. Ignoring its opponents,
the city council approved the plan and the
addition was built in the 1987-90 period. In
fact, the construction of the satellite tower
was to be the start of a major conversion and

modernisation of the interior of the existing
building that ended with the completion of
the new main entrance in 2004.

An extra floor after all

The 2004 tie-up with the insurance regulator,
the Apeldoorn-based Pensions and Insurance
Supervisory Board (PVK by its Dutch acronym)
and the further expansion of DNB’s responsi-
bilities called for another major extension of
the main building. A few years after the merg-
er, the Governing Board decided to move all
staff to the Amsterdam bank building and
to dispose of the former PVK offices. Having
considered and rejected a move to a differ-
ent location in Amsterdam, the Board decid-
ed another extension of the building at Fred-
eriksplein was their best option. In 2008,
architect Marc a Campo and partners came
up with a design for an extra floor on the east,
south and west wings and for a major renova-
tion of the north wing. The floor they put on
top of Duintjer’s had a heavier and more sol-
id aspect, and was completed in 2010 after a
series of much-needed construction adjust-
ments. This would appear to have exhausted
all option to expand the building.
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HA 16106. Its inclusion in DNB's historical archives suggests the
bank’s interest in this building.

155

bulletin | 2016



The Dutch architect Berlage
and Nationale-Nederlanden

Ingrid Elferink

he famous Dutch architect Berlage

and Nationale-Nederlanden (NN)

were connected through the medi-
um of progressive architecture. Berlage was
considered NN’s ‘house architect’; over more
than thirty years he built seven offices for
the company and two houses for its director,
Carel Henny.

Hendrik Petrus Berlage (1856-1934)
is one of the most famous and influential
Dutch architects, very well known for his
Beurs van Berlage in Amsterdam, as well as
for Amsterdam’s urban development. Ber-
lage introduced ‘rationalism’ into architec-
ture in the beginning of the twentieth centu-
ry. His last big project was the building of the
Gemeentemuseum in The Hague; it opened
ayear after his death in 1935.

Nationale-Nederlanden  (NN)  was
founded in 1845 as a fire-insurer, De Ned-
erlanden van 1845 (De Nederlanden), in
the east of the Netherlands, and very soon
expanded its activities with agencies all over
the world. In 1895, the director Carel Hen-
ny decided to move from Zutphen to The
Hague. This seemed to be a better place
for international contacts and much more
sophisticated then the small town of Zut-
phen. Henny had connections in artistic and
cultural spheres in The Hague. That’s how
he became connected with Hendrik Berlage,
who was in those days not yet very famous
as an architect. Henny gave Berlage the
chance to design two offices for the compa-
ny with complete creative freedom.

The first building was a branch office
in Amsterdam that he finished in 1895, in
the same style he built the head office in
The Hague that opened in 1896. In 1911 he
received the assignment for branch offic-
es in Nijmegen and Rotterdam (both were
destroyed in World War II); in 1914 in Bata-
via (now Djakarta) and in Utrecht in 1931.
For Henny himself Berlage built two hous-
es, one in 1898 and one in 1912, both in The
Hague. His last big project for the company
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Ontwerptekening 1926 Datum Algemeen: 56 x 56 cm Afmetingen. Draft for tables and chairs for
the boardroom, designed by Berlage, 1926. © Historical Collection of NN Group.

was a new head office in 1927 in The Hague.
We could say that Berlage was the ‘house
architect’ of De Nederlanden.

The first buildings, the head office in
The Hague and the branch office in Amster-
dam, were built in a combination of roman-
tic Italian medieval architecture and real-
ism. The buildings were, in fact, a prelude to
the famous Beurs van Berlage in Amsterdam
that Berlage finished in 1903.

The two offices soon expanded as the
company quickly grew. These refurbish-
ments gave Berlage the opportunity to
put his new insights in practice. More sim-
plicity and more cubistic forms were used,

employing the same style that he used in
1911 for a branch office in Rotterdam. He
used different kinds of building material -
bricks and natural stones - not even as dec-
oration, but also to strengthen the construc-
tion. For Berlage the art of architecture was
a collaboration between architect, sculptor
and painter. He made frequent use of col-
ours, stained-glass windows and sculptures.
For decorations he worked together with the
sculptor Lambertus Zijl, who designed the
symbolic figures related to the fire insurance
and heraldic figures of the many countries
where De Nederlanden had agencies.

As was common at the time, Berlage
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not only designed the buildings, but also the
complete furniture and office materials,
such as bookends, notebook holders and
coat hangers. He even designed the layout
of the policies for De Nederlanden.

In 1925, Berlage began the new head
office for the company, at Groenhoven-
straat in The Hague. This building was
innovative in many ways. Berlage was not
the first to use armoured concrete con-
struction in a public building, but he was
the first who didn’t cover it with tiles or
paint. He used the pure ferroconcrete in
combination with red bricks and black
glazed tiles that resulted in a very charac-
teristic colour effect.

The assignment was to design an
office where the administration of the
insurer was directive to the architectural
design. On the ground floor, Berlage built
two large, open office spaces in the middle,
surrounded with rooms for the superiors to
have direct control over their employees
via glazed walls. On the other side of the
superiors’ rooms, there were boardrooms
for the directors to stay in contact with the
superiors. This was the first office park in
the Netherlands. It shows the influence of
Frank Lloyd Wright’s work on Berlage.

For Berlage it was clear that the design
was subservient to the material and the use
of the materials, not only for the exterior,
but also inside the building. Materials were
chosen for their durability, keeping the
aesthetic effect in mind. This was, for crit-
ics in those days, somewhat ‘cold, clinical
(...) and not warm (...), a system without a
heart, but a system that was brought into
perfection’. The critics were very enthusi-
astic about the air conditioning. The office
would be warm in winter and cool in sum-
mer, with constant humidity, all arranged
from one point. The building was in those
days the only place in the country where
this technique was practiced.

The assignment also considered future
needs. In his plans, Berlage kept expan-
sion in mind and included designs for a
second floor and expansion on the back
side of the building. After the building
suffered damages in World War I, both
the second floor and the expansion were
accomplished in 1954 by a new ‘house
architect’, Willem Dudok.

Nationale-Nederlanden left the Groen-
hovenstraat in 1996 in exchange for the
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current Head office.
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Property, finance and architecture. The
Imperial Ottoman Bank’s branch buildings

Lorans Tanatar Baruh

hen ‘upgraded’ to a state bank

in 1863, the assets of the Impe-

rial Ottoman Bank (IOB) bank
did not include any property from the for-
mer Ottoman Bank established in 1856. The
I0B continued to use the premises of the for-
mer Ottoman Bank located in a 18th century
building of the St. Pierre & St. Paul Monastery
on the main commercial axis from Galata tow-
er to the sea. The impressive headquarters of
the bank would only be built thirty years lat-
er on the initiative of Sir Edgar Vincent, Gener-
al Manager from 1889 to 1897. In a letter writ-
ten to the London committee he complained
about the building, stressing that it ‘renders
controlimpossible’ and added that ‘the smells
are so bad that | wonder that half the staff
are not down with typhoid fever'! As a result
the headquarters were commissioned to the
Levantine Architect Alexandre Vallauri (1850-
1921) and inaugurated in 1892. This story is
a well known story and this paper does not
intend to deal with the details of this building,
which is now SALT Galata. Rather, it will deal
with the history of branches, which are still
used today by the Garanti Bank.

According to the statutes of the bank as
well as the 1875 agreement with the govern-
ment, branches would be opened in the prov-
inces of the Empire; the cities of Izmir, Trabzon,
Beirut and Salonica were explicitly mentioned
but a second branch in Istanbul was not con-
sidered at that time. Several years later, in
1886, when the bank was to a large extent
relieved of its duties as treasurer to the Pub-
lic Debt Administration, it decided to explore
the commercial market. However, the need to
open a branch on the other side of the bridge
became imperative. The branch should have
started its activities in one of the rented offic-
es as was the case in Galata or any other city

1 SALT Research, Ottoman Bank London, LA 24032, ‘Plans and
elevation of the Imperial Ottoman Bank’s offices in Constan-
tinople drawn by Alexandre Vallauri, with related original in-let-
ters; Lettre of Sir Edgar Vincent to Mr. Lander, February 7, 1890.
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The Stamboul branch, 1930. SALT Research, OBA,
Real Estates Albums.

of the Empire. Once the market was consid-
ered to be flourishing, the bank then decided
to invest in property. Thus while the Stamboul
branch would have the privilege of owning its
premises, the Pera branch, opened in 1891,
would first rent its offices in the Cité de Péra,
atthe corner of Theater Street? and then under
the British School on the Grand rue de Péra.?

2 TheFrench engineer, R. Huber, who drew a map in 1887-1891
of the northern quarters of the Golden Horn to be presented to
the Sultan in 1892 and rectified in 1895. Huber, Plan de Pera,
Taxim, Pancaldi et Ferikdy, plan dressé en 1887-91 et rectifié en
grande partie en 1895,49 / I-H.

3 Inanalbum of the bank’s branches dated 1930, the branch was
still there. See SALT Research, Ottoman Bank Archive (OBA),
IMHALO02, ‘Banque Ottomanes. Photographies des immeu-
bles occupés par les agences de Turquie et de Grece, 1930 It
was around 1950, when the bank took over the building named
ikizler, formerly owned by Siniossoglou, and located on Saka
Street. At that time it transferred its Pera branch to a proper-
ty owned by the bank located the other side of the Istiklal Cad-
desi. See both locations on the plan by Suat Nirven, Beyoglu:
Mesrutiyet ve istiklal Caddesi arasl, 1/500, October 1950 and in
that of Charles Goad, Plan d’assurance de Constantinople, v. 2,
Pera-Galata, no: 37, 1905.

But the fact that another branch in Istanbul
was not mentioned in the statutes caused
problems when trying to transfer the proper-
ty of Stamboul branch in the bank’s name.*
Located on Yeni Cami Street in Emindnd,
the premises of the Stamboul branch were
also built by the architect of the bank, Alexan-
dre Vallauri,® on a plot of land which stood two
houses to the side of Seyh Mehmed Geylani’s
burial place and four shops to the side of the

Yeni Cami courtyard. The land was purchased

in 18945 and although the exact date of con-

struction is unknown, it was most probably

completed in 1895 or in the beginning of 1896,

since neither the building nor the plots appear

in the list of the bank’s properties established
in June 1894." These are mentioned in anoth-
er inventory prepared two years later in June

1896.% As with the head offices, this building,

too, was soon found to be insufficient during

the prosperous and booming business years,
and an annex was built in 1906 by the architect
engineer, M. Barouh®, on the Yeni Cami side of
the branch, expanding it to 499,50 m2.%°

The new plots on Kirbaci Street between
the Yeni Cami courtyard and the premises had
asurface of 201 to 230 m2. Their price was esti-
mated at 10,000 liras.* They were bought and
registered in 1905 in the name of Jules Deffes,
general manager from 1904 to 1910. The val-
ue of the building was estimated at approxi-
mately 19,000 liras by Vallauri in 1898 before
the addition of the annex, the construction

4 Ottoman State Archive (BOA), YA.RES 88-86, ‘Bank-1‘Osmani
uhdesinde bulunan emlak hakkinda yapilacak mu‘ameleye
da'ir, 1315.R.17 (September 15, 1897), doc. 2.

5 Mustafa Servet Akpolat, ‘Fransiz Kokenli Levanten Mimar, Alex-
andre Vallaury, PhD diss., Hacettepe University, Ankara, Sep-
tember 1991, pp. 113-114.

6 Mentioned in BOA, YA.RES 88-86, op. cit.

7 SALT Research, OBA, XKHY003 00007, ‘Banque Impériale Otto-
mane (Immeubles), doc. 2E003-005.

8  SALT Research, OBA, XKHY003 00003, op. cit., doc. 5

9 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV012, ‘Proces-verbaux des scéances
du comité, 1904-1905, Meeting of May 10, 1905, p. 513.

10 From the file of Bahgekapi [former Yeni Cami] Branch kept at
the department of Real Estate and Construction at the Garanti
Bank.

11 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV012, op. cit., Meeting of November 3,
1904, p. 257.
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Samsun branch, 1930. SALT Research, OBA, Real
Estates Albums.

charges of which amounted to 8,600 liras, all
expenses included.?This three storey building
with its orientalist details could be classified
as eclectic or in line with neo-classical Otto-
man architectural style.®

The bank’s head office and its Stamboul
branch were located at the centre of the busi-
ness and finance districts. This strategy was
also followed for all branches of the bank
opened outside the capital city of the Empire.
As was the case for Stamboul, once the branch
had reached a satisfactory amount of prof-
it and it was found that the business would
be prosperous, it could have the privilege of
constructing its own building instead of rent-
ing offices. The decisions were submitted to
London and Paris-based committees. Their
approval of investment was sought and giv-
en only after the file was meticulously studied
and discussed.

Following the Salonica branch, which
was rebuilt after its bombing by Bulgarian rev-
olutionaries in 1904 by the Italian architect
Vitalliano Posetti (1838-1918),* new invest-
ment decisions were taken for two other port
cities: Samsun, in the Black Sea; and Beirut,
in the Eastern Mediterranean®. On the eve
of the 20th century, Samsun was a multieth-
nic city, partially due to the presence of the
European Consulates and an important site
for the business of tobacco, where the Regie

12 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV013, ‘Proces-verbaux des scéanc-
es du comité, 1905-1907, Meeting of April 10, 1907, p. 623. The
first estimation of the architect Vitalis was 6.000 liras. See SALT
Research, OBA, CDPV012, op. cit. Meeting of November 3, 1904,
p.257.

13 Zeyneti Uluadam, ‘Garanti Bankasi Emindni Sube Binasl Res-
titlisyon Raporu’ [Restitution Report of Garanti Bank Eminénii
Branch Building], 2008, p. 1.

14 Forthe story of Salonica branch see http://www.obarsiv.com/
english/as-salonica-branch.html

15 Thisarticle does not include the story of the building of the Bei-
rut branch designed by the architect Barouh and the build-
er Derviche Haddad in 1906. The branch was transferred to
the Banque de Syrie et du Liban after the World War | and
destroyed during the civil war.

invested heavily. A letter sent on May 10, 1905
to the Paris committee revealed the need for
greater space and the approval of construct-
ing a new building was sought. This highlight-
ed the fact that the lack of space resulted in
customers’ invasion of the employees’ offic-
es, which had several inconveniences for the
way in which the bank ran its business. It was
also mentioned that the bank tried unsuccess-
fully to find an investor who would undertake
construction, which would meet the require-
ments of the bank, so that it could be rented
for a long period. Thus the bank decided to
look for a plot to construct its own building.
But it was not an easy task because of high
prices. Finally a plot was found at a moderate
price in the business district that was owned
by the Port Company. The architect and engi-
neer M. Barouh estimated the cost of the build-
ing including the plot of 670 m2 in the Kaleici
quarter to be 4,000 liras.** The approval of the
two committees was wired in May 1925."7 It
was decided that Barouh should undertake
building both the Beirut and Samsun-based
buildings. The final quote of the building in
Samsun, which was constructed on a site of
about 450 m2 with a small garden of 220 m2 at
the back®®, was 4,100 liras.* The price included
the plot. The contract of June 8 was signed by
the Barouh & Amar architect office?, located in
Gumuchlu Han in Galata®. The contract men-
tioned that this price covered the construction
of the building and of its surrounding walls as
well as the repair of the garden wall adjacent
to the quay. It comprised all travel expenses of
the engineer Barouh as well as a 5% commis-
sion. The furnishing of the building, the heat-
ing installation, the water pipes and municipal
taxes were not included in it. The work could
start immediately and would last a year.?? It
seems that the building was completed on

16 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCAQ08, ‘Comité de Paris. Corre-
spondance active, 1904/05; Lettre no 1627, May 10, 1905, p.
617-18. In the weekly meeting of May 10, 1905, the price of the
plotis mentioned as 1,500 liras. CDPV012, ‘Procés-verbaux
des scéances du comité, 1904/05’ Meeting of May 10, 1905, p.
511-512.
SALT Research, OBA, CDPV012, ‘Proces-verbaux des scéances
du comité, 1904-1905) Meeting of May 19,1905, p. 524.
‘Harici Ekspertiz Raporu’ [The External Expertise Report],
November 11, 1996. From the file of Samsun Branch kept at the
Department of Real Estates and Construction at the Garanti
Bank.
19 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV012, op. cit., p. 545, June 3, 1905.
20 After the fire of 1890, Barouh & Amar reconstructed the Jake
Abbott Mansion, where the Salonica branch of the Impe-
rial Ottoman Bank was installed before the bombing of
1903. http://www.radamanth.fotki.com/1/architects/1/
barouch--amar/
21 SALT Research, Yearbooks, Annuaire Oriental, 1909, p. 1049.
22 SALT Research, OBA, IMDIV01702891, ‘Banque Imperiale Otto-
mane - Samsoun’
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time since according to a letter of the Legal
Department, the title of the new building was
issued in July 1906 in the name of the general
manager of the bank, Jules Deffés.?

Another bank building was commis-
sioned for the Eskisehir branch. Eskisehir is a
city at the intersection of Istanbul, Ankara and
Konya on the Baghdad Railway line, which
reached the city in 1892. The increasing pop-
ulation and flourishing economy at the turn
of the 20th century attracted the attention of
the general management in Istanbul, which
asked for authorisation to open a branch. The
committees gave it on November 11, 1903.%
The branch was opened in 1904 in a rented
office located in the centre of the city. The con-
tract was signed for five years with an annu-
al fee of 48 liras and the flat above was rent-
ed for the director for 12 liras/year.” Soon, the
office facilities came up short. Two sugges-
tions of constructing a building for the branch
on a long-term contract, one by Raif Bey at the
market place®, and the other by Hadji Edhem
Bey,” didn’t materialize. Thus the manage-
ment decided to buy a plot and construct the
building with its own means. The first propos-
al of the branch to buy a plot of 1,400 m2 at
1,000 liras?® wasn’t followed up. Finally, the
proposal to buy a plot of 1,200 pics or 690 m2
in the business center of the city at 600 liras for
its offices and storage area was approved.”
One month later, an additional 52 liras was
approved to increase the size of the plot to
1,312 pics®*or 734 m2.3

Two offers were received from the archi-
tects Moro and Carayannakis for the build-
ing and its depots. After consulting the archi-
tect adviser of the bank, Antoine Perpignani
(1843-1910%), the building was commissioned
to Carayannakis. Carayannakis offered a bet-
ter price at 3,431 liras as compared to that of
Moro, which was 5,100 liras. As an illustration

23 Ibid.

24 SALT Research, LA24035001, ‘List of Branches of the Imperial
Ottoman Bank;, 1914, p. 5.

25 SALT Research, OBA, CDPVO012, op. cit., 1904-1905, Meeting of
June6, 1904, p. 11.

26 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV014, ‘Proces-verbaux des scéances
du comité, 1907-09, Meeting of August 6, 1907, p. 2.

27 SALT Research, OBA, CDPVO014, op. cit., Meeting of August 14,
1907, p. 20.

28 SALT Research, OBA, CDPVO013, op. cit., Meeting of March 28,
1907, p. 106.

29 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV014, op. cit., Meeting of February 5,
1908, pp. 291-292 and February 13, 1908, p. 302.

30 SALT Research, OBA, CDPVO014, op. cit., Meeting of March 3,
1908, p. 336.

31 Deedtitle established instead of the old one written in Arabic
script. From the file of Eskisehir Branch kept at the department
of Real Estate and Construction at the Garanti Bank.

32 SALT Research, OBA, XKSE006 05444, ‘Perpignani Antoine”
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of his design plans he showed the building he
had designed for the company of Deirmendji-
an & Sons. A one storey building was builton a
construction site of 395 m2 as well as the adja-
cent depots®® were completed in December
1909.** However, it seems that the construc-
tion expenses exceeded the proposed amount
as Carayannakis sought compensation for
this loss three months into completion of the
work. This compensation was refused on the
basis that the bank needed at least six months
to determine if the construction would serve
the needs of the branch.®

The following buildings were erected
during the Republican era: the I0B, which sur-
vived this era by removing ‘imperial’ from its
name and by adapting to the new regime, first
constructed a new building in Mersin. The rea-
son behind this is described in a lettre sent
to the Paris committee. The director of the
Mersin branch had expected a high increase in
the annual fee of the rent. And yet the building
was in a dilapidated condition and no longer
fit the needs of the branch. Arguing that there
was a lack of buildings suitable for the branch,
the director suggested constructing a new one
with depots for storing goods. The lettre add-
ed that this construction project was based on
the growth prospects of city’s economy.*

Mersin was well connected to its hin-
terland through the Adana-Mersin railway
line, first opened in 1886 and then trans-
ferred to the Baghdad Railway in 1908.%" As
Mersin emerged as a new and dynamic com-
mercial centre, the number of trading com-
panies increased at the turn of the 20th cen-
tury. The IOB also took part in the financial
transactions of Mersin through its new branch,
opened in 1892. The flourishing economy also
transformed the urban fabric of the city, which
would continue during the early Republican
period.*®

The Istanbul management was in favour

33 Thedepots were sold on July 1, 1993 to a textile company,
Sarar, which transformed it into a shop. See also the decision
of the board of May 18, 1993. From the file of Eskisehir Branch
kept at the department of Real Estate and Construction at the
Garanti Bank.

34 SALT Research, CDPV015, ‘Proces-verbaux des scéances du
comité, 1909/10, Meeting of December 6, 1909, p. 318.

35 SALT Research, CDPV015, ‘Proces-verbaux des scéances du
comité, 1909/10, Meeting of March 18, 1910, p. 441.

36 SALT Research, CDCPCA029, ‘Comité de Paris. Correspondance
active, 1925, Lettre no: 738, July 8, 1925 and attached to it see
the copy of the lettre sent by the Mersin branch on June 8, 1925.

37 Tilin Selvi Unli, Tolga Unlii, From Railway Station to the Light-
house, Mersin, Mersin Chamber of Commerce and Industry,
2009, p. 59.

38 Tolga Unlij, Tillin Selvi Unlij, Developing Commerce Chang-
ing City: Mersin 1850-1950, Mersin Chamber of Commerce and
Industry, 2012, p. 125.

Eskisehir branch, 1930. SALT Research, OBA, Real
Estates Albums.

of the proposal sent from Mersin and following
a positive answer from the Paris committee, a
detailed project was submitted for approv-
al in November 10, 1925. The cost of the pro-
ject would be 84,700 liras, including a two-sto-
rey building, which would be constructed on
a site of 380 m2 *. The plot of 2,000 m2 would
be bought for 7,000 liras. It was noted that the
price of 3,5 liras/m2 was really low due to the
owner’s expectations that the construction of
the bank’s building would increase the value
of the surrounding plots, which were owned
by the same proprietor. Moreover, it was well
located in the business centre on the road
leading to the Municipality, not far from the
sea and the train station as well as from the
Government House.* One month later, anoth-
er lettre sent to the committees, indicated that
a plot of 600 m2 was added to the main one at
the same price in order to avoid any other con-
struction in the near proximity of the branch.
The details and plans of the construction were
also added in the lettre. Architects in Paris
analysed the project in detail. Their report was
senton March 12,1926. “ However, these com-
ments were not taken into consideration. The
Istanbul management was in a hurry to finish
the construction work in order to relocate the
branch to its new location before the rent con-
tract of the former one, which would expire on
May 31, 1926. So, the project was approved
and the construction work started when the
report was received.”

Very soon, the complaint of the directors
about the size of their apartments was taken
into consideration. Following the consultation

39 Detail from the file of Mersin Branch kept at the department of
Real Estate and Construction at the Garanti Bank.

40 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA028, ‘Comité de Paris. Correspon-
dance active, 1925 Letter no: 1147, November 10, 1925, p. 839.

41 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP031, ‘Comité de Paris. Correspon-
dance passive, 1926, Letter no: 159, March 12, 1926.

42 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP032, ‘Comité de Paris. Correspon-
dance passive, 1926, Letter no: 215, dated April 13,1926, see
also the answer dated April 26, 1926 attached to it.

TURKEY

of the adviser architect Mongeri, the Istanbul
management approved® revisions as well as
additions suggested by the architect and con-
structor Orisdis Zaglioli*. An additional 10,312
liras would be paid for: the enlargement of the
flat; the fenced enclosure with a wall and iron
railings; the pavement; well drilling; pump
installation; and the construction of the laun-
dry room.*The Paris committee was very sur-
prised that the concerns about the apartments
surfaced only when the construction work was
well advanced. Furthermore, it was expected
that this enlargement, which would be taken
from the balcony, would not affect the facade
of the building nor the roof light illuminating
the offices at the entrance.” The Istanbul man-
agement answered thatin orderto ensure bet-
ter conditions such as spaciousness and staff
well being in a hot city like Mersin and con-
sidering that additional expenses were not
high, the modifications were approved. Brief-
ly, the number of rooms would be increased
from 4 to 5 for the director and from 3 to 4
for the adjoint director and their height was
increased from 3,5 to 4 m. Moreover, a ventila-
tion system, which harnessed the breeze from
the sea during the day and from the moun-
tains during the night, essential in a hot and
humid city like Mersin, was installed.*” As for
the warning about the light and the facade,
Istanbul management replied to the commit-
tee that Mongeri had assured management
that they would not be badly affected.*® How-
ever the construction work lasted longer than
expected, and the bank had to renew its rent
contract of the building that the branch was
using until the end of the construction work.*
It seems that the branch moved to its new
building in the first half of 1927. In June, the
baths were sent from Istanbul to be installed
in the bathrooms of the directors® while in
November, the branch submitted a propos-
al and its budget to Istanbul Management for
transforming the uncultivated plot around the

43 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP032, op. cit., Lettre no: 308, dated
May 26, 1926, see the notes dated May 12,1926 attached to it.

44 John A.Rizzo, Annuaire Oriental, Oriental Directory, Constan-
tinople, 1927, p. 368.

45 Ibid.

46 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP032, op. cit., Lettre no: 390 dated
June 28, 1926.

47 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA030, ‘Comité de Paris. Correspon-
dance active, 1926, Lettre no: 565 dated June 16, 1926.

48 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP032, op. cit., Lettre dated July 24,
1926 and the Mongeri’s Lettre of July 18,1926 attached to the
Lettre no: 390 ibid.

49 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV03700079A001, ‘Procés-verbaux des
scéances du comité, 1926, Meeting of July 15, 1926, p. 654.

50 SALT Research, OBA, CPPV039, ‘Procés-verbaux des scéances
du comité, 1927, Meeting of June 30, 1927, p. 396.
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Mersin branch, 1930. SALT Research, OBA,
Real Estates Albums.

building into a garden, which was approved.>*
A title deed of the branch issued in 1933 indi-
cates that part of this garden was confiscat-
ed by the Municipality for the roads at the
back and the left hand side of the building.
According to the parcel plan, the size of the
plot decreased from 2,600 to 2,562 m2. The
depots remained there until 1996.%

Branches of Ankara and izmir, which were
of symbolic importance for the new regime,
replaced previous buildings that had burnt
down during the war years. Ankara was pro-
claimed the capital of the new regime and all
resources were spent to transform this small
town into a capital city. The new state building
architecture started to shape the new Ankara.
In 1926, the Ottoman Bank, one of the most
prestigious financial institutions of the time,
began construction at the corner of the ave-
nue known as the Banks Avenue in the Ulus
district. In a lettre sent to the committee in
Paris, its splendid location was communicat-
ed. It was located opposite to the National
Defence Committee and the Administration of
the Post Office and was next to the Agricultural
Bank, which was close to state agencies and in
a newly developing part of the city.> The plot
of 1,000 m2 was bought at 25.000 liras. The for-
mer plot of 720 m2 on the Avenue of the Train
Station was confiscated by the government
for inclusion into the premises of the Nation-
al Assembly. The price was set at 15 liras/m2,
which is a total price of 10,800 liras. Thus the
bank would pay the difference of 14,200 liras
to the state for the new plot.>

From the minutes of the board in Istan-
bul, itis clear that much care was given to the
construction of the new building. The Paris

51 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV039, op. cit., Meeting of November 3,
1927, p.920.

52 From the file of Mersin Branch kept at the department of Real
Estate and Construction at the Garanti Bank.

53 Ibid.

54 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA029A, ‘Comité de Paris. Corre-
spondance active, 1926’ Letter no: 20, Lettre of January 8, 1926.

55 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV036, ‘Proces-verbaux des scéances
du comité, 1926, Meeting of January 21, 1926, pp. 67-68.

Ankara branch . SALT Research, OBA, Real
Estates Photos.

Committee was reluctant to work with a Ger-
man company and introduced French coun-
terparts like la Régie Générale de Chemins
de Fer & Travaux Publics.*® However Giu-
lio Mongeri (1873-1953), the Levantine advis-
er architect of the bank since 1911%, insisted
on collaborating with Philipp Holzmann from
Frankfurt acting through Nazim Bey. Nazim
Bey had undertaken several projects in the
city including the Italian Embassy in Ankara®.
As Mongeri was not living in Ankara, he wanted
to entrust the construction to a company with
skilled labor, keeping the necessary material
stocks.” Finally, the Paris committee consent-
ed in working with this company on the condi-
tion that the intermediary Nazim Bey mediat-
ed between the parties.®

The cost of the construction was estimat-
ed at 200,000 - 220,000 liras®* and to this would
be added the treasury, electricity and the heat-
ing system installations and counters.®? The
additional cost was forecast at 29,250 liras by
Mongeri. This took into consideration that the
price of the vault was calculated at the rate of
a German company C. Ade, located in Berlin,
and which was cheaper than British or French
vaults sold by Chatwood, Milners and Fichet.
The first floor of this three storey building was
conceived for banking activities and particular
attention was paid to the offices of the direc-
tors who would be in touch with ministers,
diplomatic figures or other state officers. The
second floor was dedicated to the apartment
of the director, which included an office, two
rooms, a servant room, a restroom, a saloon

56 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP031, ‘Comité de Paris. Correspon-
dance passive, 1926, Lettre no: 142, March 5, 1926.

57 Ugur Tanyeli, Mimarligin Aktérleri: Turkiye 1900-2000, Istanbul:
Garanti Galeri, 2007, p. 374.

58 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA029A, op. cit., Lettre no: 156, Feb-
ruary 13,1926.

59 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA029A, op. cit., Lettre no: 263,
March 15, 1926.

60 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP031, op. cit., Lettre no: 136, March
2,1926.

61 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP032, op. cit., ‘Comité de Paris.

62 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA029A, op. cit,, Lettre no 519 of
June 3,1926, p. 949.

and a dining room for the receptions.®® The
last floor was designed as a semi-open ter-
race.% Although it was not mentioned explicit-
ly, the branch most probably moved to its new
premises at the beginning of 1928.

The new branch building in izmir was
also constructed in the same period. The for-
mer building was located on the quay. It had
burnt down on September 15, 1922 during a
fire which destroyed a space of about 3 mil-
lion square meters in the city. Following the
proclamation of the Republic, the municipal-
ity signed a contract with René and Raymond
Danger brothers for an urban plan, which was
approved in July 192565 and immediately
implemented.®® In the same year, a law was
approved that designated the destroyed area
as wasteland, giving the municipality the right
to confiscate the land.

The bankfirst attempted to buy the build-
ing of National Bank of Greece in izmir but the
exchange could not be concluded since the
building belonged to the properties includ-
ed in an agreement concerning the exchange
of populations and thus became the property
of the municipality.® A second attempt to buy
a plot to construct the building from Muam-
mer Usakizade® also failed as the municipality
also appropriated this plot.”A few months lat-
er, the Boulevard Company offered the bank a
plot of 832.14 m2 at 43.5 lira/m2. The bank’s
management negotiated the price of 48,000
liras and asked the approval of the Paris com-
mittee.™ The plot, which was at the corner of
the two new avenues, namely Gazi Pasa and
Fevzi Pasa, was well situated and close to the
customs, municipality and other government
administration buildings. Although it was felt
that the plot was inferior to the one conceived
as 1,000 or 1,200 m2, it would be sufficient for
the services of the bank.™

63 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA029A, op. cit., Lettre no 519 of
June 3,1926, p. 948.

64 Mehmet Sarioglu, ‘Bankalar Caddesinin Oykuisti, Uzman
Gozliyle Bankacilik, no: 27, p. 54.

65 CanaBilsel, ‘Bir $ehir Killerinden Yeniden Doguyor: Cumhuri-
yet Smyrma’sinin Kurulusu, izmir 1830-1930 unutulmus bir kent
mi? Bir Osmanli limanindan hatiralar, ed. by Marie-Carmen
Smyrnelis, Istanbul: lletisim, 2009, p. 243-245.

66 Ugur Tanyeli,‘Modern Izmir's Architectural Venture’, Three Ages
of lzmir: Palimpsest of Cultures, Istanbul: YKY, 2003, p. 334.

67 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV034, ‘Proces-verbaux des scéances
du comité, 1925, Meeting of May 30, 1925, p. 497.

68 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV034, op. cit., Meeting of May 5, 1925,
p.568.

69 Member of a prominent family in zmir, who worked for a while
atthe bank.

70 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV034, op. cit., Meeting of June 27,
1925, pp. 596-597.

71 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA029,Comité de Paris. Correspon-
dance active, 1925/26), Lettre no: 1303, December 24, 1925, p.
83-84.

72 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA028,Comité de Paris. Correspon-
dance active, 1925, Lettre no: 916, September 10, 1925, p. 477.
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The Paris committee felt that the loca-
tion of the new plot was not as good as the
earlier one and observed that the best loca-
tion on the quays were sold to competitors
of the bank, namely the Banco di Roma, is
Bankasi, Deutsche Bank, la Banque francaise
des Pays d’Orient et la Banque de Salonique
as well as to different public and private agen-
cies.”®Thus the bank’s management was criti-
cised as slow in finding a plot to construct the
building. However, the approval was given
and the new plot was bought at 40,000 liras.

As was the case in Ankara, this building
was commissioned to Mongeri and construct-
ed by the company Philipp Holzmann. The
plans of the building were submitted to the
Paris committee on March 31,1926 and care-
fully revised by their architects Naville & Chau-
quet, who found the projects worthy of execu-
tion. However, they added that a simpler plan
would present a more serious style, which
would better fit the image of the bank. Moreo-
ver the lighting of the hall of the counters was
not good enough and the connections were
considered complicated.”” The Paris com-
mittee also commented that they would not
want to have a fancy building like the ones
done for exhibitions.™ Mongeri, as the archi-
tect of several buildings commissioned by the
government or its agencies, explained to the
management that facades were important in
Turkey and the nationalist regime was look-
ing to develop a national architecture.” The
general director, Pougnadoresse, wrote to the
committee that the local taste should be fol-
lowed but the committees as well as his own
ideas should also be heeded. The decoration
of the facades should be simplified as much
as possible.”® The Paris committee agreed to
this but regretted that the architects of both
parties could not work together because of
the lack of time.™

Regarding the concerns of the Paris com-
mittee with respect to the construction com-
pany, the bank wrote that the details of the
offer of the construction work, amounting to

73 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP031, ‘Comité de Paris. Correspon-
dance passive, 1926, Lettre no: 13, January 8, 1926.

T4 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA029A, ‘Comité de Paris. Corre-
spondance active, 1925/26), Lettre no: 316, March 31, 1926, p.
619.

75 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP032, ‘Comité de Paris. Correspon-
dance passive, 1926, Report of April 21, 1926 and attached to
the lettre dated April 26, 1926.

76 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP032, op. cit., lettre dated April 26,
1926.

77 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA029A, op. cit., Lettre no: 520, sent
onJune 3,1926, p. 950.

78 Ibid, p.951.

79 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP032, op. cit., Lettre dated June 8,
1926.

260,000 liras and presented by Mehmed Gal-
ib and ibrahim Galib acting as the agents of
the Société Internationale de Génie Civil or the
former company Simon Carves, were incom-
plete. Moreover, the personal experience of
Mongeri with this company in the construc-
tion of the Agricultural Bank in Ankara was not
satisfactory. He reported that their work was
not well organized, the company was using
unskilled labor and their implementation was
very bad. Even though their offer was high-
er, in numbers amounting to 287,000 liras,®
these were the reasons why the management
in Istanbul decided to work with Holzmann as
had been the case in Ankara. Paris approved
it by a telegram sent on June 30, 1926.8' The
construction work included the modifications
required on February, 1927%. It lasted longer
than the expected time of 275 working days®
and the bank had to extend the contract for
three months to the end of 1927.% Finally,
the branch moved to its new premises, classi-
fied as one of the examples of the first nation-
al architectural movement® in izmir, on Febru-
ary 11,1928.

The construction stories of these build-
ings helps to understand how decisions
were taken; what the power relations between
local authorities, committees in Paris and Lon-
don and the Istanbul management were; to
follow the processes behind these decisions
and their implementation; to grasp the differ-
ences between the Ottoman and Republican
periods; and to trace the bank’s relationship
with the architects.

80 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCAQ31A, ‘Comité de Paris. Corre-
spondance active, 1926/27, Lettre no: 147, dated February 12,
1927, p. 565. The offer didn’t include the installation of the elec-
tricity, the heating, the vaults and the counters, which were esti-
mated by Mongeri to cost 37,500 liras. SALT Research, OBA,
CDCPCA030, op. cit., Letter no: 629, June 30, 1925.

SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCP033, ‘Comité de Paris. Correspon-
dance passive, 1926, Lettre dated July 10, 1926. CDCPCA030,
op.it,, Letter no: 703, July 19, 1926, p. 275-276.

The branch asked for a new vault to keep the books inside and
aliftfor all floors, a storage room for opium and the widening of
the passage leading to it, the relocation of the restrooms from
the basement to the first floor. SALT Research, OBA, CDPV038,
‘Procés-verbaux des scéances du comité, 1927, Meeting of Feb-
ruary 9, 1927, no: 27, p.3. SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCA031A,
op. cit,, Lettre no: 147, February 12, 1927, pp. 564-565. By way
of explanation, advances on commodities were a speciality of
Anatolian branches, where agricultural production constitut-
ed the major backing of such transactions and opium was not
considered illegal until 1930s. Edhem Eldem, A History of the
Ottoman Bank, Istanbul, Ottoman Bank, 1999., p. 279.
83 SALT Research, OBA, CDCPCAQ30, op. cit., Lettre no: 629, June
30, 1925.
84 SALT Research, OBA, CDPV039, ‘Proces-verbaux des scéances
du comité, 1927, Meeting of December 6, 1927, p. 999.
85 Inci Aslanoglu, Erken cumhuriyet ddnemi mimarligi 1923-1938,
3rd edition, Istanbul: Bilge Kiiltir Sanat, 2010, pp. 245-246.
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Izmir branch, ca 1928. SALT Research, OBA,
Real Estates Photos.

The I0B used a number of adviser architects
including Alexandre Vallauri, Antoine Perpig-
nani and Giulio Mongeri. In a few cases, as
was the case with branches in Eskisehir and
Mersin, buildings were commissioned to a
third party or a local architect and constructor
under the supervision of the adviser architect.
In the Republican period, the Paris commit-
tee was closely involved in the details of these
plans. The idea was that these buildings were
to be the face of the bank. Moreover, it was a
question of security, as well as comfort of the
staff and customers. Thus they insisted on
having their say and established a close col-
laboration of architects in Paris with the advis-
er architect in Istanbul.®* However, although
they tried hard, the committees abroad were
not successful in implementing their sugges-
tions with regard to the architectural style,
nor the construction processes of those build-
ings. The Paris committee had no other choice
than to accept local decisions. Thus, although
the bank remained a foreign investment until
1996, it had to adapt to the realities of the
country and follow the local trends of the
time, as was the case for the Mersin, Ankara
and izmir branches.

The branches described here were impor-
tant investments of the time. They were rep-
resented in the main images of the bank and
included on the maps of the towns. As the
cities were expanding and their population
increasing, new branches were opened. As a
consequence those branches lost their previ-
ous uniqueness in the business. On the other
hand, after the sale of the bank to the Dogus
Group in 1996, their interior was modified as
theflats of the directors were transformed into
offices. Nonetheless, these historical build-
ings remain important examples of urban civ-
il architecture and today are considered a part
of the historical legacy of those sites. ®

86 OBA, CDCPCP032, op. cit., Lettre no: 215, April 13,1926.
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Isbank’s architectural approach.
Three headquarters buildings

Turkey economically had lost near-

ly everything. Capital was highly lim-
ited, and the population had decreased.
Therefore, before the announcement of
the republic, the leaders of modern Tur-
key organized an economy congress in
izmir (Smyrna) in 1923. Mustafa Kemal, the
founder of Turkish Republic, stated there:
‘No military victory, unless crowned with
economic triumph, can be expected to last.’

The general aim of the congress was
to define economic principles and possible
developmental paths of the new Turkish
state. At the congress merchants and indus-
trialists who were struggling to find financ-
ing declared their demand for a ‘main com-
mercial bank.’ In 1924 isbank was founded
to meet their demand; to finance all cor-
ners of the country; to provide security for
investors; and to convert the nation’s sav-
ings into domestic investments. In keeping
with the country’s economic policies, the
good of the nation was always paramount.

The bank was founded as a private
bank. However, it was founded on Musta-
fa Kemal’s initiative. He was the largest
individual shareholder and notables of big
cities also invested in Isbank. Founded in
the poor and arid Ankara of the day, with
a strength derived from the determina-
tion of a nation that had been fighting for
ten years, the bank was a clear indication
of the resolution of the Republican admin-
istration in matters related to economic
development.

While people’s first demand was to
be financed, isbank gave priority to col-
lecting savings. However, a mere 96 sav-
ers had opened accounts in the bank’s first
four months in 1924. It was a major chal-
lenge to attract the savings of the rural
population into bank safes. There was no
established trust in the banking system.
isbank supported the savings culture on all
fronts. It started to distribute coin banks in
1928, encouraged families to own one, and

I n 1922, at the end of a decade of war
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Headquarters in Ulus, Ankara, 1929.

executed wide-ranging advertising cam-
paigns. Also the Bank contributed to the
Saving Weeks, which had been celebrat-
ed each year since 1929 in Turkey. And the
Bank especially supported school activities
in that week. Therefore, Turkey witnessed
the birth of a savings culture as well as that
of branch banking in the country.

In becoming a reliable corporate enti-
ty, the bank endeavored to implement cer-
tain principles in its own working practice.
From the beginning a ‘banking ethic’ was
being cultivated. A number of instructions
were issued in order to ensure the inculca-
tion of respect for the law and the custom-
er. isbank may well have been founded at
a time when no banking code of practice
was in place, but it did its best to formulate
its own. And this served its trustworthiness
too.

Another factor which makes a bank
sound and credible is its buildings. ishank
gave importance to its building of branch-
es in order to create a credible financial
institution. Both the locations in the towns
and the interior and exterior architectural

designs served isbank’s trustworthiness.
The doors of the main safe and safe-de-
posit box section were the most promo-
tive elements that showed how sound the
Bank was. Because fires were very com-
mon among old wooden, traditional Turk-
ish houses, the robustness of buildings was
very crucial.

The architecture was also signifi-
cant. In 1930, in a letter of the chief exec-
utive officer, Celal Bayar listed noteworthy
points of new branch buildings, if the build-
ings were to be built by the Bank. He said:

‘We prefer Turkish architects; we
believe there are component architects in
the country. ...From now on isbank build-
ings have a style and new buildings should
copy that. Thus, it will be unnecessary
to read the signboard on the building in
order to understand that the building is a
branch of isbank. The plans of new branch-
es should be laid out’

While he said ‘from now on’ he implied
three buildings: Ankara, Edremit, and izmir
branches. These three new buildings were
builtin 1929 and 1930. The Bank’s directors
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The skylight decorated with stained glass
illustrating Hermes the protector and patron
of trade, 1930s.

defined each detail, from their locations to
their furnishing. They had special place not
only in isbank’s history, but also in Turkish
architectural history. The Ankara branch
was the first built and it served 47 years as
the headquarters of the Bank.

Announced as the capital city of mod-
ern Turkey in 1923, Ankara was recon-
structed in the 1920s. In 1928, a city plan-
ning competition was held and the winner
was German architect Hermann Jansen.
His plan would shape the city for the next
fifty years. In particular, it defined Ulus
Square as the center of the city. Hosting the
famous Atatlrk statue, Ulus square con-
nected the street leading to the railway sta-
tion and the road of Cankaya, where Musta-
fa Kemal lived.

Ankara also hosted Isbank head-
quarters since its foundation in 1924. The
first buildings of the Bank were hired. In
1926, a parcel of land in the centre of Ulus
Square was bought to construct a prospec-
tive headquarters building. The land was
located behind the building of Ministry of
Finance and opposite to Atatlirk’s statue.

Giulio Mongeri was selected as the
architect of the building in 1927. He came
from an Italian Levantine family and was a
prominent architect both in the last years
of the Ottoman Empire and early modern
Turkey. He was one of the last members of

The ground floor of the headquarters in Ulus,
Ankara.

the ‘First National Architecture Movement’
which was dominant between 1908 and
1930. Among his buildings were the Otto-
man Bank, Ziraat Bank, Monopolies Chief
Directorate in Ankara and Assicurazioni
Generali Han, Karakdy Palace, Magka Pal-
ace, and Saint Antoine Church in istanbul.
He was a teacher at the Academy of Fine
Arts and one of his students was Sedad
Hakki Eldem, one of the most prominent
architects of republican architecture.

The isbank headquarters building in
Ulus would become Mongeri’s most famous
work. He had an eclectic architecture style.
The building had a triangular layout with
two oval rooms in the centre. The oval sky-
light was decorated with stained glass pro-
duced by Corvaya-Bazzi&C in Milan and it
illuminated the upstairs corridors and the
spacious hall in the ground floor. The pic-
ture on the skylight belonged to Hermes,
the protector and patron of invention and
trade in Greek mythology. The form of the
windows was inspired by Baroque build-
ings but he used Seljuk and Ottoman styles
in the facades. Thematically, a triple facade
composition was used and the build-
ing was divided into three parts: a ground
floor, three floors in the middle, and the
top floor. Multiple windowed and lumi-
nous surfaces, as well as the Ottoman ogee
arches were the parts of the building where
Mongeri showed his skills. There were Sel-
juk geometric figures in the safety fences of
the first floor. The name of the Bank writ-
ten on the pediment and the arbour above
the entrance represented the Art Nouveau
style of the beginning of the 1900s.

Although  200.000 Turkish Liras
were planned for the construction in the
beginning, a contract for 477.740 was

TURKEY

A room of directors; Headquarters in Ulus, Ankara.

awarded. However, because of some inev-
itable expenses such as concrete piling for
healthier ground, an elevator, a lightening
conductor, fire extinguishers, some luxu-
ry expenditures such as marble columns
and floors, a winter garden, a bathroom,
a pedestal, and extravagant furniture, the
total cost approached four times as much
as the initial amount. The final total was
736.118 Liras. The manufacturer of the fur-
niture was Selahattin Refik, who owned the
most celebrated furniture shop in the early
Republic.

The building was completed in June
1929. It was announced that isbank would
celebrate its fifth anniversary in its new
building. After the gorgeous building was
opened the leading newspapers and jour-
nals such as Hakimiyet-i Milliye and Servet-i
Flnun narrated the event under special
topics with detailed information and lots
of photographs. In September 1929 Musta-
fa Kemal Atatiirk visited the headquarters
and again the press was full of tribute to
the architecture of the building.

One year thereafter Giulio Mongeri
built another branch of isbank in Edremit, a
small Aegean town near izmir. This building
was much smaller than the Ulus building,
but had similar characteristics. Although
its architect was not Mongeri, the izmir
branch was similar too. All these three
buildings were the most significant struc-
tures in their towns and located in the cen-
tre squares. Thus, just as Celal Bayar had
indicated in 1930, people easily noticed
them as branches of isbank.

Over the years this building became
a symbol of Isbank. Since it represents
‘trust’ with its architecture, it was used in
the advertisements, in the press, and in the
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promotional materials. People compare
it to a crag in Southeastern Anatolia and
refer to that crag as ‘isbank Mountain. By
the 1960s, the Bank had outgrown the Ulus
headquarters building. Some units were
moved to rented or purchased property.

In 1967, it was decided that the head-
quarters be moved to another address,
Kavaklidere. The Construction and Property

Division of the Bank picked the Ayhan
Boke and Yilmaz Sargin project from a field
of seven submissions. The construction
contract was awarded to the Esat Ayduk
Koray Company for the three-block com-
plex, whose B block rose to 29 stories and a
height of 91 metres. Construction took four
and a half years and the building was inau-
gurated at the end of 1976. This monumen-
tal edifice, designed by isbank architects,
showed the progress made by modern

Headquarters in Levent, istanbul, 2000s.

| The crag called ‘isbank Mountain’ in Uludere-
Hakkari, Southeastern Anatolia.

Turkish architecture; at the time, it was the
tallest ‘skyscraper’ in Turkey. The building
is still one of the most aesthetic buildings of
Ankara.

On the eve of the new millennium
isbank moved its headquarters to Levent,
Istanbul. The need to be closer to the mar-
kets had been felt for decades. In the mid-
dle of 1990s an international contest was
held and Swanke Hayden Connell Interna-
tional and Dogan Tekeli-Sami Sisa Architec-
ture prepared the architectural design. The
constructors represented Turkish-American
co-operation; Tepe insaat and Turner/Stein-
er International SA started to construct in
1995 and it took five years to be complet-
ed. It was again a three-block complex.
Block 1 contains 52 floors and rises 181.20
meters and two other blocks rise 117.1
meters. It remained the tallest building of

Turkey until 2011. The buildings are ‘intel-
ligent’; the buildings’ heating, ventilation,
air conditioning, lighting and other systems
are controlled by a centre automatically.
Today more than 4500 people work at the
complex.

Today the Ulus building still hosts the
Ankara branch; the Kavaklidere building is
used by the Banking Regulation and Super-
vision Agency of Turkey. All these years lat-
er isbank continues to follow its first CEQ’s
orders, endeavouring to continue a tradi-
tion and to maintain the importance and
influence of the buildings. ®
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Underneath the Bank of England

Margherita Orlando and Rachael Muir

This article discusses aspects of the ‘hidden’
history of the site of the Bank of England,
and what lies beneath the well-known build-
ing in the heart of the City.

Early development of the Bank and the
Church of St Christopher-Le-Stocks

The publicis used to the imposing presence of
the Bank of England on Threadneed|e Street,
but few know that the Bank has not always
occupied its current grounds, and that it has
evolved from much smaller premises.

For the first 40 years of its life the Bank
resided in rented accommodation; first in the
Mercer’s Hall on Cheapside and subsequent-
ly in the Grocers’ Hall in Poultry. The Bank
moved to its own premises on Threadneedle
Street in 1734, but had begun acquiring prop-
erties on the same street from 1724. Theinitial
plot of land purchased was the house of the
first Bank Governor, Sir John Houblon, which
was pulled down to erect new premises. The
Bank continued to acquire additional proper-
ties in the areas of Threadneedle Street, Loth-
bury, Bartholomew Lane and Princes Street
to continue to enlarge its building by progres-
sively adding new sections. The Bank’s Archive
holds several examples of title deeds that doc-
ument the expansion of the building in the
18th century, including the purchase of a few
taverns, coffee houses and a textile shop.

AninterestingdevelopmentoftheThread-
needle Street site came with the purchase of
the church of St Christopher-Le-Stocks, and its
accompanying churchyard and burial ground
in 1781. The Church was based west of the
Bank building on Threadneedle Street. Dur-
ing the Gordon Riots of 1780 it was feared that
the ‘very easy access to the internal parts’ of
the church, ‘and from thence to the Bank™
may endanger the public and the Bank itself.
Military protection was provided during the
riots, but the proximity of the church to the
Bank was perceived as a continued threat in

1 Bankof England Archive, Ref. M5/748.
http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/archive/Pages/digitalcon-
tent/archivedocs/archive.aspx.
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Extract from the Committee for Building minutes discussing the burial ground (Bank of England
Archive, Ref. M5/748) http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/archive/Pages/digitalcontent/archivedocs/

archive.aspx.

case riots were to occur again. A petition was
put forward for the purchase of the church by
the Bank, with a view to expanding the Bank’s
premises and to remove the potential danger.

A note written to the Bank’s lawyers by
an ecclesiastical expert discusses the restric-
tions associated with building over a conse-
crated ground: ‘Although land consecrated for
use as a Church or burial ground of the Church
of England is by virtue of the consecration ren-
dered incapable of use for secular purposes
[...], this disability can be removed by an Act
of Parliament.? This restriction made it nec-
essary for the Bank to request an Act in order
to be able to proceed with the purchase of the
Church and building work.

The Act was passed in 1780, and vest-
ed the church of St Christopher-Le-Stocks
to the Governor and Company of the Bank
of England®. This included the ‘Church yard,
and the site and building of the vestry room,
water closet, and north tower [...]*. Follow-
ing the Act, the church was purchased and
its site was used to erect a West Wing for the
Bank, designed by Robert Taylor, who was the
Bank’s architect between 1764-1788.

The only part of the church that was how-
ever left intact, was the yard with the buri-
al ground. The 1781 Building minutes record
that the Bank’s Governors hoped to ‘leave the
respective vaults [where the burial ground

2 Bankof England Archive, Ref. G15/321.
3 BankofEngland Archive, Ref. 13A84/2/8.
4 Bankof England Archive, Ref. M5/748..

was based] within the said church unmolest-
ed, unless these happened to be located near
the foundations of the planned new building.
In the event that any of the burials had to be
removed, it was proposed to place them ‘in
proper vaults’, located in the church yard, ‘on
which no building is intended to be erected™.

As it happened, the yard and cemetery
were not built over and remained as the Bank
garden or ‘Garden Court’ in the west side of
the Building until 1932.

The 1920s and 1930s marked a significant
turning point in the architectural history of the
Bank. As a consequence of the rapidly increas-
ing volume of work and responsibilities, the
Bank was forced to meet the needs of its grow-
ing workforce. Sir Herbert Baker was appoint-
ed architect in 1925 to oversee the rebuilding
project which led to the demolition of much of
Sir John Soane’s renowned Bank of England.
Where Soane’s Bank had been no more than
three storeys in height, Baker’s Bank includ-
ed seven storeys above ground and a further
three below. His plans centred around rebuild-
ing the Bank on the same 3 ' acre site at
Threadneedle Street of which the Soane Bank
had occupied. However, not all of Soane’s
building was lost as it was agreed to preserve
the exterior fagade, a suggestion voiced as
part of an appeal by The Soane Museum in
1923.% Indeed, Soane’s imposing outer wall

5 Bankof England Archive, Ref. M5/748.
6 Bankof England Archive, Ref. 1A86/5.
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Old Garden Court in 1887. Photograph collection,
Bank of England Archive Ref. HOG28.

can still be seen today.

With the Bank intending to erect a com-
pletely fresh structure, legal advice was sought
as to whether the 1781 Act in fact gave the
Bank full power to exhume the bodies and
remove the burial ground. On 23 November
1922, the Committee on the Rebuilding of the
Bank reported to the Court of Directors that
‘the new building will cover the present gar-
den, which forms part of the old Churchyard of
St Christopher-le-Stocks; and [.....] it is possible
that in certain circumstances the right of the
Bank to build on the Old Churchyard may be
contested, and the Committee therefore rec-
ommend that the Bank should ask Parliament
to pass an Act in order that any uncertain-
ty may be removed.” A new Act of Parliament
was therefore required by the Bank to remove
the burials, and this was passed as the Bank
of England Act 1923. It authorised the Gover-
nor and Company of the Bank to remove any
bodies found in the burial ground during the
re-building.

This explains why, when comparing two
aerial views of the Bank, one can notice that
from the 1920s the garden moved from the
west side of the building to the middle, where
it is still located today.

Roman finds
The rebuilding period of the early twentieth
century also brought to light the historic signif-
icance of the Bank’s site in the heart of the city.
The area that is now known as City of London
was under Roman rule for a fifth of its history?,
and this is reflected in the wealth of Roman
finds discovered under the ‘old’ Bank during
the rebuilding phase.

When the development work began in
1926, it fell to the Society of Antiquaries to form
a rota for site watching over the archaeology

7 Bankof England Archive, Ref. G15/321.

8  (https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/things-to-do/visit-the-city/
attractions/guildhall-galleries/Pages/londons-roman-amphi-
theatre.aspx).
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Ground plan of the Bank before the rebuilding in
the 1920s. The churchyard of St Christopher Le
Stocks can be seen on the left hand side, named
as ‘garden court’ Bank of England Archive, Ref.
E8/7.

plots.9 It had long been known by the Society
that the site of the Bank held Roman remains,
as can be seen from their minutes in 1732:

‘Mr Sam Gale acquainted the Society, yt
in digging up some old foundations near ye
new Fabric erected Anno 1732 for ye Bank of
England Mr Sampson ye architect discovered
a large old wall, eight foot under ye surface of
ye ground, consisting of chalk stone and rub-
ble, next to Threadneedle Street in which was
an arch of stone and a busto of a man placed
in it standing upon ye plinth, which he careful-
ly covered up again: there was no inscription
but he believed it to be Roman’*

The discovery of intact mosaic pave-
ments offered an insight into the wealthy
society that once lived where the Bank now
stands. One pavement had already been
uncovered in 1805, but two further tessellat-
ed pavements were found during the excava-
tions of the 1920s.* The beautifully colourful
and intricately designed mosaics demonstrat-
ed that the site had been a ‘residential district
of a high order’, whilst also suggesting that the
surrounding shelters would have been sub-
stantial in their construction. *2

As a reflection of their importance, both
mosaic pavements were removed and then

9 Wilmott, T, Excavations in the Middle Walbrook Valley, London
and Middlesex Archaeological Society Special Paper 13 (1991),
p.51

10 Bankof England Archive, Ref. E8/64.

11 Bankof England Archive, Ref. E8/64.

12 Bank of England Archive, Ref. E8/64.
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Ground plan of proposal for the reconstruction of
the Bank. Showing the new garden located in the
centre of the building. Bank of England Archive,
Ref. E8/7.

sensitively restored following the excavation
work. One mosaic was then integrated and
can be seen as part of Baker’s new Bank build-
ing in the 1930s, and the other becoming part
of the Bank of England Museum’s collection.

Alongside the mosaics, a number of arte-
facts associated with Roman London were
unearthed during the excavations of the Bank
of England site in the early twentieth century.
Of particular note was the discovery of a type
of red-glazed pottery, also known as ‘Samian’
ware or Terra Sigillata.®* Such pottery was not
produced in the British Isles; its manufacture
canin fact be traced to the Auvergne districtin
France.* And like the mosaic pavements, they
offer some insight into the families that used
to occupy the site in Roman times.

‘None of the bowls found on the Bank
site departs in the slightest degree from the
chaste in its decoration - evidence of the
respectability of the families occupying the
site in its early days.*®

Further artefacts also included Roman
water pipes which illustrate the sophistica-
tion of the societal infrastructure established
in Roman Britain. Formed from oak, the pipes
were square in shape and included bores in
the centre, and iron collars at meeting points.*¢
Indeed, these appear to be one of a kind with
The Old Lady magazine noting in 1930 that

13 Bankof England Archive, Ref. E8/64.
14 Bankof England Archive, Ref. E8/64.
15 Bankof England Archive, Ref. E8/64..
16 Bankof England Archive, Ref. E8/37
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Discovery of Roman mosaic pavement during the
Bank’s rebuilding c.1930s .Photograph collection,
Bank of England Archive Ref. HOCO 1143.

‘there is no previous record of such pipes hav-
ing been unearthed. " The area surrounding
the Bank has in recent years yielded many
impressive archaeological discoveries includ-
ing the remains of a Roman amphitheatre at
the nearby Guildhall in 1985. There can be
little doubt of the contribution of the Bank’s
site in helping to piece together Roman life in
London.

The path of the Walbrook River
Excavations in the City of London have also
helped to provide an insight into the subterra-
nean course of the Walbrook River. The river
appeared to have become a prominent fea-
ture of the land during the establishment of
the Roman city of Londinium. Although ini-
tially used for drinking water, it was victim to
pollution of the growing town, and so the val-
ley of the river became the site for other uses
such as craft industries.*®

Stephen Myers also suggests that ‘ear-
ly in the Roman occupation, land close to
the Walbrook and the Thames became a
desirable location for constructing residenc-
es for the wealthier classes’® This is certain-
ly an aspect of Roman life that the mosaics
also illustrate. Built from wood, many Roman
dwellings were largely constructed to the east
of the Walbrook’s path, within the general site
of where the Bank of England now stands.?

Very little evidence of the Walbrook Riv-
er remains visible in 21st century London.
The river is thought to pass through the City
of London from Angel, Islington, under St.
Margaret’s church north of the Bank, then to
flow past the north-west corner of the Bank
of England, before going south.? The point at

17 Bank of England Archive, Ref. E8/37.
18 Wilmott, T. (1991), p. 24.

19 Wilmott, T. (1991), p. 24.
20 Wilmott, T. (1991), p. 131.
21 Wilmott, T. (1991), p. 129.

bulletin

South front of Bank and Princes Street in
1937. Note the absence of the entrances to the
Underground station. Photograph collection,
Bank of England Archive Ref. HOT 7.

which it enters the Thames can still be found
at Cannon Street station, upstream from the
railway bridge.

The impact of the Underground

When mentioning the site of the Bank of
England, it is impossible to ignore the prox-
imity of the Bank building to Bank Under-
ground station. Plans in the Bank of Eng-
land Archive illustrate the engineering
complexities of the subway stations sur-
rounding the Bank, with one showing the
Bank building’ s proximity to tunnels for
the former Central London Railway, and its
accompanying platforms.?

Proposals had been drawn in 1892 for
adding stairways from street level at the
Bank of England to the platforms below.*
However, this did not materialise and it
wasn’t until the 1930s that the proximi-
ty of the Underground network impacted
on the aesthetics of the Bank. A growing
increase in people traffic had led to calls for
an access point at the Bank of England site
as it had become the only point in the area
which was not yet served by an entrance.”®
This led to discussions of providing access
via the corner of Princes Street and Thread-
needle Street, where the Bank prominently
stood.

However, as the construction of the
entrances would affect the exterior wall
designed by Sir John Soane, architect Sir
Herbert Baker submitted drawings for two
alternative methods to approaching the
impact of the staircases. In a letter to Exec-
utive Director of the Bank of England on 15
November 1938 Baker said that his drawing
which showed, ‘opening up the colonnade

22 Wilmott, T. (1991), p. 25.

23 Bankof England Archive, Ref. E5/102 (11 of 23).
24 Bankof England Archive, Ref. E5/102 (1 of 23).
25 Bankof England Archive, Ref. 1A86/31.

South front and Royal Exchange in 1945. Note the
two entrances to the Underground at the corner
of the Bank of England. Photograph collection,
Bank of England Archive Ref. HOT 99.

to the entablature | think is undoubtedly a
very much more beautiful and respectful
treatment of Soane’s wall.

Indeed, support from the Bank’s archi-
tects who had been working on the rebuild-
ing of the Bank for the previous decade add-
ed a degree of support to the debate. A note
dated 10th November 1938 declared that
‘after consulting the Bank’s architects it seems
that it would be possible structurally, and not
unsightly from an architectural point of view,
to make an entrance on either side of the
Princes Street and Threadneedle Street cor-
ner. 2 A week following this statement the
Bank’s Court of Directors’ agreed to the con-
struction of the entrances to Bank station
along with the space required, on the proviso
that the work was adhered to in accordance
with plans put forward by Sir Herbert Baker.®

To this day, Bank station along with its
‘sister’ station, Monument, continues to be
a busy intersection on the doorstep of the
Bank of England; it currently provides access
to 5 tube lines and a Dockland Light Railway
terminus.

The Bank of England’s site encapsulates
many different phases of London’s history,
ranging from its geology, to Roman life, and
also more modern twentieth century engi-
neering; hopefully you will be reminded of this
next time you walk past the Bank’s prominent
stone walls.

Sources & Literature

Saw, Reginald, The Bank of England
1694-1944 and its Buildings Past and Present,
Georgie G. Harap and Co. Ltd, London, 1944.

A Brief Architectural History of the Bank of
England compiled by the Museum Section.

26 Bank of England Archive, Ref. 1A86/31.
27 Bankof England Archive, Ref. 1A86/31, 10th November 1938.
28 Bankof England Archive, Ref. G4/161 (17th Nov 1938).
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Barings and its buildings

Clara Harrow

he Baring Archive contains materi-

I al from the establishment in 1762
of the London merchant house of

John & Francis Baring & Co, later known
as Baring Brothers, through to the firm’s
acquisition by ING in 1995. As in the his-
tory of its business transactions, the his-
tory of Barings’ premises reflects not only
the growth of its own business but also the
growth of the City of London as a whole
and the development of the internation-
al capital markets. Relevant documents
include deeds, architectural plans, photo-
graphs, engravings and personal accounts.

Baring Brothers had a number of
addresses in the City of London during the
first decade of its existence notably Queen
Street, St Paul’s Church Yard and 35 Mark
Lane. In 1769 the business moved to 6
Mincing Lane near Fenchurch Street and
then after 23 years the bank moved to 11
Devonshire Square where it remained until
1806.

Barings would stay at its next address,
8 Bishopsgate for nearly two centuries
and the deeds in the archive describe the
acquisition and transfer of the proper-
ty from 1798 onwards when the property
was conveyed to Charles Wall (Sir Francis
Baring’s business partner and son-in-law)
for £6,000. In 1810 Charles Wall conveyed
the Bishopsgate property to Alexander
and Henry Baring, the sons of Francis Bar-
ing for £10,000. Then in 1850 the proper-
ty (now clearly identified as numbers 7, 8
and 9 Bishopsgate) was conveyed by 2nd
Lord Ashburton to senior partners Thomas
Bates and Joshua Baring. Ownership then
seems to have passed to each successive
group of partners as an asset held outside
the partnership.

The acquisition of neighbouring plots
reflects the expansion of the business:
13 Bishopsgate in 1887; an 80 year lease
on 12, 14 and 16 Bishopsgate in 1906 and
then the acquisition sometime between
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Image is a courtesy of The Baring Archive Limited.

1906 and 1912 of Numbers 10 and 11 Bish-
opsgate. In 1945 the bank acquired 145
Leadenhall Street for backward expan-
sion. Throughout this period the business
address remained No. 8 Bishopsgate even
once the street had been renumbered so
that Barings’ building was out of sequence.

Architectural plans in the archive
reveal various schemes to make the most
of the space available. 1853 saw the first
major rebuilding scheme with William
Cubitt & Co as builders and Lewis Cubitt as
architect. A courtyard was filled in to cre-
ate a banking hall and partners room. The
second major rebuild took place in 1885
when Richard Norman Shaw was commis-
sioned to fill the rest of the courtyard with a
new building that would front Bishopsgate.
Nearly 30 years later in 1912 the architect

Gerald Horsley was commissioned to
design a new building so that the bank’s
offices could be extended sideways along
Bishopsgate. Modern amenities were grad-
ually added to the extended buildings: a
water closet and gas lighting in 1853; elec-
tricity in the 1880s; the first telephone in
1904; and in 1913 the first lift.

Engravings and photographs in the
collection captured the buildings for pos-
terity. The 1885 the Norman Shaw facade
was documented in a publication entitled
‘Round London; An Album of Pictures from
Photographs of the Chief Places of Inter-
est in and around London’. While in March
1914 the ‘Architectural Review’ showcased
recently completed building work.

Personal accounts serve to conjure
up the atmosphere of these lost buildings.
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Image is a courtesy of The Baring Archive Limited.

In 1886 a journalist for The Daily News
wrote of the Bishopsgate office: ‘For myself,
I have no objection to its high narrow win-
dows and stony front for that means the
safety of valuable property; nor can you
cavil at the low, arched doorway, with its
two swinging doors, through whose glass
panes you look up the long passage into
the serene and mystic interior, where gen-
tlemanly clerks deal with heaps of gold as
children deal with a handful of hazelnuts.
The archive also contains an account
by J Walter Wood, who was employed as
a clerk at Barings for a few months from
1888 to 1889: ‘The silence was impres-
sive, and the great banking room, with its
mellowed features seen through the soft
light was very dignified. No-one seemed
in a hurry. Business did not really begin ‘til
about 11 o’clock and was usually over by
4 o’clock. For those clerks who remained
at work until 5 o’clock, tea with thin slices
of buttered bread was served by the liver-
ied ‘walkers’ [bank messengers]. The part-
ners’ room adjoined the general office, and
was more like a gentleman’s library, with a
cheerful open fire in a marble mantelpiece
at the end of the room, and a soft red and

bulletin

blue rug. The mahogany desks were mas-
sive, and the chairs deeply upholstered in
dark leather. In the centre of the room was
a large table with a limited number of nec-
essary reference books, and from the walls
deceased partners of the House looked
down from mellowed gilt frames.

The Archive’s recent project, ‘An Oral
History of Barings’ also provides an inval-
uable source for descriptions of Barings’
buildings. The collection includes anec-
dotes relating to fire-watching at Bishops-
gate during the Blitz, descriptions of the
great street lamp that hung outside the
building, as well as the oak panelled bank-
ing hall and ‘the Box’ where the General
Manager sat.

Barings’ buildings survived a WW1
Zeppelin bomb attack and a direct hit from
a British shell. However, by 1973 the build-
ing had become a rabbit warren of small
offices. Plans to widen Bishopsgate meant
that the site needed to be vacated and the
bank therefore relocated to 88 Leadenhall
Street seizing the opportunity to erect a
new office at their historic address. A new
20 storey building was occupied from Octo-
ber 1981.

The move was a significant moment in Bar-
ings’ history and a commemorative coin on
which both the old and new buildings are
depicted was struck to mark the occasion
and was distributed to all staff.

As the business continued to expand
through the 1980s and 1990s the small
floor size of the Bishopsgate building was
held responsible for compartmentalisation
and poor communication. A general lack
of space meant that the other branches of
the business were housed elsewhere. Plans
were put in place to move to 60 London
Wall in 1995. By the time that move took
place Barings had been acquired by ING.

The story of Barings’ buildings illus-
trates how far this merchant bank had
been transformed into a multi-national
business. Barings had gone from a mixed
use building comprising accommodation
and business premises to a modern open
plan office with a large trading floor. The
business is moving once again in 2016 and
ING’s new premises at Ten Moorgate will
continue to reflect the financial and cultur-
al heritage of the company in a modern and
well-appointed space.
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Banking on its own architects.
National Provincial Bank in the interwar years

Sally Cholewa

ational Provincial Bank of Eng-

land1, established in 1833 as one of

a new breed of shareholder-owned
banks, aimed from the outset to create an
extensive national branch network by open-
ing offices across England and Wales. In its
first year the bank opened fifteen branch-
es and continued to grow throughout the
19th century, having around 200 branches
by 1900. New branches were often opened in
leased premises that could easily be altered
for banking purposes and re-fronted. Banks
recognised that they might need to move in
the first ten years or so if business increased,
so purpose-built branches were not seen as
economical first premises.

Branch expansion

After the First World War, encouraged by the
prospect of a post-war boom, many British
banks were poised to embark upon branch
expansion and refurbishment programmes
on a significant scale. Purpose-built branch
premises began to be seen as a conven-
ient way to underpin such rapid expansion.
National Provincial Bank of England’s own
network had swollen to around 700 branch-
es by the mid-1920s making it one of Eng-
land’s so-called ‘big five’ high street names,
joined by Midland, Westminster, Barclays
and Lloyds. This exponential rise in branch
numbers across the banking sector creat-
ed a wealth of work for architects and archi-
tectural firms. Such work would generally be
carried out on a contractual basis, remuner-
ated by commission that was paid in instal-
ments. The Royal Institute of British Archi-
tects published a recommended scale of
professional charges for all such work which
was calculated as a percentage of the overall
construction costs.?

1 In1924the bank's name was shortened to National Provincial
Bank.

2 1919 Royal Institute of British Architects scale of fees for new
works: 6% if cost of construction was more than £2000, 10% if
less than £2000.

Frederick Charles Richard Palmer, architect to National Provincial Bank and Walter Frederick Charles
Holden, assistant architect, in 1933 The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc © 2016.

Palmer and Holden
In 1920 National Provincial Bank of England
appointed Frederick Charles Richard Palm-
er to act as the bank’s surveyor and, unu-
sually, admitted him to the staff, with a sal-
ary of £1,250 per annum.? Prior to being
employed by the bank, Palmer had worked
as architect and surveyor to the General Post
Office. There were a number of striking simi-
larities between the roles which may explain
why National Provincial Bank chose to hire
Palmer. Both roles were focused on large
numbers of a single type of building, rang-
ing from small local to large principal offic-
es. Both also demanded architecture and
design which invoked a sense of trustwor-
thiness and a clear counter-marked division
between the staff and public areas.

Walter Frederick Clarke Holden was
to join Palmer in 1920, initially as a proba-
tionary draughtsman, before becoming

3 Royal Bank of Scotland Archives NAT/909.

assistant surveyor in 1921.% Typically survey-
ors provided advice regarding costs, design
and building regulations. Palmer and Hold-
en did much more than this; they oversaw
entire construction projects from assess-
ing the suitability of a site to initial design,
to submission of plans and final completion
on the ground. They were responsible for a
range of projects from simple branch alter-
ations to complete new builds, designing
both the exterior and the interior space. In
late 1926, after a recommendation made by
the bank’s Salaries Committee, which deter-
mined senior staff appointments, Palmer
and Holden’s titles were officially changed
to architect and assistant architect® to fully
reflect the true nature of their roles.

Usual practice was for banks to con-
tract a number of individual architects or
architectural firms of varying experience at

4 Royal Bank of Scotland Archives NAT/1699/1.
5 Royal Bank of Scotland Archives NAT/1699/2.
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Norwich branch not long after the new purpose-
built branch was completed in 1925. The Royal
Bank of Scotland Group plc © 2016.

the same time, to work on different kinds
of building - such as head offices or branch-
es - or in particular localities. These archi-
tects would also continue to take commis-
sions from other clients. National Provincial
Bank instead chose to put their confidence in
just two men. A precedent had already been
set by National Provincial Bank for favouring
one architect to meet all of their architectur-
al needs. In November 1862 the bank’s Branch
Committee resolved that John Gibson should
be appointed as architect to the bank and
detailed the terms of the arrangement made
regarding remuneration.® From this point on
it appears that Gibson had a close and high-
ly successful relationship with the bank for at
least 20 years, designing many of the bank’s
branch alterations and new builds, as well as
its Bishopsgate head office in 1866.” He did,
however, also continue to take commissions
from elsewhere. The quality and calibre of
Gibson’s work for National Provincial Bank of
England has prompted him to be described
by John Booker, the historian of British bank
architecture, as ‘the most distinguished and
prolific of Victorian architects in that field®
It was perhaps the success of this earlier rela-
tionship that encouraged National Provincial
Bank to consider investing both financially
and reputationally in salaried architects.

6 Royal Bank of Scotland Archives NAT/1/9.

7 Waterhouse, P. ‘Gibson, John (1817-1892)’ in Diction-
ary of National Biography, supplement (Smith, Elder &
Co, London, 1901). Available at: <wikisource.org/wiki/
Gibson,_John_(1817-1892)_(DNBO1)>.

8 Booker, J. Temples of Mammon. The Architecture of Banking
(Edinburgh University Press, Edinburgh, 1990), p.71.

Artist’s impression of the proposed new Coventry branch, c.1928.

The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc © 2016.

Palmer’s and Holden‘s agreements,
unlike Gibson’s, required them to devote all
of their time to the bank’s work, and not to
undertake any private practice. ° The result-
ing limitation of their architectural endeav-
ours to National Provincial Bank buildings
alone could be argued to have both posi-
tive and negative aspects. By working for
just one company the architects were able
to influence the choice of site and materials,
be readily on hand at all times and devel-
op a clear vision of both the bank’s business
requirements and the board’s tastes. Howev-
er, as C H Reilly, Professor of Architecture at
Liverpool University, wrote in 1932 in one of
the many pieces he contributed to The Bank-
eron the subject of bank buildings, ,no archi-
tects could be successful designers of banks
who did nothing else.”* He believed that their
imagination and artistic flair would surely
become stagnated, producing uninteresting
buildings in an unprogressive house style.

In fact, there are numerous examples of
Palmer and Holden working in a variety of
styles, often at the same time, when design-
ing both alterations and purpose-built
branches. Notable new builds created by the
partnership include a ‘Wrennaissance’-style
branch at Norwich in 1924, a Neo-Georgian
branch at Southampton in 1927-9, a Jaco-
bean branch at Peterborough in 1928-9, a
Classical branch at Coventry in 1928-30 and
an Art Deco branch at Osterley in 1935. To

9 Royal Bank of Scotland Archives NAT/1699/1.
10 The Banker,vol.23,n0.78, p.74.

convey the huge scope and quality of their
work, despite their ties to one employer and
to one type of building, and to indicate why
the bank chose to salary their architects,
three of these branches will now be dis-
cussed in more detail.

Norwich branch

Norwich was one of the first purpose-built
branch buildings that Palmer and Holden
completed. There had been a branch in Nor-
wich, located on London Street, since 1866.
By 1917 the accommodation was found to
be insufficient and a proposal was made to
extend the building. The bank’s surveyor
did not approve and the plan was dropped.
Instead, National Provincial decided to pur-
chase new premises for the branch and in
1919, just before Palmer was hired, bought
51 and 43 London Street.

Initial plans were drawn up in 1920
by architects Bromley & Watkins of Not-
tingham, who had previously designed the
bank’s Wolverhampton branch. These plans
were for alterations only. On inspecting the
site Palmer disagreed. He believed the posi-
tion of the new site was so good that he rec-
ommended completely rebuilding the prem-
ises to take full advantage of the corner site.
The location of a new branch was under-
standably extremely important. Its promi-
nent positioning in relation to competitor
banks and the town’s business centre would
affect its business. Corner sites were covet-
ed as they were more visible and accessible;
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Ground floor plan showing the position of Coventry branch in relation to the adjoining shops, drawn by Palmer and Holden in 1928.
The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc © 2016.

their double frontage also offered the archi-
tect two chances to impress and influence
the passing public.

The new Norwich branch was complet-
ed in 1925. The single-storey stone build-
ing’s east-facing entrance was framed by
giant Corinthian columns under a broken
triangular pediment. Classical detailing,
such as panels with feathery ribbons, fruit
and flowers, were used throughout. Inside
the pillars and carved domed ceiling creat-
ed a very impressive and spacious banking
hall. The branch was later described in the
bank’s staff magazine as ,a very fine speci-
men of architecture of the period in an unu-
sual Georgian style’*

This ‘unusual Georgian style’ was
described by Nikolaus Pevsner, a respect-
ed 20th century architectural histori-
an, as ‘Wrenaissance’ (properly known as
Edwardian Baroque), a revival of late 17th
century architecture in which themes from
designs by Wren, in this case his City of
London churches, were prominent. Brit-
ish architect Sir Edwin Lutyens was a lead-
ing exponent and designed many com-
mercial buildings in this style in the 1910s
and 1920s, including some for Midland
Bank. Typical details include extensive

11 Royal Bank of Scotland Archives NAT/166/86.

rustication, domed pavilions and a central
tower-like element, all of which were pres-
entin the Norwich branch.
Coventry branch

National Provincial Bank of England’s
Coventry branch opened in 1906 and oper-
ated from temporary premises on the High
Street, until more permanent premises
were acquired on the corner of Hertford
Street and Smithford Street (now Broad-
gate) in 1909. This was an excellent loca-
tion for the branch but the premises were
not as large or prestigious as the bank
wanted for such a thriving office. In the mid
1920s an opportunity arose to rectify this
situation by acquiring the land surround-
ing the branch and erecting an impressive
new building. Work began in 1928 and the
new bank was completed two years later.

Palmer and Holden, with nearly a dec-
ade of designing branch banks behind
them, were not afraid to deviate from the
accepted convention with the design of
this build. As one commentator noted the
building’s plan was ‘a new departure in
bank planning in that practically the whole
of the frontage is devoted to shops, while
the bank requires only the frontage nec-
essary to provide two entrances, the bank
office occupying the less valuable space at

therear’'?. Theimpressive porticoed Broad-
gate entrance still provided the expected
andtraditional characteristicsthat allowed
the public to identify the premises as a
bank, but the building as a whole offered
something more to the urban landscape
of central Coventry. A local newspaper
stated ‘it will give Coventry one of the fin-
est amenities in the centre of the city that
should be desired, possessing a distinction
and impressive size that will add greatly to
the appearance of Broadgate and Hertford
Street.

The interior reflected the form and
scale of the exterior. The impressive bank-
ing hall, clad in pale green marble, was top
lit by a large glass lantern with geomet-
ric glazing. The ceilings to the hall and
entrance vestibules were coffered and
there was triglyph and coin metope deco-
ration to the cornicing. This coin detailing
is also to be found on the exterior of the
building, with motifs appearing on both
the entablature and stainless steel doors to
both entrances. The doors were designed
by Holden and the same motifs were lat-
er used, even after his time, through-
out other branches of National Provincial

12 Royal Bank of Scotland Archives Norwich secondary source
file.
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Bank, among them Southend-on-Sea,
Middlesbrough and Islington. It could be
argued that this coin motif became a subtle
unifying feature that enabled the percep-
tive customer to identify a National Provin-
cial Bank branch regardless of its architectur-
al style.

Osterley and Isleworth branch

Palmer died in December 1934, after almost
15 years working solely for the bank, and
Holden naturally succeeded him to the posi-
tion of architect. One of the first branch-
es Holden completed in the more senior
role was Osterley and Isleworth which he
designed in Art Deco style. Construction
began in 1935 on the corner of Syon Lane,
Osterley, and the branch opened in Sep-
tember 1936. C.H. Reilly had earlier ques-
tioned ‘Can they [Palmer and Holden]
design a bank in the modern manner free
from traditional proportion and detail?’*3
Osterley and Isleworth branch was to pro-
vide him with an answer.

Modernism emerged as a reaction to the
perceived indulgences of the Edwardian era
and it adhered to the notion that ‘form fol-
lows function’, meaning that the product of
design should derive directly from its pur-
pose. The traditional convention was for
bank buildings to be designed in a Classical,
Italianate or Renaissance style which was
intended to express the stability, wealth and
trustworthiness of the banks. Modernism,
however, rejected the unnecessary details
and flourishes found in these styles, embrac-
ing instead simplicity and clarity of form.
Art Deco, with its clean lines, minimal dec-
oration and geometric shapes, was closely
aligned to Modernism. Often associated with
such modern building types as cinemas,
hotels and factories, it was rarely used for
branch banks. It did, however, still suggest
a desire to impress, which constituted a vital
part of the overall architectural language of
the banks.

Osterley and Isleworth branch is a sin-
gle-storey building of brown brick with Port-
land stone dressings. The bowed facade of
the banking hall has three tall windows, sep-
arated by columns with brick ribs, which
continue as features in the stone parapet
above. The large windows created a bright
and spacious banking area in which busi-
ness could be conducted. This scheme is

13 The Banker,vol.23,n0.78, p.75.
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replicated in the bowed entrance, with its
central recessed doorway. The interior pub-
lic space was laid in slabs of travertine, which
was beginning to replace the more expensive
marble that had been commonplace in the
earlier branches. There was timber panelling
to the walls and piers, with brick ribs reach-
ing to the ceiling, reflecting those found on
the exterior. The long counter front was of
laurel-wood veneer. Customers, on coming
through the vestibule and entering the sin-
gle-height public space, were greeted by a
double-height banking area which created a
sense of grandeur and spaciousness.
Historian John Booker describes the
new branch in glowing terms: ‘Osterley was
a triumph, a thoroughly purposeful bank...,
original in design, functional without auster-
ity [and] above all the bank was sympathet-
ic to its environment.** Indeed, it had been
deliberately designed to form a group with
the adjacent Sir Banister Fletcher’s monu-
mental Art Deco Gillette factory. The facto-
ry, with its distinctive clock tower, was also
built in brown brick with a stone trim, and
has large expanses of metal- framed glaz-
ing. The National Provincial Bank branch,
although considerably smaller and set off
to one side, held its own as an individual
building of some architectural merit.

14 Ibid, Booker, 1990, p.241.

Osterley and Isleworth branch
in 1937. The Royal Bank of
Scotland Group plc © 2016.

Allimages reproduced by kind
permission of Royal Bank of
Scotland.

Holden retired in March 1947 on a sala-
ry of £2,095 after a quarter of a century with
the bank. He died six years later. In a similar
fashion to his own earlier advancement, the
deputy architect at the time, B C Sherren,
was promoted to take his place, and went
on to have a successful career as architect
for National Provincial Bank throughout the
1950s and 1960s. No subsequent architec-
tural partnership at the bank was, howev-
er, as prolific or as creative as that of Palm-
er and Holden. In 1939, C H Reilly, who just
seven years earlier had doubted that a sal-
aried bank architect could be a success in
design terms, made a complete about-
turn writing in The Banker that ‘by virtue of
his salaried position Holden is freer in his
attack than usual bank architects. He can
suggest all kinds of new things.*®

By employing dedicated and salaried
architects, National Provincial Bank had
created a relationship with its architects
unlike any other British bank at the time,
enabling it to create branches that were not
only ideally suited to their purpose and loca-
tion, but also architecturally impressive and
innovative.

15 The Banker,vol.52,n0.156, pp.76-90.
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A Solid Foundation.
The St. Louis Fed’s Building

Steve Greene

uring its initial 10 years, the Feder-
D al Reserve Bank of St. Louis lived

a nomadic existence in the down-
town area. After opening for business on
Nov. 16, 1914, at the Boatman’s Bank Build-
ing at Olive and Broadway (the current Mar-
quette Building), the Bank relocated several
times within downtown St. Louis to accom-
modate growth in staff.

Land for the current building at
Broadway and Locust was purchased in
1918, but high construction costs delayed
the groundbreaking until 1923. The build-
ing was designed by the architectural
firm Mauran, Russell and Crowell with an
impressive neo-classic style. It was con-
structed of Bedford, Ind., limestone and
Rockville, Minn., granite. Medallions were
carved into the stone with the coats of
arms of the United States and of each state
the Eighth District serves. When the Bank
opened the doors of its new building on
June 1, 1925, it included 219,000 square
feet of floor space.

The building sits atop the Bank’s vault,
which was designed to be ‘as near burglar,
mob, fire, and explosive proof as science
and engineering skills can make them.
The vault’s 44-ton, 30-inch-thick door still
exists today.

Over the years, the St. Louis Fed head-
quarters has undergone several renova-
tions. An annex, consisting of 25,000 square
feet, was added in 1946. Property adjacent
to the Bank, the former Nugent’s Depart-
ment Store, was bought by the Bank and
rehabilitated in 1949. In 1991, the Bank’s
lobby, research library and mezzanine floor
underwent renovations.

Following the turn of the 21st centu-
ry, the Bank considered building a brand
new facility, but elected to stay in the
heart of downtown St. Louis and under-
go a major renovation of the entire build-
ing. Improvements included: construct-
ing a new attached tower; recladding the

——

Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis exterior in 1925, the year the building opened. © St. Louis Fed.

former Nugent’s building to provide a cohe-
sive exterior appearance; modernizing the
conference and dining facilities; and greatly
enhancing the physical security in the wake
of the terrorist attacks of Sept. 11, 2001.

An especially dynamic addition to the
building was completed in the fall of 2014,
when the St. Louis Fed opened the Inside
the Economy® Museum. Through nearly 100
exhibits, the museum demystifies the econ-
omy by immersing visitors in a one-of-a-
kind experience, engaging them in a hands-
on, interactive journey through exhibits
that explore topics such as:

» Opportunity Cost

« Scarcity

» Consumer Markets

« Bartering and Trading
« Money Circulation

« Banking

« Inflation

« Unemployment

« The Global Economy

« The History and Role of the Federal Reserve

Exhibits are brought to life through
interactive displays, games, sculptures and
videos. Also included in the museum is a
multipurpose classroom for groups. The
Inside The Economy Museum is yet anoth-
er way that the St. Louis Fed promotes
economic education and financial litera-
cy. Groups and walk-in visitors are welcome
at the museum, and admission is free. More
than 15,000 visitors have visited the muse-
um in its first 15 months of existence.

Now more than 90 years old, the St.
Louis Fed’s headquarters building contin-
ues to be functional, up-to-date and secure.
The Bank’s Facilities staff—which includes
engineers, carpenters and painters—com-
bines with staff in the Bank’s Information
Technology Services and Law Enforcement
departments to ensure that a historic struc-
ture continues to serve the needs of the
modern world. ®
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Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis exterior. © St. Louis Fed.

Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis exterior. © St. Louis Fed.

Inside the Economy® Museum. © St. Louis Fed.

Inside the Economy® Museum. © St. Louis Fed.
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Architecture of a venerable institution.
The evolution of World Bank buildings

Bill Katzenstein

ince its founding nearly seventy years
S ago, the World Bank has been locat-

ed three blocks west of the White
House in Washington DC. While remain-
ing at its original address—1818 H Street
NW—the Bank has undergone tremendous
change, as have the architecture and style
of its buildings over more than half a cen-
tury. Notably, the architecture of the build-
ings has come to reflect the modern Bank
and its self-image as an openly involved,
innovative organization pursuing diverse
development lending and global dis-
course. From this perspective, the single
most pivotal event in the evolution of the
architecture of the World Bank was a com-
petition held in 1989 for the design of the
reconstruction of the organization’s main
complex of buildings. The winning entry
by the New York design firm of Kohn Ped-
ersen Fox reflected the Bank as a dynam-
ic organization stressing high operational
standards.

One condition imposed on Bank
buildings has hardly changed through its
history: the limit on the height of build-
ings in Washington DC. In effect, no World
Bank building at the organization’s head-
quarters can be more than 13 stories high
above-grade, which explains its relatively
sizable ‘campus’ of buildings.

Early history

When the World Bank opened for business
on June 25, 1946, it occupied the tenth
floor of the then U.S. government build-
ing at 1818 H Street, which faces the small
Edward R. Murrow Park along Pennsyl-
vania Avenue. Within six months, the
World Bank and International Monetary
Fund (IMF) had leased the entire build-
ing. The structure, completed in 1941,
had been in use by the U.S. Department
of State. The Bank purchased the edifice
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‘A’ building - Early History. Photo are in the custody and control of the World Bank Group Archives.

in 1957. The IMF acquired its own space the
following year.

This initial Bank building would come
to be known simply as the ‘A’ Building after
the Bank acquired additional facilities with-
in the same 1800 block of H Street. The ‘A’
Building, of plain, strictly functional design,

would suffice to accommodate the organiza-
tion in the 1950s. In its early years the World
Bank grew at a slow pace, unable to assume
the major role intended in post-World War Il
reconstruction: With the advent of the Cold
War, the mission originally foreseen for the
Bank had been largely supplanted by the
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Marshall Plan and other bilateral aid. How-
ever in the 1960s and beyond, the Bank
would thrive and rapidly expand into its ulti-
mate missions of economic development
and poverty alleviation.

In 1961, to accommodate increased
lending activity and additional staff, the Bank
acquired the apartment building next to the
‘A’ Building, which was subsequently remod-
eled as an office building, and named ‘B’
Building. An additional structure was pur-
chased on the same block but wholly demol-
ished, and a new office building erected,
called ‘C’ Building, which opened in 1963. The
new ‘B’ and ‘C’ buildings contained the Bank’s
first auditorium and dining facilities.

The architecture of the three early Bank
buildings was quite intentionally similar.
With the replacement of the outdated sin-
gle-pane windows in the original ‘A’ Building,
the entire complex represented modern insti-
tutional architecture albeit in a somewhat
‘severe’ sense, unabashedly functional and
businesslike without frills. This architecture
clearly symbolized technocracy, and was very
much similar to a number of U.S. Government
facilities of the same period, including the
buildings presently housing the Export-Im-
port Bank (completed 1940) and the General
Accountability Office (completed 1951).

Late 1960s and 1970s

Under Presidents George Woods (1963-1968)
and Robert McNamara (1968-1981) the basic
operating mode of the modern World Bank
was established, and the operations and
staff grew tremendously. Annual lending to
developing nations increased from $1 billion
in the Bank’s fiscal year 1964 to $11 billion in
1980. Moreover, the Bank began to empha-
size the alleviation of abject poverty as a
principal objective, and its activities began
to expand and diversify.

The World Bank erected its fourth build-
ing—the ‘D’ Building—in 1968, along G Street
on the southeast corner of the 1800 block of
H Street housing its initial three buildings.
The structure was designed by Skidmore,
Owings & Merrill—architects of the icon-
ic Lever House in New York City—in distinc-
tively modernist style with a striking curvi-
linear, white travertine facade and recessed
windows. The ‘D’ Building, the dynamic
front of which, facing south, was retained in
the reconstruction of the Bank’s main com-
plex of buildings in 1989-1995, represented
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‘F’ building - Late 1960s and 1970s. Photo are in
the custody and control of the World Bank Group
Archives.

a signal departure from the subdued style of
the adjoining buildings. The Bank was begin-
ning to emerge as a vibrant organization
coming into its prime.

To further accommodate its operational
expansion, the Bank would acquire two addi-
tional buildings on the same block in 1973.
The IMF, which had shared the block with the
Bank, erected a handsome, conservatively
styled building across 19th Street, availing
the Bank the opportunity to purchase the
two buildings the IMF had built and occu-
pied since 1958. These facilities, also in the
non-descript modern institutional style of
the Bank’s initial ‘A; ‘B’ and ‘C’ buildings,
were named ‘E’ and ‘F’ Buildings. In sum, by
the mid-1970s, the World Bank had come to
own and utilize six interconnected buildings
(Buildings A-F) situated about an open-air
courtyard, comprising the entire 1800 block
of H Street. The complex, known thereafter
as the Main Complex, accommodated about
3200 staff.

Three new satellite buildings (1980-1986)
World Bank lending and the diversity of its
activities continued to expand in the 1980s
and into the 1990s as China followed by East-
ern European countries and former Sovi-
et states joined the institution and became
major borrowers. Three additional build-
ings were constructed by the Bank in order
to accommodate staff quartered in leased
space. The new structures would each house

‘I’ building - Three New Satellite Buildings and
1970s. Photo are in the custody and control of
the World Bank Group Archives.

on the order of 1100-1350 staff, and were
more pleasant than the typical cookie-cutter
commercial office buildings in the K Street
Corridor three blocks north that were con-
structed in that era. Yet each of the new Bank
buildings had a different look.

The ‘I’ Building was completed in 1980,
at 1850 | Street, one-and-a-half blocks north
of the Main Complex. The ‘I’ Building is of red-
brick facade, modestly attractive while appear-
ing conservative and wholly functional.

The ‘H’ Building, finished in 1984, was
located at 600 19th Street, southwest of the
Main Complex. Designed in a handsomely
modernist International style, emphasizing
generous application of balconied glass pan-
elsin black, beige and white tones, the struc-
ture was arguably among the most appeal-
ing of the Bank’s buildings at that time.

The ‘J’ Building, located at 701 18th
Street directly east of the Main Complex, was
completed in 1986. Externally the architec-
ture appears an odd hybrid of modern style
with minor classical flourishes. The Bank had
not yet found its way to a symbolic architec-
tural style. However and more substantive-
ly, the ‘J’ Building was the first Bank facili-
ty designed with the future of information
technology in mind; the floors were touted
as featuring dedicated raised floor space for
ease of computer networking. The interior
of the building, which accommodates staff
dedicated to Africa operations, is decorated
following that motif.
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‘Main Complex’ - Design Competition for
the New Main Complex. Photo are in the
custody and control of the World Bank
Group Archives.

Reconstruction of the main complex
(1989-1995)
In the late 1980s, the six World Bank build-
ings (Buildings A-F) comprising its Main Com-
plex occupying the 1800 block of H Street
ranged in age from twenty to nearly fifty
years. The time had come to take stock and
examine options to retrofit or reconstruct,
as office buildings generally require at least
a major retrofit after some thirty years. The
physical plants of the older Bank structures
consumed excessive energy to heat and
cool, and were overly costly to maintain. The
aging buildings were ill-equipped to sup-
port emerging information technologies. A
further economic factor was the potential
to utilize unused area permitted on the site
by correcting the inherent inefficiency of the
layout of the existing six buildings. Analysis
indicated capacity could be increased from
about 3200 to 4100-5200 staff depending on
various options for reconstruction, and alter-
native scenarios for space standards.
Review was undertaken to deter-
mine which of several options for retrofit
and reconstruction of the buildings would
be most cost-effective. One option was
to demolish and rebuild the entire block
of six buildings; at the other extreme, the
costs and benefits of only retrofitting the

buildings were examined. Ultimately the
decision was taken to demolish the four
older and smaller buildings (‘A’, ‘B’, ‘C’ and
‘F’) and retain but retrofit the two new-
er and larger buildings (‘D’ and ‘E’, dat-
ing from the late-1960s) which would be
fully incorporated into the new complex.
The open-air courtyard in the center of the
buildings would become a glass-covered
atrium, with design features permitting
natural light to permeate levels below-
grade. Capacity of the unified structure
would be roughly 4700 staff, an increase
of almost 50%. Substantial savings would
further accrue in energy efficiency and
building operations.

Design competition for the new main
complex

In 1989 the World Bank held a worldwide
architectural/engineering competition for
the design of the reconstruction and ret-
rofit of its main complex of buildings. Sev-
enty six proposals from firms in twenty
six countries were received. The field was
then narrowed to eight semi-finalist firms,
which were invited to prepare and submit
detailed proposals.

The winning design for the new World
Bank headquarters complex was submit-
ted by Kohn Pedersen Fox. A landmark
building was completed in 1995 that crea-
tively represents the World Bank as a lead-
ing development organization ground-
ed in expertise. Driving or walking along
Pennsylvania Avenue toward the White
House, the observer cannot help but note
this striking modernist structure, outlined
in white with horizontal glass front—sug-
gesting dynamism, openness and engage-
ment—while resembling in part a grid with
recessed windows, implying order and
analysis. The horizontal sweep of the glass
front is accented by a tall mast suggesting
leadership.

Passingthrough the front doors at 1818
H Street, the visitor enters the 45-square
meter atrium, adorned with geometric
designs together with what resembles a
pool of blue water. The effect is calming as
well as attractive and intriguing. The atri-
um looming ahead invites guests to step in
and see more. Further, a theme of creativ-
ity is stressed in curious geometric forms
appearing from place to place in the build-
ings, such as the three illuminated cones

in the atrium, and the patterns etched into
the elevator doors.

The new Main Complex was recognized
for its quality design and engineering, mer-
iting an American Institute of Architects
(AIA) Honor Award (1997), American Con-
crete Institute Concrete Building of the Year
Award (1998), and a Progressive Architec-
ture Design Award (1999).

As has been noted, buildings in Wash-
ington DC are generally subject to a height
limitation of 40 meters. However this lim-
it applies to occupied space, not atria. The
Bank’s vaulted atrium tops out at 54 meters,
and is visible a kilometer away along Penn-
sylvania Avenue southeast of the White
House. Over the next twenty years, amount-
ing to almost a third of the organization’s
history, the Main Complex of buildings
came to symbolize the World Bank in a pos-
itive, motivating sense.

Gradual buildup of overseas offices
Starting slowly in the 1990s, then accelerat-
ing in the early 2000s, a concerted effort was
made to decentralize significant numbers of
the Bank’s operational staffing to regional
and country offices. By 2010 the World Bank
leased office space or had purchased or con-
structed small office buildings in about 100
locations away from its Washington head-
quarters. The overseas offices range in size
from a few personnel to hundreds of staff.
A number of the country facilities that were
constructed by the Bank are very attractive
as well as having been designed with close
attention to environmental impact.

World Bank buildings. A seventy-year
summation

World Bank buildings and architecture have
evolved parallel to the development of the
organization. Starting as a fairly conservative
international banking institution with incon-
spicuous institutional buildings in function-
al style, the Bank became a more dynamic,
innovative organization with a broad array
of development programs and initiatives,
and an inclusive and transparent institu-
tional culture. The architecture of the Bank’s
buildings gradually changed to a modernist
International style representative of its lead-
ership roles and expertise. ®
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